FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT

Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC a Michigan limited liability company 40400 Ann Arbor Road, Suite 101 Plymouth, MI 48170 Phone: (248) 994-0206

Email: <u>info@autolabusa.com</u> Website: <u>www.autolabusa.com</u>



This Disclosure Document describes an Auto-Lab single unit franchise. The single unit franchise will operate a full service and diagnostic-oriented automotive repair and maintenance facility, featuring our proprietary operations software and offering consumers and businesses comprehensive automotive and engine analysis, electrical system repair, air conditioning repair, engine repair and other related automotive repair services for all makes and models of cars, SUVs and light-duty trucks under the name "Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Centers."

The total investment necessary to begin operation of a single unit Auto-Lab franchise is from \$296,750 to \$746,000. This includes \$13,750 to \$27,500 that must be paid to the franchisor or its affiliates. If you convert an existing auto care facility to an Auto-Lab single unit franchise, the total investment necessary is from \$111,000 to \$658,000, which includes \$19,500 that must be paid to the franchisor or its affiliates.

This disclosure document summarizes certain provisions of your franchise agreement and other information in plain English. Read this disclosure document and all accompanying agreements carefully. You must receive this disclosure document at least 14 calendar-days before you sign a binding agreement with, or make any payment to, the franchisor or an affiliate in connection with the proposed franchise sale. **Note, however, that no governmental agency has verified the information contained in this document.**

You may wish to receive your disclosure document in another format that is more convenient to you. To discuss the availability of disclosures in different formats, contact the Franchise Sales Department at the address and phone number listed above.

The terms of your contract will govern your franchise relationship. Don't rely on the disclosure document alone to understand your contract. Read your entire contract carefully. Show our contract and this disclosure document to an advisor, like a lawyer or an accountant.

Buying a franchise is a complex investment. The information in this disclosure document can help you make up your mind. More information on franchising, such as "A Consumer's Guide to Buying a Franchise," which can help you understand how to use this disclosure document, is available from the Federal Trade Commission. You can contact the FTC at 1-877-FTC-HELP or by writing to the FTC at 600 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Washington, D.C. 20580. You can also visit the FTC's home page at www.ftc.gov for additional information. Call your state agency or visit your public library for other sources of information on franchising.

There may also be laws on franchising in your state. Ask your state agencies about them.

Issuance Date: April 30, 2025

How to Use This Franchise Disclosure Document

Here are some questions you may be asking about buying a franchise and tips on how to find more information:

| QUESTION | WHERE TO FIND INFORMATION |
|---|---|
| How much can I earn? | Item 19 may give you information about outlet sales, costs, profits or losses. You should also try to obtain this information from others, like current and former franchisees. You can find their names and contact information in Item 20 or Exhibit K. |
| How much will I need to invest? | Items 5 and 6 list fees you will be paying to the franchisor or at the franchisor's direction. Item 7 lists the initial investment to open. Item 8 describes the suppliers you must use. |
| Does the franchisor have the financial ability to provide support to my business? | Item 21 or Exhibit A includes financial statements. Review these statements carefully. |
| Is the franchise system stable, growing, or shrinking? | Item 20 summarizes the recent history of the number of company-owned and franchised outlets |
| Will my business be the only Auto- Lab business in the area? | Item 12 and the "territory" provisions in the franchise agreement describe whether the franchisor and other franchisees can compete with you. |
| Does the franchisor have a troubled legal history? | Items 3 and 4 tell you whether the franchisor or its management have been involved in material litigation or bankruptcy proceedings. |
| What's it like to be an Auto-Lab franchisee? | Item 20 or Exhibit K lists current and former franchisees. You can contact them to ask about their experiences. |
| What else should I know? | These questions are only a few things you should look for. Review all 23 Items and all Exhibits in this disclosure document to better understand this franchise opportunity. See the table of contents. |

What You Need To Know About Franchising Generally

<u>Continuing responsibility to pay fees</u>. You may have to pay royalties and other fees even if you are losing money.

Business model can change. The franchise agreement may allow the franchisor to change its manuals and business model without your consent. These changes may require you to make additional investments in your franchise business or may harm your franchise business.

<u>Supplier restrictions</u>. You may have to buy or lease items from the franchisor or a limited group of suppliers the franchisor designates. These items may be more expensive than similar items you could buy on your own.

Operating restrictions. The franchise agreement may prohibit you from operating a similar business during the term of the franchise. There are usually other restrictions. Some examples may include controlling your location, your access to customers, what you sell, how you market, and your hours of operation.

<u>Competition from franchisor</u>. Even if the franchise agreement grants you a territory, the franchisor may have the right to compete with you in your territory.

Renewal. Your franchise agreement may not permit you to renew. Even if it does, you may have to sign a new agreement with different terms and conditions in order to continue to operate your franchise business.

<u>When your franchise ends</u>. The franchise agreement may prohibit you from operating a similar business after your franchise ends even if you still have obligations to your landlord or other creditors.

Some States Require Registration

Your state may have a franchise law, or other law, that requires franchisors to register before offering or selling franchises in the state. Registration does not mean that the state recommends the franchise or has verified the information in this document. To find out if your state has a registration requirement, or to contact your state, use the agency information in Exhibit I.

Your state also may have laws that require special disclosures or amendments be made to your franchise agreement. If so, you should check the State Specific Addenda. See the Table of Contents for the location of the State Specific Addenda.

Special Risks to Consider About *This* Franchise

Certain states require that the following risk(s) be highlighted:

- 1. <u>Out-of-State Dispute Resolution</u>. The franchise agreement requires you to resolve disputes with the franchisor by mediation, arbitration and/or litigation only in Michigan. Out-of-state mediation, arbitration, or litigation may force you to accept a less favorable settlement for disputes. It may also cost more to mediate, arbitrate, or litigate with the franchisor in Michigan than in your own state.
- 2. <u>Sale Performance Requirement</u>. You must maintain minimum sales performance levels. Your inability to maintain these levels may result in loss of any territorial rights you are granted, termination of your franchise, and loss of your investment.

Certain states may require other risks to be highlighted. Check the "State Specific Addenda" (if any) to see whether your state requires other risks to be highlighted.

3. <u>Financial Condition.</u> The Franchisor's financial condition as reflected in its financial statements (see Item 21) calls into question the Franchisor's financially ability to provide serves and support to you.

NOTICE UNDER MICHIGAN'S FRANCHISE INVESTMENT LAW

THE STATE OF MICHIGAN PROHIBITS CERTAIN UNFAIR PROVISIONS THAT ARE SOMETIMES IN FRANCHISE DOCUMENTS. IF ANY OF THE FOLLOWING PROVISIONS ARE IN THESE FRANCHISE DOCUMENTS, THE PROVISIONS ARE VOID AND CANNOT BE ENFORCED AGAINST YOU.

- 1. A prohibition on the right of a franchisee to join an association of franchisees.
- 2. A requirement that a franchisee assent to a release, assignment, novation, waiver or estoppel which deprives a franchisee of rights and protections provided in this act. This shall not preclude a franchisee, after entering into a franchise agreement, from settling any and all claims.
- 3. A provision that permits a franchisor to terminate a franchise prior to the expiration of its term except for good cause. Good cause shall include the failure of the franchisee to comply with any lawful provision of the franchise agreement and to cure such failure after being given written notice thereof and a reasonable opportunity, which in no event need be more than thirty (30) days, to cure such failure.
- 4. A provision that permits a franchisor to refuse to renew a franchise without fairly compensating the franchisee by repurchase or other means for the fair market value at the time of expiration of the franchisee's inventory, supplies, equipment, fixtures and furnishings. Personalized materials which have no value to the franchisor and inventory, supplies, equipment, fixtures and furnishings not reasonably required in the conduct of the franchise business are not subject to compensation. This subsection applies only if: (1) the term of the franchise is less than five (5) years and (2) the franchisee is prohibited by the franchise or other agreement from continuing to conduct substantially the same business under another trademark, service mark, trade name, logotype, advertising or other commercial symbol in the same area subsequent to the expiration of the franchise or the franchisee does not receive at least six (6) months advance notice of franchisor's intent not to renew the franchise.
- 5. A provision that permits the franchisor to refuse to renew a franchise on terms generally available to other franchisees of the same class or type under similar circumstances. This section does not require a renewal provision.
- 6. A provision requiring that arbitration or litigation be conducted outside this state. This shall not preclude the franchisee from entering into an agreement, at the time of arbitration, to conduct arbitration at a location outside this state.
- 7. A provision which permits a franchisor to refuse to permit a transfer of ownership of a franchise, except for good cause. This subdivision does not prevent a franchisor from exercising a right of first refusal to purchase the franchise. Good cause shall include, but is not limited to:
 - a. the failure of the proposed transferee to meet the franchisor's then current reasonable qualifications or standards;

- b. the fact that the proposed transferee is a competitor of the franchisor or sub-franchisor;
- c. the unwillingness of the proposed transferee to agree in writing to comply with all lawful obligations; and
- d. the failure of the franchisee or proposed transferee to pay any sums owing to the franchisor or to cure any default in the franchise agreement existing at the time of the proposed transfer.
- 8. A provision that requires the franchisee to resell to the franchisor items that are not uniquely identified with the franchisor. This subdivision does not prohibit a provision that grants to a franchisor the right of first refusal to purchase the assets of a franchisee on the same terms and conditions as a bona fide third party willing and able to purchase those assets, nor does this subdivision prohibit a provision that grants the franchisor the right to acquire the assets of a franchise for the market or appraised value of such assets if the franchisee has breached the lawful provisions of the franchise agreement and has failed to cure the breach in the manner provided in subsection 3.
- 9. A provision which permits the franchisor to directly or indirectly convey, assign or otherwise transfer its obligations to fulfill contractual obligations to the franchisee unless provision has been made for providing the required contractual services.

THE FACT THAT THERE IS A NOTICE OF THIS OFFERING ON FILE WITH THE ATTORNEY GENERAL DOES NOT CONSTITUTE APPROVAL, RECOMMENDATION OR ENDORSEMENT BY THE ATTORNEY GENERAL.

IF FRANCHISOR'S MOST RECENT UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENT SHOWS A NET WORTH OF LESS THAN ONE HUNDRED (\$100,000) DOLLARS, YOU HAVE THE RIGHT TO REQUEST THE ESCROW OF THE INITIAL INVESTMENT AND OTHER FUNDS PAID UNTIL OBLIGATIONS TO PROVIDE REAL ESTATE, IMPROVEMENTS, EQUIPMENT INVENTORY, TRAINING OR OTHER ITEMS INCLUDED IN THE FRANCHISE OFFERING ARE FULFILLED.

ANY QUESTIONS REGARDING THIS NOTICE MAY BE DIRECTED TO THE STATE OF MICHIGAN, DEPARTMENT OF ATTORNEY GENERAL, CONSUMER PROTECTION DIVISION, ATTN: FRANCHISE, G. MENNEN WILLIAMS BUILDING, 525 W OTTAWA STREET, P.O. BOX 30213, LANSING, MICHIGAN 48909, TELEPHONE (517) 335-7567.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| NOTICE UNDER MICHIGAN'S FRANCHISE INVESTMENT LAW | iv |
|--|-------|
| ITEM 1THE FRANCHISOR AND ANY PARENTS, PREDECESSORS AND AFFILIA | TES 1 |
| ITEM 2BUSINESS EXPERIENCE | 3 |
| ITEM 3LITIGATION | 4 |
| ITEM 4BANKRUPTCY | 4 |
| ITEM 5INITIAL FEES | 4 |
| ITEM 6OTHER FEES | 5 |
| ITEM 7ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT | 9 |
| ITEM 8RESTRICTIONS ON SOURCES OF PRODUCTS AND SERVICES | 12 |
| ITEM 9FRANCHISEE'S OBLIGATIONS | 14 |
| ITEM 10FINANCING | 15 |
| ITEM 11FRANCHISOR'S ASSISTANCE, ADVERTISING, COMPUTER SYSTEMS TRAINING | |
| ITEM 12TERRITORY | 21 |
| ITEM 13TRADEMARKS | 22 |
| ITEM 14PATENTS, COPYRIGHTS AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION | 25 |
| ITEM 15OBLIGATION TO PARTICIPATE IN THE ACTUAL OPERATION OF FRANCHISE BUSINESS | |
| ITEM 16RESTRICTIONS ON WHAT THE FRANCHISEE MAY SELL | 26 |
| ITEM 17RENEWAL, TERMINATION, TRANSFER AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION | 27 |
| ITEM 18PUBLIC FIGURES | 29 |
| ITEM 19FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPRESENTATIONS | 29 |
| ITEM 20 OUTLETS AND FRANCHISEE INFORMATION | 31 |
| ITEM 21FINANCIAL STATEMENTS | 35 |
| ITEM 22CONTRACTS | 35 |
| ITEM 23RECEIPTS | 35 |

EXHIBITS

- A. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
- B. FRANCHISE AGREEMENT
- C. CONFIDENTIALITY AND NON-DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT AND COVENANT NOT TO COMPETE (Franchisee and Principal Owner)
- D. PRINCIPAL OWNER'S GUARANTY AND ASSUMPTION OF OBLIGATIONS
- E. CONDITIONAL ASSIGNMENT OF LEASE AGREEMENT
- F. REAL ESTATE OPTION TO PURCHASE
- G. SOFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMENT
- H. TELEPHONE NUMBER ASSIGNMENT
- I. LIST OF STATE ADMINISTRATORS AND AGENTS FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS
- J. BRAND STANDARDS MANUAL TABLE OF CONTENTS
- K. LIST OF FRANCHISEES
- L. STATE SPECIFIC ADDENDA
- M. FRANCHISEE ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
- N. STATE EFFECTIVE DATES
- O. RECEIPTS

ITEM 1--THE FRANCHISOR AND ANY PARENTS, PREDECESSORS AND AFFILIATES

The Franchisor

To simplify the language in this Franchise Disclosure Document "Auto-Lab", "it", "our" or "we" means Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC, the franchisor. "You" means the franchisee or legal entity (including a corporation, partnership, limited liability company, or other legal entity (collectively, "legal entity") and its owners, officers, and directors, who are buying the franchise.

Auto-Lab is a Michigan liability company which was originally organized on November 15, 2011. On September 25, 2018, we merged into our former parent Auto-Lab, LLC, who retained the corporate name Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC. Our principal place of business is 40400 Ann Arbor Road, Suite 101, Plymouth, Michigan 48170. Our current parent is Wilson Holdings, L.L.C., a Michigan limited liability company ("Parent"). Our Parent's principal place of business is 4806 Goodison Place Drive, Rochester, Michigan 48306. Our Parent has never offered franchises in any line of business, nor has it ever owned or operated any Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Centers.

We operate under our corporate name and the "Auto-Lab" name. Our agents for service of process are disclosed in Exhibit I. We began franchising activities in January 2012, but our predecessors have sold Auto-Lab franchises since 1989. We do not presently operate any automotive service outlets similar to the one you are considering. We offer area representative franchises under a separate area representative franchise disclosure document. We also offer Auto-Lab Express franchises under a separate franchise disclosure document. We do not currently have any other business activities. Except for the sale of Auto-Lab Express and area representative franchises, we have not offered franchises in other lines of business. We do not have any affiliates that provide products or services to our franchisees or that offer franchises in any line of business.

Our affiliate, Belleville Auto Investments, LLC ("Belleville Auto Investments") opened an Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Centers franchise similar to the one offered here in January 2024. Belleville Auto Investments' principal business address is 10625 Belleville Road, Belleville, Michigan 48111. Belleville Auto Investments has never offered franchises in any line of business.

Franchisor's Business

We are offering, under the terms of this disclosure document, the opportunity to become a franchisee and to develop and operate an Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Center. Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Centers are full service and diagnostic-oriented automotive repair and maintenance facilities. Featuring our proprietary operations software, we offer consumers comprehensive automotive and engine analysis for all makes and models of cars, SUVs, and light-duty trucks. Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Centers operate according to a unique and distinctive system ("Franchise System"), whose distinguishing characteristics include distinctive exterior and interior design and layout, procedures and techniques for automotive repair and service, which most importantly include complete automotive diagnostic services. We have described our mandatory standards and recommended operations, specifications and procedures in our confidential set of Brand Standards Manuals (collectively referred to as "Manual"). We will loan you one (1) copy of the Manual for the term of your franchise. We have the right to change the

Manual and the elements of the Franchise System and require that you follow the elements of the Franchise System.

Separately, we also offer Auto-Lab Express single unit franchises. Auto-Lab Express outlets offer consumers a narrower range of services than Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Centers, including full service engine oil changes, oil, air, and cabin filter checks and changes, battery and wiper blade checks and replacement, air conditioning checks and recharges, headlight and taillight checks and replacement, belts and hoses checks and replacement, oil and fuel additives, coolant flush, oil and gas cap checks and replacement, washer fluid and antifreeze checks and replacement, and other quick-service routine automotive maintenance. Auto-Lab Express franchises are offered under the terms of a separate disclosure document and franchise agreement than Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Center franchises.

The Auto-Lab Single Unit Franchise and Conversion

The Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Center single unit franchise ("single unit franchise" or "Franchise Store") is a business offering comprehensive automotive and engine diagnostics, electrical system repair, air conditioning repair, engine repair and other automotive related repair and maintenance services. You will typically operate your Franchise Store in a stand-alone building or in a retail location that contains several related, non-competitive auto service businesses. The Franchise Store must operate under the Auto-Lab trademarks, which are described in Item 13 ("Trademarks") and in accordance with our standards and specifications and Franchise System. Franchise Stores are approximately 4,500 to 5,500 square feet in size, with an average of six (6) automotive repair bays. You must adhere to the Franchise System regardless of the size of your Franchise Store. You acquire the right to operate a Franchise Store by signing our standard Franchise Agreement (see Exhibit B).

We also offer an existing independently operated automotive repair facility the opportunity to convert its facility to a Franchise Store (referred to in this Franchise Disclosure Document as a "Conversion"). A Conversion is charged a reduced initial franchise fee, a reduced royalty for a limited period of time and may have a reduced initial investment (see Items 5, 6 and 7).

Your franchise may be located within a geographical area allocated to an Area Developer. If this is the case, the Area Developer may perform some of the following services on our behalf: (i) solicit prospective franchisees and, as we request, assist in the franchise sales process ("sales services"); (ii) perform certain site acquisition and development services ("site services"); (iii) perform certain pre-opening training services ("training services"); and (iv) render compliance and enforcement services for and on behalf of us, and provide additional marketing, operational, training and field support services to franchisees ("support services"). Area Developers are not authorized, and Area Developer sales services do not include the right to approve prospects as Auto-Lab franchisees, offer or sell franchises, or negotiate or sign franchise agreements on our behalf. Area Developers are not a party to contracts between us and you. The full disclosures required for Area Developers are contained in a separate area developer franchise disclosure document.

Market and Competition

The automotive service industry has existed for a long time and is, therefore, considered a mature industry. As such, you will compete with a variety of other automotive service outlets, which sell similar products and services, many of which are members of other franchise systems. Examples of potential competitors are car dealerships, gasoline stations, tune up shops (both independent and franchised) and other similar businesses. The nature of certain types of repairs may vary with the season (i.e., electrical in the winter and air conditioning in the summer) but, on the whole, the automotive services business is not prone to extensive seasonal volatility.

The market for auto service businesses could be affected by pandemics, such as the COVID-19 pandemic. These effects may be experienced while the pandemic and any social distancing policies, voluntary or mandatory shutdowns, and other governmental policies and requirements relating to the pandemic are in effect. The market could also be affected by natural disasters, such as hurricanes and floods. The effects from pandemics and natural disasters may include the unavailability of employees, reduced hours of operation or closing of the business for a period of time, reduced sales volumes and cash flows, and disruptions to supply chains.

Industry Regulations

Many areas of law or regulation may affect your specific industry and business apart from general business regulations, including those laws or regulations relating to the storage, management and/or disposal of used oil, used (spent) antifreeze, and other automotive products or substances. Your specific state or local authorities may also have their own environmental laws and ordinances that apply to automotive maintenance businesses, such as hazardous and solid waste laws, air emissions laws, occupational safety laws, right to know requirements and used oil and oil filter regulations. You should consult your attorney to see which laws apply. Some laws that may apply to your franchise include the Resource Conservation Recovery Act, 43 U.S.C. 6901 et. seq.; Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. 1251 et. seq.; Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. 7401 et. seq.; Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. 9601 et. seq.; Occupational Safety and Health Act, 29 U.S.C. 651 et. seq.; and Toxic Substance Control Act 7 U.S.C. 136 et. seq.

ITEM 2--BUSINESS EXPERIENCE

Chief Executive Officer: Stephen R. Wilson

Mr. Wilson has served as our Chief Executive Officer since October 2019. Prior to serving as our Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Wilson served as our President from January 2012 to October 2019, and ran our day-to-day operations.

Director of Training/New Product Development: Mark Sullivan

Mr. Sullivan has served as our Director of Operations since May 2023. Since 2006, Mr. Sullivan has owned Fine Tune of Plymouth Inc., which operates an Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Center franchise in Plymouth, Michigan. Mr. Sullivan also owned and operated an Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Center franchise in Novi, Michigan from 1995 to 2005.

Social Media Manager: Riley Nicole Wilson

Ms. Wilson has served as our Social Media Manager since April 2025. Since October 2024, Ms. Wilson has also worked for Disabled Sports Eastern Sierra, in Mammoth Lakes California, as a Development & Communications Manager. From October 2023 to October 2024, Ms. Wilson served as a Development Specialist for Disabled Sports Eastern Sierra, in Mammoth Lakes California. From July 2023 to October 2023, Ms. Wilson worked as a Food Program Coordinator at Forgotten Harvest in Oak Park, Michigan. From September 2022 to February 2023, Ms. Wilson worked as an All Rounder at the Toobeah Hotel in Queensland, Australia. From May 2021 to September 2022, Ms. Wilson was unemployed. From September 2019 to September 2020, Ms. Wilson worked as a Membership Service Representative at the Peninsula Metropolitan YMCA in Newport News, Virginia. From August 2017 to May 2021, Ms. Wilson was a student at William & Mary in Williamsburg, Virginia.

ITEM 3--LITIGATION

In Re: Empower Central Michigan, Inc. (United States Bankruptcy Court – Eastern District of Michigan Case No. 23-31281). On August 4, 2023, our franchisee, Empower Central Michigan, Inc. ("Empower") filed a voluntary petition under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. On February 23, 2024, Empower filed a motion to reject its franchise agreement and confidentiality and nondisclosure agreement and covenant not to compete (collectively, the "Contracts"), with the plan of Empower operating a competing business out of the franchise location. On March 8, 2024, we filed a response to Empower's motion to reject the Contracts. A hearing was held on April 3, 2024, where the Bankruptcy Court held that our rights under the Contracts continued to exist post-rejection and permitted the enforcement of the Contracts. The Court also held that our intellectual property was entitled to protection and enjoined Empower from competing and from violating the confidentiality provisions and covenants not to compete set forth in the Contracts. On July 12, 2024, Empower filed an Amended Plan of Reorganization to assume its franchise agreement and to continue operating its Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Centers franchise. On August 21, 2024, the Bankruptcy Court confirmed Empower Amended Plan of Reorganization. On October 28, 2024, the case was closed.

Other than the action disclosed above, no litigation is required to be disclosed in this Item.

ITEM 4--BANKRUPTCY

No bankruptcy is required to be disclosed in this Item.

ITEM 5--INITIAL FEES

You must pay a non-refundable initial franchise fee of \$27,500 for a single unit franchise, which is due in full when you execute the Franchise Agreement. If you choose to open additional franchises, the initial franchise fee will be 50% of the initial franchise fee we are offering at that time. If you are an Area Developer, the initial franchise fee will be 50% of the initial franchise fee we are offering at that time. The Initial Franchise Fee for a Conversion is \$19,500, which is due in

full when you execute the Franchise Agreement. The initial franchise fee is fully earned by us when you sign the Franchise Agreement and is not refundable under any circumstances.

ITEM 6--OTHER FEES

If you purchase a single franchise, you will or may incur the following additional fees.

| Type of Fee | Amount | Due Date | Remarks |
|---|--|---|--|
| Royalty (1) | 6% on weekly Gross Sales. (Note 1) | Payable weekly by electronic funds transfer | "Gross Sales" includes all revenue generated at Franchise Location. |
| Regional or National Advertising ⁽²⁾ | Up to 3% of weekly Gross Sales | Every other week with the Royalty Fee see Item 11 for more detailed discussion | See Note 1, Note 2 |
| Local Advertising (3) | 6% of Gross Sales | | See Note 3 |
| Technology Fee (4) | Up to \$500 per month. Currently, \$100 per month. | 1st day of each month | See Note 4 |
| Software Licenses ⁽⁵⁾ | Currently, \$300 to \$650 per month. | When invoiced | See Note 5 and Exhibit G |
| FAST START | Currently \$11,500 | When you order your computer system | Note 6 |
| Additional Training/Assistance ⁽⁷⁾ | \$600 per day per trainer, plus expenses | When performed | We perform the initial training program as part of your initial franchise fee. Item 11 (Note 7) |
| Late Charge ⁽⁸⁾ | 1.5% per month or maximum legal rate, whichever is lesser amount | When billed | Payable if you make payments late |
| Audit | Cost of audit ⁽⁹⁾ , plus Royalty and Advertising Fees due on understatements, plus Late Charges | 10 days after billing payable to us and non-refundable | Payable if 2% understatement of gross sales |
| Vendor and/or Product Approval | \$500-\$1,000 payable to us and non-refundable | When you request approval of a vendor and/or product | See Item 8 |
| Transfer ⁽¹⁰⁾ | 50% of the then initial franchise fee charged to new franchisees | Payable to us and non-refundable | You incur no transfer fee if you transfer to a corporation that you control, or to your spouse or children. See Item 17. |
| Management Fee ⁽¹¹⁾ | 10% of weekly Gross Sales | Paid at the same time as Royalty Fee | See Note 11 |
| Renewal | 50% of the initial Franchise Fee for new franchisees | At renewal, payable to us and non- refundable | |
| Attorneys' Fees ⁽¹²⁾ | Actual expenses | When awarded | See Note 12 |

| Type of Fee | Amount | Due Date | Remarks |
|--|-------------------------------------|--|--|
| Liquidated Damages | 4 times the previous year's Royalty | As incurred | You pay us for breach of the franchise agreement, as part of the damages we are due, liquidated damages for our lost future royalties. We are also due all other remedies available in law and equity. |
| Non-Compliance Fee ⁽¹³⁾ | \$100 per day or \$1000 per week | Per occurrence, payable by electronic funds transfer | Payable if you fail to comply with your obligation to provide certain financial statements and tax returns (Note 13) |
| Not-Sufficient Funds Fee ⁽¹⁴⁾ | \$50.00 per occurrence | When billed | Payable if your account does not contain sufficient funds (Note 14) |

Notes:

- (1) Royalty is paid to us and is non-refundable. Gross Sales are gross sales for all auto repair services and products you sell to customers less refunds to customers, allowances and sales tax. If you purchase a Conversion, we will discount the Royalty due by 50% for the first year, after which you will pay the same Royalty as all other single-unit franchisees. If your state, or any governmental body in your state, charges us a tax on the Royalty we receive from you, then we require you to pay an additional amount equal to the amount of this tax. This does not apply to any federal income tax we have to pay. You must pay a Royalty on Gross Sales received by you during the entire term of the Agreement and any renewal terms.
- (2) This is the amount that you may be required to pay to us as advertising fees for regional or national advertising. We currently do not collect these fees. See Item 11. If collected, these amounts will not be refundable.
- (3) You must spend 6% of your annual Gross Sales on advertising in your local market. We may require you to participate in a local advertising cooperative that is established in your Area of Dominant Influence ("ADI"). The advertising cooperative will establish the level of contributions and the contribution to the Advertising Cooperative will be included in your 6% Local Advertising obligation. Each cooperative may determine its own voting procedures; however, each companyowned Auto-Lab in the ADI will be entitled to one vote in any local advertising cooperative. If requested by the Advertising Cooperative, we may collect your contributions with your Royalty Payments and pass these collections through to the Advertising Cooperative. If we assist in the administration of an Advertising Cooperative, we will charge and collect a management fee equal to 15% of the contributions owed to the Advertising Cooperative.
- (4) You must pay us a monthly technology fee, which we will use to support existing and develop new technology for the Franchise System. Currently, the monthly technology fee is \$100.00. We reserve the right to charge up to \$500.00 per month. This fee is not refundable.

- You must purchase software license(s) that we require, including as we may specify in the Manual, and all updates as they are developed. Such amounts are non-refundable. The licensed software performs invoicing, inventory control, accounting, customer database management and reporting functions. You must sign a separate software license agreement for use of the licensed software and use the licensed software only in accordance with the license agreement's terms. The software license agreement for our proprietary Auto-Lab Business Management System ALBMS® program is attached as Exhibit G. We currently charge \$300.00 a month to use ALBMS®. We may also require that you use a different software program than ALBMS®. If we require that you use a different software program, your monthly fee will be more and it may increase over the term of the Franchise Agreement.
- (6) You must purchase from us the Auto-Lab "FAST START" computer system, which includes two Desktop PCs, a hard-drive, monitors, printers, a cash drawer, router and additional software, supplies and related services. This computer will run business software and will allow you to use the licensed software, including ALBMS®. This computer will come with a two (2) year manufacturer warranty. Except for this warranty, neither we, nor any affiliate or third party has any obligation to provide ongoing maintenance, repairs, upgrades or updates. You are obligated to upgrade or update the computer system during the term of the franchise if we specify and there are no contractual limitations on the frequency or cost of that requirement. You are currently charged a one-time fee of \$11,500 for the "FAST START" computer system, which rate may increase based on our costs.
- (7) We do not collect any fee beyond the initial franchise fee for the initial training program. See Item 11. If we determine, in our sole discretion, that your operations need additional training, or if you ask us to perform additional training, we will charge you a per diem fee per trainer as adjusted from time to time as we determine in our discretion (currently \$600), plus expenses. We may also offer refresher courses and seminars to keep you up to date, and you must attend these refresher courses at no extra charge to you. You will, however, be responsible for all travel, lodging, meal, and other personal expenses. We currently do not mandate refresher courses, but we do provide them sometimes at your site at no extra charge to you.
- (8) Interest begins after the due date of payment, payable to us and non-refundable.
- (9) We estimate the cost of the audit to range between \$2,500 and \$5,000.
- (10) We will provide training to the transferee similar to the initial training we provide you.
- (11) We may manage your business on a temporary basis if you request us to do so. The management fee is payable to us and is non-refundable.
- (12) The Franchise Agreement provides that the prevailing party in any dispute will be paid its attorneys' fees.
- (13) The Franchise Agreement requires you submit detailed financial statements by the 15th day of every month and such other additional information as may be reasonably required by us. If you

fail to provide such financial statements or other documentation by the date they are due, you must pay us a Non-Compliance Fee of \$100 per day. In addition, the Franchise Agreement requires that you must submit your annual federal, state, and local tax returns to us no later than May 1st. If you fail to provide such tax returns by the date they are due, you must pay us a Non-Compliance Fee of \$1,000 per week.

(14) You must make payments by electronic funds transfer. If your account does not contain sufficient funds for your required payments, or if you otherwise provide payment with an instrument that is returned for insufficient funds or if the funds are not otherwise immediately available to us, you will pay us \$50.00 per occurrence.

ITEM 7--ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT YOUR ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT

| Type of Expenditure | New Single Unit Amount | Conversion Amount | Method of Payment | When Due | To Whom Payment Is To Be Made |
|---------------------------------------|--|---------------------------|------------------------------------|-------------------------------|-------------------------------------|
| Initial Franchise Fee (Note 1) | \$13,750 to \$27,500 | \$19,500 | Lump sum | Franchise Agreement execution | Auto-Lab |
| Equipment and Fixtures (Note 2) | \$131,000 to \$225,000 | \$0 to \$225,000 | Lump sum or monthly payments | Before opening | Third party vendors |
| Inventory (Note 3) | \$5,000 to \$24,000 | \$0 to \$24,000 | Lump sum or monthly payments | Before opening | Third party vendors |
| Leasehold Improvements (Note 4) | \$25,000 to \$180,000 | \$0 to \$100,000 | Lump sum | Before opening | Third party vendors |
| Training Expenses (Note 5) | \$3,000 to \$5,000 | \$0 to \$5,000 | As incurred | As incurred | Third party vendors |
| Pre-Opening Expenses (Note 6) | \$15,000 to \$25,000 | \$15,000 to \$25,000 | As incurred | As incurred | Third party vendors |
| Grand Opening Advertising | \$7,500 | \$7,500 | As incurred | Before opening | Third party vendors |
| Signage | \$65,000 to \$125,000 | \$65,000 to \$125,000 | Lump Sum | Before opening | Third party vendors |
| Business licenses and permits | \$2,500 to \$5,000 | \$0 to \$5,000 | Lump Sum | Before opening | Governmental Agency |
| Real Estate Rent (Note 7) | \$0 to \$42,000 (3 months) | \$0 to \$42,000 | As incurred | As incurred | Third party vendors |
| Additional Funds (3 months) (Note 8) | \$25,000 to \$75,000 | \$0 to \$75,000 | As incurred | As incurred | Third party vendors |
| Insurance (3 months) (Note 9) | \$4,000 to \$5,000 | \$4,000 to \$5,000 | As arranged | Before opening | Insurance (3 months, we approve) |
| TOTAL | \$296,750 to \$746,000 (Note 10) | \$111,000 to \$658,000 | | | |

Our estimate of your initial investment to develop a single unit Auto-Lab franchise is described in the table above. The estimate covers the period before the opening of your franchise and includes a category for additional expenses you may incur during the initial three-month phase after the opening of your franchise. The estimate does not include an owner's salary or draw. The estimates also do not reflect an amount for investment in real estate, since it is assumed that you will lease your premises. We urge you to retain the services of an experienced accountant or financial adviser in order to develop a business plan and financial projections for your franchise.

Your actual investment may vary depending on local conditions peculiar to your geographic area or market, for example, real estate demand, availability and occupancy rates. Additional variables that may impact your initial investment may be: the size of your facility; age

of the structure; length of your lease or other instrument granting you the right to occupy the premises; if your space is to be built out by the landlord with no initial out-of-pocket costs to you; lease arrangements; location in the market; whether you are converting existing premises and whether in the same business; costs of demolishing existing leasehold improvements; construction costs; other variable expenses and whether you currently hold a lease for an acceptable location.

You should consider having additional sums available, whether in cash or through a bank line of credit or have other assets that you may liquidate or against which you may borrow to cover other expenses, and any operating losses you may sustain, whether during your start-up or thereafter.

Notes:

- (1) As more fully described in Item 5, you pay this amount to us. You are not entitled to a refund once you sign the Franchise Agreement.
- (2) The cost of the equipment and fixture package may range from \$131,000 to \$225,000, however, franchisees often finance all or part of the required equipment purchases. The equipment cost may be substantially reduced if you purchase a Conversion and your entire equipment package meets our specifications. The equipment package will primarily consist of various components needed to service or repair vehicles, such as designated diagnostic equipment. In addition, the equipment package includes the purchase of certain computer hardware and software, which must comply with our "FAST START" specifications described in Item 11, and the associated first three (3) months of software licensing fees. For a Conversion we provide the "FAST START" as part of your Initial Franchise Fee. While we do not guarantee you can purchase these items at the above price, we believe this amount is a reasonable price at the time of this Franchise Disclosure Document. The equipment must meet our specifications and be purchased from approved Vendors. You are responsible for financing. We anticipate you will not be able to get a refund for any payments you make for equipment to third party vendors.
- (3) You must purchase your inventory from Vendors we approve, and must have an adequate inventory to ensure you can perform the services offered to your customers, and to sell related merchandise to them. The exact amount of investment in inventory will depend on the type of location you operate and the nature of your trade area.
- (4) You must comply with our specifications relating to leasehold improvements. Under certain circumstances, you may have to make minimal leasehold improvements, such as in the conversion of an existing facility. In other instances, you will have to make a substantial investment in leasehold improvements to get the premises in compliance with our appearance and operational standards. For this reason, we have included a wide range of expected costs in the table above. For a Conversion, up to \$5,000 of your signage expense is included in your Initial Franchise Fee.
- (5) Training costs will vary depending upon where you live, the type of transportation you use, where you stay, whether you incur payroll expense and any other personal expenses. We assume that we will provide training to only one (1) person.

- (6) Pre-opening expenses will vary among franchisees depending on lease and utility deposits; pre-opening payroll costs; any additional site selection expenses; out-of-pocket costs for travel, lodging and meals; more than one visit from us to approve your proposed site. No expenditures from the pre-opening expense component will be refundable unless for deposits and on terms negotiated with third party Vendors.
- (7) You do not have to invest in or purchase real property. If you do, your real estate costs could be significantly higher. You must, however, obtain a lease for the franchised location unless you already own the property. The rental rate and the term of the lease are negotiable based upon the location and building size to be used. We anticipate the monthly rental rate may range from \$3,333 to \$14,000 per month for a location containing from 4,500 to 5,500 square feet of rentable space. This amount does not include a security deposit. Security deposits are typically equal to one (1) month of rent. You will normally sign a lease after signing the Franchise Agreement. Whether any of these amounts are refundable will depend on the terms of your lease.
- (8) We estimate you may need an additional \$25,000 to \$75,000 to operate the business during the initial 3-month period after you start your business. This should cover fixed expenses that you will incur such as payroll, utilities, telephone, advertising, and financing costs during that initial period. This figure also includes the first three (3) payments for the monthly Technology Fee, which is currently \$100, and the monthly High Level Marketing Fee in the amount of \$125. This fee is for the operation and maintenance of a separate full-service micro-website and domain name for your Store. We own the domain name and it is operated and maintained in conjunction with our main corporate website. Your actual costs for initial start-up expenses during your first three (3) months of operation depend on how closely you follow our methods and procedures; your management skills; experience and business judgment; local economic conditions; the local market for Auto-Lab franchisees; the prevailing wage; competition; and the sales level reached during the initial period.
- (9) You must obtain and maintain, for the life of your Franchise Store, insurance coverage at levels provided in the Manual, which may change periodically. At present, you must obtain Comprehensive General Liability Insurance including product liability coverage for bodily injury and property damage for an amount not less than \$1,000,000 per occurrence, with \$2,000,000 aggregate; Owned, Non-Owned and Hired Automobile Liability Insurance for an amount not less than \$1,000,000, combined single limit; Building, Personal Property and Leasehold Improvements Insurance, if applicable, under an "all risk" property form with replacement costs endorsement in an amount equal to 100% of the values of these items; Business Interruption Insurance covering earnings on an "actual loss sustained basis" for a minimum of 12 months; or, if "actual loss sustained" coverage is not obtainable, you must obtain Business Insurance (and extra expense) coverage (utilizing a valuation that will include the equivalent of net income before taxes); Workers' Compensation Insurance as required by law; Employer Practices Liability Insurance for amounts not less than \$500,000 per accident, \$500,000 per employee and \$500,000 policy limit; an Umbrella Liability Coverage for an amount not less than \$3,000,000 per occurrence; and Employee dishonesty coverage of not less than \$20,000 per occurrence; money and securities coverage of inside and outside of not less than \$10,000 per occurrence. You must obtain this insurance coverage from a reputable insurance company (with Best's analytical rating of "A" and

the financial size category of VIII). You must include Auto-Lab as an additional insured on all applicable policies, protecting Auto-Lab from any liability by reason of ownership, maintenance or operation by you of your Franchise Store. You must annually provide Auto-Lab with evidence of the required insurance coverage by proper certificates of insurance, and such insurance policies must require the insurer to provide Auto-Lab with not less than thirty (30) days prior written notice of any cancellation, non-renewal or material changes in such policy. The amount estimated for your insurance for the Franchise Store is for approximately 25% of an annual premium. The balance of the annual premium is generally payable over a 9-month period. The cost of insurance will vary based on factors such as physical assets, number of employees, square footage, contents of the business, geographic location and other factors bearing on the risk of exposure.

(10) We relied on our experience in operating a franchise network of Auto-Lab franchisees to compile these estimates. These estimates are based upon our existing experience in assisting franchisees in our existing markets. If you propose to open in a market other than a market in which we have opened an affiliate-owned or franchise outlet, you may experience significantly different initial investment expenses. You should review these figures carefully with a business advisor before deciding to acquire an Auto-Lab franchise. We do not offer financing, directly or indirectly, for any part of the initial investment (see Item 10). The availability and terms of financing depend on many factors, including the availability of financing generally, your credit worthiness and collateral, and lending policies of financial institutions from which you request a loan.

ITEM 8--RESTRICTIONS ON SOURCES OF PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

We may require you to purchase equipment, computer systems, inventory, software, products, services, electronic menu boards, or merchandise from us or a single approved vendor ("Designated Vendor"). You must purchase or lease all equipment, uniforms, apparel, promotional items, fixtures, cash registers and furniture from a vendor approved by us ("Approved Vendor"). Other than "FAST START" and ALBMS®, we do not require you to purchase any category of goods and services from us.

We provide you with a list of approved architects, contractors, manufacturers, vendors and distributors ("Approved Vendors List"), and approved inventory products, fixtures, furniture, equipment, signs, stationery, supplies and other items or services necessary to operate the franchise ("Approved Supplies List"). These lists will specify the manufacturer, vendor and distributor, and the inventory, products, fixtures, furniture, equipment, signs, stationery, supplies and services that we have approved to be carried or used. We may revise the Approved Vendors List and Approved Supplies Lists in our sole discretion. Any approved lists will be given to you as we deem advisable as part of an Manual update. We may issue and modify other modifications to the system by revisions to the Manual.

If you want to (i) offer for sale any brand of product not then approved by us, (ii) use any brand of material or supply in your operation that is not then approved by us as meeting our minimum specifications and quality standards, or (iii) purchase any product from a vendor that is not then designated by us as an Approved Vendor, you must first notify us in writing and, if requested by us, submit samples and such other information as we require for examination and/or

testing or to otherwise determine whether the proposed product, material or supply, or the proposed vendor meets our specifications and quality standards. You may be asked to pay to us a charge not to exceed the reasonable cost of the inspection and evaluation and the actual cost of the test. We estimate that charge to be in the range of \$500-\$1,000 per product supply or vendor. Our review is typically completed within thirty (30) days. We reserve the right, at our option, to re-examine or re-test the facilities and products of any vendor of an approved item, and to revoke such approval if an item fails to continue to meet any of our criteria. We will send written notice to you of any revocation of an Approved Vendor.

At this time, we require that you purchase "FAST START" and ALBMS® from us and your micro-website, phone systems, invoice paper, other computer software licenses, and electronic menu boards from Designated Vendors.

All equipment, signs, fixtures, inventory, products and materials, and other items and supplies used in the construction and operation of your location that are not specifically required to be purchased in accordance with our Approved Supplies List and Approved Vendors List, must conform to the specifications and quality standards established by us.

We approve vendors who can match the exact standards, overall quality and appearance standards required by the Franchise System. These specifications include standards for delivery, performance, design, and appearance. We apply the following general criteria in approving a proposed vendor: (1) ability to make products in conformity with our specifications; (2) willingness to protect the trade secrets of a product without dissemination to others; (3) production and delivery capability; (4) reputation and integrity of vendor; and (5) financial condition and insurance coverage of the vendor. Except as may be provided in this Franchise Disclosure Document and our Brand Standards Manual, we do not issue these specifications and standards to our franchisees.

We may, but are not obligated to, negotiate arrangements with vendors for your benefit. For example, we do expect to negotiate better prices for supplies with the vendors based on larger volumes, and these price discounts would benefit you. We have negotiated purchasing programs with AutoZone, O'Reilly, Snap-on, and Advanced Auto. You are not required to use these vendors, but if you do, you will receive discounts in the form of rebates paid directly to you from the vendor, based upon your purchases. At this time, no purchasing or distribution cooperatives exist. We do not provide material benefits to our franchisees based on a franchisee's purchases from designated sources; however your eligibility to renew your franchise or purchase additional franchises depends in part on your use of our Approved Vendors.

During the fiscal year that ended December 31, 2024, we received a total of \$20,400 or 2.17%% of our total revenue of \$939,609 in rebates based upon purchases by our Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Centers® franchisees and Auto-Lab Express® franchisees. You are not required to use vendors that provide us a rebate, but if you do, you will receive discounts in the form of rebates paid directly to you from these same vendors based upon your purchases. If you do not use these vendors, you must use vendors approved by us as required in our Manual. We retained these rebates and intend to continue to do so in the future. Our current rebates range from 1% - 13% of purchases of goods and services from these vendors and are based on purchase method, timely

payment, and total sales volume. In the future, we anticipate that any revenue or other consideration received by us will fall within the range of 0% to 13% of the amount of goods or services that you purchase from the vendor. We and our affiliates receive no other payments from any other vendor, nor do we or our affiliates receive any special discount on purchases from any vendor for ourselves or themselves, in conjunction with purchases from our franchisees.

Auto-Lab is the sole vendor of the ALBMS®, which assists you in the operation of your business. The most recent version of the Auto-Lab Business Management System is provided to you with the purchase of your franchise. You must pay a monthly licensing fee pursuant to the Software License Agreement (Exhibit G) for the right to use the system. You must also sign the Software License Agreement attached as Exhibit G. Auto-Lab is also the sole vendor of the "FAST START" computer system described in Item 11. Other than Auto-Lab, there are no vendors to our franchisees in which any of our officers owns an interest.

The cost of equipment and supplies purchased in accordance with our specifications represents approximately 50% of your total cash purchases needed to begin operations. The purchase of required products from approved sources will represent approximately 60% of your overall purchases in operating the Franchise Store.

ITEM 9--FRANCHISEE'S OBLIGATIONS

This table lists your principal obligations under the Franchise and other agreements. It will help you find more detailed information about your obligations in these agreements and in other items of this Disclosure Document.

| Obligation | Section of Franchise Agreement | Disclosure Document Item |
|--|---|-----------------------------|
| A. Site selection and acquisition/lease | Article 5.1 of Franchise Agreement | Items 7 and 11 |
| B. Pre-opening purchases/leases | Article 5 of Franchise Agreement | Item 8 |
| C. Site development and other pre-opening requirements | Article 5 of Franchise Agreement | Items 7 and 11 |
| D. Initial and ongoing training | Articles 5.4 and 5.5 of Franchise Agreement | Item 11 |
| E. Opening | Article 5.1 of Franchise Agreement | Item 11 |
| F. Fees | Articles 4, 8 and 10 of Franchise Agreement | Items 5, 6 and 7 |
| G. Compliance with standards and policies/operating manual | Article 6.18 of Franchise Agreement | Item 11 |
| H. Trademarks and proprietary information | Articles 1, 2, 6.12, and 9 of Franchise Agreement | Items13 and 14 |
| I. Restrictions on products/ services offered | Article 6.15 of Franchise Agreement | Item 16 |
| J. Warranty and customer service requirements | Article 6 of Franchise Agreement | Item 16 |
| K. Territorial development and sales quotas | Article 6 of Franchise Agreement | Items 12 and 17 |
| L. Ongoing product/ service purchases | Article 6.1 of Franchise Agreement | Item 8 |
| M. Maintenance, appearance and remodeling requirements | Articles 3.2.3 and 6.16 of Franchise Agreement | Items 6 and 17 |
| N. Insurance | Articles 6.13 and 21 of Franchise Agreement | Item 7 |

| Obligation | Section of Franchise Agreement | Disclosure Document Item |
|--|--|-----------------------------|
| O. Advertising | Articles 4.3, 4.4, 6.14 and 10 of Franchise Agreement Items 6 a | |
| P. Indemnification | Articles 1.5 and 19 of Franchise Agreement | Item 6 |
| Q. Owner's participation/ management/staffing | Article 6.3 of Franchise Agreement; Confidentiality and Nondisclosure Agreement and Covenant Not to Compete (Exhibit C) | Items 11 and 15 |
| R. Records and reports | Articles 6.9 and 7 of Franchise Agreement | Item 6 |
| S. Inspections and audits | Articles 6.7 and 8 of Franchise Agreement | Items 6 and 11 |
| T. Transfer | Article 11 of Franchise Agreement | Item 17 |
| U. Renewal | Article 3 of Franchise Agreement | Item 17 |
| V. Post-termination obligations | Articles 16 and 17 of Franchise Agreement; Confidentiality and Nondisclosure Agreement and Covenant Not to Compete (Exhibit C) | Item 17 |
| W. Non-competition covenants | Article 17 of Franchise Agreement; Confidentiality and Nondisclosure Agreement and Covenant Not to Compete (Exhibit C) | Item 17 |
| X. Dispute Resolution | Article 19 of Franchise Agreement | Item 17 |

ITEM 10--FINANCING

We do not offer direct or indirect financing for single unit franchises. We do not guarantee your note, lease or other obligation.

ITEM 11--FRANCHISOR'S ASSISTANCE, ADVERTISING, COMPUTER SYSTEMS AND TRAINING

Except as listed below, Auto-Lab and/or its Area Developers are not required to provide you with any assistance.

Pre-opening Assistance

Before you open your business, we or our Area Developer will:

1. Approve the location selected by you in your designated area for your Franchise Store and approve your lease (Franchise Agreement, Article 5.1).

You must have a site approved by us and open for business within one hundred eighty (180) days (365 days for new construction) of signing a Franchise Agreement. We do not generally own or lease the premises on which your site will be located. You cannot open for business until we have approved a location. The initial franchise fee covers any expenses we incur for the first visit during the site approval process. You must reimburse us for our expenses if you request us to make additional visits during the site approval process. We suggest you employ the services of a local real estate broker to identify possible alternatives, in accordance with our site criteria, before our visit. We take into account factors such as lease terms, traffic patterns, visibility, demographic profiles, condition of building, size of space, mix of tenants and other similar criteria, in

determining whether to approve your proposed site. Our site approval process typically takes about thirty (30) days. If you fail to select a site that we approve and open for business within one hundred eighty (180) days (or 365 days if applicable) of executing a Franchise Agreement, we may terminate the Franchise Agreement. The initial franchise fee is non-refundable.

- 2. Provide you with an Approved Vendor List and an Approved Supplies List from which you must purchase or lease all of the equipment and supplies you must use for operation of your Franchise Store. (Franchise Agreement, Article 5.2). See Item 8 of this Franchise Disclosure Document for more detailed discussion.
- 3. Lend you our Manual to advise you about franchise standards, policies, recommendations, and procedures (Franchise Agreement, Article 5.2). This Manual is confidential and remains our property. We may amend and revise this Manual in our discretion (Franchise Agreement, Article 5.2). The Manual contains a total of 202 pages. The Table of Contents for the Manual is attached as Exhibit J and details the number of pages dedicated to each topic.
- 4. Conduct an extensive course of instruction that includes pre-training information and assignments that must be completed prior to attending initial training at a designated location that will cover all operating phases of the Franchise Store (Franchise Agreement, Article 5.4). The training program is described in more detail below in this Item under the subheading "Training."

Time to open

Typically, it takes between four (4) and six (6) months to open your business after you sign the Franchise Agreement or first pay any consideration for the franchise, unless the site you choose is a location that requires new construction, in which case it may take twelve (12) to eighteen (18) months to open your business. If you do not open within the timeframes set forth above, we have the right to terminate your Franchise Agreement. You must be open within thirty (30) days after you complete our initial training program.

Ongoing Assistance

After you open your franchise, we or our Area Representative will:

- 1. Consult with you regarding approval of vendors (Franchise Agreement, Article 5.3). See Item 8 of this Franchise Disclosure Document for more detailed discussion.
- 2. Visit your business at any time we deem appropriate to assist you, as well as to conduct compliance audits. We will also offer advice to you regarding any necessary matters via telephone consultation, written communications and periodic meetings. You may ask us about any technical or administrative questions you may have (Franchise Agreement, Article 5.6).
- 3. Lend you our Manual and update the Manual to reflect current practices in the industry, as well as our own business methods and procedures (Franchise Agreement, Article 5.2). The Table of Contents for the Manual is attached as Exhibit J.

- 4. Provide additional assistance in your designated area at your request. The current fee for this assistance is \$600/day per assistant, plus out-of-pocket expenses. We reserve the right to adjust the rate as we determine and to schedule such assistance at our convenience. (Franchise Agreement, Section 5.5).
- 5. Hold non-mandatory workshops, seminars and/or conferences to discuss sales techniques, personnel training, bookkeeping, accounting, inventory control, performance standards, advertising programs and merchandising procedures. There is no fee, but you must pay all your travel and living expenses. These programs are held at various locations.

Advertising

We have the right to collect up to 3% of your Gross Sales as an advertising fee to use for regional or national advertising ("Advertising Fees"). We do not currently exercise our right to collect Advertising Fees and did not in 2024. All Advertising Fees we collect will be applied to our costs of maintaining, administering, directing and preparing national or regional advertising (including, without limitation, marketing research, public relations activities, marketing programs and initiatives, including, but not limited to, administrative costs and overhead related to the administration or direction of such funds and programs, production and media placement costs, and employing advertising agencies to assist therein); provided, however, that Advertising Fees will not be used to defray our general operating expenses. Advertising Fees will be maintained in a separate account and an annual statement of fund expenditures will be delivered to you on request.

If we begin to collect Advertising Fees, our accounting and marketing personnel will administer the Advertising Fees. In administering the Advertising Fees, we will have no obligation to make expenditures in the area where your Franchise Store is located that are equivalent or proportionate to your contributions or to ensure that any particular franchise benefits directly or pro rata from the placement of the advertising. If all of the Advertising Fees are not spent in the year they are collected, we may spend those funds in subsequent years.

Although we are not required to, we may provide advertising materials and services to you, including creative layout and design, flyer(s) and other hard copy material, at our expense. We may charge these expenses to your Advertising Fees if we begin to collect Advertising Fees in the future.

You may develop advertising materials for your own use, at your own cost. We must approve the advertising materials in advance and in writing. Our approval process typically takes about thirty (30) days. Except for requiring our advance written approval, we currently have no restrictions concerning your use of advertising on the Internet or a World Wide Web page.

We occasionally provide for placement of advertising on behalf of the entire Franchise System, including you. However, most placement is done on a local basis, typically by local advertising agencies hired by you or advertising cooperatives. We reserve the right to use advertising fees from the Franchise System to place advertising in national media (including

broadcast, print or other media). Advertising funds are used to promote the products and services sold by you, but not to sell additional franchises.

You must also participate in Local Advertising to market your Franchise Store in your local market (See Item 6). If you fail to spend the required amount in Local Advertising, we may collect the difference as additional Royalty or, if applicable additional Advertising Fees.

If an Advertising Cooperative exists in the Area of Dominant Influence ("ADI") where your Franchise Store is located, you must participate in the local advertising cooperative. The amount of your contribution to the local advertising cooperative will be determined by the cooperative in an amount not to exceed 6% of your Gross Sales. Any amount that you contribute to an advertising cooperative will be counted toward your required local advertising expenditure. Franchisees required to contribute to an advertising cooperative will contribute at the same rate. If an Auto-Lab Store owned by us or one of our affiliates is part of an advertising cooperative, that store will contribute to the advertising cooperative on the same basis as franchise stores in that cooperative. We can establish the local advertising cooperative. We can also change, dissolve, or merge local advertising cooperatives. Each local advertising cooperative, if one has been established, must adopt written governing documents. A copy of the governing documents of the cooperative for your ADI is available upon request. Each cooperative may determine its own voting procedures; however, each franchise store and each company-owned Auto-Lab will be entitled to one (1) vote in any local advertising cooperative. The cooperative's members and elected officers administer the cooperative and may delegate the authority to administer the cooperative to us. Advertising cooperatives must prepare quarterly and annual financial statements, which are available for review upon reasonable request. If requested by the Advertising Cooperative, we may collect your Local Advertising contributions similar to our collection of Royalties and pass these collections through to the Advertising Cooperative.

If your Franchise Store is located in the Detroit Metro area, you must participate in the Detroit Metro Advertising Cooperative ("DMAC"). If you are required to participate in the DMAC, you must contribute 3% of your Gross Sales to the DMAC, which amount will count toward your 6% Local Advertising obligation. Certain existing franchisees contribute a different amount. If we or an affiliate of ours establishes a Store in the Detroit Metro area, that Store will contribute to the DMAC on the same basis as franchisees. As of the date of this Disclosure Document, we are responsible for administering the DMAC. The DMAC is not required to have written governing documents and none are available for review at this time. Although not required, the DMAC currently prepares monthly financial statements that consist of a balance sheet and income statement. Those monthly financial statements are available for review to those franchisees who participate in the DMAC. We reserve the right to require the DMAC to organize or incorporate, change, dissolve, or merge in our discretion.

Other than as described in this disclosure document, there are currently no other advertising funds that you must participate in. There is currently no advertising council composed of franchisees that advise us on advertising policies.

Computers, Software and Point of Sale Systems

You must purchase from us the Auto-Lab "FAST START" computer system, which includes two Desktop PCs, monitors, printers, cash drawer, router and additional software, supplies and related services. The current cost of the FAST START package is \$11,500. This computer will run business software and will allow you to use our Auto-Lab Business Management System ("ALBMS®") or other software we may require that you use. This computer will come with a two (2) year manufacturer warranty. Except for this warranty, neither we, nor any affiliate or third party has any obligation to provide ongoing maintenance, repairs, upgrades or updates. You are obligated to upgrade or update the computer system during the term of the franchise if we specify and there are no contractual limitations on the frequency or cost of that requirement.

You must use ALBMS® or such other software platform or system we may require, which will perform invoicing, inventory control, accounting, customer data base management, and reporting functions for your Franchise Store. This information is stored on our server, which is located at the corporate office. We will have unlimited access to this information. You must allow us to load ALBMS® or such other software platform or system onto your computer. You are currently charged \$300.00 per month for ALBMS®. If we require that you use a different software platform or system, your monthly fee will increase and may change from time to time as charged by such Designated Vendor.

In addition, you must use the designated automotive diagnostic equipment and subscribe to a technical support service for that diagnostic equipment. The technical support service will provide you with specifications for each vehicle you may repair or maintain. We estimate that the annual cost for this technical support service is approximately \$1,500, which includes software upgrades.

You must have reliable high speed internet connection to connect to the Auto-Lab main office.

Training

TRAINING PROGRAM

| Subject | Hours of Classroom | Hours or On-The-Job | Location |
|----------------------|--------------------|---------------------|------------------------|
| | Training | Training | |
| Pre-training | 40 | | Independently by You |
| Initial Operations | 8 | | Home Office; the |
| | | | Belleville, Michigan |
| | | | Store; or an Area |
| | | | Representative's Pilot |
| | | | Store |
| The Sales Experience | 4 | | Home Office; the |
| | | | Belleville, Michigan |
| | | | Store; or an Area |
| | | | Representative's Pilot |
| | | | Store |

| Subject | Hours of Classroom Training | Hours or On-The-Job Training | Location |
|-------------------------|--------------------------------|---------------------------------|-------------------------|
| Sales Application | 4 | | Home Office; the |
| | | | Belleville, Michigan |
| | | | Store; or an Area |
| | | | Representative's Pilot |
| | | | Store |
| Auto-Lab Business | 8 | | Home Office; the |
| Management System/ | | | Belleville, Michigan |
| Point of Sale System | | | Store; or an Area |
| · | | | Representative's Pilot |
| | | | Store |
| Business Administration | 8 | 8 | Home Office; the |
| | | | Belleville, Michigan |
| | | | Store; or an Area |
| | | | Representative's Pilot |
| | | | Store |
| Store Opening Training | | 56 | Home Office; the |
| | | | Belleville, Michigan |
| | | | Store; or an Area |
| | | | Representative's Pilot |
| | | | Store |
| Follow Up Visit | | 8 | Your Franchise Location |

We provide you an initial training program that covers material aspects of the operation of the Franchise Store and is provided to protect our brand and the Trademarks and not to control the day-to-day operations of the Franchised Store. You must complete the initial training program to our satisfaction no more than thirty (30) days prior to the opening of your Franchise Store.

Auto-Lab will provide you with pre-training materials that you must complete prior to attending the initial training program, which we administer from our home office and/or at an Auto-Lab location. Training is held on an as needed basis. Currently, you and we mutually agree on the dates for training. The training is conducted by our Staff and organized and supervised by Mark Sullivan. The instructors will generally have at least twelve (12) months experience in our Franchise System for the subject matters they teach. The instructional materials include our Manual and other materials.

As part of your pre-opening training, we will assist with training at your Franchise Store for a maximum of one (1) week, which time will overlap your opening. We typically have approximately one (1) to two (2) employees that will provide such opening assistance. The actual number of employees selected to provide opening assistance shall be determined in our sole discretion.

We do not charge you for the pre-training or initial training program apart from the initial franchise fee. You are responsible for all personal costs associated with training such as travel, living and employee expenses of those persons attending the training. You must attend the training program unless we waive this requirement in writing. To receive a waiver, you must normally establish, to our satisfaction, that you have substantial familiarity with our business methods and systems. This requirement has never been waived.

We may also honor your request for additional training after completion of the initial training program, or we may require that you obtain additional training. In either event, the current charge for this additional training is \$600 per day per trainer, which per diem may increase in the future as we determine in our discretion, in addition to any reasonably related travel and lodging costs incurred by our personnel.

We may offer refresher courses and seminars to keep you up to date, and you will be required to attend these refresher courses at no extra charge to you. The refresher training will be held on an as needed basis, but no more than two (2) times per calendar year, and will generally be held at our offices in Bloomfield Hills, Michigan, at our affiliate's Franchise Store in Belleville, Michigan, or at an Area Representative's Pilot Store in your state. The frequency with which this refresher training is conducted will be as needed. You will, however, be responsible for all travel, lodging, meal, and other personal expenses. Currently we do not mandate any refresher courses, but we do provide these courses sometimes at your site for no additional charge.

ITEM 12--TERRITORY

Your franchise will be for a specific location in the designated area specified in your Franchise Agreement ("Designated Area"). We must approve your location. We use geographic considerations, such as streets or highways, mountains, rivers, lakes, etc., demographics of the area, and other pertinent criteria in determining the size of your Designated Area, which will generally consist of a three (3) to five (5) mile radius from your Location as measured by us. You may not relocate your franchise within your Designated Area without obtaining our prior written consent. The factors we consider for relocating franchises are the same factors we consider for your initial location (see Item 11). You do not receive any options, rights or first refusal or similar rights to acquire additional franchises.

Except for the limited rights we grant you in your Designated Area as described below, you will not receive an exclusive territory. You may face competition from other franchises, from outlets that we own, or from other channels of distribution or competitive brands that we control.

Neither we nor our affiliates will establish or operate units or grant to any person or entity the right to establish or operate any other Franchise Store within your Designated Area using the Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Center franchise system.

Beginning in the second calendar year of operation of your Franchise Store, you must, on an annual calendar year basis, achieve annual total Gross Sales of at least \$450,000 for the full calendar year in question. If you fail to achieve this minimum sales requirement during a calendar year, we may notify you of the failure within ninety (90) days of the end of the calendar year. If you are notified of a failure to meet the minimum sales requirement, you will be on probation for the calendar year in which you receive the notice. If you fail to achieve the minimum sales requirement again in that calendar year, then we may, by written notice to you, elect to: (a) terminate your Franchise Agreement; or (b) terminate your exclusive rights in your Designated Area.

Except as provided above, you do not have to meet certain sales volume, market penetration or other contingencies to continue your rights in your Designated Area and we do not have the right to modify your Designated Area because of population increases or any other circumstances.

We and our affiliates are not prohibited from establishing or operating, or granting the right to establish or operate, businesses using the Auto-Lab franchise system or a similar system outside of your Designated Area, or marketing other products or services that are not a part of the Auto-Lab franchise system under dissimilar names and marks within your Designated Area. We reserve the exclusive right to sell prepackaged products or other trademarked items from other locations within your Designated Area, including auto stores, convenience stores or other retail stores, or through other media, such as the Internet, worldwide web, or any other publicly accessible computer network, and we have no obligation to account for, or share, any profits with you. We reserve all rights not expressly granted in the Franchise Agreement or Area Development Agreement.

Your Designated Area does not give you exclusivity of marketing territory or customers. We and other franchisees can market and sell products and services under the Auto-Lab trademarks to customers located in your Designated Area if those services are not provided from a location in your Designated Area. Although we have not done so in the past, the Franchise Agreement does not prohibit us or our affiliates from selling products under the Auto-Lab trademarks inside or outside your Designated Area through any method of distribution other than a dedicated Franchise Store, including, sales through the Internet, catalog sales, telemarketing, or other direct marketing sales (together "alternative distribution channels"). Although we have not done so in the past, the Franchise Agreement does not prohibit us or our affiliates from selling products under different trademarks inside your Designated Area through alternative distribution channels. You will not receive any compensation if we, our affiliates or franchisees solicit or accept customers or orders from inside your Designated Area.

As long as you provide your services from your franchise location, you are not limited in the area from which you may draw your customers. However, you do not have the right to use alternative channels of distribution to make sales inside or outside of your Designated Area.

ITEM 13--TRADEMARKS

We grant you a non-exclusive license which allows you to use our existing trademarks, service marks and related names, as well as any future trademarks we develop which form a part of the Franchise System. By trademark, we mean trade names, trademarks, service marks and logos used to identify your business. You acknowledge you will not assert ownership rights to any trademarks, service or trade names.

Our principal trademarks include the trademarks and service marks listed in the table below, which are registered or pending registration with the United States Patent and Trademark Office ("USPTO"). Except as indicated in the table below, all of our principal trademarks are registered or pending registration on the USPTO's Principal Register. All required affidavits and renewals have been filed for these trademarks, as applicable.

| Trademark or Service Mark Principal Register | Registration No. | Serial No. | <u>Date</u> <u>Registered</u> | Filing Date |
|--|------------------|------------|----------------------------------|-------------|
| DIAGNOSTIC AND TUNE-UP CENTERS ® (Design Plus Words, Letters, and/or Numbers) | 2,138,625 | 75,230,170 | 2/24/1998 | 1/23/1997 |
| DIAGNOSTIC & COMPLETE AUTOMOTIVE REPAIR (Design Plus Words, Letters, and/or Numbers) | 3,015,565 | 78,487,790 | 11/15/2005 | 9/22/2004 |
| Auto-Lab® (Standard Character Mark) | 3,018,023 | 78,607,914 | 11/22/ 2005 | 4/13/2005 |
| Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Centers® (Standard Character Mark) | 3,338,907 | 77,122,279 | 11/20/2007 | 3/5/2007 |
| AUTO-LAB COMPLETE CAR CARE CENTERS (Design Plus Words, Letters, and/or Numbers) | 3,338,909 | 77,122,305 | 11/20/2007 | 3/5/2007 |
| Auto-Lab Business Management System (ALBMS)® (Standard Character Mark) | 3,560,272 | 77,475,097 | 1/13/2009 | 5/15/2008 |
| Do you have an Auto-Lab Technician® (Standard Character Mark) | 3,588,773 | 77,452,049 | 3/10/2009 | 4/18/2008 |
| AUTO-LA Express (Design Plus Words, Letters, and/or Numbers) | 3,672,591 | 77,666,962 | 8/25/2009 | 2/10/2002 |
| Have You Seen Your Auto-Lab Technician?® (Standard Character Mark) | 3,728,050 | 77,744,055 | 12/22/2009 | 5/26/2009 |
| Harness the Power of Our Brand® (Standard Character Mark) | 4,229,790 | 85,571,253 | 10/23/2012 | 3/16/2012 |
| Ask a Tech® (Standard Character Mark) | 4,249,850 | 85,590,953 | 11/27/2012 | 4/6/2012 |
| ER For Your Car® (Standard Character Mark) | 4,379,014 | 85,759,831 | 8/6/2013 | 10/22/2012 |
| We TestNot Guess® (Standard Character Mark) | 4,533,697 | 86,101,945 | 5/20/2014 | 10/25/2013 |
| Born in the Motor City Rolling Nationwide.® (Standard Character Mark) | 4,791,927 | 86,382,368 | 8/11/2015 | 9/2/2014 |
| We've Got Car Care Down to a Science® (Standard Character Mark) | 5,823,409 | 88,164,262 | 7/30/2019 | 10/22/2018 |
| Speed Lane® (Standard Character Mark) | 6,125,362 | 88,211,109 | 8/11/2020 | 11/29/2018 |
| Express 30® (Standard Character Mark) (Supplemental Register) | 5,771,836 | 88,271,431 | 6/04/2019 | 1/22/2019 |

| Trademark or Service Mark | Registration | Serial No. | <u>Date</u> | Filing Date |
|--|--------------|---------------|-------------|-------------|
| Principal Register | No. | | Registered | |
| (Design Plus Words, Letters, and/or Numbers) | 5,902,081 | 88,390,013 | 11/05/2019 | 4/17/2019 |
| We Can Do That® | 6,615,276 | 90,641,108 | 1/11/2022 | 4/13/2021 |
| (Standard Character Mark) | .,, | , , , , , , , | | |
| Effort Equals Results® | 6,847,839 | 90,544,036 | 9/13/2022 | 2/24/2021 |
| (Standard Character Mark) | | | | |
| It's A Good DaySaving Our Way!® | 6,941,135 | 97,148,595 | 1/03/2023 | 11/30/2021 |
| (Standard Character Mark) | | | | |
| Show Your Car Some Love! TM | 7,304,169 | 97,767,148 | 2/13/2024 | 1/25/2023 |
| (Standard Character Mark) | | | | |
| Your Dealer Alternative Since 1989 TM | | 99,032,142 | | 2/7/2025 |
| (Standard Character Mark) | | | | |

The Express 30® trademark is not registered on the USPTO's Principal Register. We also have not received a federal trademark registration for the Your Dealer Alternative Since 1989™ trademark. As such, we do not have a federal registration for those principal trademarks. Therefore, those trademarks do not have as many legal benefits and rights as a federally registered trademark. If our right to use those trademarks is challenged, you may have to change to an alternative trademark, which may increase your expenses.

You may use the above names or marks, except as part of your corporate name, if you follow the policies and procedures in the Brand Standards Manual and Franchise Agreement. In addition, you may not use any name or mark in connection with the sale of any unauthorized product or service unless we explicitly authorize such use in writing. We may amend these trademarks at our discretion. You must implement new or revised trademarks if we direct you to do so, at your sole cost and expense. We intend to file all required affidavits and renewals for our Trademarks as the same become due.

There are no currently effective material determinations of the USPTO, the Trademark Trial and Appeal Board, or any state trademark administrator or court; or any pending infringement, opposition or cancellation proceeding; or any pending material federal or state court litigation regarding our use or ownership rights in the principal trademarks.

There are no currently effective agreements that significantly limit our rights to use or license the use of such trademarks, service marks, trade names, logotypes or other commercial symbols in any manner material to the franchise.

We are not obligated by the Franchise Agreement or otherwise to protect any rights you have to use our principal trademarks. Rather, we have discretion to determine under what circumstance we will defend or prosecute trademark disputes. You must, however, inform us of any claim, demand or cause of action based on or arising from any attempt by any other person to

use any trademark identical to or confusingly similar to a trademark licensed to you. We have the right to control any litigation or administrative proceedings involving any trademark licensed to you. If we undertake the defense or prosecution of any litigation or administrative proceeding relating to the trademarks, you must do such acts and things as may, in the opinion of our counsel, be reasonably necessary to carry out such defense or prosecution. We will be responsible for all costs of the litigation or administrative proceeding unless the dispute arises out of your negligence or willful misconduct, in which case, you must indemnify us for all costs and damages we incur.

The Franchise Agreement does not require us to participate in your defense and/or indemnify you for expenses or damages if you are a party to an administrative or judicial proceeding involving a trademark licensed to you or if the proceeding is resolved unfavorably to you.

You must modify or discontinue the use of a trademark at your expense if we modify or discontinue it. You must not directly or indirectly contest our right to our trademarks, trade secrets or business techniques that are part of our business.

We do not know of any superior prior rights or infringing uses that could materially affect your use of our principal trademarks in the state in which you wish to locate your business.

ITEM 14--PATENTS, COPYRIGHTS AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION

We do not own any patents that are material to your franchise. We do not have any pending patent applications that are material to your franchise. We claim copyright protection of our Brand Standards Manual and similar materials, although these materials are not registered with the United States Registrar of Copyrights.

Our Brand Standards Manual and other aspects of the Franchise System are considered proprietary and confidential. This information may include site selection criteria, training and operations materials, methods, formats, specifications, standards, systems, procedures, sales and marketing techniques, knowledge and experience, knowledge of operating results, financial performance and related intellectual property. You must use the Brand Standards Manual and the other aspects of Franchise System only as provided in the Franchise Agreement. You may not use our Brand Standards Manual or any other aspect of the Franchise System in any unauthorized manner and you must take reasonable steps to prevent disclosure of this information to others, including limiting employee use on a "need-to-know" basis. Also, you must have your employees sign an agreement of confidentiality in a form specified by us before disclosing confidential information to them.

There are no currently effective material determinations of the United States Copyright Office or any court regarding any of our copyrighted materials. There are no agreements currently in effect that limit our rights to use or license the copyrighted materials or any of our confidential information. We do not know of any superior prior right or infringing uses of our copyrighted materials or our confidential information that could materially affect your use of those materials or information.

We are not required by any agreement to protect or defend our copyrights or confidential information or to take affirmative action when notified of infringement of our copyrights or confidential information or to defend you against claims arising from our use of copyrighted or confidential information. If there is litigation involving our copyrights or confidential information, we would have the right to control that litigation. We do not have an obligation under the Franchise Agreement to participate in your defense or to indemnify you for expenses or damages in a proceeding involving a copyright or confidential information licensed to you.

We may, in our discretion, modify our copyrights and confidential information. If we modify our copyrights or confidential information, you will have the right under the Franchise Agreement to use the modified materials and you will have the obligation to make changes specified by us at your expense.

ITEM 15--OBLIGATION TO PARTICIPATE IN THE ACTUAL OPERATION OF THE FRANCHISE BUSINESS

You do not have to personally supervise your Franchise Store. The business must be directly supervised "on-premises" by a manager who has successfully completed our training program. The on-premises manager cannot have an interest or business relationship with any of our business competitors. The on-premises manager need not have an ownership interest in the franchisee's business. The manager must sign a written agreement to maintain confidentiality of the trade secret and proprietary information described in Item 14 and to comply with the covenants not to compete described in Item 17. See Exhibit C.

Each individual who owns any interest in the franchised entity must sign a guaranty agreement (Exhibit D) assuming, guaranteeing and agreeing to discharge all of your obligations under the Franchise Agreement.

You must grant a security interest in all of your assets, equipment, accounts, and other collateral to us and authorize us to file a financing statement to perfect our security interest upon our request.

ITEM 16--RESTRICTIONS ON WHAT THE FRANCHISEE MAY SELL

You must offer and sell only those goods and services that we have approved (see Item 9). You must offer all goods and services that we designate as required for all franchisees. These services currently include automotive and engine diagnostics, electrical system repairing, air conditioning repair, engine repair and other automotive repair and maintenance services. Parts, supplies and equipment used in your Auto-Lab business must be approved by us (see Item 8). We have the right to add additional authorized products and services that you must offer. There are no limits on our right to do so. You may sell your products and services to any customers, no matter who they are or where they are located, as long as your services are provided from your franchise location (see Item 12). You must not solicit customers through alternative distribution channels because we have reserved the exclusive right to do so (see Item 12).

You must offer a warranty on all parts and labor as more particularly outlined in our confidential Brand Standards Manual, which is currently twenty-four (24) months twenty-four thousand (24,000) miles. We have negotiated arrangements with our Approved Vendors to reimburse you for work performed under warranty. In the event you do not use our Approved Vendors, you are still required to offer the warranty and will not be reimbursed for your warranty work. We reserve the right to modify the length and mileage of the warranty you are required to provide from time to time in our sole and absolute discretion.

ITEM 17--RENEWAL, TERMINATION, TRANSFER AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION THE FRANCHISE RELATIONSHIP

This table lists certain important provisions of the franchise and related agreements. You should read these provisions in the agreements attached to this Disclosure Document.

| Provision | Section in Franchise or Other Agreement | Summary |
|--|--|---|
| A. Length of the franchise term | Article 3 | 15 years. |
| B. Renewal or extension of the term | Article 3 | If in good standing, you can renew for an additional 15-year period. |
| C. Requirements for you to renew or extend | Article 3 | Sign new agreement, sign release, adopt modifications to premises and pay Renewal Fee. As a condition for renewal, you may be asked to sign a Franchise Agreement with materially different terms and conditions than your original Franchise Agreement. |
| D. Termination by you | Article 15.2 | You can only terminate if we fail to cure default after written notice, giving at least 30 days. |
| E. Termination by Auto- Lab without cause | None | None |
| F. Termination by Auto- Lab with cause | Article 14 | We can only terminate you with cause. |
| G. "Cause" defined – curable defaults | Article 14.2, 15.1 | You have at least 30 days to cure after written notice: non-payment of fees; misrepresentation of Gross Sales; failure to abide by advertising requirements; failure to comply with governmental requirements; failure to open within 30 days of initial training; failure to effectuate a transfer after death of franchisee; failure to maintain the Franchise System; default under another agreement with us or our affiliate, or with your landlord or vendor to the Store in which there is an opportunity to cure, for which the cure period will coincide with the cure period of the other agreement; and any other material breach. |

| Provision | Section in Franchise or Other Agreement | Summary |
|---|--|---|
| H. "Cause" defined – non-curable defaults | Article 14.1 | Trademark or confidential information misuse; bankruptcy; apportionment of receiver; assignment for benefit of creditors; you dissolve; you demonstrate you are financially incapable; unapproved transfers; you or one of your Principal Owners is convicted of, or pleads guilty to, or no contest to or we have reasonable proof that you or a Principal Owner has committed a felony or a; misdemeanor that involves fraud, dishonesty, or is otherwise damaging to the operation of the Franchise Store, the Franchise System, or the goodwill associated with the Trademarks; you or one of your Principal Owners fails to maintain an immigration status that allows you or any of them to live and work in the United States; you lose any required governmentally issued license; misrepresentation on franchise application, repeated defaults; your failure of two (2) or more inspections in any twelve (12) month period; we determine that your continued operation will cause imminent danger to the public health or safety; you close or lose possession of the real estate; you default under other agreements with us, fail to pay taxes, or breach agreements material to your operation; you or a Principal Owner, or an affiliate default under any other agreement with us or our affiliate, or between you and your landlord or vendor to the Store, for which there is no opportunity to cure, or you fail to cure; or failure to open for business within specified period. |
| I. Your obligation on termination/non-renewal | Article 16 | Obligations include total de-identification, payment of amounts due; assign telephone number, return all our property, assign lease to us, sell as business assets to us. |
| J. Assignment of contract by Auto-Lab | Article 12 | No restriction on Auto-Lab's right to assign. |
| K. "Transfer" by you – defined | Article 11 | Includes transfer of ownership or assets. |
| L. Auto-Lab's approval of transfer by franchisee | Article 11 | Auto-Lab has the right to approve transfers but consent will not be unreasonably withheld. |
| M. Conditions for Auto- Lab approval of transfer | Article 11.1-11.6 | Purchaser qualifies as franchisee, transfer and training fees paid, purchaser signs new contract, and related agreements, training scheduled, release signed by you and Auto-Lab after you are in compliance with terms of contract you sign a release, transferee updates, remodels, and modernizes the Franchise Store within 18 months of transfer. No transfer fee applies for a transfer to your spouse or children. |
| N. Auto-Lab's right of first refusal to acquire your business | Article 11.8 | We can match any offer for your business. |
| O. Auto-Lab's option to purchase your business | Article 16.7 | Upon termination we have 15 days to make an offer if we want to purchase your business. |
| P. Your death or disability | Article 11.5 | Your business must be assigned to qualified franchisee within 120 days. |

| Provision | Section in Franchise or Other Agreement | Summary | |
|---|--|--|--|
| Q. Non-competition covenants during the term of the franchise | Article 17 | No involvement in competing business. | |
| R. Non-competition covenants after the franchise is terminated or expires | Article 17 | No involvement in competing business for two (2) years within thirty (30) miles of any Auto-Lab (Exhibit C). | |
| S. Modification of the agreement | Article 23.3 | By mutual agreement only, but we reserve the right to make changes to Franchise System (see Article 1.4 of Franchise Agreement). | |
| T. Integration/merger clause | Article 23.3 | Only terms of Franchise Agreement and related agreements are binding. Any other promises may not be enforceable. However, we do not disclaim and you do not waive reliance on any authorized statements in this disclosure document or in its exhibits and amendments. | |
| U. Dispute resolution by arbitration or mediation | Article 19 | Except for injunctive proceedings pursued by Auto- Lab, all claims must be arbitrated in Oakland County, Michigan. | |
| V. Choice of forum | Article 19 | Litigation must be in Oakland County, Michigan (subject to state law - see any applicable state specific addendum). | |
| W. Choice of law | Article 23.2 | Michigan law applies (subject to state law - see any applicable state specific addendum). | |

ITEM 18--PUBLIC FIGURES

We do not use any public figures to promote our franchise.

ITEM 19--FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPRESENTATIONS

The FTC's Franchise Rule permits a franchisor to provide information about the actual or potential financial performance of its franchised and/or franchisor-owned outlets, if there is a reasonable basis for the information, and if the information is included in the disclosure document. Financial performance information that differs from that included in Item 19 may be given only if: (1) a franchisor provides the actual records of an existing outlet you are considering buying; or (2) a franchisor supplements the information provided in this Item 19, for example, by providing information about possible performance at a particular location or under particular circumstances.

The Item 19 Financial Performance Representation is based upon unaudited statements of gross sales for Franchised Stores that were open and operated for the full calendar year ending December 31, 2024. As of December 31, 2024, there were 19 Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Centers and 1 Auto-Lab Express Franchise Store in operation. In the table below, we display the average gross sales of the 17 Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Centers Franchised Stores that were open and operating from January 2024 to December 31, 2024, and of these, how many Franchised Stores met or exceeded the stated average performance. Each of the 17 Franchised Stores included in the Financial Performance Representation have unique geographic and market characteristics. However, other than as disclosed below and the geographic and market characteristics of the

reporting Franchised Stores, there are no material differences in the economic or market conditions known to, or reasonably ascertainable by us between the business operated by the reporting Franchised Stores and the business being franchised.

| | Average | Number of Outlets Attaining or Surpassing Results | Percentage of Outlets Attaining or Surpassing Results |
|--|-----------|---|--|
| Average Gross Sales | \$969,708 | 8 | 47% |
| Average Annual Gross Sales Growth | 5.18% | 6 | 50% |

The Gross Sales for these 17 Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Centers Franchised Stores ranged from \$293,396 to \$1,566,475, the median being \$932,308.

For purposes of this Financial Performance Representation, Gross Sales means all revenue generated at the Franchise Store, including all products and services sold to customers less refunds to customers and sales taxes. For purposes of this Financial Performance Representation, Average Annual Gross Sales Growth measures the 2024 calendar year performance of 16 of the 17 Franchised Stores compared to the 2023 calendar year performance of the same location. The Belleville, Michigan franchise operated by our affiliate opened on January 1, 2024, so we do not have 2023 calendar year performance numbers to compare. The Belleville, Michigan franchise also sells tires. Tires are not sold at other Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Centers Franchised Stores. Total revenue generated from the sale of tires in 2024 at the Belleville franchise operated by our affiliate was \$87,883.98.

The business results you achieve may be different from those achieved by the reporting Franchised Stores because of any number of factors, including the commitment, knowledge and experience brought to the business by the principals, as well as the experience accumulated by each Franchised Store operator since it first opened for business and the reputation it has developed over time in the specific market served. Other factors that could cause different results include your location, local market conditions, the physical capacity of your space, the dedication, knowledge, and experience of your principals, management and employees, local and regional differences in demand for an auto repair services, the customer service provided by your employees, lack of name recognition in the community, existing and future competition, the general state of the local, regional or national economy, your previous experience, competition in your area, length of time that the reporting Franchised Stores have been operating compared to your Franchised Store, local market conditions, and other factors that are unique to each outlet that may significantly impact the financial performance of the outlet and other market conditions in general, none of which we can predict, control or accept responsibility for.

Your individual financial results will differ. There is no assurance that you'll earn as much.

Written substantiation for this financial performance representation is available to you upon reasonable request.

Other than the preceding financial performance representation, Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC does not make any financial performance representations. We also do not authorize our employees or representatives to make any such representations either orally or in writing. If you are purchasing an existing outlet, however, we may provide you with the actual records of that outlet. If you receive any other financial performance information or projections of your future income, you should report it to the franchisor's management by contacting Mr. Stephen Wilson, Chief Executive Officer of Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC at 40400 Ann Arbor Road, Suite 101, Plymouth, Michigan 48170, in writing, or by phone at (248) 994-0206, or the Federal Trade Commission and any appropriate state regulatory agencies.

ITEM 20-- OUTLETS AND FRANCHISEE INFORMATION

Table No. 1

<u>Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Center Outlets</u>

Systemwide Outlet Summary

For Years 2022 to 2024

| Outlet Type | Year | Outlets at the Start of the Year | Outlets at the End of the Year | Net Change |
|----------------------|------|-------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|------------|
| Franchised | 2022 | 17 | 18 | +1 |
| | 2023 | 18 | 17 | -1 |
| | 2024 | 17 | 19 | +2 |
| Company-Owned | 2022 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | 2023 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | 2024 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Total Outlets | 2022 | 17 | 18 | +1 |
| | 2023 | 18 | 17 | -1 |
| | 2024 | 17 | 19 | +2 |

Table No. 1
<u>Auto-Lab Express Outlets</u>
Systemwide Outlet Summary
For Years 2022 to 2024

| Outlet Type | Year | Outlets at the Start of the Year | Outlets at the End of the Year | Net Change |
|----------------------|------|-------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|------------|
| Franchised | 2022 | 0 | 1 | +1 |
| | 2023 | 1 | 1 | 0 |
| | 2024 | 1 | 1 | 0 |
| Company-Owned | 2022 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | 2023 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| | 2024 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Total Outlets | 2022 | 0 | 1 | +1 |
| | 2023 | 1 | 1 | 0 |
| | 2024 | 1 | 1 | 0 |

Table No. 2

<u>Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Center Outlets</u>

Transfers of Outlets from Franchisees to New Owners (Other than the Franchisor)

For Years 2022 to 2024

| State | Year | Number of Transfers |
|----------|------|---------------------|
| Michigan | 2022 | 0 |
| _ | 2023 | 0 |
| | 2024 | 0 |
| Totals | 2022 | 0 |
| | 2023 | 0 |
| | 2024 | 0 |

Table No. 2

<u>Auto-Lab Express Outlets</u>

Transfers of Outlets from Franchisees to New Owners (Other than the Franchisor)

For Years 2022 to 2024

| State | Year | Number of Transfers |
|----------|------|---------------------|
| Illinois | 2022 | 0 |
| | 2023 | 0 |
| | 2024 | 0 |
| Totals | 2022 | 0 |
| | 2023 | 0 |
| | 2024 | 0 |

Table No. 3

<u>Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Center Outlets</u>

Status of Franchised Outlets

For Years 2022 to 2024

| State | Year | Outlets at Start of Year | Outlets Opened | Termina- tions | Non- Renewals | Re- acquired by Franchis or | Ceased Opera- tions- Other Reasons | Outlets at End of Year |
|--------|------|--------------------------------|-------------------|-------------------|------------------|---|--|------------------------------|
| FL | 2022 | 1 | = | - | ı | = | - | 1 |
| | 2023 | 1 | = | 1 | ı | = | - | 0 |
| | 2024 | 0 | = | - | ı | = | - | 0 |
| IN | 2022 | 1 | 1 | - | - | - | - | 2 |
| | 2023 | 2 | - | - | - | - | - | 2 |
| | 2024 | 2 | - | - | - | - | - | 2 |
| IL | 2022 | 1 | - | - | - | - | - | 1 |
| | 2023 | 1 | 1 | - | - | - | 1 | 1 |
| | 2024 | 1 | - | - | - | - | 1 | 0 |
| MI | 2022 | 14 | - | - | - | - | - | 14 |
| | 2023 | 14 | - | - | - | - | - | 14 |
| | 2024 | 14 | 2 | - | - | - | - | 16 |
| TX | 2022 | 0 | - | - | - | - | - | 0 |
| | 2023 | 0 | - | - | - | - | - | 0 |
| | 2024 | 0 | 1* | - | - | - | - | 1 |
| Totals | 2022 | 17 | 1 | - | - | - | - | 18 |

| State | Year | Outlets at | Outlets | Termina- | Non- | Re- | Ceased | Outlets at |
|-------|------|------------|---------|----------|----------|----------|---------|------------|
| | | Start of | Opened | tions | Renewals | acquired | Opera- | End of |
| | | Year | | | | by | tions- | Year |
| | | | | | | Franchis | Other | |
| | | | | | | or | Reasons | |
| | 2023 | 18 | 1 | 1 | - | - | 1 | 17 |
| | 2024 | 17 | 3 | - | - | - | 1 | 19 |

^{*} The Texas location ceased operation in January 2025 because the franchisee's landlord sold the building. The Texas franchisee is currently looking for a new location.

Table No. 3
<u>Auto-Lab Express Outlets</u>
Status of Franchised Outlets
For Years 2022 to 2024

| State | Year | Outlets at Start of Year | Outlets Opened | Termina- tions | Non- Renewals | Re- acquired by Franchis or | Ceased Opera- tions- Other Reasons | Outlets at End of Year |
|--------|------|--------------------------------|-------------------|-------------------|------------------|---|--|------------------------------|
| IL | 2022 | 0 | 1 | - | - | - | - | 1 |
| | 2023 | 1 | - | - | - | - | - | 1 |
| | 2024 | 1 | - | - | - | - | - | 1 |
| Totals | 2022 | 0 | 1 | - | 1 | - | - | 1 |
| | 2023 | 1 | - | - | - | - | - | 1 |
| | 2024 | 1 | ı | - | 1 | - | - | 1 |

Table No. 4

<u>Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Center Outlets</u>

Status of Company-Owned Outlets

For Years 2022 to 2024

| | | | 1 01 1 0001 0 2 | 022 to 2021 | | | |
|--------|------|--------------------------------|-------------------|---|-------------------|----------------------------------|----------------------------------|
| State | Year | Outlets at Start of Year | Outlets Opened | Outlets Reacquired from Franchisee | Outlets Closed | Outlets Sold to Franchisee | Outlets at End of the Year |
| None | 2022 | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| | 2023 | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| | 2024 | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| Totals | 2022 | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| | 2023 | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| | 2024 | - | - | - | - | - | - |

Table No. 4
<u>Auto-Lab Express Outlets</u>
Status of Company-Owned Outlets
For Years 2022 to 2024

| State | Year | Outlets at Start of Year | Outlets Opened | Outlets Reacquired from Franchisee | Outlets Closed | Outlets Sold to Franchisee | Outlets at End of the Year |
|--------|------|--------------------------------|-------------------|---|-------------------|----------------------------------|----------------------------------|
| None | 2022 | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| | 2023 | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| | 2024 | - | _ | - | - | - | - |
| Totals | 2022 | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| | 2023 | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| | 2024 | - | _ | _ | - | - | - |

Table No. 5

<u>Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Center Outlets</u>

Projected Openings as of December 31, 2024

| State | Franchise Agreements Signed But Outlet Not Yet Opened | Projected New Franchised Outlet in the Next Fiscal Year | Projected New Company- Owned Outlet in the Next Fiscal Year |
|----------|---|---|---|
| Arizona | 0 | 1 | 0 |
| Florida | 0 | 1 | 0 |
| Indiana | 0 | 1 | 0 |
| Illinois | 0 | 1 | 0 |
| Michigan | 0 | 1 | 0 |
| Texas | 0 | 1 | 0 |
| Totals | 0 | 6 | 0 |

Table No. 5
<u>Auto-Lab Express Outlets</u>
Projected Openings as of December 31, 2024

| State | Franchise Agreements Signed But Outlet Not Yet Opened | Projected New Franchised Outlet in the Next Fiscal Year | Projected New Company- Owned Outlet in the Next Fiscal Year |
|----------|---|---|---|
| Arizona | 0 | 1 | 0 |
| Florida | 0 | 1 | 0 |
| Michigan | 0 | 1 | 0 |
| Texas | 0 | 1 | 0 |
| Totals | 0 | 4 | 0 |

The information in the tables in this Item 20 is as of December 31st of each year.

The names of all current single unit franchisees and the address and telephone number of each of their outlets as well as former franchisees are listed on Exhibit K.

If you buy this franchise, your contact information may be disclosed to other buyers when you leave the franchise system.

In some instances, current and former franchisees sign provisions restricting their ability to speak openly about their experience with us. You may wish to speak with current and former franchisees but be aware that not all such franchisees will be able to communicate with you. For this purpose, "confidentiality clause" means any contract, order, or settlement provision that directly or indirectly restricts a current or former franchisee from discussing his or her personal experience as a franchisee in the franchisor's system with any prospective franchisee. It does not include clauses that protect franchisor's trademarks or other proprietary information.

There are no trademark-specific franchisee organizations associated with the Auto-Lab franchise system that have been created, sponsored or endorsed by us or that have asked to be included in our Franchise Disclosure Document.

ITEM 21--FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Attached as Exhibit A are the Audited Financial Statements as of December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022.

ITEM 22--CONTRACTS

Attached as Exhibits are the following agreements that may be signed between you and us:

| Exhibit B | Franchise Agreement |
|-----------|--|
| Exhibit C | Confidentiality and Non-Disclosure Agreement and Covenant not to |
| | Compete (Franchise Owner and Principal Owner) |
| Exhibit D | Principal Owner's Guaranty and Assumption of Obligations |
| Exhibit E | Conditional Assignment of Lease Agreement |
| Exhibit F | Real Estate Option to Purchase |
| Exhibit G | Software License Agreement |
| Exhibit H | Telephone Number Assignment |

ITEM 23--RECEIPTS

Two copies of a Receipt that acknowledges your receipt of this Disclosure Document, including all Exhibits, are attached as Exhibit O. You must date and sign one copy of the Receipt and deliver it to us.

EXHIBIT A



AUTO-LAB FRANCHISING, LLC

| INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT | 1 | |
|-------------------------------|---|--|
| FINANCIAL STATEMENTS | | |
| Balance Sheets | 3 | |
| Statements of Income | 4 | |
| Statements of Members' Equity | 5 | |
| Statements of Cash Flows | 6 | |
| Notes to Financial Statements | 7 | |



Independent Auditor's Report

To the Members' of Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC, which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, and the related statements of income, members' equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC as of December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC's ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are available to be issued.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements, including omissions, are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we:

- Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
 are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
 of Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.
- Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related matters that we identified during the audit.

April 9, 2025

Schlaupity Madhavan, P.C.

BALANCE SHEETS DECEMBER 31, 2024, 2023, AND 2022

| | 2024 | | 2023 | | | 2022 | |
|--|------|---------|------|---------|----|---------|--|
| ASSETS | | | | | | | |
| Current assets | | | | | | | |
| Cash | \$ | 154,573 | \$ | 64,517 | \$ | 56,575 | |
| Accounts receivable, net | | 20,997 | | 43,485 | | 18,785 | |
| Notes receivable, current portion | | 9,259 | | 1,463 | | 1,395 | |
| Note receivable, related party | | 8,578 | | - | | - | |
| Prepaid expenses | | 8,941 | | 1,515 | | 1,530 | |
| Total current assets | | 202,348 | | 110,980 | | 78,285 | |
| Property and equipment, net | | 1,250 | | 6,464 | | 11,688 | |
| Other assets | | | | | | | |
| Notes receivable, non current portion | | 12,493 | | - | | - | |
| Operating lease right of use asset | | 77,104 | | 80,482 | | 105,161 | |
| Intangible assets, net | | 184,127 | | 251,207 | | 318,287 | |
| Security deposits | | 2,679 | | 2,679 | | 2,679 | |
| Total other assets | | 276,403 | | 334,368 | | 426,127 | |
| | \$ | 480,001 | \$ | 451,812 | \$ | 516,100 | |
| LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' EQUITY | | | | | | | |
| Current liabilities | | | | | | | |
| Accounts payable | \$ | 76,479 | \$ | 31,164 | \$ | 27,706 | |
| Credit card payable | | 12,224 | • | 6,611 | · | 15,557 | |
| Accrued payroll | | 9,426 | | 9,426 | | 9,426 | |
| Due to related party | | 4,177 | | - | | - | |
| Line of credit | | 8,413 | | - | | - | |
| Note payable, related party | | 9,935 | | 14,700 | | - | |
| Operating lease liability, current portion | | 35,326 | | 48,484 | | 47,421 | |
| Deferred revenue, current portion | | 51,232 | | 51,540 | | 52,998 | |
| Total current liabilities | | 207,212 | | 161,925 | | 153,108 | |
| Long term liabilities | | | | | | | |
| Operating lease liability, non current portion | | 35,813 | | 36,823 | | 64,943 | |
| Deferred revenue, non current portion | | 97,952 | | 85,865 | | 101,367 | |
| Total long term liabilities | | 133,765 | | 122,688 | | 166,310 | |
| | | | | | | | |
| Total liabilities | | 340,977 | | 284,613 | | 319,418 | |
| Members' equity | | 139,024 | | 167,199 | | 196,682 | |
| | \$ | 480,001 | \$ | 451,812 | \$ | 516,100 | |

STATEMENTS OF INCOME YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024, 2023, AND 2022

| | 2024 | 2023 | 2022 |
|------------------------------------|------------|------------|------------|
| Revenue | | | |
| Royalties | \$ 658,183 | \$ 663,424 | \$ 669,985 |
| Franchise | 44,471 | 30,710 | 21,290 |
| Advertising | 140,122 | 124,998 | 116,860 |
| Software and technology | 59,930 | 58,380 | 56,760 |
| Other fees | 36,903 | 23,607 | 27,215 |
| Total revenue | 939,609 | 901,119 | 892,110 |
| Operating expenses | | | |
| Advertising and promotion | 116,171 | 175,102 | 120,047 |
| Amortization | 67,080 | 67,080 | 67,080 |
| Bank service charges | 11,007 | 10,796 | 8,712 |
| Credit loss | - | 735 | 245 |
| Depreciation | 5,214 | 5,224 | 4,329 |
| Dues and subscriptions | 20,675 | 17,097 | 13,031 |
| General franchise support | 28,454 | 9,209 | 63,157 |
| Insurance | 33,047 | 21,360 | 20,247 |
| Meals and entertainment | 11,851 | 13,135 | 12,494 |
| Other business expenses | 17,314 | 12,042 | 12,850 |
| Professional fees | 193,541 | 116,810 | 103,808 |
| Rent | 35,073 | 34,127 | 30,568 |
| Salaries, wages, and payroll taxes | 284,422 | 274,175 | 271,326 |
| Software and other computer costs | 67,575 | 57,761 | 56,664 |
| Utilities | 14,523 | 11,303 | 11,981 |
| Vehicle expenses | 28,564 | 19,498 | 25,591 |
| Total operating expenses | 934,511 | 845,454 | 822,130 |
| Operating income | 5,098 | 55,665 | 69,980 |
| Other income (expense) | | | |
| Interest income | 2,687 | 68 | 45 |
| Miscellaneous income | 21,110 | - | 9,412 |
| Interest expense | (3,525) | (209) | |
| Total other income (expense) | 20,272 | (141) | 9,457 |
| Net income | \$ 25,370 | \$ 55,524 | \$ 79,437 |

STATEMENTS OF MEMBERS' EQUITY YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024, 2023, AND 2022

| | 2024 | 2023 | 2022 |
|------------------------------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|
| Members' equity, beginning of year | \$ 167,199 | \$ 196,682 | \$ 213,393 |
| Net income | 25,370 | 55,524 | 79,437 |
| Distributions | (53,545) | (85,007) | (96,148) |
| Members' equity, end of year | \$ 139,024 | \$ 167,199 | \$ 196,682 |

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024, 2023, AND 2022

| | | 2024 | | 2024 | | 2024 2023 | | 2022 | |
|--|--------------|----------|----|----------------|------------------|-----------|--|------|--|
| Cash flows from operating activities | _ | | | | | | | | |
| Net income | \$ | 25,370 | \$ | 55,524 | \$ | 79,437 | | | |
| Adjustments to reconcile net income to | | | | | | | | | |
| cash provided by operating activities | | | | 705 | | 0.45 | | | |
| Credit loss | | 70.004 | | 735 | | 245 | | | |
| Depreciation and amortization | | 72,294 | | 72,304 | | 71,409 | | | |
| Amortization of operating lease right of use asset | | 48,588 | | 46,413 | | 46,221 | | | |
| Non cash income from settlement | | (21,110) | | - | | - | | | |
| Changes in operating assets and liabilities | | | | | | | | | |
| (Increase) decrease in | | 22.400 | | (DE 4DE) | | (0.042) | | | |
| Accounts receivable | | 22,488 | | (25,435) | | (9,042) | | | |
| Prepaid expenses | | (7,426) | | 15 | | (106) | | | |
| Interest receivable | | - | | (68) | | (45) | | | |
| Increase (decrease) in | | 4E 04E | | /F FO/\ | | (27 207) | | | |
| Accounts payable | | 45,315 | | (5,586) | | (27,387) | | | |
| Credit card payable | | 5,613 | | - | | (4.022) | | | |
| Accrued payroll | | 4,177 | | - | | (1,932) | | | |
| Due to related party | | | | - (48,791) | | /E1 (00) | | | |
| Operating lease liability, lease payments Other accrued expenses | | (59,378) | | (40,791) 98 | | (51,699) | | | |
| Deferred revenue | | 11,779 | | (16,960) | | (21,289) | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| Net cash provided by operating activities | - | 147,710 | | 78,249 | | 85,812 | | | |
| Cash flows from investing activities | | | | | | | | | |
| Loan made to related party | | (20,000) | | - | | _ | | | |
| Collections on notes receivable, related party | | 11,423 | | - | | _ | | | |
| Collections of loans from franchises | | 820 | | - | | 400 | | | |
| Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities | | (7,757) | | _ | | 400 | | | |
| Cash flows from financing activities | | | | | | | | | |
| Net change in line of credit | | 8,413 | | _ | | _ | | | |
| Proceeds from note payable, related party | | 0,415 | | 19,600 | | _ | | | |
| Principal payments on note payable, related party | | (4,765) | | (4,900) | | _ | | | |
| Distributions | | (53,545) | | (85,007) | | (96,148) | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| Net cash used in financing activities | | (49,897) | | (70,307) | - | (96,148) | | | |
| Net increase (decrease) in cash | | 90,056 | | 7,942 | | (9,936) | | | |
| Cash at beginning of year | | 64,517 | | 56,575 | | 66,511 | | | |
| Cash at end of year | \$ | 154,573 | \$ | 64,517 | \$ | 56,575 | | | |
| Supplemental cash flow information | | | | | | | | | |
| Cash paid for interest | \$ | 3,525 | \$ | 111 | \$ | 297 | | | |
| Cash received for interest | <u>*****</u> | 2,687 | \$ | _ | <u>***</u> \$ | _ | | | |
| • • • | - | , | - | | - | | | | |

NOTE 1 - NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC (the Company) owns a retail auto repair concept called Auto-Lab Complete Car Centers and franchises the concept to qualified parties. Franchise stores are in Michigan, Florida, Indiana, and Illinois. Revenues consist primarily of franchise fees and on-going royalties paid by franchisees. As of December 31, 2024, the Company had 20 franchised locations in operation and 3 locations contracted but unopened.

Prior to April 2023, the Company was wholly owned by a limited liability company ("LLC"). In April 2023, the LLC entered into an agreement to sell 100% of its membership interest in Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC. Upon closing of the agreement, 25% of the Company's membership interest was transferred to the purchaser. The remaining 75% will be transferred to the purchaser upon completion of certain promissory notes per the purchase agreement. The purchaser is the sole owner of a franchise of the Company and also owns 50% of another franchise with the majority owner of the Company. The related party franchise transactions have been disclosed in Note 8. Due to the change in ownership, the Company will be treated as a partnership for tax purposes.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Accounting – The Company maintains its accounting records and prepares its financial statements on the accrual basis in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP).

Cash – The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. The Company maintains its cash balances at major financial institutions, that at times throughout the year, may exceed federally insured limits. Management does not believe that the Company is exposed to any significant credit or other risk from such uninsured balances.

Accounts Receivable – Accounts receivable are stated at the amount the Company expects to collect from franchisees. On a periodic basis, the Company evaluates its accounts receivable and establishes an allowance for credit losses, when deemed necessary, based on the expected loss model, using the history of past write-offs and collections and current credit conditions. Recoveries of receivables previously written off are recorded when received. No allowance for credit losses was deemed necessary as of December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022.

Property and Equipment – The Company capitalizes all expenditures for property and equipment in excess of \$2,500 at cost. Depreciation is generally computed by the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Costs of maintenance and repairs are charged to expense when incurred. Depreciation expense was \$5,214, \$5,224, and \$4,329 for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively.

Intangible Assets – The Company amortizes intangible assets with determinable lives on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 15 years. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized. The Company tests intangible assets for impairment at least annually. Amortization expense for each of the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 was \$67,080. Amortization expense will be \$67,080 for each of the following two years through the year ended December 31, 2026, for a total of \$134,160.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets – The Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. In the event that facts and circumstances indicate that the cost of any long-lived assets may be impaired, an evaluation of recoverability would be performed. There were no impairment losses recognized for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022.

Use of Estimates – The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant estimate includes, but are not limited to, the recoverability of intangible assets.

Revenue Recognition – The Company's revenue consists primarily of fees from stores operated by the franchisees. Fees from franchised stores consist primarily of initial franchise fees, fees collected upon transfer of franchised store ownership, and on-going royalties. For individual units, the Company allocates 50% of franchise fee price to pre-opening performance obligations and recognizes this portion of the franchise fee upon completion of said performance obligations, generally when the franchise commences operations; this percentage is 85% for master franchises. The remaining portion of the franchise fee is allocated to the value of the franchise license and is recognized over the term of the franchise agreement, which is typically 15 years. The Company recognizes deferred revenue for the unearned portion of the franchise fee. Any unrecognized revenue is recognized if a franchise terminates operations before the end of the agreement. As of December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 unearned revenue from incomplete performance obligations totaled \$149,184, \$137,405, and \$154,365, respectively.

Royalties are a percentage of franchise sales and are recognized in the period earned. Advertising fees are assessed as a percentage of franchise sales to franchisees in certain markets and are recognized in the period earned. Other revenue streams are generally recognized when billed.

Income Taxes – Due to the purchase agreement detailed in Note 1, the Company had a change in tax entity classification as of April 2023.

Prior to the purchase, the Company was a limited liability company wholly owned by an LLC. Therefore, in accordance with the Internal Revenue Service regulations, the Company was considered a disregarded entity for tax reporting purposes. Accordingly, for the period January thru April 2023 its income, deductions, gains, losses, and credits passed through to the sole member of the Company and was taxed to them directly.

Upon the closing of the purchase agreement, starting with the 9 months ending December 31, 2023, the Company is classified as a pass-through entity for U.S. federal income tax purposes and, as such, does not pay federal income taxes at the entity level. Instead, the individual partners are responsible for reporting their respective shares of taxable income, deductions, and credits on their income tax returns. The Company may be subject to certain state and local taxes depending on the jurisdictions in which it operates. These taxes, if applicable, are recorded as expenses in the financial statements.

The Company follows the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 740, Income Taxes, as it relates to uncertain tax positions. Management evaluates tax positions taken or expected to be taken in tax returns and recognizes a tax liability if it is more likely than not that the position will not be sustained upon examination by taxing authorities. As of December 31, 2024, management has determined that there are no material uncertain tax positions requiring recognition or disclosure.

The Company's tax returns are subject to examination by federal, state, and local tax authorities for the standard statutory period, typically three to five years from the date of filing.

Advertising Costs – The Company expenses advertising costs as they are incurred. Advertising costs were \$116,171, \$175,102, and \$120,047 for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Reclassification – Certain amounts in the 2023 and 2022 financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on previously reported net income, total assets, or total liabilities.

Subsequent Events – In preparing the accompanying financial statements, the Company has evaluated for potential recognition or disclosure, significant events or transactions that occurred during the period subsequent to December 31, 2024, the most recent balance sheet presented herein, through April 9, 2025, the date the accompanying financial statements were available to be issued.

NOTE 3 - NOTES RECEIVABLE

During 2024, the Company entered into a legal settlement agreement with a franchisee resolving a matter related to the terms of the franchise agreement. Under the terms of the settlement, the franchisee is to pay \$41,110 over a period of five years. However, if the franchisee meets certain payment milestones, the required payment is reduced to \$21,110 in accordance with the settlement agreement. The note requires monthly payments of \$776 (including interest), bears interest at 5%, and matures in October 2029.

Based on management's evaluation of the customer's financial condition, payment history, and intent to satisfy the settlement terms within the required time frame, it is probable that the customer will make the payment within the five-year period. Therefore, the Company has recognized a receivable and corresponding miscellaneous income of \$21,110, representing the amount expected to be collected. The remaining \$20,000 will be waived if timely payment is made and is not recognized in the financial statements.

During 2022, the Company entered into a promissory note agreement with a franchisee for an initial principal amount of \$1,800. The note accrues interest annually at 5% and is payable on demand. As of December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, the outstanding principal balance was \$1,350, recorded as a current asset on the accompanying balance sheet.

NOTE 4 - NOTE RECEIVABLE - RELATED PARTY

During 2024, the Company entered into an agreement with a franchisee that is a related party under common ownership, allowing for borrowings up to \$20,000. The note is payable on demand, with interest accruing monthly at an annual rate of 33% on the unpaid principal. As of December 31, 2024, the outstanding principal was \$8,578, recorded as a current asset on the accompanying balance sheet.

NOTE 5 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment are summarized as follows:

| , | 2024 | | 2023 2022 | | | Depreciable life in years |
|---|--------------|----|-----------|----|--------|---------------------------|
| | | | | | | |
| Computer equipment | \$ 11,747 | \$ | 11,747 | \$ | 11,747 | 2-5 |
| Software | 15,000 | | 32,095 | | 32,095 | 5 |
| Furniture and fixtures | 17,000 | | 17,000 | | 17,000 | 3-9 |
| Total property and equipment | 43,747 | | 60,842 | | 60,842 | |
| Less: accumulated depreciation | 42,497 | _ | 54,378 | | 49,154 | |
| Property and equipment, net | \$ 1,250 | \$ | 6,464 | \$ | 11,688 | |

NOTE 6 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets are summarized as follows:

| | 2024 | 2023 | 2022 |
|--------------------------------|------------------------|------------------------|------------------------|
| Franchise rights Trademark | \$ 1,006,165 50,000 | \$ 1,006,165 50,000 | \$ 1,006,165 50,000 |
| Total intangible assets | 1,056,165 | 1,056,165 | 1,056,165 |
| Less: accumulated amortization | 872,038 | 804,958 | 737,878 |
| Intangible assets, net | <u>\$ 184,127</u> | \$ 251,207 | \$ 318,287 |

Franchise rights represent the fair value assigned to franchise agreements in existence when the franchise operations were acquired in 2012.

NOTE 7 - LINE OF CREDIT

In 2024, the Company entered into a revolving line of credit agreement, allowing for borrowings of up to \$100,000. The interest rate is variable and is determined by the lender with each advance request. Minimum monthly payments are required if a balance is outstanding. As of December 31, 2024, the outstanding principal was \$8,413, During the year ended December 31, 2024, interest paid on this line of credit was \$3,078.

NOTE 8 - NOTE PAYABLE, RELATED PARTY

During 2023, the Company entered into a promissory note agreement with an initial principal amount of \$19,600 with the majority owner of the Company. The note bears interest at an annual rate of 2% and is payable on demand. The note payable, related party was \$9,935 and \$14,700 at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

NOTE 9 - LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Company's operating lease assets represent office space, equipment and a company vehicle and hold lease arrangements with original terms of more than one year and expire through 2028.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, total operating lease expense was \$52,064, of which \$3,476 was attributable to variable lease expenses. Cash payments against operating lease liabilities totaled \$59,378 and non-cash transactions totaled \$38,329 to recognize operating assets and liabilities for new leases.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, total operating lease expense was \$49,889, of which \$3,476 was attributable to variable lease expenses. Cash payments against operating lease liabilities totaled \$48,791 and non-cash transactions totaled \$20,134 to recognize operating assets and liabilities for new leases.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, total operating lease expense was \$49,262, of which \$3,042 was attributable to variable lease expenses. Cash payments against operating lease liabilities totaled \$51,699 and non-cash transactions totaled \$158,296 to recognize operating assets and liabilities for new leases.

The weighted average remaining lease term on leases commencing on or before December 31, 2024 was 28 months. The weight average discount rate on lease commencing on or before December 31, 2024 was 3.63%.

Maturities of operating lease liabilities for the next four years are as follows:

| Year Ended December 31: | |
|-------------------------------|--------------|
| 2025 | \$ 37,280 |
| 2026 | 19,864 |
| 2027 | 14,022 |
| 2028 | 3,407 |
| Total undiscounted cash flows | 74,573 |
| Less: present value discount | 3,434 |
| Total lease liabilities | \$ 71,139 |

NOTE 10 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company has two franchises under contract that qualify as related party entities with common ownership. One of the related party franchises was formed in early 2024. Revenues from these related parties for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 were comprised of the following revenue sources:

| | 2024 | 2023 |
|-------------------------|--------------|--------------|
| Royalties | \$ 34,435 | \$ 17,041 |
| Advertising | 23,117 | 2,400 |
| Software and technology | 7,140 | 2,940 |
| Total | \$ 64,692 | \$ 22,381 |

EXHIBIT B



AUTO-LAB FRANCHISING, LLC

FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| 1. | GRANT AND TRADEMARK USE | 1 |
|-----|--|----|
| 2. | BUSINESS NAME OF FRANCHISE OWNER | 4 |
| 3. | TERM | 5 |
| 4. | FEES AND ROYALTIES | 6 |
| 5. | FRANCHISOR'S OBLIGATIONS | 8 |
| 6. | FRANCHISE OWNER'S OBLIGATIONS | 13 |
| 7. | REPORTING REQUIREMENTS | 24 |
| 8. | RIGHT OF ACCESS AND AUDIT | 25 |
| 9. | PROPRIETARY INFORMATION | 26 |
| 10. | ADVERTISING | 28 |
| 11. | TRANSFER BY FRANCHISE OWNER | 30 |
| 12. | TRANSFER BY FRANCHISOR | 32 |
| 13. | PERSONAL GUARANTEES AND SECURITY INTEREST | 33 |
| 14. | REASONS FOR TERMINATION OF THIS FRANCHISE | 34 |
| 15. | NOTICE REQUIRED FOR EFFECTING TERMINATION FOR BREACH | 37 |
| 16. | EFFECT OF TERMINATION | 38 |
| 17. | NONCOMPETITION | 40 |
| 18. | INDEMNIFICATION | 41 |
| 19. | ARBITRATION | 44 |
| 20. | INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR | 47 |
| 21. | INSURANCE | 49 |
| 22. | WAIVER | 50 |
| 23. | CONSTRUCTION | 50 |
| 24. | ATTORNEY FEES AND RELATED COSTS | 51 |
| 25. | MISCELLANEOUS | 52 |

AUTO-LAB FRANCHISING, LLC FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

| THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this | day of | , 20, (| "Effective |
|--|--------------|-------------------|------------|
| Date") by and between Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC | , a Michigan | limited liability | company, |
| (hereinafter referred to as the "Franchisor," "we," and "us") and | | | |
| (hereinafter referred to as "Franchise Owner," "you," and "your"). | | | |

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Franchisor has spent considerable time and money in originating, establishing, and further developing a business system utilizing distinctive décor and certain confidential business practices and procedures in outlets which offer full service and diagnostic-oriented automotive repair and maintenance services, featuring our proprietary operations software and offering customers and businesses comprehensive automotive and engine analysis, electrical system repair, air conditioning repair, engine repair, and other related automotive repair services for all makes and models of cars, SUVs, and light-duty trucks under the name "Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Centers®," hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Franchise System;" and

WHEREAS, Franchisor is the owner of the Trademark and logo "Auto-Lab," together with any other trademarks, service marks, logos, commercial symbols, and any other means of Franchise System identification as may be used by Franchisor from time to time, hereinafter collectively referred to as "Trademarks;" and

WHEREAS, Franchisor will continue to improve, alter, adopt, expand, and modify such knowledge relative to the methods of conducting the business associated with its Trademarks now in existence and those that might be created at some future date and incorporated into the Franchise System; and

WHEREAS, Franchise Owner desires to obtain a franchise to use such Trademarks and Franchise System subject to the terms hereinafter set forth.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements, covenants and undertakings herein contained and other valuable consideration, the parties hereby agree as follows:

1. GRANT AND TRADEMARK USE

Franchisor hereby grants to Franchise Owner, for the term and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, the non-exclusive and non-transferable right to use the Trademarks, logos, and copyrights and the associated Franchise System in the operation of a single Auto-Lab repair facility (a "Store") at a single location within the designated area specifically described in Schedule B to this Agreement ("Designated Area"). This license is for one (1) Store within the Designated Area only (the "Franchise Store"), and does not grant or imply any area, market, or territorial rights in addition to the Designated Area. Franchise Owner agrees that Franchisor and/or its affiliates may engage in any business activity whatsoever in or outside the Designated Area except as Franchisor is restricted by this Section 1 of this Agreement, and that

this Agreement does not confer upon Franchise Owner any right to participate in or benefit from any such other business activity, regardless of whether it is conducted under the Trademarks or not. Franchisor's rights to engage in other business activities are specifically reserved and may not be qualified or diminished in any way by implication. Franchisor may engage in, or authorize others to engage in, any form of business offering and selling any type of product or service except as restricted by this Section 1. By way of example, Franchisor and/or its affiliates may own, operate, or authorize others to own or operate any type of business at any location whatsoever, including within the Designated Area, so long as the other business does not sell under the Trademarks the type of products or services which the Franchise Store offers and sells (except as permitted below). Further, Franchisor and/or its affiliates may own, operate, or authorize others to own or operate Stores at any location outside of the Designated Area, including immediately proximate to the Designated Area. In addition, Franchise Owner understands and agrees that Franchisor and/or its affiliates alone have the right to offer and sell within and outside the Designated Area, and under the Trademarks, any and all products or services and/or their components or ingredients (including those used or sold by the Franchise Store), whether or not a part of the Franchise System, through any method of distribution other than a Store situated within the Designated Area including without limitation, such alternative channels of distribution as the internet/worldwide web; any other form of electronic commerce; "800" or similar toll-free telephone numbers; supermarkets, convenience, retail stores, or auto parts stores; mail order; catalogs; television sales (including "infomercials"); or any other channel of distribution whatsoever except for a Store. Franchise Owner also understands and agrees that Franchisor and/or its affiliates have the right to offer and sell (directly, or through other franchisees or licensees) Franchise System products and services at any and all nontraditional locations, including nontraditional locations situated in the Designated Area, through the establishments of kiosks, mobile units, or traditional Stores in nontraditional locations where Franchise Owner is precluded from engaging in such activity, such as, without limitation, military bases.

Franchise Owner further agrees that, both within and outside the Designated Area, Franchisor and/or its affiliates alone have the right to sell Franchise System products and services to national, regional, and institutional accounts. "National, regional, and institutional accounts" are organizational or institutional customers whose presence is not confined to the Designated Area, including without limitation, business entities with offices or branches situated inside and outside the Designated Area; governmental agencies, branches or facilities; the military, and any other customer whose presence is not confined to the Designated Area. Only Franchisor has the right to enter into contracts with national, regional, and/or institutional accounts (which may include facilities within the Designated Area). If Franchisor receives orders for any products or services calling for delivery or performance in the Designated Area as a result of Franchisor's engaging in commerce with national, regional, or institutional accounts, then Franchisor has the right but not the obligation, either to require Franchise Owner to fulfill such orders at the price agreed upon with the customer or to give Franchise Owner the opportunity to fulfill such orders at the price agreed upon with the customer. If Franchisor gives Franchise Owner the opportunity to fulfill such orders and if, for any reason, Franchisor does not desire to or cannot serve the customer, of if the customer desires for any or no reason to deal exclusively with Franchisor or another Franchise Store, and not with Franchise Owner, then Franchisor or any other Franchise Store may serve the customer within the Designated Area, and you will not be entitled to any compensation.

The procedures governing the national, regional, and institutional accounts program are set forth in the Manual.

Franchise Owner also agrees that Franchisor may purchase, merge, acquire, be acquired by, or affiliate with an existing competitive or non-competitive franchise or non-franchise network, chain, or any other business regardless of the location of that other business' facilities, and that following such activity, Franchisor may operate, franchise, license those other businesses and/or facilities under any names or marks other than (while this Agreement is in effect) the Trademarks, regardless of the location of these businesses and/or facilities, which may be within the Designated Area or immediately proximate to the Designated Area.

Franchise Owner waives and releases any claims, demands, or damages arising from or related to any of the above activities and promise never to begin or join in any legal action or proceeding, or register a complaint with any governmental entity, directly or indirectly contending otherwise.

Franchise Owner agrees to use the Trademarks associated with the Franchise System only as authorized in writing by Franchisor and not to infringe upon Franchisor's rights to use and license others to use the Trademarks and other Confidential Information licensed as part of the Franchise System nor claim any ownership right to the goodwill associated therewith. This Agreement does not grant Franchise Owner any right to use the name AUTO-LAB or other trade names, trademarks, or logos of Franchisor at any other location or for any other purpose. Such use must be approved by Franchisor in a separate, written, and executed document.

Franchisor and its affiliates shall not establish or operate units or grant to any person or entity the right to establish or operate any other tore within Franchise Owner's Designated Area using the Franchise System. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall prevent Franchisor or its affiliates from establishing or operating, or granting the right to establish or operate, businesses using the Franchise System or a similar system outside of Franchise Owner's Designated Area, or marketing other products or services that are not a part of the Franchise System under dissimilar names and marks within Franchise Owner's Designated Area. Franchisor expressly reserves the exclusive right to sell prepackaged products or other trademarked items from other locations within your Designated Area, such as, without limitation, auto stores, convenience stores or other retail stores, or through other media, such as the internet, worldwide web, or any other publicly accessible computer network, and Franchisor has no obligation to account for, or share, any profits with Franchise Owner. Franchisor reserves all rights, title, and interest to any domain names that include any part of Franchisor's names or Trademarks.

Franchise Owner acknowledges that goodwill associated with the Trademarks results from uniformity in operation and quality service. This quality and uniformity can be achieved only by the adherence by all franchise owners to a consistent plan of operation. To this end, Franchise Owner agrees to follow those procedures set forth by Franchisor in the initial training program, ongoing assistance, and the Manual. Franchise Owner acknowledges and agrees that all goodwill associated with Franchisor's Trademarks, including any goodwill that might be deemed to have arisen through Franchise Owner's activities, inures directly and exclusively to the

benefit of Franchisor and is the sole and exclusive property of Franchisor, except as otherwise provided herein or by applicable law.

Franchise Owner agrees that, from time to time, Franchisor may reasonably change or modify the Franchise System including, but not limited to: (i) the implementation of new or modified operating procedures and standard franchise policies; and (ii) the modification or adoption of new or modified trade names, Trademarks, service marks, or copyrighted material. Franchise Owner agrees at its sole expense to adopt, use, and display any such changes as if they were a part of the Franchise System at the time this Agreement was executed. It is further agreed that Franchisor shall be free to make such changes or modifications without incurring any liability to Franchise Owner.

Franchise Owner shall promptly notify Franchisor of any attempt by any person or business entity to use the Trademarks licensed hereby once Franchise Owner becomes aware of such use. Franchise Owner also agrees to notify Franchisor of any litigation instituted by any person, business entity, or governmental agency against Franchise Owner or Franchisor if such litigation involves Franchisor's Trademarks. Franchise Owner acknowledges Franchisor has complete discretion to determine what legal action to undertake in relation to matters referred to in Section 1.

In the event Franchisor undertakes the defense or prosecution of any litigation or administrative proceeding relating to these matters, Franchise Owner agrees to do such acts and things as may, in the opinion of Franchisor's counsel, be reasonably necessary to carry out such defense or prosecution. Franchisor shall be responsible for all costs of such litigation or administrative proceeding unless such dispute arises out of Franchise Owner's negligence or willful misconduct. In such instances, Franchise Owner shall indemnify Franchisor for all costs, expenses, and damages resulting therefrom.

2. BUSINESS NAME OF FRANCHISE OWNER

- 2.1 Franchise Owner must register its (or his or her, if Franchise Owner is an individual) business under an assumed name which has received the prior written approval of the Franchisor. Franchise Owner agrees to send a copy of such registration certificate to Franchisor. Franchise Owner shall not use the name AUTO-LAB or other names specified by Franchisor in its corporate or other name.
- 2.2 Franchise Owner shall not use the name AUTO-LAB or other trademarks used by the Franchise System in any manner in which the public might confuse the name with a business other than that franchised by Franchisor. Franchise Owner shall use of the name AUTO-LAB and other trade names only as authorized by Franchisor.
- 2.3 In all public records and in Franchise Owner's relationships and dealings with all other persons, Franchise Owner shall indicate that it is an independent business and that it is only a licensee of Franchisor. Franchise Owner shall prominently indicate on all letterheads, business forms, and the like that it is a licensee of Franchisor by placing thereon language that is in substance the same as the following: "an independently owned and operated licensee of Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC."

3. TERM

- 3.1 This Agreement shall continue for a term of fifteen (15) years from the execution date, unless it is terminated in accordance with its terms.
- 3.2 Upon expiration of the term of this Agreement, Franchise Owner may renew this Agreement for an additional term equivalent to the term then being offered to new franchise owners if it fully satisfies the following conditions:
- 3.2.1 Franchise Owner must have conducted its (or his or her, if Franchise Owner is an individual) business in the manner prescribed in this Agreement in order to qualify for renewal of the franchise relationship. Franchisor will not unreasonably deny to Franchise Owner the right to continue as a member of the Franchise System should Franchise Owner properly comply with the terms of this Agreement and other agreements between the parties.
- 3.2.2 Franchise Owner shall give Franchisor a written notice with a minimum of one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the expiration date of this Agreement regarding Franchise Owner's intention to renew. Franchisor must respond in writing within thirty (30) days after receipt of the renewal notice by Franchise Owner setting forth any alleged violations which might be grounds for denying Franchise Owner the right to execute a new franchise agreement.

Such notice shall give Franchise Owner sixty (60) days to cure the alleged violations. If Franchise Owner fails to cure such violations within the sixty-day period, Franchisor may rightfully decline to execute a new Franchise Agreement with Franchise Owner. The franchise relationship shall then automatically terminate upon completion of the fifteen (15) year term set forth in this Agreement.

- 3.2.3 As a condition of renewal, Franchisor may also require Franchise Owner to make such modifications to the premises as necessary to coincide with the format being utilized at the time the new Franchise Agreement is executed as a condition precedent to continuing the franchise relationship. Such modifications will be at Franchise Owner's expense.
- 3.2.4 If Franchise Owner qualifies for the issuance of new Franchise Agreement as herein provided, then the parties hereto shall execute the Franchise Agreement then in effect for new franchise owners. Franchise Owner shall also execute a release of all claims against Franchisor in a form as approved by Franchisor. Franchise Owner acknowledges such new Franchise Agreement may contain materially different terms than this Agreement. Franchise Owner agrees to surrender this Agreement to Franchisor upon its expiration and execute a mutual release with Franchisor regarding the preceding period of time.
- 3.2.5 The renewal fee shall be fifty percent (50%) of the Initial Franchise Fee charged by Franchisor at the time that the notice of renewal is given.

4. FEES AND ROYALTIES

- 4.1 Franchise Owner shall pay to Franchisor, or persons designated by Franchisor, a non-refundable initial franchise fee ("Initial Franchise Fee") in the amount of TWENTY-SEVEN THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS AND 00/100 (\$27,500.00). If this Agreement is Franchise Owner's second or subsequent Franchise Agreement, the Initial Franchise Fee is THIRTEEN THOUSAND SEVEN HUNDRED FIFTY DOLLARS AND 00/100 (\$13,750.00). If you are an Area Developer, the Initial Franchise Fee is THIRTEEN THOUSAND SEVEN HUNDRED FIFTY DOLLARS AND 00/100 (\$13,750.00). The Initial Franchise Fee is due upon execution of this Agreement and shall be deemed fully earned on such execution date.
- Franchise Owner shall pay to Franchisor, or persons designated by Franchisor, a weekly royalty for the use of the Trademarks and know-how amounting to six percent (6%) of all weekly Gross Sales for the duration of this Agreement ("Royalty"). "Gross Sales" shall be defined to include all revenue generated at the Franchise Store, including all products and services sold to customers, less refunds to customers and sales taxes. Gross Sales shall also include the value of any barter transactions. The Royalty must be paid by pre-authorized electronic funds transfer on Monday for the preceding week's (Monday-Sunday) Gross Sales. Franchise Owner will promptly execute and deliver to Franchisor appropriate pre-authorized check forms (or such other instruments or drafts that Franchisor's bank requires) payable against Franchise Owner's bank account, so that Franchisor may electronically collect (draft on Franchise Owner's account by electronic withdrawal) the Royalty, Advertising Fee (as defined in Section 4.4) and other charges, fees, and required purchases due under this Agreement. Franchise Owner will report to Franchisor by the Monday of each week its Gross Sales for the previous week in a form prescribed by Franchisor. If Franchise Owner's account has insufficient funds to pay the electronic transfer of Royalty, Advertising Fee, or other charges, fees, or required purchases due under this Agreement, Franchise Owner shall pay a fee to Franchisor of Fifty Dollars and 00/100 (\$50.00) per occurrence ("NSF Fee"). If Franchise Owner's account has insufficient funds to pay the electronic transfer of Royalty, Advertising Fee, or other charges, fees, or required purchases due under this Agreement on two (2) or more occasions in any six (6) month period, Franchisor may terminate this Agreement. If Franchise Owner fails to report its Gross Sales on a timely basis, Franchisor may estimate Franchise Owner's Gross Sales to prepare a provisional estimate for billing purposes for that week. On Monday of each week, Franchisor will bill Franchise Owner for all amounts due to Franchisor for Franchise Owner's Royalty, Advertising Fee, and other amounts due to Franchisor for the previous week and deposit into Franchisor's account Franchise Owner's pre-authorized check or other instrument for the amounts due either pursuant to Franchise Owner's weekly Gross Sales Report or Franchisor's estimate. Any unpaid Royalty, Advertising Fee, or other amounts past due and owing to Franchisor will bear interest at the rate of eighteen percent (18%) per annum (1.5% per month) or the maximum rate permitted by law, whichever is less. Franchise Owner will pay Franchisor for any and all costs Franchisor incurs in collecting any unpaid and past due Royalty, Advertising Fees, or other amounts due to Franchisor, including without limitation, actual attorneys' fees. Franchise Owner's weekly Gross Sales Report shall be accompanied by the appropriate state sales tax return if the state where Franchise Owner is located assesses a sales tax. If your state, or any governmental body in your state, charges us a tax on the Royalty we receive from you, then we require you to pay an additional amount equal to the amount of this tax. This does not apply to any federal income tax we have to pay.

- 4.3 Franchise Owner shall spend a minimum of six percent (6%) of its annual Gross Sales for the advertising and promotion of the Franchise Store within Franchise Owner's local market ("Local Advertising"). If Franchise Owner participates in an Advertising Cooperative under Section 10.2 of this Agreement, then all contributions made by Franchise Owner to the Advertising Cooperative will be considered contributions to Franchise Owner's Local Advertising requirements under this Section 4.3. If Franchise Owner fails to provide Franchisor evidence that Franchise Owner spent the amount required by this Section 4.3 for Local Advertising in any given calendar year, Franchise Owner shall pay the difference (amount required to be spent on Local Advertising under this Section 4.3 for calendar year less Franchise Owner's actual Local Advertising expenditure) to Franchisor as an additional Royalty no later than January 31 of each year for the immediately preceding calendar year. Franchisor has no obligation to spend any amount collected from Franchise Owner that Franchise Owner does not spend on Local Advertising in Franchise Owner's local market.
- 4.4. Franchise Owner agrees to pay Franchisor on a weekly basis, in addition to any payments required under Section 4.3, an amount up to three percent (3%) of Gross Sales for the Franchisor Advertising Fund ("Advertising Fee") for national or regional advertising. This fee shall be due at the same time and paid in the same manner as the Royalty.

Franchisor or its designee shall (i) administer such funds, and (ii) direct all national and regional advertising programs and shall have sole discretion to consent to or reject all creative concepts, materials, and media, and the placement and allocation thereof. Franchisor shall not be a fiduciary to Franchise Owner with respect to the management of such funds. Franchisor and its designees undertake no obligation to (a) make expenditures in the area where the Franchise Store is located which are equivalent or proportionate to Franchise Owner's contribution, or (b) ensure that any particular franchise benefits directly or pro rata from the placement of such advertising. Such funds may be applied to Franchisor's costs of maintaining, administering, directing, and preparing national or regional advertising (including, without limitation, marketing research, public relations activities, marketing programs, and initiatives, including, but not limited to, administrative costs and overhead related to the administration or direction of such funds and programs, production and media placement costs, and employing advertising agencies to assist therein); provided, however, that such funds shall not be used to defray Franchisor's general operating expenses. Any interest accruing to these funds will be used before application of principal. Such funds shall be maintained in a separate account and an annual statement of fund expenditures shall be delivered to Franchise Owner within a reasonable time upon request.

- 4.5 If Franchisor assumes responsibility for the day-to-day management of Franchise Owner's business, a management fee of ten percent (10%) of weekly Gross Sales shall be paid to Franchisor in addition to any other fees owed to Franchisor. Franchise Owner may request Franchisor to manage such business if Franchise Owner (or one of its owners) suffers a temporary disability which renders Franchise Owner unable to run the business. The legal representatives of Franchise Owner may ask Franchisor to act as an interim manager until the ownership interest can be transferred to a qualified owner if Franchise Owner dies or becomes permanently disabled.
- 4.6 Franchise Owner must pay Franchisor a monthly technology fee. The technology fee is currently One Hundred and 00/100 (\$100.00) per month. This fee must be paid by the 1st

day of the calendar month in the same manner as Franchise Owner pays its Royalty obligations. Franchise Owner acknowledges that Franchisor may use this fee to maintain existing technology and develop new technology from time to time in its discretion and that this fee may increase over time irrespective of whether new technology is developed, as implemented through the Manual. This fee is not refundable.

- 4.7 Franchise Owner shall purchase from us the Auto-Lab "FAST START" computer system which composition is provided in the Manual. This computer will run business software and will allow you to use our Auto-Lab Business Management System ("ALBMS®") or such other software platform or system that we may require that you use in connection with the Franchise System. Neither we, nor any affiliate or third party has any obligation to provide ongoing maintenance, repairs, upgrades, or updates. Franchise Owner is obligated to upgrade or update the computer system during the term of the franchise if we specify and there are no contractual limitations on the frequency or cost of that requirement. The cost of the "FAST START" computer system is provided in the Manual.
- 4.8 Franchise Owner shall pay a High Level Marketing Fee, which is currently One Hundred Twenty-Five Dollars and 00/100 (\$125.00) per month and due on the first day of each month and paid in the same manner as Royalties and Advertising Fees. Throughout the term of this Agreement, Franchisor may implement other system-wide fees, or increase these or other fees as market conditions warrant (as determined by Franchisor in its sole discretion) and Franchise Owner shall pay such fees to Franchisor on the terms as implemented by Franchisor through the Manual.
- 4.9 Any payments due for the Initial Franchise Fee, Royalties, Advertising Fees, or otherwise shall be absolute and unconditional. Franchise Owner shall not delay or withhold the payment of all or part of such fees for any reason or set-off against any alleged claims Franchise Owner may assert against Franchisor.
- 4.10 Franchise Owner shall remit the full amount of the Royalty and any Advertising Fee applicable to the Gross Sales for each week consistently with this Agreement and the Manual. Franchise Owner shall not make any offset or claim against those fees unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement. Payments shall be made by electronic funds transfer.

5. FRANCHISOR'S OBLIGATIONS

Franchisor or a party designated by Franchisor (e.g., an Area Developer) ("Franchisor Designate") shall provide the following services to Franchise Owner during the term of this Agreement. However, Franchisor or Franchisor Designate is not obligated to perform these services to Franchise Owner's particular level of satisfaction, but as a function of Franchisor's or Franchisor Designate's experience, knowledge, and judgment.

5.1 Franchisor or Franchisor Designate will review Franchise Owner's proposed site within Franchise Owner's Designated Area. Franchise Owner selects a potential location for the Franchise Store. Franchisor or Franchisor Designate takes into consideration for approval such things as, without limitation, lease terms, traffic patterns, visibility, demographic profiles, condition of the building, size of space, mix of tenants, and the like. Franchise Owner agrees to

abide by the site selection procedures adopted by the Franchisor in its Manual. Franchise Owner shall not open without Franchisor's or Franchisor Designate's prior approval as to the location of the site.

Franchise Owner shall identify a site for the Franchise Store within four (4) months of executing this Agreement. Franchisor or Franchisor Designate shall make one (1) on-site or on-premises visit to review the qualities of Franchise Owner's proposed site, the cost of which is included within the Initial Franchise Fee. Franchise Owner shall, however, reimburse Franchisor or Franchisor Designate for its costs if Franchise Owner requests Franchisor or Franchisor Designate to make more than one (1) visit to the proposed Designated Area to assist in the site selection process or to any site after Franchisor or Franchisor Designate has visited one (1) site in the Designated Area. Franchisor or Franchisor Designate may terminate this Agreement without further obligation if Franchise Owner fails to open for business at a site having the approval of the Franchisor or Franchisor Designate within one hundred eighty (180) days after the execution date of this Agreement or three hundred sixty-five (365) days if new construction is required. Franchisor or Franchisor Designate shall approve the opening date of the Franchise Store, in Franchisor's or Franchisor Designate's discretion.

5.2 Franchisor agrees to loan Franchise Owner one set of its Brand Standards Manuals, and other manuals Franchisor may develop (collectively referred to as "Manual" throughout this Agreement) and one set of its standard plans and specifications for the construction of a Store, which plans may be existing Auto-Lab plans or Franchisor's current prototype ("Plans"). The Manual may take the form of one (1) or more of the following: one (1) or more loose leaf or bound volumes; bulletins; notices; videos; CD-ROMS and or other electronic media; online postings; email and/or other electronic communications; facsimiles; or any other medium capable of conveying the Manual's contents. The Manual will, among other things, set forth the Franchise System, the operating systems, procedures, policies, methods, standards, specifications, and requirements for operating the Franchise Store, and protection of the brand. Franchise Owner agrees to operate the Franchise Store in strict compliance with the Manuals. Franchisor has the right to prescribe additions to, deletions from, or revisions of the Manuals (the "Supplements to the Manual") as Franchisor deems necessary, in Franchisor's discretion, all of which will be considered a part of the Manuals. Franchise Owner must comply with specifications, standards, procedures, and rules prescribed from time to time by Franchisor, including through the Manuals. Franchise Owner shall keep the Manuals and its contents confidential. Franchise Owner will not at any time copy any part of the Manuals, disclose any information contained in it to others, or permit others access to the Manuals. Franchise Owner acknowledges and agrees that Franchisor has the right to prescribe additions to, deletions from, or revisions to the Manuals as Supplements to the Manual in Franchisor's discretion, and Franchise Owner shall implement such Supplements to the Manual as directed by Franchisor. All references to the Manuals in this Agreement will include the Supplements to the Manual. Supplements to the Manual will become binding upon Franchise Owner as if originally set forth in the Manuals, upon being delivered to Franchise Owner. The Manuals and any Supplements to the Manual are material in that they will affect the protection of the brand and operation of the Franchise Store, but they will not conflict with or materially alter Franchise Owner's rights and obligations under this Agreement. The Plans and specifications may need to be altered or modified to meet Franchise Owner's brand protection standards and space requirements which modification will be at Franchise Owner's sole cost and

expense. These Plans are not intended to replace engineered stamp and sealed blueprints for the construction of the Franchise Store. Franchisor will deliver the Manual and Plans within a reasonable time after the execution of this Agreement.

5.3 Franchisor or Franchisor Designate shall periodically provide Franchise Owner with an Approved Vendors List and Approved Supplies List. Such lists shall specify, without limitation, the approved architects, contractors, manufacturers, vendors, distributors, inventory, products, fixtures, furniture, equipment, signs, stationery, supplies, uniforms, proprietary apparel, proprietary promotional items, cash registers, computer hardware and software, and services that Franchisor has approved to be carried or used in the Franchise Store. Franchisor may, from time to time, in Franchisor's sole discretion, require that Franchise Owner purchase, use, offer, and/or promote, and maintain in stock at the Franchise Store in such quantities as are needed to meet reasonably anticipated customer demand, certain proprietary products that are manufactured in accordance with our specifications and/or uniquely specified or sourced ("Proprietary Products"). Franchise Owner shall purchase those Proprietary Products from us or a third party designated by us. We shall not be obligated to reveal such specifications for such Proprietary Products, or the terms and conditions of any vendor or other contracts, to you, non-designated vendors, or any third parties. With regard to non-proprietary products, Franchise Owner may use, offer, or sell only such non-proprietary products that Franchisor has specifically authorized, and such products must be purchased from an Approved Vendor. Franchisor may revise the Approved Vendors List and the Approved Supplies List from time to time in its sole discretion. Such approved lists will be given to Franchise Owner as Franchisor deems advisable or at Franchise Owner's request.

If Franchise Owner wants to (i) offer for sale at the Franchise Store any brand of product, not then approved by Franchisor, (ii) use any brand material or supply in the operation of the Franchise Store that is not then approved by Franchisor as meeting its minimum specifications and quality standards, (iii) purchase any product from a vendor that is not then designated by Franchisor as an Approved Vendor, or (iv) offer any service not then approved by Franchisor, then Franchise Owner must first notify Franchisor in writing and, if requested by Franchisor, submit samples and such other information as Franchisor requires for examination and/or testing or to otherwise determine whether such product, service, material or supply, or such proposed vendor meets its specifications and quality standards. Franchise Owner may be requested to pay a charge not to exceed the reasonable cost of the inspection and evaluation and the actual cost of the test. Franchisor's review is typically completed in thirty (30) days. Franchisor reserves the right, at its option, to re-examine or re-test the facilities and products of any vendor of an approved item and to revoke such approval if such item or vendor fails to continue to meet any of Franchisor's criteria. Franchisor will send written notice of any revocation.

All equipment, signs, fixtures, inventory, products and materials, and other items and supplies used in the construction and operation of the Franchise Store that are not specifically required to be purchased in accordance with Franchisor's Approved Supplies List and Approved Vendors List must conform to the specifications and quality standards established by Franchisor from time to time.

Franchisor approves vendors who can match the exact standards, overall quality, and appearance standards required by the Franchise System. Franchisor applies the following general

criteria in approving a proposed vendor: (i) ability to make products in conformity with Franchisor's specifications; (ii) willingness to protect the trade secrets of a product without dissemination to others; (iii) production and delivery capability; (iv) reputation and integrity of vendor; and (v) financial condition and insurance coverage of the vendor.

Franchisor may, in the exercise of its business judgment, enter into supply contracts either for all Stores or a subset of Stores situated within one or more geographic region(s) (each, a "system-wide supply contract"). Franchisor may enter into system-wide supply contracts with one or more vendors or products, services, or equipment that all Stores in a geographic area will be required to purchase, use, or sell. If Franchisor does so, then immediately upon notification to Franchise Owner, Franchise Owner and all other Stores in the geographic area must purchase the specified product, service, or equipment only from the Designated Vendor. However, if at the time of the notification to Franchise Owner, Franchise Owner is already a party to a non-terminable supply contract with another vendor or vendor for the product, service, or equipment, then Franchise Owner's obligation to purchase from the Designated Vendor under the system-wide supply contract will not begin until the scheduled expiration (or earlier termination) of the preexisting contract. Franchisor makes no representation that Franchisor will enter into any systemwide supply contracts or other exclusive supply arrangements or, if Franchisor does so, that Franchise Owner would not otherwise be able to purchase the same products and/or services at a lower price from another vendor. Franchisor may add to, modify, substitute, or discontinue system-wide supply contracts or exclusive supply arrangements in the exercise of Franchisor's business judgment.

Franchisor has the right to retain volume rebates, markups, and other benefits from vendors or in connection with the furnishing of vendors. Franchise Owner shall have no entitlement to or interest in any such benefits.

5.4 Franchisor will assist Franchise Owner in the opening of the Franchise Store for approximately one (1) week, beginning approximately two (2) calendar days before the opening of the Franchise Store and concluding approximately four (4) calendar days after the opening of the Franchise Store. Franchisor typically has approximately one (1) to two (2) employees that will provide such opening assistance (the actual number of employees and the actual number of days shall be determined in Franchisor's sole discretion.

Franchisor or Franchisor Designate shall provide up to thirty (30) days of instruction and training at a location chosen by Franchisor or Franchisor Designate in its sole discretion. Such training will instruct the Franchise Owner as to the general aspects of the business and is provided to protect Franchisor's brand and the Trademarks and not to control the day-to-day operations of the Franchise Store. The initial training will also include information related to customer sales and service techniques; and methods of operating a diagnostic auto repair and maintenance business, including trade secrets and other Confidential Information. Franchise Owner shall be responsible for all personal costs of training, including payroll expenses, travel, lodging, meals and other incidental expenditures.

5.5 Franchisor or Franchisor Designate shall provide additional assistance within thirty (30) days after completion of such initial training upon request of Franchise Owner. Franchisor or

Franchisor Designate agrees to provide such additional assistance and Franchise Owner shall pay Franchisor or Franchisor Designate a per diem charge for each Franchisor or Franchisor Designate staff person as provided in the Manual plus any additional travel, meals, and lodging costs associated with the rendering of such assistance. Franchisor or Franchisor Designate reserves the right to adjust the per diem charge in its sole discretion at any time. Furthermore, Franchisor or Franchisor Designate reserves the right to schedule such assistance at its sole convenience.

- 5.6 Franchisor or Franchisor Designate may visit your Franchise Store at any time in our sole discretion to assist you, as well as possibly to conduct compliance audits. During such compliance audits, Franchisor or Franchisor's designees have the right at any reasonable time, and without prior notice to: (a) inspect the Franchise Store; (b) observe, photograph, video tape, and/or audio tape the operations at the Franchise Store for any purpose, including marketing; (c) remove samples of products, materials, or supplies for testing and analysis; and (d) interview personnel and customers of the Franchise Store. Franchise Owner agrees to cooperate fully with such activities. Upon notice from Franchisor or Franchisor's designee and without limiting Franchisor's other rights under this Agreement, Franchise Owner shall take such steps as may be necessary to protect the brand and to correct immediately any deficiencies detected during any such compliance audit. If Franchise Owner, for any reason, fails to implement such brand protection standards or correct such deficiencies within a reasonable time as determined by Franchisor, Franchisor shall have the right and authority (without, however, any obligation to do so) to correct such deficiencies and to charge you a reasonable fee for our expenses in so acting, payable by Franchise Owner immediately upon demand, in the same manner as Franchise Owner pays Royalty. Franchisor or Franchisor Designate may also offer advice to you regarding certain matters via telephone consultation, written communications, and periodic meetings. Provided, however, that neither Franchisor nor Franchisor Designate shall offer any advice or guidance related to any employment issues of Franchise Owner. Any guidance, suggestions, or advice provided to Franchise Owner in the course of such consultation shall be deemed suggestions only (unless otherwise designated as mandatory), and the decision to follow any such guidance, suggestions, or advice will be made by Franchise Owner in Franchise Owner's sole discretion. Franchise Owner may ask Franchisor or Franchisor Designate about any technical or administrative questions Franchise Owner may have and Franchisor or Franchisor Designate will, if possible, provide these answers by phone or electronic mail. If Franchisor or Franchisor Designate determines that additional assistance is required pursuant to Article 5.5, those provisions will apply.
- 5.7 Because enhancing the Franchise System's competitive position and consumer acceptance for the Franchise System's products and services is a goal of Franchisor and the Franchise System's franchisees, and because this objective is consistent with the long-term interest of the Franchise System overall, Franchisor may exercise rights with respect to the pricing of products and services to the fullest extent permitted by then-applicable law. These rights may include (without limitation) prescribing the maximum and/or minimum retail prices which Franchise Owner may charge customers for the products and/or services offered and sold at the Franchise Store; recommending retail prices; advertising specific retail prices for some or all products or services sold by the Franchise Store, which prices Franchise Owner will be compelled to observe; engaging in marketing, promotional and related campaigns which you must participate in and which may directly or indirectly impact your retail prices (such as "buy one, get one free" and other discounts); and, otherwise mandating, directly or indirectly, the maximum and/or

minimum retail prices which the Franchise Store may charge the public for the products and services offered. Franchisor may engage in any such activity either periodically or throughout the term of this Agreement. Further, Franchisor may engage in such activity only in certain geographic areas (cities, states, regions) and not others, or with regard to certain subsets of franchisees and not others. Franchise Owner acknowledges and agrees that any maximum, minimum, or other prices we prescribe or suggest may not optimize the revenues or profitability of your Franchise Store and Franchise Owner irrevocably waives any and all claims arising from or related to our prescription or suggestion of your Franchise Store's prices.

6. FRANCHISE OWNER'S OBLIGATIONS

Franchise Owner hereby agrees to abide by the following requirements:

- 6.1 Franchise Owner shall purchase all equipment, supplies, merchandise, and other items used in connection with its Franchise Store from Approved Vendors that have been approved by Franchisor. If Franchise Owner wants to use any supplies not on the Approved Supplies List or a Vendor not on the Approved Vendor List, Franchise Owner must secure Franchisor's prior written approval before such use.
- Franchise Owner shall construct the Franchise Store consistent with the Plans as 6.2 modified by Franchise Owner and approved by Franchisor. Franchise Owner shall install signage as required by the Plans and Manual as approved by Franchisor. This Agreement is expressly conditioned upon Franchise Owner's ability to secure and maintain, at Franchise Owner's sole cost and expense, any and all required state, county, city, and/or local licenses required for the construction and operation of the Franchise Store (collectively "Licenses"). After Franchise Owner has secured the required Licenses, Franchise Owner shall thereafter comply with all applicable laws and regulations pertaining to the development and operation of the Franchise Store. If operations pursuant to this Agreement or the Manual are suspended or prohibited for more than thirty (30) consecutive days as a result of Franchise Owner's failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations relating to any License, then Franchisor may, in its sole discretion, terminate this Agreement upon ten (10) days prior written notice to you. Franchise Owner must operate the Franchise Store in full compliance with all applicable laws, ordinances, and regulations, including without limitation, those related to occupational hazards and health, worker's compensation insurance, unemployment insurance, and withholding and payment of federal and state income taxes and Social Security taxes, trade name and advertising restrictions, building codes, and handicap access. Franchise Owner is solely responsible for determining and addressing all safety concerns relating to the condition of the Franchise Store and surrounding areas, the operation of any vehicles in connection with the Franchise Store, and otherwise. Franchise Owner must notify Franchisor in writing immediately upon (a) the commencement of any legal or administrative action, or the issuance of an order of any court, agency or other governmental instrumentality that may adversely affect the development, occupancy, or operation of the Franchise Store or Franchise Owner's financial condition; or (b) the delivery of any notice of violation or alleged violation of any law, ordinance or regulation, including those related to health, safety, or operation of an automotive repair facility.
- 6.3 Franchise Owner shall attend the training program prior to the opening of the Franchise Store, or designate one (1) or more other people who will be engaged in the operation

of the Franchise Store to attend the training. The Initial Franchise Fee pays for the right to attend such training. Franchise Owner shall, however, be solely responsible for all personal expenses related to the training program such as payroll, travel, meals, and lodging.

- 6.4 Franchise Owner is exclusively and solely responsible for determining and controlling the essential terms and conditions of employment for each of Franchise Owner's employees. Franchise Owner will be exclusively and solely responsible for recruiting and hiring the personnel that Franchise Owner employs to operate the Franchise Store. Franchise Owner shall be exclusively and solely responsible for the employees' training, wages, taxes, benefits, safety, work schedules, work conditions, assignments, duties to be performed, the work rules and directions governing the manner, means, and methods of the performance of duties, working conditions related to the safety and health of employees, discipline, termination, and compliance with all workplace related laws. At no time will Franchise Owner or Franchise Owner's employees be deemed to be employees of Franchisor or its affiliates. Franchisor will have no right or obligation to direct Franchise Owner's employees. Franchisor does not have direct or indirect control of - or the right or authority to control - Franchise Owner's day-to-day operations or employment related decisions. In order to protect the Franchise System, Franchise Owner shall endeavor to employ only suitable persons of good character and reputation who will at all times conduct themselves in a competent and courteous manner in accordance with the image and reputation of the Franchise System and, while on duty, comply with the dress attire, personal appearance, and standards set forth in the Manual. In order to protect the Franchise System, Franchise Owner shall use its best efforts to ensure that its employees maintain a neat and clean appearance and render competent and courteous service to all customers and fellow employees of the Franchise Store. Franchise Owner shall be exclusively and solely responsible for ensuring that its employees fully understand that they are employed by Franchise Owner and are not employed by Franchisor.
- 6.5 Franchise Owner shall sign and have all employees sign a non-disclosure agreement approved by us, which mandates confidentiality of all trade secrets and other proprietary information disseminated in the training class or through other means such as Manual and technical bulletins. Article 9 further delineates these confidentiality requirements.
- 6.6 Franchise Owner shall operate only at a specific location which has received the prior written approval from Franchisor. Although Franchisor will provide assistance in the site selection process, it is Franchise Owner's ultimate responsibility for site identification, selection, and acceptance; for the construction, acquisition, or leasing of a suitable building; for obtaining zoning and other use permits; for purchasing signs and equipment; for making any necessary improvements to the premises; for hiring employees; and for doing any other acts which are necessary or incidental to commencing operations. The structure within which Franchise Owner shall operate at the designated address shall be constructed and or improved by Franchise Owner in compliance with such standards as Franchisor shall require in order to achieve uniformity of appearance.

Franchisor's or Franchisor Designate's approval of a site is not a representation of the commercial value of the location or the building or the success of the Franchise Store, which are all hereby disclaimed. Franchisor or Franchisor Designate does not guarantee the term of the lease

or sublease will be of the same length as this Agreement. In the event the site becomes unusable for the Franchise Store, Franchise Owner must obtain Franchisor's or Franchisor Designate's prior written approval for a new location. Franchisor or Franchisor Designate agrees not to unreasonably withhold such consent. Unless Franchisor or Franchisor Designate gives such approval, this Agreement shall terminate upon the conclusion of Franchise Owner's operation at the original location.

If Franchise Owner executes a lease for the site, such lease shall contain the following provisions:

- 1. Reserving to Franchisor the right, at Franchisor's election, to receive an assignment of the leasehold interest upon termination or expiration of this Agreement;
- 2. Granting Franchisor the right to take an automatic assignment if Franchise Owner defaults under the lease, in which case Franchisor shall not be responsible or liable for Franchise Owner's defaults nor be required to cure the same;
- 3. Permitting Franchise Owner to assign the lease to Franchisor at any time;
- 4. Requiring the landlord of the premises to provide Franchisor all sales and other information Franchise Owner may have related to the operation of the Franchise Store, as Franchisor may request;
- 5. Requiring the landlord concurrently to provide Franchisor with a copy of any written notice of deficiency under the lease sent to Franchise Owner and granting to Franchisor, in its sole discretion, the right (but not the obligation) to cure any deficiency under the lease, should Franchise Owner fail to cure such deficiency, within fifteen (15) business days after the expiration of Franchise Owner's period to cure any such default;
- 6. Evidencing Franchise Owner's right to display Franchisor's Trademarks in accordance with the specifications required by Franchisor's Manual, subject only to the provisions of applicable law;
- 7. Requiring that the premises be used for the operation of a Store; and
- 8. Permitting Franchisor, upon accepting assignment of the lease from Franchise Owner, to assign the lease to another franchise owner to operate an Auto-Lab without the need to obtain the prior approval of the landlord and such assignment relieves Franchisor from all liability under the lease.

If Franchise Owner enters into a binding agreement to purchase the site, Franchisor may require that Franchise Owner include in such binding agreement a provision granting Franchisor the option to purchase the site at the expiration without renewal or termination of this Agreement.

- 6.7 Franchise Owner shall maintain the entire premises in good repair, clean appearance, and operative condition at all times during the term of this Agreement in accordance with standards and procedures prescribed by Franchisor.
- 6.8 Franchise Owner shall permit Franchisor's or Franchisor Designate's representative or representatives to enter upon the Franchise Owner's premises at any time during normal working hours or at any other time that is mutually agreed upon between Franchisor and Franchise Owner. During these visits personnel of the Franchisor or Franchisor Designate may conduct a compliance audit to determine whether Franchise Owner is abiding by the terms of this Agreement and conforming to standards of operation as may have been otherwise detailed in the Manual, technical bulletins, or other publications supplied by the Franchisor. Franchisor may advise Franchise Owner in writing regarding any deficiencies in Franchise Owner's compliance with Franchisor's standards.

Franchise Owner shall have thirty (30) days to cure such deficiencies from the date such written notice is received by Franchise Owner.

- 6.9 Franchise Owner and each of its Principal Owner(s) shall observe restrictions on ownership of other businesses as set forth in Article 17 of this Agreement.
- 6.10 Franchise Owner shall use and submit to Franchisor, where required, such standardized reports and information forms according to the specifications contained in Article 7 of this Agreement, the Manual, or other information supplied by Franchisor to Franchise Owner.
- 6.11 Franchise Owner shall punctually pay all sums owed to Franchisor or its designees when due whether for royalties, advertising, or otherwise as required by Article 4.
- 6.12 Franchise Owner shall notify Franchisor of any claims asserted against Franchisor once Franchise Owner becomes aware of them.
- 6.13 Franchise Owner shall abide by the requirements regarding Trademark usage set forth in Article 1 and business name usage in Article 2 of this Agreement.
- 6.14 Franchise Owner shall maintain such insurance as may be required by Franchisor, the minimum specifications of which are discussed in Article 21. Franchisor may require more coverage or additional coverages from time to time in Franchisor's sole and absolute discretion.
- 6.15 Franchise Owner shall participate in and pay for such advertising programs which are more fully described in Articles 4 and 10.
- 6.16 Franchise Owner represents and warrants that it and if applicable its Principal Owners who are not U.S. citizens will maintain an immigration status that allows them to live and work in the United States during the term of this Agreement.

- 6.17 Franchise Owner shall refrain from selling any products or services not approved by the Franchisor. Specifically, Franchise Owner agrees not to sell any tobacco products or alcoholic beverages, nor operate newspaper racks, juke boxes, gum machines, games, rides, coin vending machines, public telephones, or other services without the prior written consent of the Franchisor.
- 6.18 Franchise Owner shall utilize any proprietary software required by Franchisor in the conduct of the Franchise Store as more fully described in Article 9. Franchise Owner shall implement, use, and pay for new software programs that are developed by Franchisor from time to time for use by Franchise Owner in the conduct of the Franchise Store.
- 6.19 Franchise Owner shall comply with all other obligations set forth in this Agreement even though not specifically enumerated in this Section 6.
- Franchise Owner acknowledges that Franchisor's Manual is an integral part of the Franchise System. At all times, Franchise Owner shall maintain an updated set of Franchisor's Manuals in its Franchise Store. Franchise Owner shall, at all times during the term of this Agreement, operate its Franchise Store in compliance with the Manual, as amended from time to time. Franchisor, in its sole discretion, shall be entitled from time to time to change or modify the Franchise System, including modifications to the Manual, the offered products and services, required equipment, signage, the building and premises of the Franchise Store (including the trade dress, décor, and color schemes), the presentation of the Trademarks, the adoption of new administrative forms and methods of reporting and payment of any monies owed to Franchisor (including electronic means of reporting and payment) and the adoption and use of new or modified Trademarks or copyrighted materials. Within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice from Franchisor, Franchise Owner shall begin selling any newly authorized products and services and cease selling products and services that are no longer authorized. Extensive structural change, major remodeling and renovations, and substantial modifications to existing equipment and improvements to modernize and conform the Franchise Store to the current image of the Franchise System shall be required at our request (but not more often than every five (5) years). Capital expenses necessary for the repair and maintenance of the Franchise Store are not subject to time limitations described in the preceding sentence. Within sixty (60) days after receipt of Franchisor's written notice regarding required modernization, Franchise Owner shall prepare and complete drawings and plans for the required modernization. These drawings and plans must be submitted to, and their use approved by, Franchisor prior to the commencement of work. Franchise Owner shall complete the required modernization within the time reasonably specified by Franchisor in the written notice. Franchisor's Manual continues to be and shall at all times remain the property of Franchisor. Franchise Owner agrees not to reproduce the Manual or any part thereof. Franchise Owner understands that the Manual contains brand protection standards, trade secrets, and proprietary and Confidential Information of Franchisor, and Franchise Owner agrees not to disclose the contents of the Manual to anyone not employed by Franchise Owner. Franchise Owner further agrees and warrants not to disclose the contents of the Manual or any part thereof to any employee of Franchise Owner except on a "need-to-know" basis. Upon the termination of this Agreement, Franchise Owner shall return all Franchisor's Manuals and Supplements it has received to Franchisor. In the event of any dispute as to the contents of the Manual, the master copy thereof in Franchisor's possession shall control. Franchisor may modify the Manual

unilaterally under any conditions and to any extent which Franchisor, in its sole discretion, deems necessary to meet competition, protect Franchisor's Trademarks, or otherwise improve Franchisor's Franchise System.

- 6.21 If Franchise Owner is (at any time) a business organization (like a corporation, limited liability company, or partnership), Franchise Owner agrees and represents that:
 - 1. Franchise Owner has the authority to execute, deliver, and perform Franchise Owner's obligations under this Agreement and is duly organized or formed and validly existing in good standing under the laws of the state of Franchise Owner's incorporation or formation;
 - 2. Franchise Owner's organizational or governing documents will recite that the issuance and transfer of any ownership interests in Franchise Owner are restricted by the terms of this Agreement, and all certificates and other documents representing ownership interests in Franchise Owner will bear a legend referring to the restrictions of this Agreement;
 - 3. Schedule A to this Agreement will completely and accurately describe all of Franchise Owner's owners and their interests in Franchise Owner;
 - 4. Franchise Owner and its Principal Owners agree to revise Schedule A as may be necessary to reflect any ownership changes and to furnish such other information about its organization or formation as Franchisor may request;
 - 5. Each of Franchise Owner's Principal Owners at any time during the term of this Agreement will sign and deliver to Franchisor its standard form of Principal Owner's Guaranty, undertaking to be bound jointly and severally by all provisions of this Agreement and any other agreements between Franchise Owner and Franchisor; and
 - 6. At Franchisor's request, Franchise Owner will furnish true and correct copies of all documents and contracts governing the rights, obligations and powers of Franchise Owner's Principal Owners and its agents (like articles of incorporation or organization and partnership, operating, or shareholder agreements).
- 6.22 If Franchise Owner is a corporation or other business entity, or any of Franchise Owner's rights under this Agreement are properly transferred to a corporation or business entity under this Agreement, a condition to Franchisor's approval of such a transfer shall be Franchise Owner's placement of the following notation regarding transfer restrictions on all certificates (then issued and issued in the future) representing shares of stock in the corporation or ownership interest in the business entity:

"This certificate and all rights thereunder and the transfer thereof are subject to the terms and conditions of a certain written agreement entered into with Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC."

Franchise Owner and its Principal Owners shall take all actions necessary to comply with this Section 6.22 and provide Franchisor with evidence of such actions in a form satisfactory to Franchisor. Further, so long as the Franchise Owner entity continues to own rights under this Agreement, Franchise Owner shall take no corporate action which would cause the foregoing transfer notification to be removed from existing stock or membership certificates or omitted from stock or membership certificates issued in the future.

- 6.23 Franchise Owner shall notify Franchisor, in writing, within five (5) days of the commencement of any action, suit or proceeding, of any court, agency, or other governmental instrumentality which may adversely affect the operation or financial condition of Franchise Owner's operations. Franchise Owner shall notify Franchisor within five (5) days of the issuance of any judgment, opinion or order of any court, agency, or other governmental instrumentality which may adversely affect or limit in any fashion the operation or financial condition of Franchise Owner's operation.
- 6.24 Franchise Owner shall not attempt to pledge Franchisor's or Franchisor Designate's credit or purport to bind Franchisor or Franchisor Designate to any obligation, nor shall it hold itself out as being authorized to do so. Also, Franchise Owner shall indicate the nature of its relationship to Franchisor in all its letterheads, business forms, job applications, paychecks, and other materials used in the operation of its Franchise Store as required by this Agreement and the Manual.
- 6.25 Franchise Owner shall execute a telephone number assignment used by Franchise Owner in its advertising and promotion, at the time of the execution of this Agreement, and at any time thereafter as Franchisor shall request. The assignment shall be in a form provided or approved by Franchisor and shall provide that the assignment of the telephone number shall only be effective upon the expiration without renewal or termination of this Agreement or the assignment of this Agreement without the telephone number being assigned to the transferee.
- 6.26 Franchise Owner shall purchase such computer hardware and software as established in Franchisor's Manual. This computer hardware may or may not be proprietary to Franchisor or its affiliates. Franchisor makes no guarantee as to the suitability or efficiency of the specifications contained in the Manual. Due to rapid technological changes and progress, the computer hardware, software, and electronic cash register specifications may change without prior notice. Franchise Owner agrees and acknowledges that changes to technology are dynamic and not predictable within the term of this Agreement. In order to provide for inevitable but unpredictable changes to technological needs and opportunities, Franchise Owner agrees that Franchisor has the right to establish, in writing, reasonable new standards for the implementation of technology and may require Franchise Owner to purchase and begin using new technology and software in connection with the Franchise System in Franchisor's sole discretion; and Franchise Owner agrees to comply with those reasonable new standards that Franchisor establishes as if Franchisor periodically revised this Section 6.26 for that purpose. Franchisor requires that

Franchise Owner purchase proprietary software, which may change over the term of this Agreement. This computer hardware and software provides Franchise Owner with the ability to communicate via model, cable, or other high speed, inter-connectivity device with Franchisor and transmit sales reports, tax reports, various product usage reports, and cashier reports. Franchise Owner is responsible for the ongoing maintenance and repairs for the computer hardware and software. Franchisor may require Franchise Owner to update the hardware and software, at Franchise Owner's expense and Franchisor's discretion. Franchisor may format bookkeeping reports and forms for Franchise Owner to report financial information. Franchise Owner must report the Franchise Store's financial information in accordance with such forms as they are changed from time to time in Franchisor's sole discretion. Franchise Owner must purchase an approved electronic cash register or such other electronic/computerized cash register as may be designated by Franchisor that must allow for the implementation of system wide programs, as implemented by Franchisor from time to time in its Manual. All Gross Sales and all sales information must be recorded on this cash register or equipment. This equipment provides Franchise Owner with sales reports, tax reports, various product usage reports, and cashier reports. Franchisor has the right to have independent electronic access to this information. There are no contractual limits on Franchisor's right to independently access the data. Franchise Owner must record all sales at the Franchise Store on this computer system that is fully compatible with Franchisor's computer system and that includes an information interface capability to communicate electronically with Franchisor's computer system to provide Franchisor with continuous transaction level point of sale data. Franchise Owner is required to provide the sales information to Franchisor as required in the Manual. Franchise Owner is responsible for the annual maintenance and repairs for the cash register. The technology configuration is frequently subject to change due to technology and service advancements, as updated in the Manual. Franchisor may require you to update the cash register and computer hardware and software every five (5) years. Franchisor has the right to specify or require that certain brands, types, makes, and/or models of communications, computer and technology systems, software, and other hardware be used and in accordance with Franchisor's brand standards, including without limitation (a) back office and point of sale (POS) systems, data, audio, video (including managed video security surveillance), telephone, voice messaging, retrieval, and transmission systems; (b) POS Systems; (c) customer relationship management systems; (d) physical, electronic, and other security systems and measures; (e) printers and other peripheral devices; (f) archival back-up systems; (g) internet access mode and speed; (h) payment systems; and (i) front-of-the -house Wi-Fi and other internet service for customers. Franchise Owner must provide such assistance as may be required to connect Franchise Owner's computer system to Franchisor's computer system. Franchisor shall have the right to retrieve transaction level data through your computer system, and such other information from Franchise Owner's computer system as Franchisor deem necessary or desirable, and Franchise Owner agrees to fully cooperate with Franchisor to accomplish such interface. Franchise Owner must provide Franchisor with all of the data required by Franchisor in the Manual in a format readily usable by Franchisor. All data pertaining to, derived from, or displayed at the Franchise Store (including without limitation, data pertaining to or otherwise about Franchise Store customers) is and shall be Franchisor's exclusive property, and Franchisor hereby grants Franchise Owner with a royalty-free non-exclusive license to use that data during the term of this Agreement and any renewal term. Franchise Owner agrees that all data collected from customers and potential customers in connection with the Franchise Store ("Customer Data") is deemed to be owned exclusively by Franchisor, and Franchise Owner agrees to provide Customer Data to Franchisor at

any time that Franchisor requests. Customer Data includes without limitation "Customer Personal Data," which is all data that may be reasonably linked or linkable to natural persons to whom you provide goods or services or who are associated with a business entity to which you provide goods or services, including but not limited to, such natural person's name, birthdate, contact information, payment card information, transaction history, automobile information, and other personal and other information as may be further set forth and defined in the Manuals. Franchise Owner has the right to use Customer Data while this Agreement is in effect, but only in connection with operating the Franchise Store and only in accordance with the policies established by Franchisor from time to time. Franchise Owner shall not sell, assign, transfer or use Customer Data for any purpose other than operating the Franchise Store and marketing Auto-Lab services and products. Franchise Owner recognizes and acknowledges that this Agreement and your conduct of business may subject you and us to certain laws pertaining to the privacy of customer, employee, and transactional information (the "Privacy Laws"). For the purposes of the Privacy Laws, Franchisor is the "controller" and Franchise Owner is the "processor" of any Customer Data. Subject to Franchise Owner and each of your Principal Owners' compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Franchisor grants Franchise Owner a non-exclusive, nonsublicensable, limited right to collect, use, share, disclose, store, and delete (collectively, "process") Customer Data during the Term of this Agreement solely as necessary for the operation of your Store. All such processing of Customer Data by you must at all times be in compliance with (i) all applicable laws, including without limitation, the Privacy Laws and (ii) our standards and policies, Franchise System, and Manuals, which Franchisor may amend from time to time in our sole discretion. If there is a conflict between Franchisor's standards pertaining to the Privacy Laws and the requirements of any applicable law, Franchise Owner shall: (a) comply with the requirements of applicable law; (b) immediately provide written notice to Franchisor of said conflict; and (c) promptly and fully cooperate with Franchisor and counsel in determining the most effective way, if any, to meet Franchisor's standards and policies within the bounds of the applicable Privacy Law.

Franchise Owner must cooperate with Franchisor and comply with and adhere to all directions and requests that Franchisor delivers from time to time relating to Customer Data and/or the Privacy Laws, including without limitation, assisting Franchisor in complying with any obligations Franchisor may have under the Privacy Laws, adhering to the policies and procedures set forth in the Manuals, and delivering or making available to Franchisor all information in Franchise Owner's possession necessary to demonstrate Franchise Owner's compliance with Franchisor's standards and policies, Manuals, and/or the Privacy Laws. Franchisor reserves the right to audit and inspect Franchise Owner's use of information technology, organizational systems, and data security policies and practices, which may include an assessment of Franchise Owner's compliance with Franchisor's standards and policies relating to Franchise Owner's processing and use of Customer Data. Any such assessment, audit, and/or inspection will be at Franchise Owner's sole cost and expense, and Franchise Owner must reimburse Franchisor for any costs and expenses incurred in connection therewith.

6.27 Franchise Owner represents, warrants and covenants to Franchisor that (1) neither Franchise Owner, nor any individual or entity owning directly or indirectly any interest of Franchise Owner (if Franchise is a business entity) is an individual or entity whose property or interests are subject to being blocked under Executive Order 13224 issued by the President of the

United States of America, the Terrorism Sanctions Regulations (Title 31 Part 595 of the U.S. Code of Federal Regulations), the Terrorism List Governments Sanctions Regulations (Title 31 Part 596 of the U.S. Code of Federal Regulations), the Foreign Terrorist Organizations Sanctions Regulations (Title 31 Part 597 of the U.S. Code of Federal Regulations), and the Cuban Assets Control Regulations (Title 31 Part 515 of the U.S. Code of Federal Regulations), and all other present and future federal, state and local laws, ordinances, regulations, policies, lists (including, without limitation, the Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons List) and any other requirements of any Governmental Authority (including, without limitation, the United States Department of the Treasury Office of Foreign Assets Control) addressing, relating to, or attempting to eliminate, terrorist acts and acts of war, each as hereafter supplemented, amended or modified from time to time, and the present and future rules, regulations and guidance documents promulgated under any of the foregoing, or under similar laws, ordinances, regulations, policies or requirements of other states or localities ("OFAC Laws and Regulations") or is otherwise in violation of any of the OFAC Laws and Regulations; (2) neither Franchise Owner nor any individual or entity owning directly or indirectly any interest of Franchise Owner (a) is under investigation by any government authority form, or has been charged with, or convicted of, OFAC Laws and Regulations, (b) has been assessed any penalties under these laws, or (c) has had any of its funds seized or forfeited in any action under these laws; (3) has taken all reasonable measures to ensure compliance with all OFAC Laws and Regulations; and (4) Franchise Owner shall take all reasonable measures to continue compliance with all OFAC Laws and Regulations during the term of this Agreement.

- 6.28 Beginning in the second full calendar year of operation of the Franchise Store, Franchise Owner must, on an annual calendar year basis, achieve total Gross Sales of at least \$450,000.00 for the full calendar year in question ("Minimum Sales Requirement"). If Franchise Owner fails to achieve the Minimum Sales Requirement during a calendar year, Franchisor may notify Franchise Owner of the failure within ninety (90) days of the end of the calendar year. If Franchise Owner is notified of a failure to meet the Minimum Sales Requirement, Franchise Owner will be on probation for the calendar year in which Franchise Owner receives the notice. If Franchise Owner fails to achieve the Minimum Sales Requirement again in that calendar year, then Franchisor may, by written notice to Franchise Owner, elect to: (a) terminate this Agreement; or (b) terminate Franchisee's exclusive rights in the Designated Area under Article 1.3 of this Agreement.
- 6.29 Franchise Owner acknowledges that Franchisor intends to enter into agreements with other franchise owners and area developers that may contain certain provisions, conditions, and obligations that differ from those contained in this Agreement. The existence of different forms of agreement and the fact that Franchisor and other franchise owners or area developers may have different rights and obligations do not affect the duties of the parties to this Agreement to comply with the terms of this Agreement. Franchise Owner further acknowledges that because uniformity under many varying conditions may not be possible or practical, we reserve the right to materially vary our standards or franchise agreement terms for any Franchise Store, based upon the timing of the grant of the franchise, the peculiarities of the particular territory or circumstances, business potential, population, existing business practices, other non-arbitrary distinctions or any other condition which Franchisor considers important to the successful operation of the Franchise System. Franchise Owner has no right to require Franchisor to disclose any variation or to grant the same or a similar variation to Franchise Owner.

- 6.30 All processes, ideas, concepts, vendor relationships, methods, and techniques used or useful to an automobile repair facility or retail store outlet, whether or not consulting protectable intellectual property, that Franchise Owner creates, or that is created on Franchise Owner's behalf, in connection with the development or operation of the Franchise Store must be promptly disclosed to us. If Franchisor adopts any of them as part of the Franchise System, they will be deemed to be Franchisor's sole and exclusive property and deemed to be works made-for-hire for Franchisor. Franchise Owner hereby assigns, and further agrees to sign whatever further assignment or other documents that Franchisor requests to evidence Franchisor's ownership in, or to assist Franchisor in securing, intellectual property rights in such ideas, concepts, techniques or materials. All of the foregoing shall be at no cost or expense to Franchisor.
- Franchise Owner shall accept debit cards, credit cards, stored value gift cards, or other non-cash payment systems specified by Franchisor to enable customers to purchase authorized products and services. Franchise Owner shall obtain all necessary hardware and/or software used in connection with these non-cash payment systems. At all times, Franchise Owner shall maintain credit card relationships with the credit and debit card issuers or sponsors, check or credit verification services, financial center services, and electronic funds transfer systems that Franchisor designates as mandatory, and Franchise Owner may not use any such services or providers that Franchisor has not approved in writing or for which Franchisor has revoked approval. Franchisor has the right to modify the requirements and designate additional approved or required methods of payment and vendors for processing such payments, and to revoke approval of any such service provider. Franchise Owner must sign a Gift Card Participation Agreement if required to designate a vendor or to establish procedures for administering the gift card program. Franchise Owner must comply with Franchisor's credit card policies, including minimum purchase requirements for a customer's use of a credit card as prescribed in the Manual. Franchise Owner agrees to comply with the then-current Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards as those standards may be revised and modified by the PCI Security Standards Council, LLC (see www.pcisecuritystandards.org) or any successor organization or standards that Franchisor may reasonably specify. Among other things, Franchise Owner agrees to implement the enhancements, security requirements, and other standards that the PCI Security Standards Council (or its successor) requires of a merchant that accepts payment by credit and/or debit cards. Franchise Owner must demonstrate compliance upon reasonable request, which may include having an independent third-party Qualified Security Assessor (QSA) conduct a PCI/DSS audit. In the event Franchise Owner is unable to demonstrate full compliance, Franchisor may require that Franchise Owner engage the services of an Approved Vendor to assist on an ongoing basis.
- 6.32 Franchise Owner shall offer a warranty on parts and labor as more particularly described in the Manual. Franchisor reserves the right to modify the length and mileage of the warranty that Franchise Owner is required to provide from time to time in Franchisor's sole and absolute discretion. Franchise Owner shall offer the warranty regardless of whether it uses Franchisor's vendors for approved parts.
- 6.33 Franchise Owner shall operate the Franchise Store during such times as may be designated by Franchisor from time to time. Franchise Owner acknowledges and agrees that the hours of operation are integral to the value of the Franchise System and the Trademarks, and any failure by Franchise Owner to operate during such designated hours of operation is detrimental to the Franchise

System and Trademarks. Franchise Owner further acknowledges and agrees that the day-to-day operational decisions relating to the opening and closing procedures of the Franchise Store, including any security, staffing, and other similar matters shall be made solely by Franchise Owner.

7. <u>REPORTING REQUIREMENTS</u>

- 7.1 Recognizing the importance of uniform accounting and record keeping procedures for all Stores, Franchise Owner agrees to use the standardized bookkeeping forms and other financial forms as may be developed from time to time by Franchisor. On the 15th of each month during the term of this Agreement, Franchise Owner shall submit detailed financial statements including both profit and loss statements and balance sheet for the Franchise Store during the preceding month, and such other additional information as may be reasonably required by Franchisor from time to time, on a form furnished or approved by Franchisor. Such required reports shall be signed by Franchise Owner or on behalf of Franchise Owner by a duly authorized partner, officer, or member if Franchise Owner is a partnership, corporation, or limited liability company. Any person signing any report submitted to Franchisor on behalf of Franchise Owner, by his or her signature, shall automatically be deemed to certify that such report is true and correct to the best of their knowledge after due diligence. If Franchise Owner fails to provide financial statements and other documents requested by Franchisor by the 15th of the month as required under this Section 7.1, Franchise Owner shall pay Franchisor a "Non-Compliance Fee" in the amount of One Hundred Dollars (\$100) per day until the financial statements and other documents are provided in compliance with this Section 7.1. This Non-Compliance Fee shall be assessed one (1) business day after Franchise Owner's default under this Section 7.1 and shall continue to accrue each day until such default is cured. Payment of the Non-Compliance Fee under this Section 7.1 shall be made by electronic funds transfer. Franchise Owner consents to the disclosure of its annual Gross Sales in Franchisor's annual Uniform Franchise Offering Circular, if Franchisor so chooses to include such information.
- 7.2 A detailed annual financial statement containing a profit and loss statement and balance sheet prepared according to generally accepted accounting principles shall be submitted to Franchisor no later than seventy-five (75) days following the close of Franchise Owner's fiscal year in a form acceptable to Franchisor.
- 7.3 Business and the business-related schedules contained in the personal income tax returns shall be submitted to Franchisor when filed with the Internal Revenue Service.
- 7.4 Franchise Owner hereby gives consent to his or her accountant to forward copies of financial statements and tax returns directly to Franchisor when requested by Franchisor and waives any accountant-client privilege.
- 7.5 Franchise Owner must retain during the term of this Agreement and for three (3) years thereafter all books and records related to the Franchise Store, including, without limitation, sales checks, purchase orders, invoices, payroll records, customer lists, check stubs, sales tax records and returns, other tax returns, cash receipts, and disbursement journals and general ledgers. Franchisor, its certified public accountants or other duly authorized agent, shall have the right at all reasonable times to inspect and make copies of the books, records, and tax returns of Franchise Owner at Franchisor's expense. Franchise Owner agrees to keep complete and accurate books and

records of its operation of the Franchise Store in accordance with the standard accounting system described in Franchisor's Manual.

- 7.6 All financial statements shall be certified by an officer of Franchise Owner (or a partner if Franchise Owner is a partnership; or a member if Franchise Owner is a limited liability company) to be true and correct to the best of their knowledge after due diligence.
- 7.7 Franchise Owner must submit monthly sales tax returns to Franchisor at the same time as Franchise Owner submits such sales tax returns to the State Treasury Department or other taxing authority.
- 7.8 Franchise Owner must submit its annual tax returns for federal, state, and local taxes to Franchisor by May 1 of each year, unless Franchise Owner has received an extension for the filing from the applicable governmental entities, and in that case, Franchise Owner must provide to Franchisor proof of extension by May 1 of that year, and then must provide the required tax returns to Franchisor at the same time as Franchise Owner submits such tax returns to the taxing authority. If Franchise Owner fails to timely provide its tax returns as required under this Section 7.8, Franchise Owner shall pay Franchisor a Non-Compliance Fee in the amount of One Thousand Dollars (\$1,000) per week until such tax returns are provided in compliance with this Section 7.8. Payments shall be made by electronic funds transfer beginning seven (7) days after Franchise Owner's default and each week thereafter until Franchise Owner cures its default under this Section 7.8.
- 7.9 Franchise Owner must submit such other periodic reports, forms, and records as specified from time to time in writing by Franchisor in the Manual or otherwise. Franchise Owner shall provide Franchisor independent access to its financial information including, without limitation, access to Franchise Owner's computer system by means of a DSL line, cable modem, or other high-speed interconnection.

8. RIGHT OF ACCESS AND AUDIT

- 8.1 Franchisor or Franchisor Designate representatives shall be entitled to enter upon Franchise Owner's premises during reasonable business hours in order to inspect and audit all aspects of Franchise Owner's business including, but not limited to, books, records, cash register reports, facilities, computer and software systems, business equipment, customer invoices, materials, and any other matters relating to Franchise Owner's obligation set forth in this Agreement. Franchise Owner shall provide Franchisor or Franchisor Designate access to the books and records of Franchise Owner's accountant for purposes of this audit and Franchise Owner waives any accountant-client privilege related to the audit.
- 8.2 In the event an audit of Franchise Owner's calculation of Gross Sales reveals more than a two percent (2%) understatement, then Franchise Owner shall bear the entire cost of the audit plus all applicable late charges. If such audit reveals two percent (2%) or less understatement of Gross Sales, Franchise Owner shall only be subject to the monthly late charge as set forth in Article 4. The imposition of a late charge and assessment for audit costs, when applicable, shall not be the exclusive remedies available to Franchisor in the event of repeated failures to accurately report monthly Gross Sales amounts or in the event of a deliberate material misrepresentation by

Franchise Owner of such monthly Gross Sales amounts. Franchisor may decide to terminate this Agreement pursuant to the provisions of Article 14.2 in these instances.

9. **PROPRIETARY INFORMATION**

9.1 Franchise Owner agrees to use and permit the use of Franchisor's Confidential Information (as defined below) solely in connection with the operation of the Franchise Store. Franchise Owner further agrees that Franchise Owner will never, during the term or any renewal term of this Agreement, or any time after this or any renewal franchise agreement expires or terminates, or your rights under this Agreement or any renewal agreement are assigned or terminated, divulge, or use any of Franchisor's Confidential Information for the benefit of Franchise Owner, its Principal Owners, any third party, nor will Franchise Owner directly or indirectly aid any such third party to imitate, duplicate or "reverse engineer" any of Franchisor's Confidential Information. "Confidential Information" means all information, knowledge, trade secrets, or know-how utilized or embraced by the Franchise System, or which otherwise concerns the Franchise System, its operations, programs, services, products, customers, practices, materials, books, records, manuals, computer files, databases, or software. Confidential Information includes, without limitation: all elements of the Franchise System and all products, services, equipment, technologies, policies, standards, requirements, criteria, and procedures that now or in the future are part of the Franchise System; the Manual (including Supplements to the Manual); all Customer Data, all specifications, sources of supply, all procedures, systems, techniques, and activities employed by Franchisor or Franchise Owner in the offer and sale of products and/or services at or from the Franchise Store; all pricing paradigms established by Franchisor or Franchise Owner; all of Franchisor's or Franchise Owner's sources (or prospective sources) of supply and all information pertaining to same (including wholesale pricing structures, the contents of sourcing agreements and the identity of vendors); Franchisor's specifications, and Franchise Owner's final plans, for construction, buildout, design, renovation décor, equipment, signage, furniture, fixtures, and trade dress elements of the Franchise Store, the identity of, and all information relating to, the computer hardware and software utilized by the Franchise System; all information pertaining to advertising, marketing, promotion, and merchandising campaigns, activities, materials, specifications and procedures; all customer lists and records generated and/or otherwise maintained by the Franchise Store; internet and website protocols, procedures, and content; training and other instructional programs and materials; the subjects and content of all conversations, communications, and correspondence (whether oral or in writing) between Franchisor and Franchise Owner and any Principal Owners (including the financial and other reports required to be submitted under this Agreement) which is disclosed to or acquired by Franchise Owner directly or indirectly from Franchisor in the course of activities related to the development of the business relationship between Franchisor and Franchise Owner, or which is obtained by Franchise Owner through the development or operation, of the Store; additions to, deletions from and modifications and variations of the components of the Franchise System and the other systems and methods of operations which Franchisor employs now or in the future; and all other information, knowledge, and know-how which either Franchisor or its affiliates now or in the future, designate as confidential. Confidential Information will not, however, include information that Franchise Owner can demonstrate came to Franchise Owner's attention before Franchisor disclosed it to Franchise Owner (unless illegally or improperly procured by Franchise Owner before disclosure) or which, at or after the time of disclosure, such information has become part of the public domain through publication or communication by others, but not through any

Franchise Owner or Principal Owner act. Except as authorized in this Agreement, Franchise Owner agrees never to copy, duplicate, record, transmit, or otherwise reproduce any of the Confidential Information, in whole or in part; otherwise share it with any third party; store it in a computer or other electronic format; or otherwise make it available to any third party by any other means whatsoever. Upon the expiration or termination of this Agreement, Franchise Owner agrees to return to Franchisor such Confidential Information as requested (including customer lists and records; all training materials and other instructional content; financial and non-financial books and records; the Manual; and computer databases, software and manuals) which is then in Franchise Owner's possession or, upon Franchisor's request, destroy all or certain such Confidential Information and certify such destruction to Franchisor. It is specifically understood that all customer lists or information adduced by the Franchise Store is the sole and exclusive property of Franchisor, not Franchise Owner, and Franchise Owner shall never contend otherwise.

- 9.2 Franchise Owner may disclose to any of its employees, agents, or representatives the Confidential Information only to the extent necessary for such people to carry forth their intended employment role. Franchise Owner shall take all necessary precautions to ensure that these individuals maintain the Confidential Information in confidence and comply with the confidentiality provisions of this Agreement. Franchise Owner shall obtain from all persons to whom Confidential Information is disclosed an executed confidentiality and non-disclosure agreement and/or covenant not to compete in the form as provided in the Manual.
- 9.3 Franchise Owner acknowledges the Manual contains proprietary information which remains the sole property of the Franchisor. As such, it is acknowledged by Franchise Owner that such Manual is being loaned to Franchise Owner during the term of this Agreement. Franchise Owner agrees not to duplicate or reproduce any part of the Manual or otherwise disclose the contents thereof to anyone without the express, written approval of Franchisor. Franchise Owner shall maintain an up-to-date version of the Manual on the premises in a secure area. The contents of the master copy of the Manual shall be maintained by the Franchisor at its principal business office. Such master copy shall be controlling if there is any dispute with respect to the contents of the Manual.
- 9.4 Franchise Owner agrees to lease from Franchisor any proprietary software programs or successor programs that are developed by Franchisor to be used in the operation of Franchise Owner's business pursuant to the terms of the Software License Agreement between the parties of even date and incorporated herein by reference.
- 9.5 Should Franchise Owner violate or threaten to violate the terms of this Agreement concerning Trademark usage or disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, Franchise Owner consents to the issuance of an injunction prohibiting such further violations and threatened violations, and also agrees to pay damages awarded to Franchisor together with all court costs and actual attorneys' fees incurred by Franchisor in the prosecution of any litigation or otherwise enforcing its rights hereunder.
- 9.6 Franchise Owner agrees to vigorously and vigilantly prosecute to the fullest extent permitted by law breaches of any confidentiality and non-disclosure agreement and/or covenant not to compete executed by any of the individuals to whom Franchise Owner has disclosed

Confidential Information. Franchise Owner acknowledges Franchisor's right, to be exercised as Franchisor alone determines, to enforce for itself the terms of such executed confidentiality and non-disclosure agreement and/or covenant not to compete. If the substantive provisions of the confidentiality and non-disclosure agreement and/or covenant not to compete have been breached or are threatened to be breached by an individual employed, engaged, or otherwise serving the Franchise Store who has not executed a confidentiality and non-disclosure agreement and/or covenant not to compete, Franchise Owner shall nevertheless vigorously and vigilantly prosecute such conduct to the fullest extent permitted by law. If Franchisor prosecutes or enforces such confidentiality and non-disclosure agreement and/or covenant not to compete, Franchise Owner shall indemnify and hold Franchisor harmless from any and all losses and expenses as provided in Section 18 of this Agreement.

- 9.7 Franchise Owner hereby permanently and irrevocably assigns to Franchisor any and all rights and interests (including intellectual property rights and interests) to any and all of the following which is developed by Franchise Owner, or on behalf of Franchise Owner, if developed in whole or in part in connection with the Franchise Store: all products or services; all variations, modifications and/or improvements on products or services; your means, manner and style of offering and selling products and services; management techniques or protocols Franchise Owner may develop (or have developed on its behalf); all sales, marketing, advertising and promotional programs, campaigns, or materials developed by Franchise Owner or on its behalf; and all other intellectual property developed by Franchise Owner or on behalf of or in connection with the Franchise Store. Franchisor may authorize Franchisor or its affiliates or other franchise stores to use and exploit any such rights which are assigned to Franchisor hereunder. The sole consideration for Franchise Owner's assignment to Franchisor of all of the foregoing rights shall be the grant of the franchise conferred upon Franchise Owner by this Agreement.
- 9.8 Franchise Owner will not be held criminally or civilly liable under any federal or state trade secrets law for the disclosure of a trade secret that: (i) is made in confidence to a federal, state, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney, solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (ii) is made in complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal.

10. ADVERTISING

- 10.1 Franchise Owner is free to develop and use other advertising, in addition to that developed by Franchisor, as long as it has the prior approval of the Franchisor. Franchise Owner agrees to use advertising which accurately portrays Franchisor's Trademarks, does not jeopardize the image of the Franchise System, and pertains only to the Franchise Owner's location.
- 10.2 Franchisor has the right to organize and require all franchise owners in a given area to join a cooperative advertising association ("Advertising Cooperative") in order to effectively utilize funds received from franchise owners for Local Advertising in concentrated market areas of dominant influence ("ADI") for media purposes. If an Advertising Cooperative exists in Franchise Owner's market area or ADI for media purposes, Franchise Owner may voluntarily join or Franchisor may require Franchise Owner to join the Advertising Cooperative in that area. Such association shall have the power to adopt bylaws and other rules as necessary to manage its affairs as long as such bylaws and rules are not in conflict with Franchisor's policies as set forth in this

Agreement, Manual or elsewhere; nor in violation of any local, state, or federal law or regulation. Each Advertising Cooperative will establish the level of contributions required from each franchise owner within the Advertising Cooperative. Each Advertising Cooperative may determine its own voting procedures; however, each company-owned Auto-Lab Store in the ADI will be entitled to one (1) vote in any local Advertising Cooperative. Franchise Owner agrees to be bound by such bylaws and rules of the pertinent association. If Franchise Owner participates in an Advertising Cooperative, Franchise Owner's contributions made to the Advertising Cooperative are included in Franchise Owner's Local Advertising obligations. If requested by the Advertising Cooperative, Franchisor may collect the Advertising Cooperative contributions in the same manner as Franchisor collects Royalties. If Franchisor assists in the administration of the Advertising Cooperative, Franchisor will charge and collect a management fee equal to fifteen percent (15%) of the contributions owed to the Advertising Cooperative.

- 10.3 As used in this Agreement, the term "Website" means an interactive electronic document, contained in a network of computers linked by communications software that refers to the Franchisor and Stores, or the Trademarks. The term Website includes, but is not limited to internet and worldwide web home pages. In connection with any Website, Franchise Owner may not maintain a Website or otherwise maintain a presence or advertise on the internet or any other public computer network (each a Website) in connection with the Franchise Store without Franchisor's advance written approval, which may be withheld for any reason or for no reason. Franchise Owner's Website may be accessible only through Franchisor's Website, or as Franchisor specifically directs. Franchisor will own the domain name. If Franchise Owner develops a Website with Franchisor's approval, Franchise Owner must follow all guidelines and requirements set forth in the Manuals and use any templates provided in the Manual (including required hyperlinks), so that Franchise Owner's Website conforms to Franchisor's requirements, including without limitation, those related to format, "look and feel," substantive content, privacy and technical performance, all at Franchise Owner's sole cost and expense. Franchise Owner may not allow customers to see its Website or web pages or any modifications unless Franchise Owner has received Franchisor's advance written approval. Franchisor will be and at all times remain the sole owner of the copyrights for all material which appears on Franchise Owner's Website or web pages. All content and information which appears on Franchise Owner's Website or web pages or which Franchise Owner gathers from visitors to its Website or web pages will constitute "Confidential Information" as defined in this Agreement. Franchisor alone will be, and at all times will remain, the sole owner of the copyrights to all material which appears on any Website we establish and maintain, including any and all material Franchise Owner may furnish to Franchisor as provided above or in the Manuals. In addition, Franchisor may also establish an intranet through which downloads of operations and marketing materials, exchanges of franchisee e-mail, Franchise System discussion forums and system-wide communications (among other activities) can be affected.
- 10.4 Franchise Owner shall conduct Grand Opening Advertising that is pursuant to a Grand Opening Advertising Plan approved by Franchisor or Franchisor's Designate no later than sixty (60) days prior to the opening of the Franchise Store. Franchisor's or Franchisor's Designate approval of the Grand Opening Advertising Plan is a condition precedent to the opening of the Franchise Store.

10.5 Franchisor reserves the right to develop additional advertising or marketing programs that are implemented through the Manual, such as without limitation, gift card or loyalty program, or other web based or mobile communication device application. Franchise Owner shall participate in such program and shall pay either directly to Franchisor or to our Approved Vendor, the charges associated with such program as implemented through the Manual.

11. TRANSFER BY FRANCHISE OWNER

- 11.1 As to Franchise Owner, this Agreement is personal, having been entered into by Franchisor in reliance upon and in consideration of the qualifications and representations of Franchise Owner. If the Franchise Owner is a corporation, partnership, or limited liability company, Franchisor entered into this Agreement in reliance upon and in consideration of, without limitation, the qualifications, and representations of Franchise Owner as a corporation, partnership, or limited liability company; the identity, qualifications, and representations of the on-premises supervisor; and the identity, qualifications, and representations of the Principal Owners. Therefore, neither this Agreement, nor any part of the rights and privileges hereunder, may be assigned, transferred, or divided in any manner by Franchise Owner, or anyone else, without the prior written approval of Franchisor; nor may this Agreement nor any of the rights and privileges hereunder be sold such that the sale results in a change in the on-premises supervisor or the addition or deletion of a Principal Owner of Franchise Owner. Except as otherwise provided herein, the transfer of this Franchise Agreement may not be made to other than a bona fide purchaser for value. Furthermore, Franchisor's approval of a proposed transfer may be conditioned upon any or all of the following, in Franchisor's sole discretion:
 - 1. The satisfaction of Franchisor with the character, business experience, and credit rating of the proposed assignee (and its partners, officers, controlling stockholders, or members if it is a partnership, corporation, or limited liability company).
 - 2. Payment by Franchise Owner of all outstanding debts owed by Franchise Owner to Franchisor.
 - 3. The satisfactory completion of Franchisor's initial training program by the proposed new franchise owner and its managers.
 - 4. Execution by Franchise Owner of a release of any and all claims against Franchisor, Franchisor's officers, directors, agents, and employees arising out of or related to this Agreement. The release shall be on a form prepared by Franchisor, and shall not require any release of liability specifically provided for by any state statute regulating franchising, but the parties may agree to voluntarily do so in settlement of any or all claims.
 - 5. Payment, in cash, by Franchise Owner to Franchisor of a nonrefundable transfer fee of fifty percent (50%) of the then current Initial Franchise Fee charged to new franchisees.

- 6. Execution by the transferee of Franchisor's then current Franchise Agreement, which shall include Royalty and Advertising Fees at the same rates as are applicable to new franchisees of Franchisor at the time of the assignment or transfer.
- 7. Execution by the transferee, its shareholders, officers, directors, members, managers, employees, and other persons associated with assignee or transferee as required by Franchisor, of any related agreements such as, without limitation, Real Estate Option to Purchase, Conditional Lease Assignment, Telephone Number Assignment, Confidentiality and Nondisclosure Agreement and Covenant Not to Compete, Principal Owner's Guaranty, and Software License Agreement, in the form required to be executed by new franchises at the time of assignment or transfer.
- 8. Transferee shall renovate, remodel, and modernize the Franchise Store to conform the Franchise Store to the current image of the Franchise System within eighteen (18) months from the date of the transfer. Transferee's failure to renovate, remodel, and modernize the Franchise Store shall be a material breach of the Agreement.

Any sale of any interest in the Franchise Owner that results in the addition or deletion of a Principal Owner shall be considered an impermissible transfer under this Agreement, unless completed in accordance with this Section 11. Franchise Owner consents to Franchisor releasing to any proposed transferee any information concerning the Franchise Store that Franchise Owner has reported to Franchisor.

- 11.2 Franchisor will permit the assignment of this Agreement to a corporation wholly owned by Franchise Owner or a transfer to family members limited to spouse and children without the payment of any transfer fees. Franchisor reserves the right to require the family member taking an assignment of the business to attend training. If training is required as determined by Franchisor in its sole discretion, Franchise Owner shall pay a training fee in the amount of fifty percent (50%) of the then current Initial Franchise Fee if such family member is not sufficiently familiar with the franchised business.
- 11.3 In the event the transferee is in the form of a business entity, the transferee further agrees as follows:
 - (1) Each owner and spouse agrees to be personally liable for all debts and other obligations of the business entity to Franchisor and otherwise guarantees payment of such corporate debts and obligations as if they were his or her own; and
 - (2) All stock certificates and other certificates of ownership of the business entity shall make reference to the transfer restrictions set forth in this Agreement in such form as to make same binding restrictions in accordance with the laws of the state in which such business entity is formed.

- 11.4 In the event of the death or total and permanent disability of the proprietor or any partner, member, or shareholder owning ten percent (10%) or more of the Franchise Store, such person or the legal representative of such proprietor, partner, member, or shareholder shall within thirty (30) days of such death or disability set forth in writing and deliver to Franchisor a description of the proposed gift, bequest, sale, or other disposition of such interest in accordance with the procedures set forth herein.
- 11.5 If the disabled proprietor, partner, member, or shareholder or the legal representative of the deceased proprietor partner, member, or shareholder is unable to transfer his or her interest in a manner acceptable to Franchisor within one hundred twenty (120) days of the death or disability, Franchisor may elect to give notice of intent to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Article 14.2 unless Franchisor receives adequate assurances the provisions of this Agreement can be satisfactorily complied with during the time needed to effectuate the proposed transfer.
- 11.6 For purposes of determining whether a proprietor, partner, member, or shareholder is permanently disabled, Franchisor and Franchise Owner shall each select one doctor to examine the individual at issue. If the doctors are not in agreement such determination shall be submitted to mandatory arbitration in accordance with the procedures set forth in Article 19. The decision of the arbitrator shall be binding upon the parties to this Agreement.
- 11.7 If Franchise Owner transfers its franchised business without Franchisor's written approval, Franchisor may deem such transfer a material breach of this Agreement according to Article 14.1.
- 11.8 It is acknowledged by Franchise Owner that Franchisor shall have a right of first refusal should Franchise Owner desire to sell the Franchise Store to an unrelated third party. Such right of first refusal must be exercised by Franchisor within thirty (30) days after receiving written notice from Franchise Owner of the terms of the proposed sale. Franchisor need only agree to purchase the business on the same terms and conditions as contained in the written notice, except Franchisor may substitute equivalent cash for any form of payment offered by such purchaser. This right of first refusal shall apply to each offer of purchase received by Franchise Owner.
- 11.9 This Agreement, and the Franchise Owner's rights hereunder, may not, under any circumstances, be assigned, transferred, or pledged as collateral to any other person or entity (including Franchise Owner) and no person or entity shall succeed to any rights of Franchise Owner under this Agreement by virtue of any voluntary or involuntary proceeding in bankruptcy, receivership, attachment, execution, assignment for the benefit of creditors, or other legal process.

12. TRANSFER BY FRANCHISOR

Franchisor may assign or transfer all or any part of this Agreement in connection with the sale or other disposition of the Trademarks and Franchise System licensed hereby without the consent of Franchise Owner.

Franchise Owner acknowledges and agrees that it must still honor the terms of this Agreement in the event of such disposition by Franchisor.

13. PERSONAL GUARANTEES AND SECURITY INTEREST

- 13.1 Each of Franchise Owner's proprietors, shareholders, members, owners, and partners ("Principal Owner") and each of their respective spouses, hereby agree to guarantee and be personally liable for all debts and obligations owed to Franchisor. Each Principal Owner hereby further agrees to execute the standard form Guaranty Agreement prepared by Franchisor. Franchise Owner acknowledges the failure to execute the Guaranty Agreement shall not render the personal guarantee contained in this Agreement void or unenforceable.
- 13.2 Franchise Owner grants a continuing security interest in the collateral listed in this section to Franchisor to secure the payment or performance under this Agreement.
 - (i) Collateral shall consist of the following property of Franchise Owner, whether now or hereafter owned, existing, acquired, or arising and wherever now or hereafter located: (a) all Accounts, (b) all Chattel Paper, Instruments, Documents, and General Intangibles, patents, patent applications, trademarks, trademark applications, trade names, trade secrets, goodwill, copyrights, copyright applications, registrations, licenses, software, franchises, customer lists, tax refund claims, claims against carriers and shippers, guarantee claims, contract rights, payment intangibles, security interests, security deposits and rights indemnification, (c) all Inventory, (d) all Goods, including, without limitation, Equipment, vehicles and Fixtures, (e) all Investment Property, (f) all Deposit Accounts, bank accounts, deposits and cash, (g) all Letter-of-Credit Rights, (h) any other property of Franchise Owner now or hereafter in the possession, custody or control of Franchisor or any agent or any parent, affiliate or subsidiary of Franchisor, for any purpose (whether for safekeeping, deposit, collection, custody, pledge, transmission or otherwise), and (i) all additions and accessions to, substitutions for, and replacements, products and Proceeds of the foregoing property, including, without limitation, proceeds of all insurance policies insuring the foregoing property or key personnel of the Franchise Owner, and all of Franchise Owner's books and records relating to any of the foregoing and to Franchise Owner's business. The foregoing (a)-(i) are identified collectively as the "Collateral". The terms "Account", "Chattel Paper", "Deposit Accounts", "Documents", "Equipment", "Fixtures", "General Intangibles", "Goods", "Instruments", "Inventory", "Investment Property", "Letter-of-Credit Rights", "Purchase Money Security Interest", and "Proceeds" have the respective meanings assigned to such terms in the Michigan Uniform Commercial Code, as the same may be in effect from time to time.
 - (ii) Franchise Owner authorizes Franchisor to file a financing statement describing the Collateral and any other statutory liens held by Franchisor.

14. REASONS FOR TERMINATION OF THIS FRANCHISE

Franchisor may terminate this Agreement according to the provisions set forth in this Article as follows:

- 14.1 Immediately, without complying with the notice procedures set forth in this Article if:
 - (i) Franchise Owner shall be adjudicated as bankrupt or becomes insolvent;
 - (ii) a receiver, permanent or temporary, is appointed by court of competent jurisdiction with respect to Franchise Owner's property subject to this Agreement;
 - (iii) Franchise Owner or any of its Principal Owners make a general assignment for the benefit of their respective creditors;
 - (iv) the Franchise Owner shall dissolve or liquidate;
 - (v) Franchise Owner is subject to any other similar action clearly demonstrating financial inability to fulfill the terms of this Agreement;
 - (vi) Franchise Owner or one of its Principal Owners is convicted of, or pleads guilty or no contest to, or we have reasonable proof that Franchise Owner or a Principal Owner has committed: (a) a crime, offense or misconduct for which the minimum penalty includes imprisonment for more than one (1) year; or (b) any crime, offense, or misconduct for which the minimum penalty includes imprisonment for (1) one year or less that involves fraud or dishonesty or is in any other way damaging to the operation of the Franchise Store, the Franchise System, the Trademarks, or the goodwill associated with the Trademarks:
 - (vii) Franchise Owner or one of its Principal Owners fails to maintain an immigration status that allows any one of them to live and work in the United States;
 - (viii) Franchise Owner fails to open for business within one hundred eighty (180) days after execution of this Agreement or within three hundred sixty-five (365) days if new construction is required, loses the right to operate from the premises due to breaching the terms of the head lease or sublease or otherwise abandons or closes the Franchise Store;
 - (ix) Franchise Owner has received two (2) notices for intent to terminate from Franchisor in the prior twelve (12) month period as of the date of a third notice of intent to terminate even though Franchise Owner may have cured the previous cited deficiencies;

- (x) Franchise Owner intentionally misuses Confidential Information or fails to conform to authorized use of Trademarks;
- (xi) Franchise Owner transfers this Agreement or any ownership interest in the franchised business without complying with the transfer provisions of this Agreement; or
- (xii) Franchise Owner makes a material misrepresentation to Franchisor in writing or verbally during the initial qualification process or omits a material fact during the initial qualification process; or
- (xiii) Franchise Owner fails two (2) or more inspections in any twelve (12) month period; or
- (xiv) Franchisor makes a reasonable determination using Franchisor's reasonable business judgment that Franchise Owner's continued operation of the Franchise Store will result in an imminent danger to the public health or safety; or
- (xv) Franchise Owner closes or loses possession of the Franchise Store;
- (xvi) Franchise Owner, an affiliate, or Principal Owner defaults under any other agreement between Franchise Owner, the affiliate, or Principal Owner and Franchisor, or between Franchise Owner, the affiliate, or Principal Owner and Franchise Owner's landlord or any vendor of the Store for which there is no opportunity to cure, or which Franchise Owner, the affiliate, or Principal Owner has failed to cure;
- (xvii) Franchise Owner materially breaches any covenant, warranty, or representation made in this Agreement;
- (xviii) Franchise Owner, Principal Owner, any affiliate, or any of Franchise Owner's officers, directors, employees, or agents: (a) remain in default beyond the applicable cure period under any other agreement with Franchisor or our affiliates (provided that, if the default is not by Franchise Owner, Franchisor will provide to you written notice of the default and a 30-day period to cure the default; (b) remain in material default beyond the applicable cure period under any real estate lease, equipment lease, financing instrument, or vendor contract relating to the Franchise Store; (c) fail to pay when due any taxes or assessments relating to the Franchise Store or its employees, unless Franchise Owner is actively prosecuting or defending the claim or suit in a court of competent jurisdiction or by appropriate government administrative procedure or by arbitration or mediation conducted by a recognized alternative dispute resolution organization.

- 14.2 Franchisor may terminate this Agreement in accordance with the notice procedure hereinafter set forth in the event of any material breach of any terms of this Agreement including, but not limited to, the following:
 - (i) Failure to make payments or supply reports required by this Agreement, or any other agreement related to the Franchise Store when such payments or reports are due;
 - (ii) Misrepresent the accounting of Gross Sales Franchise Owner is required to make to Franchisor by this Agreement or Manual;
 - (iii) Failure to abide by pertinent advertising requirements and procedures for the Franchise Store;
 - (iv) Failure to comply with any appropriate national, state, or local governmental rules or regulations pertaining to the operation of the Franchise Store;
 - (v) Failure to open for business within thirty (30) days after completion of the initial training program unless prevented from doing so by circumstances beyond Franchise Owner's control;
 - (vi) Failure of Franchise Owner's designated legal representative to effectuate transfer to new ownership within one hundred twenty (120) days of the death or permanent disability of Franchise Owner or the owner of at least ten percent (10%) interest in Franchise Owner, except as otherwise provided herein;
 - (vii) Franchise Owner, an affiliate, or Principal Owner defaults under any other agreement between Franchise Owner, the affiliate, or Principal Owner and Franchisor, or between Franchise Owner, the affiliate, or Principal Owner and Franchise Owner's landlord or any vendor of the Store in which Franchise Owner, the affiliate, or Principal Owner has an opportunity to cure, in which case the cure period under this Agreement shall coincide with the cure period of the other agreement;
 - (viii) Failure to meet and/or maintain the requirements of the Manual; or
 - (ix) Failure to maintain the Franchise System, including without limitation, failing a Franchisor inspection. Franchisor has the right to conduct periodic inspections of the Franchise Store to evaluate compliance with the Franchise System and this Agreement. Following each inspection, Franchisor will provide you an inspection report listing your score on the inspection and those conditions at the Franchise Store must be rectified. If Franchise Owner fails to achieve a passing score on an inspection, the inspection report shall constitute notice of default. If Franchise Owner fails

to achieve a passing score on the next inspection (which shall be conducted at least ten (10) days after Franchise Owner's receipt of the inspection report for the prior inspection), Franchisor may terminate this Agreement without opportunity to cure, by providing Franchise Owner written notice of termination along with the inspection report;

- (x) Any other breach of the terms of this Agreement which remains uncorrected after thirty (30) days written notice.
- 14.3 Should this Agreement terminate due to a breach by Franchise Owner, Franchise Owner shall pay to Franchisor for a period of four (4) years (or the reminder of the term of the Agreement if that period is less than four (4) years) a continuing Royalty (as partial compensation for the future fees that would have been paid by Franchise Owner under this Agreement) in an amount equal to the total Royalty due from Franchise Owner for the fifty-two (52) weeks preceding the termination divided by fifty-two (52). If the Franchise Store was open fewer than fifty-two (52) weeks, then the average of all weeks for which the Franchise Store was open shall be used. Payment of the Royalty payment to Franchisor shall be in addition to other amounts to which Franchisor is entitled to recover, including without limitation, past-due fees and expenses, actual attorneys' fees, and other costs and expenses of collection. Payment of the Royalty shall not affect and is in addition and not an alternative to Franchisor's right to obtain injunctive relief and other remedies to enforce this Agreement.
- 14.4 During the pendency of any breach by Franchise Owner, Franchisor Owner agrees that Franchisor may prohibit Franchisor Owner from accessing the Franchise System and may further preclude Franchise Owner's access to any proprietary software and computer systems. In such event, Franchise Owner agrees that Franchisor shall not be liable to Franchise Owner for any loss of business or other claims or damages.

15. NOTICE REQUIRED FOR EFFECTING TERMINATION FOR BREACH

The following procedure shall be used for termination of this Agreement for alleged breaches by Franchisor or Franchise Owner if notice is required.

15.1 Franchisor may terminate this Agreement after written notice of its intent to terminate has been sent to Franchise Owner. Such notice must specify the reason or reasons for such termination and the date termination will be effective. Such date of termination shall be at least thirty (30) days from the date such notice is postmarked or the date for personal service as the case may be excepting those breaches relating to late payments by Franchise Owner in which case the effective date of termination need not be more than ten (10) days from the date of notice.

Such notice shall contain the precise date termination will automatically take effect should Franchise Owner fail to cure the defaults set forth in the notice. Franchisor is not obligated to provide any further notices in order to enforce its rights granted by this Agreement.

15.2 Franchise Owner may terminate this Agreement after written notice to Franchisor only if Franchise Owner is in full compliance with all material terms of this Agreement. Such notice must specify the alleged material breaches committed by Franchisor and give Franchisor at

least thirty (30) days to cure such alleged material breaches before termination can take effect. Such notice must contain the date of termination in the event Franchisor fails to cure the alleged material breaches within the cure period.

15.3 Notices

15.3.1 Any notices to be given hereunder shall be in writing and shall be either delivered personally, by first class, certified or registered mail, with postage fully paid or by reputable overnight delivery service. Any notice to be delivered to Franchisor shall be addressed to:

Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC 40400 Ann Arbor Road, Suite 101 Plymouth, MI 48170

With copy to (which shall not constitute notice):

Michael J. Cole Fahey Schultz Burzych Rhodes PLC 4151 Okemos Road Okemos, MI 48864

- 15.3.2 Any notice to Franchise Owner shall be delivered to the address of the Franchise Store, or to such other address as the Franchise Owner notifies Franchisor, in writing.
- 15.3.3 The address specified herein for service of notice may be changed at any time by the party making the change by giving written notice to the other party.
- 15.3.4 Any notice delivered by mail in the manner herein specified shall be deemed delivered and received, regardless of whether the notice is signed for by the recipient, two (2) business days (i.e. excluding weekends and legal holidays) after mailing.

16. EFFECT OF TERMINATION

Franchise Owner upon termination or nonrenewal of this Agreement shall have the following obligations:

- 16.1 Franchise Owner shall promptly pay any and all sums owed to Franchisor.
- 16.2 Franchise Owner shall cease doing business under all Trademarks licensed hereby. Franchise Owner further agrees not to use any similar name and/or Trademark as those licensed hereby nor use any means to indicate to the public that Franchise Owner was ever a licensed user of any Trademarks associated with the Auto-Lab Franchise System.
- 16.3 Franchise Owner shall promptly return to Franchisor or dispose of as directed by Franchisor all stationery, printed matter, and advertising materials containing a reference to any Trademarks licensed as part of the Franchise System.

16.4 Franchise Owner shall immediately, as of the date of termination, cease to use the telephone number assigned to Franchise Owner. Franchise Owner, at Franchisor's option, shall assign to Franchisor all rights to the telephone numbers of the Franchise Store consistent with the Telephone Number Assignment. If Franchise Owner fails to do so, Franchisor can take whatever action is necessary, on Franchise Owner's behalf consistent with this Agreement and Telephone Number Assignment, to affect these events.

Franchise Owner by this Agreement authorizes Franchisor under such circumstances to order the telephone company serving Franchise Owner to terminate or transfer the use of such telephone number or to put such number on referral as directed by Franchisor and not have calls forwarded to a new number. This Agreement is for the benefit of such telephone company serving Franchise Owner. Franchise Owner agrees and does hereby hold any such telephone company harmless from any and all claims against it arising out of any orders given by Franchisor to terminate, transfer, or put on referral such telephone service.

- 16.5 Franchise Owner shall promptly return to Franchisor in good condition the Manual, proprietary software programs, and other Confidential Information loaned to Franchise Owner by Franchisor in connection with the operation of the Franchise Store as well as customer lists developed by either Franchise Owner or Franchisor; it being understood by Franchise Owner such information is owned by the Franchisor at all times.
- 16.6 Franchise Owner shall promptly assign any lease Franchise Owner may have with Franchisor to Franchisor, or in the alternative, assign any primary lease to Franchisor which Franchise Owner may have with a lessor other than Franchisor if Franchisor indicates a willingness to assume the obligations of the primary lease. If Franchisor permits Franchise Owner to continue to use such premises, then Franchise Owner must remove all leasehold improvements which form a part of Franchisor's image.
- 16.7 Franchise Owner shall accept an offer from Franchisor to purchase the assets associated with the business made within fifteen (15) days after the effective date of termination if Franchisor makes an offer in its sole discretion on the terms described herein. Franchisor need not offer more than the lesser sum of the fair market value or the depreciated cost value carried on Franchise Owner's financial statements with respect to lease hold improvements, inventory, supplies, equipment, and fixtures without any compensation for goodwill that might be attributable to the business. If Franchise Owner is still making payments for the purchase of such assets, Franchise Owner shall assign such contracts to Franchisor. Franchisor shall be entitled to deduct the remaining balance due from any cash consideration to be paid to Franchise Owner. Any disputes regarding valuation of assets shall be submitted to arbitration in accordance with the terms of this Agreement but shall not prevent Franchisor from having immediate access to the premises and use of the equipment in order to sustain operations at the premises without interruption.
- 16.8 Franchise Owner shall undertake such other reasonable and necessary steps to complete the termination process.

17. NONCOMPETITION

Franchise Owner and each Principal Owner shall receive valuable, unique training, trade secrets, and the Confidential Information which are beyond their present skills, experience, and knowledge of each Principal Owner and Franchise Owner and its employees. Franchise Owner and each Principal Owner acknowledge that such training, trade secrets, and the Confidential Information are essential to the development of the Franchise Store and provide a competitive advantage to Franchise Owner and that access to such training, trade secrets, and the Confidential Information is a primary reason for Franchise Owner's execution of this Agreement. In consideration thereof, Franchise Owner and each Principal Owner, including but not limited to Franchise Owner's officers, directors, members, executives, managers, and Principal Owner's immediate family members and members of Principal Owner's household, shall not:

- 17.1 during the term of the Franchise Agreement, directly or indirectly, including, without limitation, individually or in partnership or jointly or in conjunction with any person, as principal, agent, shareholder, member, partner, or other equity owner, or in any other manner whatsoever, carry on, be engaged in, or be concerned with or interested in, or advise, lend money to, guarantee the debts or obligations of, or permit their name(s) or any part thereof to be used or employed by any person or entity engaged in, or concerned with or interested in any business similar to or competitive with the Stores or a business competitive with Franchisor, including without limitation any business similar to or competitive with Auto-Lab Complete Care Centers or Auto-Lab Express stores (a "Competing Business"); and
- 17.2 for a period of twenty-four (24) months from the date of expiration, termination, or any other end of the Franchise Agreement, regardless of the reason or reasons, directly or indirectly, including, without limitation, individually or in partnership or jointly or in conjunction with any person, engage as an owner, member, shareholder, partner, equity owner, director, officer, employee, consultant, salesperson, representative, or agent of, in any other capacity, in any Competing Business for a period of twenty-four (24) months from termination, expiration or any other end of this Agreement, or from the date of entry of a formal judgment enforcing this covenant by a court of competent jurisdiction, whichever is the later date.

The post-term non-competition covenant in this Section 17.2 shall apply for the geographic area located within thirty (30) miles of the territorial boundaries of any Designated Area granted to Franchise Owner and within thirty (30) miles of the territorial boundaries of any other Designated Area of any other Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Centers Store or Auto-Lab Express (as of the date of termination or expiration of this Agreement) which is being operated by another franchise owner or by the Franchisor or any of its affiliates upon the termination or expiration of this Agreement (termination as used in this Article shall mean either expiration of this Agreement or severance of the franchise relationship pursuant to procedures set forth herein).

17.3 None of the foregoing shall prevent Franchise Owner from investing in a business as an owner, partner, or stockholder during the term of this Agreement which is not a Competing Business. Franchise Owner must notify Franchisor of such additional business interest.

- 17.4 The non-competition covenants contained in this Article 17 and any non-disclosure agreement may be reduced in scope by an arbitrator or court of competent jurisdiction in order to render them enforceable under the prevailing law in lieu of declaring such non-competition covenants unenforceable as written.
- 17.5 Franchise Owner also acknowledges and agrees that if Franchise Owner should violate the provisions of this Article 17 with respect to the operation of a Competing Business following assignment, expiration, termination, or any other end of this Agreement, then the period for which the prohibition stated therein shall be applicable shall be extended until two (2) years following the date Franchise Owner ceases all activities that are in violation of such provision.
- 17.6 Franchise Owner agrees that the restrictions contained in this Article 17 are reasonable and necessary in order to protect the business interests of Franchisor, which business interests the Franchise Owner acknowledges to be valuable and legitimate. In the event Franchise Owner breaches or threatens to breach the restrictions of this Section 17, Franchise Owner agrees that Franchisor shall be entitled to immediate injunctive relief. The issuance of such an injunction will not prevent Franchisor from obtaining such other relief that Franchisor is entitled to under this Agreement, such as the award of other monetary damages.

18. <u>INDEMNIFICATION</u>

- 18.1 Franchise Owner shall, at all times, indemnify and hold harmless to the fullest extent permitted by law Franchisor, its affiliates, successors and assigns, and the officers, directors, shareholders, partners, agents, representatives, independent contractors, servants and employees of each of them ("Indemnitees"), from all "losses and expenses" (as defined below) incurred in connection with any action, suit, proceeding, claim, demand, investigation or inquiry (formal or informal), or any settlement thereof (whether or not a formal proceeding or action has been instituted or reduced to judgment) which actually or allegedly, directly or indirectly, arises out of or is based upon, is a result of or is related in any way to any of the following:
- 18.1.1. The infringement, alleged infringement, or any other violation or alleged violation by Franchise Owner of any patent, mark or copyright or other proprietary right owned or controlled by third parties (except as such may occur with respect to any right to use the Trademarks, any copyrights or other proprietary information granted herein pursuant to this Agreement);
- 18.1.2. The violation, breach or asserted violation or breach by Franchise Owner of any federal, state or local law, regulation, ruling, standard or directive or any industry standard;
- 18.1.3. Libel, slander, or any other form of defamation of Franchisor, the Franchise System or any developer or franchise operating under the Franchise System, by Franchise Owner;
- 18.1.4. The violation or breach by Franchise Owner of any warranty, representation, agreement, or obligation in this Agreement or in any other agreement between Franchise Owner or any of its affiliates and Franchisor or any of its affiliates, or the officers, directors, shareholders, partners, agents, representatives, independent contractors, servants, and employees of any of them;

- 18.1.5 Any personal injury, death, or property damage suffered by any customer, visitor, operator, employee or guest of the Franchise Store; crimes committed on or near any of the premises, facilities of the Franchise Store or vehicles used by the Franchise Store;
- 18.1.6. Acts, errors, or omissions of Franchise Owner, any of Franchise Owner's affiliates and the officers, directors, shareholders, partners, agents, representatives, independent contractors and employees of each of them in connection with the establishment and operation of the Franchise Store, including, but not limited to, any acts, errors, or omissions of any of the foregoing in the operation or maintenance of any motor vehicle, whether in connection with the Franchise Store or otherwise, including without limitation any property damage, injury, or death suffered or caused by any delivery person or vehicle serving the Franchise Store, all liabilities arising from or related to Franchise Owner's offer, sale, and/or delivery of products and/or services as contemplated by this Agreement; and any action by any employee of Franchise Owner, customer of Franchise Owner, or visitor or guest of the Franchise Store. The parties understand and agree that Franchisor cannot and does not exercise control over the manner of operation of any motor vehicles used by, or on behalf of, Franchise Owner or any employee, agent or independent contractor of Franchise Owner and that the safe operation of any motor vehicle is, therefore, Franchise Owner's responsibility;
- 18.1.7. Violation of any federal, state, or local labor and employment law for acts or omissions of Franchise Owner or Franchise Owner's employees and cybersecurity breaches or violations of any Privacy Laws; and
- 18.1.8. Failure to comply with or perform any repair or maintenance required in connection with any warranty offered to any customer, visitor, or guest of the Franchise Store.
- 18.2 Franchise Owner agrees to give Franchisor prompt notice of any such action, suit, proceeding, claim, demand, inquiry, or investigation that could be the basis for a claim for indemnification by any Indemnitee within three (3) days of Franchise Owner's actual or constructive knowledge of it. At the expense and risk of Franchise Owner, Franchisor may elect to assume (but under no circumstance is obligated to undertake) or associate counsel of its own choosing with respect to, the defense and/or settlement of any such action, suit, proceeding, claim, demand, inquiry or investigation. Such an undertaking by Franchisor shall, in no manner or form, diminish the obligation of Franchise Owner to indemnify the Indemnitees and to hold them harmless.
- 18.3 In order to protect persons or property, or its reputation or goodwill, or the reputation or goodwill of others, Franchisor may, at any time and without notice, as it, in its judgment deems appropriate, consent or agree to settlements or take such other remedial or corrective action as it deems expedient with respect to the action, suit, proceeding, claim, demand, inquiry or investigation if, in Franchisor's sole judgment, there are reasonable grounds to believe that:
 - A. Any of the acts or circumstances enumerated in Section 18.1.1 18.1.4 above have occurred; or

- B. Any act, error, or omission as described in Section 18.1.5 may result directly or indirectly in damage, injury, or harm to any person or any property.
- 18.4 All losses and expenses incurred under this Section 18 shall be chargeable to and paid by Franchise Owner pursuant to its obligations of indemnity under this Section 18, regardless of any actions, activity, or defense undertaken by Franchisor or the subsequent success or failure of such actions, activity, or defense.
- As used in this Article 18, the phrase "losses and expenses" shall include, without limitation, all losses, compensatory, exemplary or punitive damages, fines, charges, costs, expenses, lost profits, costs of investigation, actual attorneys' fees, expert fees and disbursements, court costs, settlement amounts, judgments, compensation for damages to the Franchisor's reputation and goodwill, costs of or resulting from delays, travel, food, lodging and other living expenses necessitated by the need or desire to appear before (or witness the proceedings of) courts or tribunals (including arbitration tribunals), or government or quasi-governmental entities (including those incurred by Indemnitee's attorneys and/or experts), financing, costs of advertising material and media time/space, and costs of changing, substituting or replacing the same, and any and all expenses of recall, refunds, compensation, public notices and other such amounts incurred in connection with the matters described. All such losses and expenses incurred under this indemnification provision will be chargeable to and paid by Franchise Owner pursuant hereto, regardless of any actions, activity or defense undertaken by Franchisor or the subsequent success or failure of the actions, activity or defense. Specifically excluded from the indemnity Franchise Owner provides hereby is any liability associated with Franchisor's or other Indemnitee's gross negligence, willful misconduct or criminal acts (except to the extent that joint liability is involved, in which event the indemnification provided herein shall extend to any finding of comparative or contributory negligence attributable to Franchise Owner).
- 18.6 The Indemnitees do not assume any liability whatsoever for acts, errors, or omissions of any third party with whom Franchise Owner, Franchise Owner's affiliates or any of the officers, directors, shareholders, partners, agents, representatives, independent contractors and employees of Franchise Owner or its affiliates may contract, regardless of the purpose. Franchise Owner shall hold harmless and indemnify the Indemnitees for all losses and expenses which may arise out of any acts, errors or omissions of Franchise Owner, Franchise Owner's affiliates, the officers, directors, shareholders, partners, agents, representatives, independent contractors and employees of Franchise Owner and its affiliates and any such other third parties without limitation and without regard to the cause or causes thereof or the negligence (whether such negligence be sole, joint or concurrent, or active or passive) or strict liability of Franchisor or any other party or parties arising in connection therewith.
- 18.7. Franchisor has the right, at any time it considers appropriate, to offer, order, consent, or agree to settlements or take any other remedial or corrective actions Franchisor considers expedient with respect to the action, suit, proceeding, claim, demand, inquiry, or investigation if, in Franchisor's sole judgment, there are reasonable grounds to do so. Under no circumstances shall the Indemnitees be required or obligated to seek recovery from third parties or otherwise mitigate their losses in order to maintain a claim against Franchise Owner. Franchise

Owner agrees that the failure to pursue such recovery or mitigate loss will in no way reduce the amounts recoverable from Franchise Owner by the Indemnitees.

- 18.8 Franchise Owner expressly agrees that the terms of this Section 18 shall survive the termination, expiration, or transfer of this Agreement or any interest herein.
- 18.9 Franchisor shall, at all times, indemnify and hold harmless to the fullest extent permitted by law, Franchise Owner, its successors and assigns, and the officers, directors, shareholders and employees of each of them ("Reciprocal Indemnitees") from all "Franchise Owner Losses and Expenses" incurred in connection with any third party action, suit, proceeding, claim, demand, investigation or inquiry (formal or informal), or any settlement thereof (whether or not a formal proceeding or action has been instituted), which arises out of or is based upon any of the following:
 - 18.9.1 Libel, slander, or any other form of defamation of a third party by Franchisor, or any person acting by, for or on behalf of Franchisor;
 - 18.9.2 The intentional or malicious infliction of injury as to any third party by Franchisor;
- 18.10 For purposes of this section, "Franchise Owner Losses and Expenses" shall include all compensatory damages, costs, legal fees, court costs and expenses incurred in connection with matters indemnified above.

19. ARBITRATION

Franchisor shall have the right to enforce by judicial process its right to receive monies due from Franchise Owner, to enforce the post-termination provision contained in Article 16, to terminate this Agreement by Franchisor for the causes enumerated in Articles 14-15, to prevent or remedy a material breach of this Agreement by Franchise Owner if such breach could materially impair the goodwill associated with Franchisor's Trademarks (including actions with respect to the servicing of wholesale accounts), to enforce the confidentiality provisions of this Agreement, and to enforce the non-competition provisions of Article 17 of this Agreement. Franchisor shall be entitled without bond to the entry of temporary restraining orders and temporary and permanent injunctions enforcing the aforementioned provisions. If a court determines a bond is necessary, Franchise Owner agrees that the bond shall be limited to not more than \$10,000. If Franchisor is successful in obtaining an injunction or any other relief against Franchise Owner, Franchise Owner shall pay Franchisor an amount equal to the aggregate of Franchisor's costs of commencing and prosecuting the action, including, without limitation, actual attorneys' fees, costs of investigation and proof of facts, court costs, other litigation expenses and travel and living expenses. Except for payments owed by one party to the other, and unless prohibited by applicable law, any legal action or proceeding (including the offer and sale of a franchise to Franchise Owner) brought or instituted with respect to any dispute arising from or related to this Agreement or with respect to any breach of the terms of this Agreement shall be brought or instituted within a period of one (1) year after the initial occurrence of any act or omission that is the basis of the legal action or proceeding, whenever discovered.

- 19.2 Except insofar as Franchisor elects to enforce this Agreement by judicial process and injunction as provided above, all disputes and claims relating to any provision hereof, to any specification, standard, operating procedure or other obligation of Franchisor, its agents or the breach thereof (including, without limitation, any claim that this Agreement, any provision thereof, any specification, standard, operating procedure or any other obligation of Franchise Owner or Franchisor is illegal, unenforceable or voidable under any law, ordinance or ruling) shall be settled by binding arbitration at the office of the American Arbitration Association located nearest to Franchisor's principal office. Arbitration will be held in accordance with the United States Arbitration Act (9 U.S.C. § 1 et seq.), if applicable, and the rules of the American Arbitration Association (relating to the arbitration of disputes arising under Franchise Agreements, if any; otherwise, the general rules of commercial arbitration).
- 19.2.1 Except with respect to matters for which Franchisor believes it necessary to seek equitable relief or to collect royalties or other amounts owing to Franchisor, Franchise Owner and Franchisor shall be required to enter into mediation of all disputes involving this Agreement or any aspect of the relationship between them for a minimum of four (4) hours prior to the initiation of any arbitration or other action or proceeding against the other party or any agent or affiliate of the other party. Upon written notice by either party to the other of the initiating party's desire to mediate, the party receiving the notice shall select an independent entity that regularly provides mediation services to franchisors and franchisees to serve as mediator in the proceeding. If the party receiving the notice of intent to mediate does not provide the name of such an organization within ten (10) business days from the date the notice of intention to mediate is received, then the other party, at its option, may (i) forego mediation of the issues(s) and commence legal action, or (ii) select the organization to provide mediation services. If one party selects an organization that is unwilling to serve as mediator, then the other party shall select an organization. Once the organization is designated and agrees to accept the appointment as mediator, or if the designated organization is unwilling to serve as mediator or does not meet the requirements of this subparagraph, then the initiating party may designate such an organization. Once the organization is designated, the organization shall be directed to schedule a mediation proceeding at a time mutually convenient to Franchisor and Franchise Owner. The mediation shall be held within thirty (30) days following receipt by the mediation organization of notification that its services shall be retained. If the parties cannot agree on a date for mediation, then the mediation organization shall select a date it believes is reasonable for the parties, given all of the alleged conflicts in dates. The actual mediator shall either be a person who has had at least ten (10) years of experience as either franchisee or franchisor (or as an officer of such an entity) or in franchise law. The parties shall equally share the cost of the mediator. The mediator shall select the location for the mediation, giving due consideration to the location that will minimize the total expenses of the mediation. If Franchise Owner fails or refuses to abide by the provisions of this subparagraph and to engage in mediation as required herein, and litigation or arbitration ensues between the parties, Franchise Owner shall be liable for all actual attorneys' fees incurred by Franchisor in such proceeding, regardless of the outcome of the proceeding, and shall reimburse Franchisor on demand for such costs.
- 19.2.2 Any arbitrator appointed must have at least ten (10) years' experience in franchise matters and shall have the right to award or include in any award the specific performance of this Agreement. Franchisor and Franchise Owner acknowledge that judgment upon an

arbitration award may be entered in any court of competent jurisdiction and shall be binding, final, and non-appealable. During the pendency of any arbitration proceeding, Franchise Owner and Franchisor shall fully perform this Agreement.

- 19.2.3 If, after Franchisor or Franchise Owner institute an arbitration proceeding, one or the other asserts a claim, counterclaim or defense, the subject matter of which, under statute or current judicial decision is non-arbitrable for public policy reasons, the party against whom the claim, counterclaim or defense is asserted may elect to proceed with the arbitration of all arbitrable claims, counterclaims, or defenses or to proceed to litigate all claims, counterclaims, or defenses in a court having competent jurisdiction.
- 19.3. TO THE EXTENT EITHER PARTY IS PERMITTED TO ENFORCE THIS AGREEMENT BY JUDICIAL PROCESS AND ELECTS TO DO SO, EACH OF THE PARTIES WAIVES ITS RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY. THIS WAIVER SHALL APPLY TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION THAT ARE OR MIGHT BE INCLUDED IN SUCH ACTION INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, CLAIMS RELATED WITH RESPECT TO THE ENFORCEMENT OR INTERPRETATION OF THIS AGREEMENT, ALLEGATIONS OF STATE OR FEDERAL STATUTORY VIOLATIONS, FRAUD, MISREPRESENTATION, OR SIMILAR CAUSES OF ACTION, AND IN CONNECTION WITH ANY LEGAL ACTION INITIATED FOR THE RECOVERY OF DAMAGES BETWEEN FRANCHISOR AND FRANCHISE OWNER (INCLUDING ANY OWNERS OR GUARANTORS, IF APPLICABLE, AND INCLUDING ACTIONS INVOLVING AFFILIATES, OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES OR AGENTS OF FRANCHISOR OR FRANCHISE OWNER) FOR BREACH OF THE FRANCHISE AGREEMENT.
- 19.4 Franchisor and Franchise Owner (and the respective owners and guarantors, if applicable) agree to waive, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the right to or claim for any punitive or exemplary damages against the other and against any affiliates, owners, employees, or agents of the other, and agree that in the event of a dispute between or among any of them, each shall be limited to the recovery of actual damages sustained by it and any equitable relief to which it might be entitled.
- 19.5 Franchisor and Franchise Owner (and the respective owners, officers, affiliates and agents, if applicable) each agree to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the state and federal courts of Michigan with respect to any litigation pertaining to this Agreement or to any aspect of the business relationship between the parties, even if additional persons are named as parties to such litigation (unless the courts of Michigan would have no jurisdiction over such additional persons). No action or proceeding involving this Agreement or any aspect of the relationship between the parties or their agents or affiliates shall be commenced by any party except in Oakland County, Michigan, nor shall any such action be transferred to any other venue. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Franchisor is permitted to seek injunctive relief under this Agreement, Franchisor may, at its option, bring such action in the county in which the Franchise Store is located.
- 19.6 The parties agree they should each be able to settle, mediate, litigate, arbitrate, or compromise disputes in which they are involved with third parties, without having the disposition of such disputes directly affect the contract or relationship between Franchisor and Franchise

Owner. Franchisor and Franchise Owner therefore each agree that a decision of an arbitrator or court of law in litigation to which one of them is not a party shall not in any manner prevent the person that was a party to such action from making similar arguments, or taking similar positions, in any action between Franchisor and Franchise Owner. The parties therefore waive the right to assert that principles of collateral estoppel prevent either of them from raising any claim or defense in an action between them as a result of such party having lost a similar claim or defense in another action.

19.7 Franchise Owner agrees that it will not file any arbitration claim as a class action, seek class action status, or permit its claim to be joined or made part of any class action filed by another. Franchise Owner further agrees that it will not file or join in any consolidated arbitration.

20. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR

- 20.1 Franchise Owner is exclusively and solely responsible for the control of its business and operations, subject only to the conditions and obligations created by this Agreement. Franchise Owner further agrees to indicate the Franchise Store is an independently owned and operated business in such a manner that neither Franchise Owner's employees nor customers will confuse such business with that of the Franchiser or other franchise owners of the Franchise System.
- 20.2 Neither Franchisor nor Franchise Owner shall have authority to act for the other in any manner to create obligations or debts that would be binding on the other. Similarly, neither Franchisor nor Franchise Owner shall be responsible for any obligations or expenses of the other unless specifically agreed to in writing. Neither Franchise Owner nor any persons performing any duties or engaged in any work on the premises of the Franchise Owner at his or her request shall be considered to be an employee, agent, or representative of Franchisor.
- Nothing contained in this Agreement may be construed to create a partnership, joint venture, agency, employment, partnership, servant, independent contractor, joint employer, fiduciary relationship, or other special relationship of any kind between Franchisor and Franchise Owner. No agency, employment, or partnership is created or implied by the terms of this Agreement, and Franchise Owner shall not represent or imply or hold itself out to third parties that Franchise Owner is an agent, fiduciary, legal representative, joint venture, partner, employee, servant, independent contractor, joint employer, or other special relationship of or with Franchisor, and Franchise Owner is in no way authorized to make any contract, agreement, warranty or representation on behalf of Franchisor, or to create any obligation, express or implied, on Franchisor's behalf. Neither this Agreement nor our course of conduct is intended, nor may anything in this Agreement (nor our course of conduct) be construed, to state of imply that Franchisor is Franchise Owner's employer or the employer of Franchise Owner's employees and or independent contractors, nor vice versa. Neither Franchise Owner nor any of its employees whose compensation Franchise Owner pays may in any way, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, be construed to be Franchisor's employee for any purpose, most particularly with respect to any mandated or other insurance coverage, tax or contributions, or requirements pertaining to withholdings, levied or fixed by any local, state, or federal government agency.

- Franchisor shall not have the power to hire or fire Franchise Owner's employees or determine or control (directly or indirectly) any of the terms and conditions of Franchise Owner's employees' employment. Franchise Owner expressly agrees, and will never contend otherwise, that Franchisor's authority under this Agreement to perform certain functions for the Franchise Store does not directly or indirectly vest in Franchisor the power to hire, fire, or control any of Franchise Owner's employee. It is acknowledged that Franchise Owner is the sole and independent owner of its business, shall be in full control thereof, and shall conduct such business solely in accordance with its own judgment and discretion, subject only to the provisions of this Agreement. Franchise Owner acknowledges and agrees, and will never contend otherwise, that Franchise Owner alone will exercise day-to-day control over all operations, activities, and elements of the Franchise Store and that under no circumstance shall Franchisor do so or be deemed to do so. Franchise Owner further acknowledges and agrees, and will never contend otherwise, that the various requirements, restrictions, prohibitions, specifications and procedures of the Franchise System which Franchise Owner is required to comply with under this Agreement, whether set forth in the Manual or otherwise, do not directly or indirectly constitute, suggest, infer or imply that Franchisor controls any aspect or element of the day-to-day operations of the Franchise Store, which Franchise Owner alone controls, but only constitute standards Franchise Owner must adhere to when exercising its control of the day-to-day operations of the Franchise Store. Franchise Owner acknowledges that Franchisor may, from time-to-time, provide optional templates for certain employment policies and procedures, including without limitation, a sexual harassment policy. Franchise Owner will have sole discretion as to adoption of any such policies and procedures and the specific terms of such policies and procedures. Training with respect to all such policies and procedures shall be Franchise Owner's sole responsibility.
- 20.5 Except as expressly provided in this Agreement, Franchisor may not control or have access to Franchise Owner's funds or the expenditure of Franchise Owner's funds or in any other way exercise dominion or control over the Franchise Store. Except as otherwise expressly authorized by this Agreement, neither party will make any express or implied agreements, warranties, guarantees or representations or incur any debt in the name of or on behalf of the other party, or represent that the relationship between Franchisor and Franchise Owner is other than that of franchisor and franchisee. Franchisor does not assume any liability, and will not be considered liable, for any agreements, representations, or warranties made by Franchise Owner which are not expressly authorized under this Agreement. Franchisor will not be obligated for any damages to any person or property which directly or indirectly arise from or relate to Franchise Owner's operation of the Franchise Store. Franchise Owner is solely responsible for all aspects of the development and operation of the Franchise Store, subject only to the conditions and covenants established by this Agreement. Franchise Owner acknowledges that Franchisor has no responsibility to ensure that the Franchise Store is developed and operated in compliance with all applicable laws, ordinances, and regulations and that Franchisor shall have no liability in the event the development or operation of the Franchise Store violates any law, ordinance, or regulation. Franchise Owner's business is, and shall be kept, totally separate and apart from any that may be operated by Franchisor. In all public records, in relationships with others, and on letterhead and business forms, electronic communications, bulletins and posters to Franchise Owner's employees, paychecks, checks, and other communications to customers, Franchise Owner shall indicate that Franchise Owner is solely a franchisee of Franchisor.

21. INSURANCE

Franchise Owner shall at all times during the term of this Agreement and at its own expense keep in force the following policies of insurance at the following minimum amounts, which policies of insurance, coverages, and amounts may be changed from time to time by Franchisor in Franchisor's Manual, in Franchisor's sole discretion. Franchisor may also require more coverage or additional coverages from time to time in Franchisor's sole and absolute discretion.

- 21.1 Comprehensive General Liability Insurance, which includes products liability coverage for bodily injury and property damage, for an amount not less than \$1,000,000 per occurrence with a \$2,000,000 aggregate.
- 21.2 Owned, Non-Owned, and Hired Automobile Liability Insurance for an amount not less than \$1,000,000 combined single limit.
- 21.3 Workers' Compensation Insurance as required by applicable state law, which coverage shall be in effect for any of Franchise Owner's employees who participate in training programs run by Franchisor at the time such training programs commence.
- 21.4 Employer Practices Liability Insurance for an amount not less than \$500,000 each accident, \$500,000 each employee, and \$500,000 policy limit.
- 21.5 Employee dishonesty coverage of not less than \$20,000 per occurrence; money and securities coverage of inside and outside of not less than \$10,000 per occurrence.
- 21.6 Umbrella Liability Coverage for an amount not less than \$3,000,000 per occurrence.
- 21.7 Building, personal property, and leasehold improvements coverage, if applicable, under a special form property insurance coverage with replacement costs endorsement in an amount equal to 100% of the values of these items.
- 21.8 Business interruption insurance providing monthly coverage for earnings on an "actual loss sustained basis" for a minimum of twelve (12) months or, if "actual loss sustained" coverage is not obtainable, you must obtain Business Insurance (and extra expense) coverage (utilizing a valuation that shall include the equivalent of net income before taxes). For each month that Franchise Owner files a claim under this policy, Franchise Owner shall pay Franchisor the aggregated weekly Royalty and Advertising Fee based upon the Gross Sales for the Franchise Store during that month in the previous year. In the event that Franchise Owner was not operating during that month in the previous year, Franchise Owner shall pay Franchisor the Royalty and Advertising Fee based upon the pro rata monthly Gross Sales for the previous year.

Franchise Owner shall name Franchisor as an "additional insured" on Franchise Owner's Comprehensive General Liability Insurance, and Products Liability Insurance, protecting both Franchise Owner and Franchisor from any liability by reason of the ownership, maintenance or operation by Franchise Owner of the Franchise Store licensed by this Agreement. All insurance policies shall be written with an insurance company that has an A.M. Best's analytical rating of

"A" or better and in the A.M. Best's financial size category of Class VIII or better. All policies shall stipulate that Franchisor shall receive not less than thirty (30) days' prior written notice of cancellation, non-renewal, or material change to said policies. Franchise Owner shall annually provide to Franchisor appropriate Certificates of Insurance evidencing the required insurance, or shall provide such other proof of insurance acceptable to Franchisor. Failure to obtain or maintain the required insurance shall be a material breach under this Agreement; provided that in the event Franchise Owner fails to obtain any of the required insurance, Franchisor may, but is not required to, obtain such insurance and keep the same in full force and effect, without prejudice to any other remedies that it may have under this Agreement, at law or in equity, and Franchise Owner shall pay Franchisor, upon demand, the premium cost of such insurance.

22. WAIVER

No delay or omission to exercise a right, power or remedy accruing to one party on any breach or default of this Agreement shall be construed as a waiver of such right, power or remedy of said party unless otherwise provided for in this Agreement. Any waiver, permit, consent, or approval of any kind or character on the part of the Franchisor of any breach of this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be effective only to the extent specifically allowed by such writing. All remedies, either under this Agreement, by law or otherwise afforded, shall be cumulative and not alternative. In no event may Franchise Owner make any claim for money damages based upon any claim or assertion that Franchisor has unreasonably withheld or delayed any consent or approval under this Agreement. Franchise Owner waives any such claim for damages. Franchise Owner may not claim any such damages by way of set off, counterclaim, or defense. Franchise Owner's sole remedy for the claim will be an action or proceeding to enforce the Agreement provisions consistent with the terms of this Agreement.

23. <u>CONSTRUCTION</u>

- 23.1 This Agreement shall become valid when executed and accepted by Franchisor. This Agreement presumes its performance shall involve or is affected by interstate commerce. As such, issues of arbitrability shall be determined in accordance with the federal substantive and procedural laws relating to arbitration as they relate to the interpretation of the Federal Arbitration Act (9 U.S.C. Section 1 et seq.).
- 23.2 Except to the extent governed by the United States Trademark Act of 1946 (Lanham Act; 15 U.S.C. § 1050 et seq.), as amended, this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the state of Michigan (without reference to its conflict of law principles). The parties agree, however, that if the Franchise Store is not located in Michigan, and if Franchise Owner is not a resident of Michigan, the provisions of the Michigan Franchise Investment Law and the regulations promulgated thereunder shall not apply to this transaction or this Agreement.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the parties recognize that if Franchise Owner is a resident of a state that has a law specifically governing the sale and operation of franchises of the type granted hereby to Franchise Owner, or if the Franchise Store is located in such a state, then while the foregoing paragraph shall still be applicable, the franchise law of such other states shall also apply to this transaction. In that event, to the extent that the provisions of this Agreement provide for periods of notice less than those required by such applicable law, or provide for termination,

cancellation, non-renewal or the like other than in accordance with such applicable law, such provisions shall, to the extent that such are not in accordance with such applicable law, be superseded by said law, and Franchisor shall comply with such applicable law in connection with each of these matters.

- This Agreement, the Schedules, any addendums attached to this Agreement, and the other related agreements between the Franchise Owner and Franchisor executed contemporaneously with this Agreement contain all of the terms and conditions agreed upon by the parties regarding the subject matter of this Agreement and supersede any and all prior negotiations, understandings, representations, and agreements. No promises or representations have been made by Franchisor other than set forth in this Agreement. Nothing in this or any related agreement is intended to disclaim the representations Franchisor made in the latest franchise disclosure document that Franchisor furnished to Franchise Owner. No modifications of the terms of this Agreement shall be valid unless made in writing and executed by Franchisor and Franchise Owner. THERE ARE NO WARRANTIES, REPRESENTATIONS, COVENANTS OR AGREEMENTS, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, BETWEEN THE PARTIES CONCERNING THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY IMPLIED COVENANT OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING, EXCEPT THOSE EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT. NOTHING CONTAINED HEREIN IS INTENDED TO DISCLAIM ANY REPRESENTATION MADE BY FRANCHISOR IN THE FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT PROVIDED TO FRANCHISE OWNER. NOTHING CONTAINED HEREIN IS INTENDED TO DISCLAIM ANY REPRESENTATION MADE BY FRANCHISOR IN THE FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT PRODIVED TO FRANCHISE OWNER. THIS SECTION 23.3 SHALL NOT APPLY TO THE SEPARATE CONFIDENTIALITY AND NONDISCLOSURE AGREEMENT AND COVENANT NOT TO COMPETE EXECUTED BY YOU AND YOUR PRINCIPAL OWNERS, THE PRINCIPAL OWNER'S GUARANTY AND ASSUMPTION OF OBLIGATIONS, AND CONIDITIONAL ASSIGNMENT OF LEASE, WHICH SHALL EACH CONSTITUTE A SEPARATE AGREEMENT AND ARE IN ADDITION TO AND NOT INTEGRATED WITH OR CONSIDERED A PART OF THIS FRANCHISE AGREEMENT.
- 23.4 In the event that any provision of this Agreement is declared to be illegal or unenforceable by any statute, judicial decision, or federal or state governmental authority, this Agreement shall be deemed modified to the extent necessary to eliminate the illegal or unenforceable provisions with all the other terms and conditions of this agreement remaining in full force and effect.

24. <u>ATTORNEY FEES AND RELATED COSTS</u>

If Franchise Owner institutes any legal action to interpret or enforce the terms of this Agreement, and the claim of Franchise Owner in such action is denied or the action is dismissed, Franchisor shall be entitled to recover from Franchise Owner its actual attorneys' fees, and all other costs and expenses incurred in defending against the same, and to have such an amount awarded as part of the judgment in the proceeding. If Franchisor engages legal counsel for any reason or to interpret or enforce the terms and conditions of this Agreement or institutes any legal action to interpret or enforce the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Franchisor shall be

entitled to recover from Franchise Owner its actual attorneys' fees and other costs and expenses in relation to such counsel consultation and /or legal action.

25. MISCELLANEOUS

25.1 No party shall be liable for any inability to perform resulting from acts of God or other causes (other than financial inability or insolvency) beyond their reasonable control; provided, however, that nothing herein shall excuse or permit any delay or failure (i) to remit any payment owed by Franchise Owner to Franchisor on the date due; or (ii) for more than one hundred eighty (180) days. The party whose performance is affected by an event of force majeure shall, within three (3) days of the occurrence of such event, give notice thereof to the other party setting forth the nature thereof and an estimate of its duration. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if, through no fault of yours, the Franchise Store is damaged or destroyed by an event such that it cannot, in our judgment, reasonably be restored within ninety (90) days thereafter, then you may, within sixty (60) days after such event, apply for our consent to relocate and/or reconstruct the Franchise Store, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. If you fail to make such application, this Agreement shall be deemed terminated for cause.

Otherwise, time is of the essence in performance of the duties and obligations set forth in this Agreement.

- 25.2 Franchise Owner acknowledges it has received no assurances or guarantees from Franchisor or any of its representatives concerning the profitability of Franchise Owner's proposed business.
- 25.3 Wherever pronouns are used they shall be read and construed in the masculine, feminine, or neuter wherever they would so apply. Wherever words, including pronouns, are used in the singular or plural, they shall be read and construed in the plural and singular, respectively, wherever they would so apply.
- 25.4 Where necessary to carry out the intent of this agreement, the covenants and obligations of either party shall survive the termination or expiration of this agreement.
- 25.5 It is acknowledged by the Franchise Owner that Franchise Owner received a copy of this Agreement, the attachments hereto, if any, and any other agreements relating thereto, if any, at least five (5) business days prior to the date on which this Agreement was executed. Franchise Owner further acknowledges it received the Franchise Offering Circular required by the Federal Trade Commission franchise rule at least ten (10) business days before the execution date of this Agreement.
- 25.6 Franchise Owner further acknowledges Franchise Owner has conducted an independent investigation of the business franchised pursuant to this Agreement and recognizes the business venture contemplated by this Agreement involves the normal business risks associated with beginning a new business. As part of such investigation, Franchise Owner acknowledges it has had ample opportunity to consult with advisors of its own choosing about the potential benefits and risks of entering into this Agreement. Franchise Owner acknowledges that it is entering into this Agreement based upon its own investigation and not as a result of any representations about Franchisor made by Franchisor's shareholders, members, officers, directors, employees, agents,

representatives, independent contractors, or franchisees which are contrary to the terms set forth in this Agreement or any franchise disclosure document required or permitted to be given to Franchise Owner pursuant to applicable law.

- Franchise Owner acknowledges that the only financial performance information Franchisor furnished is set forth in Item 19 of the Franchise Disclosure Document; that no officer, director, member, employee, agent, representative or independent contractor of Franchisor is authorized to furnish Franchise Owner with any other financial performance information; that if they nevertheless do, Franchise Owner will not rely on any such financial performance information given to Franchise Owner by any such individual; and that if any such individual attempts to or actually does give Franchise Owner any such financial performance information in contravention of this provision, Franchise Owner will immediately communicate such activity to Franchisor. For the purpose of this Agreement, "financial performance information" means information given, whether orally, in writing or visually which states, suggests or infers a specific level or range of historic or prospective sales, expenses and/or profits of franchised or non-franchised Stores.
- 25.8 Franchise Owner represents that it has been urged to consult with its own advisors with respect to the legal, financial and other aspects of this Agreement, the business franchised hereby and the prospects for that business. Franchise Owner represents that it has either consulted with such advisors or has deliberately declined to do so.
- 25.9 Franchise Owner represents that all information set forth in any and all applications, financial statements, and submissions to Franchisor is true, complete, and accurate in all respects, and Franchise Owner acknowledges that Franchisor is relying upon the truthfulness, completeness and accuracy of such information.
- 25.10 Franchise Owner acknowledges that before executing this Agreement, Franchise Owner has had the opportunity to contact all of Franchisor's existing franchisees.
- 25.11 Franchise Owner has carefully considered the nature and extent of the restrictions upon Franchise Owner set forth in this Agreement (including without limitation, the covenants not to compete, confidentiality restrictions and the restrictions on assignment) and the rights and remedies conferred upon Franchise Owner and Franchisor under this Agreement. Such restrictions, rights, and remedies: (a) are reasonable, including, but not limited to, their term and geographic scope; (b) are designed to preclude competition which would be unfair to Franchisor and the Franchise System; (c) are fully required to protect Franchisor's legitimate business interests; and (d) do not confer benefits upon Franchisor that are disproportionate to Franchise Owner's detriment. The covenants not to compete set forth in this Agreement are fair and reasonable, and will not impose any undue hardship on Franchise Owner, since Franchise Owner has other considerable skills, experience, and education which afford Franchise Owner the opportunity to derive income from other endeavors.
- 25.12 Franchise Owner agrees to operate the Franchise Store in strict compliance with this Agreement and the Manuals. Franchisor has the right to prescribe additions to, deletions from, or revisions of the Manual (the "Supplements to the Manual") as Franchisor deems necessary, in Franchisor's discretion, all of which will be considered a part of the Manual. Franchise Owner

acknowledges and agrees that Franchisor has the right to prescribe additions to, deletions from, or revisions to the Manual as Supplements to the Manual, and Franchise Owner shall implement such Supplements to the Manual as directed by Franchisor.

- 25.13 Franchise Owner agrees to cooperate with any area developer to whom Franchisor delegates the responsibility of servicing the Franchise Store.
- 25.14 Each party represents it has the authority to execute this agreement. Franchise Owner acknowledges only officers or individuals designated by officers of the Franchisor have the authority to make binding commitments on behalf of the Franchisor. In particular, field support personnel employed by the Franchisor cannot contractually bind the Franchisor by making any verbal or written representations.
- 25.15 Each party further acknowledges this agreement can be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Each party agrees to execute such other instruments and documents as needed to carry out the intent of the parties, all of which shall be incorporated herein by reference as if set forth herein. This Agreement may be executed on signature pages exchanged by electronic mail (including pdf or any electronic signature complying with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000, e.g., www.docusign.com) or other transmission method and any counterpart so delivered shall be deemed to have been duly and validly delivered and be valid and effective for all purposes. Copies of executed counterparts transmitted by such electronic transmission service shall be considered original executed counterparts for purposes of this Agreement.
- 25.16 Franchise Owner shall comply with all requirements of applicable federal, state, or local rules, regulations, statutes, laws, and ordinances, including without limitation, any and all applicable heath and sanitary standards prescribed by any governmental authority, all building, zoning, or other property limitations, Americans with Disabilities Act, Fair Labor Standards Act, Family Medical Leave Act, Affordable Care Act, Occupational Safety and Health Act, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act, Age Discrimination in Employment Act, and Employee Retirement Income Security Act.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto affix their signatures and execute this Franchise Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

| WITNESSES: | FRANCHISOR: |
|------------|---|
| | AUTO-LAB FRANCHISING, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company |
| | By: |
| | TITLE: |

| WITNESSES AS TO INDIVIDUAL(S) AND/OR CORPORATE SIGNATURE: | FRANCHISE OWNER: INDIVIDUALLY: |
|---|--------------------------------|
| | |
| WITNESSES: | FRANCHISE OWNER: |
| | By: |

CONVERSION ADDENDUM TO FRANCHISE AGREEMENT

| This Conversion Addended entered into between Auto-La | b Franchising, | , | _ | ited liability | company |
|---|------------------|--------------|-------------|------------------|------------|
| (hereinafter referred to as "Francl | / | 20 | | _ (hereinafter r | eleffed to |
| as "Franchise Owner") on this | _ day of | , 20 | 0 | | |
| 1. This Addendum specifically defined herein. | incorporates all | l of the ter | rms used ir | n the Agreem | nent as if |

2. Section 4.1 of the Agreement is deleted in its entirety and replaced by the following language:

"A non-refundable initial franchise fee ("Initial Franchise Fee") in the amount of NINETEEN THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS (\$19,500). The Initial Franchise Fee is due upon execution of this Agreement and Addendum and shall be deemed fully earned on such execution date."

3. Section 4.2 of the Agreement is amended by adding the following language to the end of the section:

"Notwithstanding the foregoing, for a period of twelve (12) months from the Effective Date, Franchise Owner shall pay Royalty to Franchisor in the amount of one-half (1/2) of the Royalty otherwise due under this Section. At the end of such 12-month period, and for the duration of the Agreement, Franchise Owner shall pay to Franchisor the full amount of Royalty due under the section."

4. Section 6.26 is hereby amended to include the following language at the end of the Section:

"Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, Franchisor and Franchisor Designate will provide to Franchise Owner the FAST START computer hardware and software, which includes a Dell Optiplex 320 Business Class Desktop PC, with Pentium 4 3GHz processor and 1GB DDR2 memory, and an 80GB SATA Hard Drive. This computer will run Windows XP Professional Service Pack 2 with Media, and have a 48X CD-Rewritable Drive, 19 Inch Flat panel monitor. This computer will also run Microsoft Office Basic Edition software, and Adobe Acrobat 6.0. This computer will have a Two (2) Year Manufacturer Warranty. This computer will have a Dell Laser Printer 1710n with advance exchange 1 Year Limited Warranty. This computer will also have ALBMS Compatible Oil Decal printer, with Oil Decal Starter Roll (500

Labels) and Oil Decal Printer Ribbon. Also included in FAST START is: ALBMS Compatible Cash Drawer; 512 MB Data Traveler USB Flash Drive; WRT54GL Linksys Wireless Router; pcAnywhere 12.0 Host Only Version software; 10 Outlet Surge-Master Gold Surge Protector/Power Strip; Network Cables; USB Cables; QuickBooks Pro 2006 Software; QuickBooks Auto-Lab Training Package (2 hours); and Slip-n-Grip Start-up Kit (floor mats, seat covers, steering wheel covers, tire bags), the cost of which is included in your Initial Franchise Fee."

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto affix their signatures and execute this Addendum as of the day first above written.

| FRANCHISOR: | FRANCHISE OWNER: |
|---------------------------|------------------|
| AUTO-LAB FRANCHISING, LLC | |
| By: | By: |
| Its: | Its: |
| | GUARANTORS: |
| | By: |
| | By: |
| | By: |

FRANCHISE DATA SHEET (Schedule A)

| 1. | The Legal name of the Franchise Owner is: | | | | | | | |
|------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Which | n conducts business as a Sole P Corpor Partner Limite | ration | | | | | | |
| 2. | The assumed name of the Franchise Owner is: | | | | | | | |
| 3. | The telephone number used by the F | Franchise Store is: | | | | | | |
| 4. | The name, home address, phone, titl ownership interest in Franchise Own | le and % of ownership of each individual having an ner is: | | | | | | |
| Name: | | Name: | | | | | | |
| Home Add | | Home Address | | | | | | |
| Phone | | Phone | | | | | | |
| Cell Phone | e | Cell Phone | | | | | | |
| Fax Number | per | Fax Number | | | | | | |
| Email | | Email | | | | | | |
| Title | | Title | | | | | | |
| % Ownersh | ship | % Ownership | | | | | | |
| Name: | | Name: | | | | | | |
| Home Add | dress | Home Address | | | | | | |
| Phone | | Phone | | | | | | |
| Cell Phone | e | Cell Phone | | | | | | |
| Fax Number | per | Fax Number | | | | | | |
| Email | | Email | | | | | | |
| Title | | Title | | | | | | |
| % Ownersh | hip | % Ownership | | | | | | |

Attached hereto is evidence of the legal form of franchise ownership, such as articles of incorporation or organization or partnership registration, whichever apply, the operating agreement, bylaws or partnership agreement and stock certificates. In addition, evidence of assumed name registration for a sole proprietorship, corporation or partnership is also attached to verify the trade name being used by Franchise Owner.

| Owner's Signature | | Date of signature |
|-------------------|---|-------------------|
| | | |
| | | |
| | _ | |
| | _ | |
| | | |

LOCATION AND DESIGNATED AREA DESIGNATION (Schedule B)

| Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC, the Franchisor operate his or her franchise at the location v | r, hereby gives its approval for the Franchise Owner to whose legal address is: |
|--|---|
| Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC, the Franchisor below: | , hereby grants to Franchise Owner the area described |
| | on and Designated Area Designation Form shall be t by reference as if set forth therein for purposes of ment executed by the Franchisor and |
| On, 20 | , the Franchise Owner, |
| | Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC |
| Dated: | By: Its: |

Schedule C

ELECTRONIC FUNDS TRANSFER (EFT) AUTHORIZATION

Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC

Automatic Debit of Amount Due to Franchisor

| Franchise Store: | | _, |
|---|---|---|
| referenced, authorize AUTC on every Monday from Franchisor based of any Late Fees or Interest, for or expense that may be due a fees associated with the Franchisor to assign part or a or assign. This EFT Authorize when so executed shall be a same instrument. This EFT electronic mail (including per Act of 2000, e.g., www.do delivered shall be deemed to all purposes. Copies of exect shall be considered original of | ive and agent for the Franchise Store for the account identified by LAB FRANCHISING, LLC. (referred to as "Franchisor") to inchisee's bank account, the amount of Royalty and Advertising on Gross Sales of the above referenced Auto-Lab Franchise Store each and every preceding week, ending on Sunday, and any oth and owing to Franchisor. I also authorize Franchisor to debit any anchise Store including but not limited to the advertising few apenditures not incurred, liquidated damages, Non-Compliance at may become due to Franchisor or its affiliates. I further autholi of the rights to debit the account identified to an affiliate, successful and the sex of the property of the control of the sex of the control of the rights to debit the account identified to an affiliate, successful on any be executed in any number of counterparts each of the original, but all of which together shall constitute one (1) and Authorization may be executed on signature pages exchanged for any electronic signature complying with the U.S. federal Execusion. The control of the page of the counterparts transmitted by such electronic transmission service counterparts transmitted by such electronic transmission service counterparts for purposes of this EFT Authorization. | debit g Fee e, and er fee other e, the Fees, norize essor, which and the ed by SIGN art so we for |
| Bank Name | | |
| Bank Address | | |
| Account Name | | |
| Account Number | | |
| ABA Routing Number | | |
| FRANCHISEE: | | |
| By: | Date: | |
| Its: Authorized Representati | ive | |
| By: | Date: | |
| Its: Authorized Representation | | |

ADDENDUM TO THE FRANCHISE AGREEMENT AUTO-LAB FRANCHISING, LLC

FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

| This | Addendum | to the | Franchise | Agreement | is | agreed | to | this | day | of |
|------|-------------|--------|-------------|---------------|------|---------|----|------|-----|----|
| , 20 |), is by an | d betw | een Auto-La | ab Franchisin | g, I | LLC and | | | - | |
| | | | | | ٠, | | | | | |

1. New Section 16.9 is inserted into the Franchise Agreement and states as follows:

If termination is the result of Franchise Owner's default, Franchise Owner will pay to Franchisor a lump sum payment (as liquidated damages for causing the premature termination of this Agreement and not as a penalty) equal to the total of all Royalty Fee payments for: (a) the twenty-four (24) calendar months of operation of Franchise Owner preceding Franchise Owner's default; (b) the period of time Franchise Owner has been in operation preceding the notice, if less than twenty-four (24) calendar months, projected on a twenty-four (24) calendar month basis; or (c) any shorter period as equals the unexpired term at the time of termination. The parties agree that a precise calculation of the full extent of the damages that Franchisor will incur on termination of this Agreement as a result of Franchise Owner's default is difficult and the parties desire certainty in this matter and agree that the lump sum payment provided under this Section is reasonable in light of the damages for premature termination that Franchisor will incur. This payment is not exclusive of any other remedies that Franchisor may have including attorneys' fees and costs.

- 2. In recognition of the requirements of the California Franchise Investment Law, Cal Corp Code §§31000-31516 and the California Franchise Relations Act, Cal Bus And Prof Code §§20000-20043, the Franchise Agreement for Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC is amended as follows:
 - The California Franchise Relations Act provides rights to Franchise Owner concerning termination or non-renewal of the Franchise Agreement, which may supersede provisions in the Franchise Agreement, specifically Sections 3.2 and 14.
 - Section 14.1(i), which terminates the Franchise Agreement upon the bankruptcy of Franchise Owner, may not be enforceable under federal bankruptcy law (11 USC Section 101, et. seq).
 - Section 17 contains a covenant not to compete that extends beyond the expiration or termination of the Agreement; this covenant may not be enforceable under California Law.
 - The Franchise Agreement requires litigation to be conducted in a court located outside of the State of California. This provision might not be enforceable for any cause of action arising under California law.

- The Franchise Agreement requires application of the laws of a state other than California. This provision might not be enforceable under California law
- Paragraph 1 of this Addendum contains a liquidated damages clause. Under California Civil Code Section 1671, certain liquidated damages clauses are unenforceable.
- Section 19 requires binding arbitration. The arbitration will occur at the forum indicated in Section 19.2, with the costs being borne by the non-prevailing party. Prospective Franchise Owners are encouraged to consult legal counsel to determine the applicability of California and federal laws (such as Business and Professions Code Section 20040.5, Code of Civil Procedure Section 1281, and the Federal Arbitration Act) to any provisions of the Franchise Agreement restricting venue to a forum outside of the State of California.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned hereby acknowledges having read this Addendum, and understands and consents to be bound by all of its terms.

| Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC | | |
|---------------------------|----------|---|
| By: | Dated: | |
| Its: | <u> </u> | |
| Franchise Owner: | | |
| By: | Dated: | _ |
| Its: | | |

FOR THE STATE OF HAWAII

| | rement is agreed to this day of ng, LLC and |
|--|---|
| | ents of the Hawaii Franchise Investment Law, Hawaii q , the Franchise Agreement for Auto-Lab Franchising, |
| concerning non-renewal, te Agreement. If the Agreemen 17 contain a provision that | ment Law provides rights to Franchise Owner armination and transfer of the Franchise t, and more specifically Sections 3.2, 14 and is inconsistent with the Hawaii Franchise Franchise Investment Law will control. |
| as a condition of renewal or | quire Franchise Owner to sign a general release transfer of the Franchise. Such release shall he Hawaii Franchise Investment Law. |
| | inates the Franchise Agreement upon the oner, may not be enforceable under federal on 101, et. seq). |
| jurisdictional requirements of the Hawaii Fran Addendum. To the extent this Addendum sl | ndum shall be effective only to the extent that the nchise Investment Law are met independently of this hall be deemed to be inconsistent with any terms or exhibits or attachments thereto, the terms of this |
| IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the un Addendum, and understands and consents to | ndersigned hereby acknowledges having read this be bound by all of its terms. |
| Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC | |
| Ву: | Dated: |
| Its: | |
| Franchise Owner: | |
| By: | Dated: |
| Ita | |

FOR THE STATE OF ILLINOIS

| The | Auto-Lab | Franchising, | LLC | Franchise | Agreement | between | | |
|---------------|--------------|----------------|---------|---------------|----------------|-----------------|-----------------|-------|
| ("Franchisee | or "You" | and Auto-Lal | Franc | chising, LLC | C, a Michigan | limited liabili | ity company ("A | Auto- |
| Lab") dated | | , 20 | (the | "Agreeme | nt") shall be | amended by | the addition of | f the |
| following lan | nguage, whi | ch shall be co | nsidere | ed an integra | al part of the | Agreement (| (the "Addendu | m"): |
| | | | | | | | | |
| Illino | ois law gove | erns the Franc | hise A | greement. | | | | |

In conformance with Section 4 of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act, any provision in a franchise agreement that designates jurisdiction and venue in a form outside of the State of Illinois is void. However, a franchise agreement may provide for arbitration to take place outside of Illinois.

Your rights upon Termination and Non-Renewal of an agreement are set forth in sections 19 and 20 of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act.

In conformance with section 41 of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act, any condition, stipulation or provision purporting to bind any person acquiring any franchise to waive compliance with the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act or any other law of Illinois is void.

No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgement signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of the franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.

Financial Condition. The Franchisor's financial condition as reflected in its financial statements (see Item 21) calls into question the Franchisor's financial ability to provide services and support to you.

Your initial fees are deferred until Franchisor has satisfied its pre-opening obligations to franchisee and the franchisee has commenced business operations. The Illinois Attorney General's Office imposed this deferral requirement due to Franchisor's financial condition.

| Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC | | |
|---------------------------|--------|--|
| Ву: | Dated: | |
| Its: | - | |
| Franchise Owner: | | |
| By: | Dated: | |
| Ita | | |

FOR THE STATE OF INDIANA

| Thi | S . | Addendum | to | the | Franchise | Agreement | is | agreed | to | this | day | of |
|-----|------|------------|-----|------|------------|--------------|-----|---------|----|------|---------|----|
| | , 20 | 0, is by a | and | betw | een Auto-L | ab Franchisi | ng, | LLC and | d | | | |
| | _ | | | | | | _ | | | | | |

- 1. In recognition of the requirements of the Indiana Deceptive Franchise Practices Law, IC 23-2.2.7 and the Indiana Franchise Disclosure Law, IC 23-2-2-2.5, the Franchise Agreement for Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC is amended as follows:
 - Sections 3.2.4, and 11.1 (3) do not provide for a prospective general release of claims against Franchisor that may be subject to the Indiana Deceptive Franchise Practices Law or the Indiana Franchise Disclosure Law.
 - Section 17 is amended to prohibit unlawful unilateral termination of a Franchise unless there is a material violation of the Franchise Agreement and termination is not in bad faith.
 - Section 18 is amended to provide that Franchise Owner will not be required to indemnify Franchisor for any liability imposed upon Franchisor as a result of Franchise Owner's reliance upon or use of procedures or products which were required by Franchisor, if such procedures or products were utilized by Franchise Owner in the manner required by Franchisor.
 - Section 19.5 is amended to provide that Franchise Owner may commence litigation in Indiana for any cause of action under Indiana law.
 - Section 19.2 is amended to provide that arbitration between Franchisor and Franchise Owner, shall be conducted at a mutually agreed upon location.
- 2. Each provision of this Addendum shall be effective only to the extent that the jurisdictional requirements of the Indiana Law applicable to the provisions are met independently of this Addendum. To the extent this Addendum shall be deemed to be inconsistent with any terms or conditions of said Franchise Agreement or exhibits or attachments thereto, the terms of this Addendum shall govern.

[THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned hereby acknowledges having read this Addendum, and understands and consents to be bound by all of its terms.

| Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC | |
|---------------------------|--------|
| By: | Dated: |
| Its: | |
| Franchise Owner: | |
| By: | Dated: |
| Its: | |

FOR THE STATE OF MARYLAND

| | This Addendum to the Franchise Agreement is agreed to this | day of | |
|----|--|--------|--|
| 20 | , is by and between Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC and | | |
| | | | |

- 1. In recognition of the requirements of the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law, Md Code Ann, Bus Reg §§14-201-14-233, the Franchise Agreement for Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC is amended as follows:
 - Sections 3.2.4, and 11.1 (3) require Franchise Owner to sign a general release
 as a condition of renewal or transfer of the Franchise. Such release shall
 exclude claims arising under the Maryland Franchise Registration and
 Disclosure Law.
 - Section14.1(i), which terminates the Franchise Agreement upon the bankruptcy of Franchise Owner, may not be enforceable under federal bankruptcy law (11 USC Section 101, et. seq).
 - Sections 19.2 and 19.5 require litigation or arbitration to be conducted in the State of Michigan; the requirement shall not limit any rights Franchise Owner may have under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law to bring suit in the State of Maryland.
 - Any Section of the Franchise Agreement requiring Franchise Owner to assent to any release, estoppel or waiver of liability as a condition of purchasing the Franchise are not intended to, nor shall they act as a, release, estoppel or waiver of any liability incurred under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law.
- 2. Any portion of the Franchise Agreement which requires prospective Franchise Owners to disclaim the occurrence and/or acknowledge the non-occurrence of acts would constitute a violation of the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law. Any such representations are not intended to nor shall they act as a release, estoppel or waiver of any liability incurred under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law.
- 3. Each provision of this Addendum shall be effective only to the extent that the jurisdictional requirements of the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law applicable to the provisions are met independently of this Addendum. To the extent this Addendum shall be deemed to be inconsistent with any terms or conditions of said Franchise Agreement or exhibits or attachments thereto, the terms of this Addendum shall govern.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned hereby acknowledges having read this Addendum, and understands and consents to be bound by all of its terms.

| Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC | | |
|---------------------------|--------|--|
| By: | Dated: | |
| Its: | | |
| Franchise Owner: | | |
| By: | Dated: | |
| Its: | | |

FOR THE STATE OF MINNESOTA

| | This Addendum to the Franchise Agreement is agreed to this | day of | |
|----|--|--------|--|
| 20 | , is by and between Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC and | | |
| | <u> </u> | | |

- 1. In recognition of the Minnesota Franchise Law, Minn Stat, Chapter 80C, Sections 80C.01 through 80C.22, and the Rules and Regulations promulgated pursuant thereto by the Minnesota Commission of Securities, Minnesota Rule 2860.4400, *et. seq*, the parties to the attached Franchise Agreement agree as follows:
 - Section 15 is amended to comply with the Minnesota Franchise Law that requires, except in certain specified cases, that Franchise Owner be given 90 days notice of termination (with 60 days to cure) and 180 days notice of nonrenewal of the Agreement.
 - Sections 3.2.4, and 11.1 (3) do not provide for a prospective general release of any claims against Franchisor that may be subject to the Minnesota Franchise Law. Minn. Rule 2860.4400D prohibits a franchisor from requiring a Franchise Owner to assent to a general release.
 - Section 1 is amended to add that as required by Minnesota Franchise Act, Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC will reimburse you for any costs incurred by you in the defense of your right to use the Trademarks, so long as you were using the Trademarks in the manner authorized by Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC, and so long as Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC is timely notified of the claim and is given the right to manage the defense of the claim including the right to compromise, settle or otherwise resolve the claim, and to determine whether to appeal a final determination of the claim.
 - Minn Stat §80C.21 and Minn Rule 2860.4400J prohibit Franchisor from requiring litigation to be conducted outside Minnesota. In addition, nothing in the Disclosure Document or Franchise Agreement can abrogate or reduce any of Franchise Owner's rights as provided for in Minnesota Statutes, Chapter 80C, or Franchise Owner's rights to any procedure, forum or remedies provided for by the laws of the jurisdiction. However, Franchisor may seek such relief through the court system with or without a bond as determined by a court. Minn Rule Part 2860.4400J prohibits Franchise Owner from waving its rights to a jury trial or waiving its rights to any procedure, forum, or remedies provided for by the laws of the jurisdiction, or consenting to liquidated damages, termination penalties or judgment notes. To the extent that the Franchise Agreement requires Franchise Owner to waive these rights, the Franchise Agreement will be considered amended to the extent necessary to comply with the Minnesota Rule.
 - No statement, questionnaire or acknowledgement signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship

shall have the effect of: (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on behalf of the Franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.

2. Each provision of this Addendum shall be effective only to the extent that the jurisdictional requirements of the Minnesota Franchise Law applicable to the provisions are met independently of this Addendum. To the extent this Addendum shall be deemed to be inconsistent with any terms or conditions of said Franchise Agreement or exhibits or attachments thereto, the terms of this Addendum shall govern.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned hereby acknowledges having read this Addendum, and understands and consents to be bound by all of its terms.

| Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC | | |
|---------------------------|--------|--|
| By: | Dated: | |
| Its: | - | |
| Franchise Owner: | | |
| By: | Dated: | |
| Its: | | |

FOR THE STATE OF NEW YORK

| Inis Addendum to the Franchise Agree | |
|--|--|
| 20, is by and between Auto-Lab Franchising | g, LLC and |
| | ts of the General Business Laws of the State of New chise Agreement for Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC is |
| · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | fire Franchise Owner to sign a general release fer. Such release shall exclude claims arising ws. |
| obligations under the Franchise to perform Franchisor's oblig | shall not transfer and assign its rights and Agreement unless the transferee will be able ations under the Franchise Agreement, in nent, so long as it remains subject to the state of New York. |
| to indemnify Franchisor for any of Franchise Owner's reliance | de that Franchise Owner will not be required liability imposed upon Franchisor as a result upon or use of procedures or products that such procedures or products were utilized by required by Franchisor. |
| jurisdictional requirements of the New York Lavof this Addendum. To the extent this Addendum | dum shall be effective only to the extent that the wapplicable to the provisions are met independently man shall be deemed to be inconsistent with any terms of exhibits or attachments thereto, the terms of this |
| IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the und Addendum, and understands and consents to b | dersigned hereby acknowledges having read this e bound by all of its terms. |
| Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC | |
| By: | Dated: |
| Its: | _ |
| Franchise Owner: | |
| By: | Dated: |
| To the state of th | |

FOR THE STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA

| This Addendum to the Franchise Agreeme | |
|--|--|
| 20, is by and between Auto-Lab Franchising, LI | LC and |
| the Agreement be amended to be consistent with Franchise Investment Law, North Dakota Century et. seq. Such provisions in the Agreement are hereby | Code Addendum, Chapter 51-19, Sections 51-19-01 |
| renewal or transfer. Such require operating under the North Dakota such a release excludes claims a Investment Law. Section 17 is amended to add that or expiration of the Franchise Ag State of North Dakota except in lim Section 19.5 is amended to add that state or federal court in North Dakot Law. | rement shall be inapplicable to Franchises Franchise Investment Law to the extent that urising under the North Dakota Franchise covenants not to compete upon termination reement are generally unenforceable in the |
| purchased in North Dakota must b | be held either in a location mutually agreed the parties cannot agree on a location, the |
| 2. Each provision of this Addendur jurisdictional requirements of the North Dakota Law of this Addendum. To the extent this Addendum st conditions of said Franchise Agreement or exhibits shall govern. | hall be deemed to be inconsistent with any terms of |
| IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned and understands and consents to be bound by all of | |
| Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC | |
| By: | Dated: |
| Its: | |
| Franchise Owner: | |
| By: | Dated: |
| Ita. | |

FOR THE STATE OF RHODE ISLAND

| | ent is agreed to this day of |
|---|---|
| 20, is by and between Auto-Lab Franchising, | |
| 1. In recognition of the r Investment Act §19-28.1-14, the Franchise Agree as follows: | equirements of The Rhode Island Franchise ement for Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC is amended |
| | e Franchise Owner to sign a general release nsfer. Such release shall exclude claims ranchise Investment Act. |
| or venue to a forum outside the application of the laws of anoth | mended to state that restricting jurisdiction e State of Rhode Island or requiring the ner state is void with respect to a claim Rhode Island Franchise Investment Act. |
| 2. Each provision of this Addendur jurisdictional requirements of the Rhode Islanding independently of this Addendum. To the extent the with any terms or conditions of said Franchise Addendum shall govern. | his Addendum shall be deemed to be inconsistent |
| IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the under Addendum, and understands and consents to be be | |
| Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC | |
| By: | Dated: |
| Its: | |
| Franchise Owner: | |
| By: | Dated: |
| Ite | |

FOR THE COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

| | | ise Agreement is agreed to this day uto-Lab Franchising, LLC and | |
|--------------|---|--|-----|
| | | to amend and rev | ise |
| said Franchi | se Agreement as follows: | | |
| | | es the Franchise Agreement upon the s, may not be enforceable under federal 101, et. seq). | |
| | SS WHEREOF, each of the unde and understands and consents to be | rsigned hereby acknowledges having read to bound by all of its terms. | his |
| Auto-Lab Fr | ranchising, LLC | | |
| Ву: | | Dated: | _ |
| Its: | | | |
| Franchise O | wner: | | |
| Ву: | | Dated: | _ |
| Its: | | | |

FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

| | This Addendum to the Franchise Agreement is agreed to this | s day of | |
|----|--|----------|--|
| 20 | , is by and between Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC and | <u> </u> | |
| | | | |

The provisions of this Addendum form an integral part of, are incorporated into, and modify the Franchise Disclosure Document, the franchise agreement, and all related agreements regardless of anything to the contrary contained therein. This Addendum applies if: (a) the offer to sell a franchise is accepted in Washington; (b) the purchaser of the franchise is a resident of Washington; and/or (c) the franchised business that is the subject of the sale is to be located or operated, wholly or partly, in Washington.

- 1. **Conflict of Laws**. In the event of a conflict of laws, the provisions of the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, chapter 19.100 RCW will prevail.
- 2. Franchisee Bill of Rights. RCW 19.100.180 may supersede provisions in the franchise agreement or related agreements concerning your relationship with the franchisor, including in the areas of termination and renewal of your franchise. There may also be court decisions that supersede the franchise agreement or related agreements concerning your relationship with the franchisor. Franchise agreement provisions, including those summarized in Item 17 of the Franchise Disclosure Document, are subject to state law.
- 3. **Site of Arbitration, Mediation, and/or Litigation**. In any arbitration or mediation involving a franchise purchased in Washington, the arbitration or mediation site will be either in the state of Washington, or in a place mutually agreed upon at the time of the arbitration or mediation, or as determined by the arbitrator or mediator at the time of arbitration or mediation. In addition, if litigation is not precluded by the franchise agreement, a franchisee may bring an action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with the sale of franchises, or a violation of the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, in Washington.
- 4. **General Release**. A release or waiver of rights in the franchise agreement or related agreements purporting to bind the franchisee to waive compliance with any provision under the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act or any rules or orders thereunder is void except when executed pursuant to a negotiated settlement after the agreement is in effect and where the parties are represented by independent counsel, in accordance with RCW 19.100.220(2). In addition, any such release or waiver executed in connection with a renewal or transfer of a franchise is likewise void except as provided for in RCW 19.100.220(2).
- 5. Statute of Limitations and Waiver of Jury Trial. Provisions contained in the franchise agreement or related agreements that unreasonably restrict or limit the statute of limitations period for claims under the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, or rights or remedies under the Act such as a right to a jury trial, may not be enforceable.

- 6. **Transfer Fees**. Transfer fees are collectable only to the extent that they reflect the franchisor's reasonable estimated or actual costs in effecting a transfer.
- 7. **Termination by Franchisee**. The franchisee may terminate the franchise agreement under any grounds permitted under state law.
- 8. Certain Buy-Back Provisions. Provisions in franchise agreements or related agreements that permit the franchisor to repurchase the franchisee's business for any reason during the term of the franchise agreement without the franchisee's consent are unlawful pursuant to RCW 19.100.180(2)(j), unless the franchise is terminated for good cause.
- 9. Fair and Reasonable Pricing. Any provision in the franchise agreement or related agreements that requires the franchisee to purchase or rent any product or service for more than a fair and reasonable price is unlawful under RCW 19.100.180(2)(d).
- 10. Waiver of Exemplary & Punitive Damages. RCW 19.100.190 permits franchisees to seek treble damages under certain circumstances. Accordingly, provisions contained in the franchise agreement or elsewhere requiring franchisees to waive exemplary, punitive, or similar damages are void, except when executed pursuant to a negotiated settlement after the agreement is in effect and where the parties are represented by independent counsel, in accordance with RCW 19.100.220(2).
- 11. **Franchisor's Business Judgement**. Provisions in the franchise agreement or related agreements stating that the franchisor may exercise its discretion on the basis of its reasonable business judgment may be limited or superseded by RCW 19.100.180(1), which requires the parties to deal with each other in good faith.
- 12. **Indemnification**. Any provision in the franchise agreement or related agreements requiring the franchisee to indemnify, reimburse, defend, or hold harmless the franchisor or other parties is hereby modified such that the franchisee has no obligation to indemnify, reimburse, defend, or hold harmless the franchisor or any other indemnified party for losses or liabilities to the extent that they are caused by the indemnified party's negligence, willful misconduct, strict liability, or fraud.
- 13. **Attorneys' Fees**. If the franchise agreement or related agreements require a franchisee to reimburse the franchisor for court costs or expenses, including attorneys' fees, such provision applies only if the franchisor is the prevailing party in any judicial or arbitration proceeding.
- 14. **Noncompetition Covenants**. Pursuant to RCW 49.62.020, a noncompetition covenant is void and unenforceable against an employee, including an employee of a franchisee, unless the employee's earnings from the party seeking enforcement, when annualized, exceed \$100,000 per year (an amount that will be adjusted annually for inflation). In addition, a noncompetition covenant is void and unenforceable against an independent

contractor of a franchisee under RCW 49.62.030 unless the independent contractor's earnings from the party seeking enforcement, when annualized, exceed \$250,000 per year (an amount that will be adjusted annually for inflation). As a result, any provision contained in the franchise agreement or elsewhere that conflicts with these limitations is void and unenforceable in Washington.

- 15. **Nonsolicitation Agreements**. RCW 49.62.060 prohibits a franchisor from restricting, restraining, or prohibiting a franchisee from (i) soliciting or hiring any employee of a franchisee of the same franchisor or (ii) soliciting or hiring any employee of the franchisor. As a result, any such provisions contained in the franchise agreement or elsewhere are void and unenforceable in Washington.
- 16. Questionnaires and Acknowledgments. No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of the franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.
- 17. **Prohibitions on Communicating with Regulators**. Any provision in the franchise agreement or related agreements that prohibits the franchisee from communicating with or complaining to regulators is inconsistent with the express instructions in the Franchise Disclosure Document and is unlawful under RCW 19.100.180(2)(h).
- 18. Advisory Regarding Franchise Brokers. Under the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, a "franchise broker" is defined as a person that engages in the business of the offer or sale of franchises. A franchise broker represents the franchisor and is paid a fee for referring prospects to the franchisor and/or selling the franchise. If a franchisee is working with a franchise broker, franchisees are advised to carefully evaluate any information provided by the franchise broker about a franchise.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned hereby acknowledges having read this Addendum, and understands and consents to be bound by all of its terms.

| Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC | | |
|---------------------------|--------|--|
| By: | Dated: | |
| Its: | _ | |
| Franchise Owner: | | |
| By: | Dated: | |

| Its: | | | |
|------|--|--|--|
| | | | |

FOR THE STATE OF WISCONSIN

| This Addendum to the Franchise Agreem is by and between Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC ar | ent is agreed to this _ | day of | , 20 |
|--|---|----------------------------------|-----------------------------|
| is by and between Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC anto amend and | d revise said Franchis | se Agreement as | follows: |
| The Wisconsin Fair Dealership L supersede any conflicting terms of the Franchise | | 35, Sec 135.01- | 135.07 shall |
| 2. This provision of this Addendur jurisdictional requirements of the Wisconsin Fair met independently of this Addendum. To the inconsistent with any terms or conditions of said thereto, the terms of this Addendum shall govern | r Dealership Law app extent this Addendu I Franchise Agreemer | olicable to the prum shall be de | rovisions are emed to be |
| IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the under Addendum, and understands and consents to be | • | _ | ng read this |
| Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC | | | |
| By: | Dated: | | |
| Its: | | | |
| Franchise Owner: | | | |
| By: | Dated: | | |
| Its: | | | |

EXHIBIT C

CONFIDENTIALITY AND NONDISCLOSURE AGREEMENT AND COVENANT NOT TO COMPETE

(Franchise Owner and Principal Owner)

| T | nis Confidentiality and Nondisclosure Agreement and Covenant Not to Compete is |
|------------|--|
| entered in | to as of the date or dates set forth below by and between |
| located | at ("Franchisee") |
| | , owner of an equity interest in Franchisee ("Owner"), and Auto-Lab |
| | ng, LLC located at 40400 Ann Arbor Road, Suite 101, Plymouth, Michigan 48170 ab"). Franchisee and Owner are hereinafter, collectively referred to as the "Franchisee |
| | HEREAS, Franchisee is a party to that certain Franchise Agreement datedanchise Agreement") by and between Franchisee and Auto-Lab; |

WHEREAS, Auto-Lab is the Franchisor of "Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Centers" automotive diagnostic and repair facility franchises and has the authority to disclose and discuss all information relating to the operations of an Auto-Lab repair facility franchise store (each a "Store", collectively, the "Stores");

WHEREAS, Confidential Information will be disclosed to the Franchisee Parties in relation to Franchisee's operation of its franchised Store (the "Franchise Store"); and

WHEREAS, such Confidential Information gives Auto-Lab and the Franchisee Parties a competitive advantage over those who do not know it and who may compete with Auto-Lab, its affiliates, or its franchisees by operating a Competing Business (as herein defined).

NOW, THEREFORE, in order to induce Auto-Lab to transmit the aforesaid Confidential Information to it, and for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Owner hereby agrees as follows:

1. **Definitions:**

- (a) The term "Competing Business" shall mean any business similar to or competitive with a Stores or a business competitive with Auto-Lab.
- (b) The term "Confidential Information" shall mean, but shall not be limited to, all information, knowledge, trade secrets or know-how utilized or embraced by the Franchise System or which otherwise concerns the Franchise System, its operations, programs, services, products, customers, practices, materials, books, records, manuals, computer files, databases, or software. Confidential Information includes, without limitation: all elements of the Franchise System and all products, services, equipment, technologies, policies, standards, requirements, criteria and procedures that now or in the future are part of the Franchise System; the Manual (including Supplements to the Manual); all Customer Data; all specifications, sources of supply, all procedures, systems, techniques and activities employed by Auto-Lab or Franchisee in the offer and sale of products and/or services at or from the Franchise Store; all pricing paradigms established by Auto-Lab or Franchisee; all of Auto-Lab's or Franchisee's sources (or prospective

sources) of supply and all information pertaining to same (including wholesale pricing structures, the contents of sourcing agreements and the identity of suppliers); Auto-Lab's specifications, and Franchisee's final plans, for construction, buildout, design, renovation décor, equipment, signage, furniture, fixtures, and trade dress elements of the Franchise Store, the identity of, and all information relating to, the computer hardware and software utilized by the Franchise System; all information pertaining to advertising, marketing, promotion, and merchandising campaigns, activities, materials, specifications and procedures; all customer lists and records generated and/or otherwise maintained by the Franchise Store; internet and website protocols, procedures and content; training and other instructional programs and materials; all communications between Auto-Lab and Franchisee (including the financial and other reports required to be submitted under this Agreement); additions to, deletions from and modifications and variations of the components of the Franchise System and the other systems and methods of operations which Auto-Lab employs now or in the future; and all other information, knowledge and know-how which either Auto-Lab or its affiliates now or in the future, designate as confidential, which is disclosed to or acquired by Franchisee or Owner directly or indirectly from Auto-Lab, which reasonably should be considered confidential, or which is obtained by any Franchisee Party through an inspection of any facility employing Confidential Information. Confidential Information will not, however, include information that the Franchisee Parties can demonstrate came to the Franchisee Parties' attention before Auto-Lab disclosed it to the Franchisee Parties (unless illegally or improperly procured by a Franchisee Party before disclosure) or which, at or after the time of disclosure, such information has become part of the public domain through publication or communication by others, but not through any Franchisee Party act.

- (c) The term "Franchise System" shall mean a business system utilizing distinctive décor and certain confidential business practices and procedures in outlets which offer full service and diagnostic-oriented automotive repair and maintenance services, featuring our proprietary operations software and offering customers and businesses comprehensive automotive and engine analysis, electrical system repair, air conditioning repair, engine repair, and other related automotive repair services for all makes and models of cars, SUVs, and light-duty trucks under Auto-Lab's trademark and service marks.
- (d) The term "Manual" shall mean Franchisor's Brand Standards Manuals and other manuals Franchisor may develop. The Manual will, among other things, set forth the Franchise System, the operating systems, procedures, policies, methods, standards, specifications, and requirements for operating a Store and protection of the brand. Franchisor has the right to prescribe additions to, deletions from, or revisions of the Manual (the "Supplements to the Manual").
- 2. The Franchisee Parties agree to retain all Confidential Information in strict confidence and not use it or disclose it to any third party, except as otherwise expressly permitted in the Franchise Agreement, and the Franchisee Parties agree not to claim any right or interest in or to disclose Confidential Information to others. The Franchisee Parties agree never to copy, duplicate, record, or otherwise reproduce any of the Confidential Information, in whole or in part; otherwise share it with any third party; store it in a computer or other electronic format; or otherwise make it available to any third party by any other means whatsoever. The Franchisee Parties agree to only use and only permit the use of Confidential Information solely in connection

with the operation of the Franchise Store. The Franchisee Parties hereby indemnify Auto-Lab and its directors, officers, employees, agents, members, successors and assigns, affiliates and subsidiaries, and the respective directors, officers, employees, agents, shareholders, members, affiliates, and successors and assigns of each, from any damages, costs, and expenses resulting from or related to any unauthorized disclosure or use of Confidential Information by the Franchisee Parties or their respective directors, officers, employees, agents, shareholders, members, affiliates, consultants, and contractors. The Franchisee Parties agree not to claim any right or interest in or to disclose the Confidential Information to others.

- 3. The Franchisee Parties agree never to use any of the Confidential Information to own, operate, or develop any Competing Business.
- 4. In the event that the Franchise Agreement between Franchisee and Auto-Lab terminates, expires without renewal, or ends for any other reason, or upon Auto-Lab's request, the Franchisee Parties shall return to Auto-Lab all Confidential Information, and shall not retain any copies in whatever form, including without limitation electronically stored information, or other reproductions, or extracts thereof, provided or prepared by Auto-Lab or the Franchisee Parties or any of their respective officers, managers, shareholders, directors, agents, employees, representatives, or consultants. The Franchisee Parties shall provide a certificate to Auto-Lab, in a form satisfactory to Auto-Lab, that all of the foregoing have in fact been returned and/or destroyed.

5. **Non-competition.**

The Franchisee Parties acknowledge that the Confidential Information disclosed to the Franchisee Parties and all other aspects of the Franchise System are highly valuable assets of Auto-Lab, and the Franchisee Parties agree that the Franchisee Parties, including but not limited to Franchisee's officers, directors, members, executives, managers, and Owner's immediate family members and members of Owner's household, shall not, without the prior written consent of Auto-Lab (i) during the term of the Franchise Agreement, directly or indirectly, including, without limitation, individually or in partnership or jointly or in conjunction with any person, as principal, agent, shareholder, member, partner, or other equity owner, or in any other manner whatsoever, carry on, be engaged in, or be concerned with or interested in, or advise, lend money to, guarantee the debts or obligations of, or permit their name(s) or any part thereof to be used or employed by any person or entity engaged in, or concerned with or interested in any Competing Business; and (ii) for a period of twenty-four (24) months from the date of expiration, termination, or any other end of the Franchise Agreement, regardless of the reason or reasons, directly or indirectly, including, without limitation, individually or in partnership or jointly or in conjunction with any person, engage as an owner, member, shareholder, partner, equity owner, director, officer, employee, consultant, salesperson, representative, or agent of, in any other capacity, in any Competing Business within thirty (30) miles of the territorial boundaries of any Designated Area granted to Franchisee under the Franchise Agreement and within thirty (30) miles of the territorial boundaries of any other Designated Area of any Store (as of the date of termination or expiration of this Agreement) which is being operated by another franchisee or by Auto-Lab or any of its affiliates.

- (b) The Franchisee Parties also acknowledge and agree that if any Franchisee Party should violate the provisions of Section 5 of this Confidentiality and Nondisclosure Agreement and Covenant Not to Compete with respect to the operation of a Competing Business following expiration or termination of this Confidentiality and Nondisclosure Agreement and Covenant Not to Compete, then the period for which the prohibition stated therein shall be applicable shall be extended until two (2) years following the date such Franchisee Party ceases all activities that are in violation of such provision.
- 6. <u>Effect of Agreement.</u> Auto-Lab's sole obligation under this Agreement is to provide the Confidential Information to the Franchisee Parties at the outset of the parties' business relationship so that the Franchisee Parties may open and operate the Franchise Store. Auto-Lab shall have no further obligations under this Agreement once Auto-Lab has provided the Confidential Information to the Franchisee Parties. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to create any additional or continuing obligation of Auto-Lab after Auto-Lab initially provides the Confidential Information to the Franchisee Parties. The Franchisee Parties' obligations under this Agreement shall continue in effect after termination, expiration, or any other end of the Franchise Agreement, regardless of the reason or reasons, whether such was voluntary or involuntary, and Auto-Lab is entitled to communicate the Franchisee Parties' obligations under this Agreement to any third party to the extent deemed necessary by Auto-Lab for protection of its rights.
- **Reasonableness of Restrictions**. The Franchisee Parties have carefully considered the nature and extent of the restrictions upon the Franchisee Parties set forth in this Agreement (including without limitation, the covenants not to compete, confidentiality restrictions, and the restrictions on assignment) and the rights and remedies conferred upon all of the parties under this Agreement. Such restrictions, rights, and remedies: (a) are reasonable, including, but not limited to, their term and geographic scope; (b) are designed to preclude competition which would be unfair to Auto-Lab and its Franchise System; (c) are fully required to protect Auto-Lab's legitimate business interests; and (d) do not confer benefits upon Auto-Lab that are disproportionate to the Franchisee Parties' detriment. The covenants not to compete set forth in this Agreement are fair and reasonable, and will not impose any undue hardship on the Franchisee Parties, since the Franchisee Parties have other considerable skills, experience, and education which afford the Franchisee Parties the opportunity to derive income from other endeavors. The Franchisee Parties acknowledge that each of the terms set forth herein, including the restrictive covenants, are fair and reasonable and are reasonably required for the protection of Auto-Lab, Auto-Lab's Confidential Information, Auto-Lab's business system, its network of franchises, Auto-Lab's goodwill, and Auto-Lab's trademarks and service marks, and the Franchisee Parties waive any right to challenge these restrictions as being overly broad, unreasonable or otherwise unenforceable. If, however, a court of competent jurisdiction determines that any such restriction is unreasonable or unenforceable, then the Franchisee Parties agree to submit to the reduction of any such activity, time period or geographic restriction necessary to enable the court to enforce such restrictions to the fullest extent permitted under applicable law. It is the desire and intent of the parties that the provisions of this Agreement shall be enforced to the fullest extent permissible under the laws and public policies applied in any jurisdiction where enforcement is sought.

- Relief for Breaches of Confidentiality and Non-Competition. The Franchisee Parties acknowledge that it will be difficult to measure the damages to Auto-Lab from any breach of a Franchisee Party of the covenants and restrictions set forth herein, that the injury to Auto-Lab from any such breach would be incalculable and irremediable and the damages are not an alternative or an adequate remedy. The Franchisee Parties therefore agree that in the event any Franchisee Party breaches or attempts to breach any of the terms of this Agreement, Auto-Lab shall be entitled as a matter of right to obtain from any court of competent jurisdiction an injunction (i) prohibiting the breaching party from any further breaches of this Agreement; (ii) rescinding any action taken by the breaching party contrary to the terms of this Agreement; and (iii) authorizing Auto-Lab to recover from the breaching party any and all salaries, fees, commissions, income, profits or other remuneration or gain which the breaching party may have received or to which it may have become entitled to receive from or by reason of the conducting of any activity in violation of the terms, conditions, or covenants of this Agreement. The issuance of such an injunction will not prevent Auto-Lab from obtaining such other relief that Auto-Lab is entitled.
- Independent Contractor and Joint Employer Disclaimer. The Franchisee 9. Parties understand and agree that nothing in this Agreement may be construed to create a partnership, joint venture, agency, or employment relationship of any kind between Auto-Lab or any of the Franchisee Parties. No party shall represent that the relationship between Auto-Lab and the Franchisee Parties is other than that of franchisor and franchisee. Auto-Lab does not assume any liability, and shall not be considered liable, for any agreements, representations, or warranties made by the Franchisee Parties unless expressly authorized under this Agreement. Auto-Lab will not be obligated for any damages to any person or property that directly or indirectly arises from or is related to the operation of the Franchise Store by the Franchisee Parties. The Franchisee Parties acknowledge and agree, and will never contend otherwise, that the Franchisee Parties alone will exercise day-to-day control over all operations, activities, and elements of the Franchise Store and that under no circumstance will Auto-Lab do so or be deemed to do so. The Franchisee Parties further acknowledge and agree, and will never contend otherwise, that the various requirements, restrictions, prohibitions, and covenants the Franchisee Parties are required to comply with under this Agreement do not directly or indirectly constitute, suggest, infer, or imply that Auto-Lab controls any aspect or element of the day-to-day operations of the Franchise Store. None of Franchisee Parties' employees nor the Franchisee Parties will be considered employees of Auto-Lab. Neither the Franchisee Parties nor any of Franchisee Parties' employees whose compensation Franchisee may pay in any way, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, will be construed to be an employee of Auto-Lab for any purpose, including, without limitation, with respect to any mandated or other insurance coverage, tax or contributions, or requirements pertaining to withholdings, levied or fixed by any local, state or federal governmental agency.
- 10. Notice Pursuant to Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016. Pursuant to the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016, I have been notified and understand that I will not be held criminally or civilly liable under any federal or state trade secrets law for the disclosure of a trade secret that: (i) is made in confidence to a federal, state, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney, solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (ii) is made in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal.

11. Miscellaneous.

- (a) The parties agree that this Agreement shall become non-executory after Auto-Lab's disclosure of the Confidential Information.
- (b) This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof. This Agreement supersedes any prior agreements, negotiations, and discussions between the parties. This Agreement cannot be altered or amended except by an agreement in writing signed by the duly authorized representatives of the parties.
- (c) Except to the extent governed by the United States Trademark Act of 1946 (Lanham Act; 15 U.S.C. § 1050 et. seq), as amended, this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the state of Michigan (without reference to the conflict of laws provisions). The parties agree, however, that if the Franchise Store is not located in Michigan, and if no Franchisee Party a resident of Michigan, the provisions of the Michigan Franchise Investment Law and the regulations promulgated thereunder shall not apply to this Agreement.
- (d) Any action brought by any party to this Agreement shall only be brought in the appropriate state or federal court located in or serving the county in which Auto-Lab's principal place of business is located at the time the litigation is commenced. The parties waive all questions of personal jurisdiction or venue for the purposes of carrying out this provision. Claims for injunctive relief may be brought by Auto-Lab where any Franchisee Party is located. This exclusive choice of jurisdiction and venue provision shall not restrict the ability of the parties to confirm or enforce judgments in any appropriate jurisdiction.
- (e) If Auto-Lab is required to enforce this Agreement in any judicial or arbitration proceeding or any appeals, each Franchisee Party, jointly and severally, must reimburse Auto-Lab for its enforcement costs. Enforcement costs include actual accountants', attorneys', attorney's assistants', arbitrators' and expert witness fees, costs of investigation and proof of facts, court costs, arbitration filing fees, other litigation expenses and travel and living expenses, whether incurred prior to, in preparation for, or in contemplation of the filing of any written demand, claim, action, hearing or proceeding to enforce this Agreement.
- (f) This Agreement shall be effective as of the date this Agreement is executed and shall be binding upon the successors and assigns of the parties and shall inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors and assigns. Franchisee Parties may not assign this Agreement without the prior written consent of Auto-Lab. Auto-Lab may assign this Agreement without the prior consent of the Franchisee Parties.
- (g) The failure to insist upon performance in any one (1) or more instances upon non-performance of any terms, covenants, and conditions of this Agreement shall not be construed a waiver of future performance of any such term, covenant, or condition of this Agreement, and the obligations of each party with respect thereto shall continue in full force and effect.

- (h) The paragraph headings in this Agreement are included solely for convenience and shall not affect, or be used in connection with, the interpretation of this Agreement.
- (i) The existence of any claim or cause of action a Franchisee Party might have against Auto-Lab will not constitute a defense to the enforcement by Auto-Lab of this Agreement.
- (j) In the event any Section or portion of any Section in this Agreement shall be determined to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason(s), such invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect the validity and enforceability of the remaining valid and enforceable Sections hereof, which shall be construed as if such invalid or unenforceable Section or Sections had not been inserted.
- (k) Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, no remedy conferred upon the parties pursuant to this Agreement is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, and each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given pursuant to this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute or otherwise. No single or partial exercise by any party of any right, power or remedy pursuant to this Agreement shall preclude any other or further exercise thereof.
- (l) This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts each of which when so executed shall be an original, but all of which together shall constitute one (1) and the same instrument. This Agreement may be executed on signature pages exchanged by electronic mail (including pdf or any electronic signature complying with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000, e.g., www.docusign.com) or other transmission method and any counterpart so delivered shall be deemed to have been duly and validly delivered and be valid and effective for all purposes. Copies of executed counterparts transmitted by such electronic transmission service shall be considered original executed counterparts for purposes of this Agreement.

THE FRANCHISEE PARTIES CERTIFY THAT THEY HAVE READ THIS AGREEMENT CAREFULLY AND UNDERSTAND AND ACCEPT THE OBLIGATIONS THAT IT IMPOSES WITHOUT RESERVATION. NO PROMISES OR REPRESENTATIONS HAVE BEEN MADE TO ANY FRANCHISEE PARTY TO INDUCE THE SIGNING OF THIS AGREEMENT.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed on the day and year written below.

| FRANCHISEE: | AUTO-LAB: |
|-------------|---------------------------|
| | AUTO-LAB FRANCHISING, LLC |
| By: | Ву: |
| Title: | Title: |
| Dated: | Dated: |

| OWNE | R: | | |
|----------|----|------|--|
| | | | |
| By: | | | |
| Title: _ | | | |
| Dated: | | | |

EXHIBIT D

PRINCIPAL OWNER'S GUARANTY AND ASSUMPTION OF OBLIGATIONS

| This | Guaranty | must | be | signed | by | the | principal | owners | (referre | d to | as | "Guarantor | :") of |
|------|-----------|------|-----|--------|-------|-------|------------|-----------|-----------|-------|------|--------------|--------|
| | | | | | (| (the | "Franchise | ee") unde | er the Fr | anchi | se | Agreement | dated |
| | | , | 20_ | (tł | ne "I | Franc | chise Agre | eement") | with Au | to-La | ıb I | Franchising, | LLC |
| ("Au | to-Lab"). | | | | | | | | | | | | |

- Owners" of any entity that signs a Franchise Agreement must personally guarantee the Franchisee's performance under the Franchise Agreement. In consideration of and as an inducement to Auto-Lab signing and delivering the Franchise Agreement, each Guarantor signing this Guaranty personally and unconditionally: (a) guarantees to Auto-Lab and its successors and assigns that the Franchisee will punctually pay and perform each and every undertaking, agreement and covenant set forth in the Franchise Agreement; and (b) agrees to be personally bound by, and personally liable for the breach of each and every provision in the Franchise Agreement.
- 2. <u>Waivers.</u> Each Guarantor waives: (a) acceptance and notice of acceptance by Auto-Lab of Guarantor's obligations under this Guaranty; (b) notice of demand for payment of any indebtedness or nonperformance of any obligations guaranteed by Guarantor; (c) protest and notice of default to any party with respect to the indebtedness or nonperformance of any obligations guaranteed by Guarantor; (d) any right Guarantor may have to require that an action be brought against the Franchisee or any other person as a condition of Guarantor's liability; (e) all rights to payments and claims for reimbursement or subrogation which Guarantor may have against the Franchisee arising as a result of Guarantor's execution of and performance under this Guaranty; and (f) all other notices and legal or equitable defenses to which Guarantor may be entitled in Guarantor's capacity as guarantor.
- Guarantor's direct and immediate liability under this Guaranty are joint and several; (b) Guarantor must render any payment or performance required under the Franchise Agreement upon demand if the Franchisee fails or refuses punctually to do so; (c) Guarantor's liability will not be contingent or conditioned upon Auto-Lab's pursuit of any remedies against the Franchisee or any other person; (d) Guarantor's liability will not be diminished, relieved or otherwise affected by any extension of time, credit or other indulgence which Auto-Lab may from time to time grant to Franchisee or to any other person including, without limitation, the acceptance of any partial payment or performance or the compromise or release of any claims and no such indulgence shall in any way modify or amend this Guaranty; and (e) this Guaranty will continue and is irrevocable during the term of the Franchise Agreement and, if required by the Franchise Agreement, after its termination or expiration.
- 4. <u>Enforcement Costs.</u> If Auto-Lab is required to enforce this Guaranty in any judicial or arbitration proceeding or any appeals, Guarantor must reimburse Auto-Lab for its enforcement costs. Enforcement costs include actual accountants', attorneys', attorney's assistants', arbitrators' and expert witness fees, costs of investigation and proof of facts, court costs, arbitration filing fees, other litigation expenses and travel and living expenses, whether incurred prior to, in preparation for, or in contemplation of the filing of any written demand, claim, action, hearing or

proceeding to enforce this Guaranty.

- 5. <u>Effectiveness.</u> Guarantor's obligations under this Guaranty are effective on the effective date of the Franchise Agreement, regardless of the actual date of signature. Terms not otherwise defined in this Guaranty have the meanings as defined in the Franchise Agreement. This Guaranty is governed by Michigan law, without reference to the conflict of law provisions thereof, and Auto-Lab may enforce its rights regarding it in the courts of Oakland County, Michigan. Each Guarantor irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction and venue of such courts.
- 6. Remedies. The failure to insist upon performance in any one (1) or more instances upon non-performance of any terms, covenants, and conditions of this Guaranty shall not be construed as a waiver of future performance of any such term, covenant, or condition of this Guaranty, and any obligations with respect hereto shall continue in full force and effect. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Guaranty, no remedy conferred upon the Parties pursuant to this Guaranty is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, and each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given pursuant to this Guaranty or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute or otherwise. No single or partial exercise of any right, power or remedy pursuant to this Guaranty shall preclude any other or further exercise thereof.
- 7. Counterparts. This Guaranty may be executed in any number of counterparts each of which when so executed shall be an original, but all of which together shall constitute one (1) and the same instrument. This Guaranty may be executed on signature pages exchanged by electronic mail (including pdf or any electronic signature complying with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000, e.g., www.docusign.com) or other transmission method and any counterpart so delivered shall be deemed to have been duly and validly delivered and be valid and effective for all purposes. Copies of executed counterparts transmitted by such electronic transmission service shall be considered original executed counterparts for purposes of this Guaranty.
- 8. <u>Headings.</u> The paragraph headings in this Guaranty are included solely for convenience and shall not affect, or be used in connection with, the interpretation of this Guaranty.
- 9. <u>Severability.</u> In the event any Section or portion of any Section in this Guaranty shall be determined to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason(s), such invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect the validity and enforceability of the remaining valid and enforceable Sections hereof, which shall be construed as if such invalid or unenforceable Section or Sections had not been inserted.
- 10. Entire Agreement. This Guaranty constitutes the entire agreement between us, you and the Principal Owners concerning the subject matter hereof. All prior agreements, discussions, negotiations, understandings, inducements, representations, warranties and covenants are merged herein and are superseded by this Guaranty. THERE ARE NO WARRANTIES, REPRESENTATIONS, COVENANTS OR AGREEMENTS, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, BETWEEN THE PARTIES CONCERNING THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY IMPLIED COVENANT OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING, EXCEPT THOSE EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS GUARANTY. EXCEPT THOSE PERMITTED TO BE MADE UNILATERALLY BY US HEREUNDER, NO AMENDMENT, CHANGE OR MODIFICATION VARIANCE FROM THIS GUARANTY SHALL BE BINDING ON EITHER PARTY UNLESS MUTUALLY AGREED TO BY US AND YOU AND EXECUTED IN WRITING.

Each Guarantor now signs and delivers this Guaranty effective as of the date of the Franchise Agreement regardless of the actual date of signature.

| GUARANTOR | | GUARANTOR | |
|-----------|--------------------|-----------|-------------------|
| | (print name) | | (print name) |
| | (print address) | | (print address) |
| | (city, state, zip) | | (city, state, zip |
| | (phone) | | (phone) |
| | (% owned) | | (% owned) |
| GUARANTOR | | GUARANTOR | |
| | (print name) | | (print name) |
| | (print address) | | (print address) |
| | (city, state, zip) | | (city, state, zip |
| | (phone) | | (phone) |
| | (% owned) | | (% owned) |
| DATE | 20 | | |



CONDITIONAL ASSIGNMENT OF LEASE

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into between Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC

| ("Auto-Lab"), located at 40400 Ann Arbor Road, Suite 101, Plymouth, Michigan 48170 and located at, ("Franchisee"). |
|--|
| WHEREAS, Auto-Lab and Franchisee have executed a Franchise Agreement on the day of, 20 ("Franchise Agreement") for the establishment of an "Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Centers" franchise to be operated under Auto-Lab's Trademarks as that term is defined in the Franchise Agreement. |
| WHEREAS, the Franchise Agreement requires the execution of this Conditional Assignment of Lease if the real estate for the Franchise Store is leased by the Franchisee; |
| WHEREAS, Franchisee proposes to enter into a real estate lease with |
| NOW THEREFORE, it is hereby agreed as follows: |
| 1. <u>Conditional Assignment.</u> Franchisee hereby assigns to Auto-Lab all of Franchisee's right, title, and interest in and to the Real Estate Lease, including any and all rights or options of Franchisee to extend, renew, or purchase the leased property through a right of first refusal or otherwise, such assignment to become effective upon the occurrence of either of the following: |
| A. <u>Termination of Franchise Agreement</u> . Upon termination or expiration without renewal of the Franchise Agreement, Auto-Lab shall have the option to accept the assignment of the Real Estate Lease pursuant to this Agreement by giving the notice prescribed by this Conditional Assignment of Lease, in which case it is agreed the Real Estate Lease shall remain in effect as to Auto-Lab. |

rejection, or non-renewal of the Franchise Agreement, or otherwise, Auto-Lab shall have the option to accept the assignment of the Real Estate Lease pursuant to this Agreement by giving the notice prescribed by this Conditional Assignment of Lease, in which case it is agreed the Real Estate Lease shall remain in effect as to Auto-Lab.

Lease as to Franchisee or termination of Franchisee's possession rights under the Real Estate Lease, whether by Franchisee's default under or rejection of the Real Estate Lease, termination,

В.

Termination of Real Estate Lease. Upon termination of the Real Estate

C. <u>Franchisee Right to Assign</u>. At Franchisee's discretion, Franchisee may assign Real Estate Lease to Auto-Lab, and Auto-Lab may accept such assignment, at any time.

- **2.** <u>Effect of Assignment.</u> Upon Auto-Lab's exercise of its option to take the above-described assignment:
- A. Franchisee shall be relieved from any further liability under the provisions of the Real Estate Lease and the Real Estate Lease shall be terminated as to Franchisee; provided, however, that Franchisee shall remain liable for any amounts owing, or any other default occurring, prior to the effective date of assignment.
- B. Auto-Lab shall succeed to all of Franchisee's rights, options, and obligations under the Real Estate Lease commencing with the effective date of the assignment and shall have the right to transfer or assign the Real Estate Lease to another Auto-Lab franchisee without the need to seek consent from the Landlord. Auto-Lab's transfer to another Auto-Lab franchisee relieves Auto-Lab from any further liability under the Real Estate Lease.

3. Notice of Franchisee's Default.

- A. Landlord's Notice. Landlord shall provide Auto-Lab notice of any default under the Real Estate Lease. Auto-Lab shall have the option (but not obligation) to cure any default should Franchisee fail to cure the default within the period in which Franchisee has to cure the default. At the expiration of Franchisee's period in which Franchisee has to cure any default, Auto-Lab shall then have 15 days in which to make its decision to cure. Auto-Lab may cure Franchisee's default without exercising its option to accept assignment of the Real Estate Lease and, in such event, Landlord agrees to accept Auto-Lab's cure as if made timely by Franchisee. Landlord shall give Auto-Lab written notice at least 30 days prior to the termination of the Real Estate Lease, expiration without renewal, or date of re-entry or repossession. Auto-Lab shall have 30 days after written notice from Landlord to exercise this option to accept assignment of the Real Estate Lease. Auto-Lab may exercise its option to accept assignment of the Real Estate Lease by written notice to the Landlord, and the assignment shall be effective upon the termination of the Real Estate Lease as to Franchisee.
- B. <u>Auto-Lab's Notice</u>. Auto-Lab shall give Landlord copies of any or all notices of termination given to Franchisee pursuant to the Franchise Agreement, and if Auto-Lab desires to exercise its option to accept the assignment of the Lease in the event of Franchisee's failure to cure the default of the Franchise Agreement, Auto-Lab shall provide Landlord with a written notice on or before the date of termination of the Franchise Agreement. It is hereby agreed that Landlord may rely solely upon the written notice received from Auto-Lab as to the termination or expiration without renewal of the Franchise Agreement, and Franchisee hereby releases the Landlord from any liability for relying upon such notice and shall hold the Landlord harmless from any and all liability to Lessee for any action Landlord may take in such reliance.
- **4.** <u>Notice</u>. Notice required by this Agreement shall be sent by overnight, certified or registered mail to Auto-Lab at the following address:

Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC Attn: Stephen R. Wilson 40400 Ann Arbor Road, Suite 101 Plymouth, MI 48170

with a copy to (which shall not be deemed notice):

Michael J. Cole Fahey Schultz Burzych Rhodes PLC 4151 Okemos Road Okemos, MI 48864

| address: | Notice required by this Agreement shall | be sent to | Franchisee | at the | following |
|----------|---|------------|------------|--------|-----------|
| address: | Notice required by this Agreement shall | be sent to | o Landlord | at the | following |
| | | - | | | |

Notice shall be deemed effective on the date received, and regardless of whether the notice is signed for by the recipient, notice shall be deemed received 2 business days after mailing. Parties may change the notice address by providing written notice to the other parties of a change in such notice address.

- 5. Right of First Refusal. In the event that the Franchise Agreement and Real Estate Lease terminate, are not renewed, expire, or otherwise end for any reason, Landlord hereby agrees that Franchisor shall have a right of first refusal to lease the Leased Premises. If Franchisor declines to exercise its right of first refusal within thirty (30) days of receipt of a bona fide written offer from Landlord, Landlord may lease the Leased Premises to another lessee under the same terms as offered to Franchisor. If, however, Landlord alters the terms of the lease offer, Franchisor shall have an additional right of first refusal on the same terms and conditions as are applicable to the altered offer.
- 6. Execution of the Documents. Franchisee hereby agrees to execute any and all documents requested by Auto-Lab in order to fully exercise any of the rights under the Real Estate Lease or this Conditional Assignment of Lease. If Franchisee shall not have executed any such document within the 3 days after having been so requested by Auto-Lab, Franchisee hereby appoints any member or officer of Auto-Lab as its attorney-in-fact with the full right and power to execute any and all such documents.

- 7. Renewal, Extension or Amendment. Any renewal or extension of the Real Estate Lease, or any amendment to this Agreement or the Real Estate Lease of any type, can only be made by a writing executed by all three parties to this Agreement.
- **8.** <u>Indemnification</u>. Franchisee shall indemnify and hold Auto-Lab harmless from any and all liability that Auto-Lab may incur after the effective date of the assignment of the Real Estate Lease arising under the terms of that Real Estate Lease from Franchisee's acts or omissions occurring prior to the effective date of the assignment, excluding only any liability prior to the assignment that Auto-Lab agrees in writing to assume and from which Auto-Lab agrees to hold Franchisee harmless.

9. Miscellaneous.

- A. <u>Use of Real Estate</u>. Landlord hereby agrees to and acknowledges Franchisee's right to use and display Auto-Lab's Trademarks as that term is used in the Franchise Agreement, subject only to any limitations imposed by Auto-Lab and any local, state or federal law. Landlord agrees that it will not limit Franchisee's right to use Auto-Lab's Trademarks. Landlord further agrees to and acknowledges that the real estate subject to the Real Estate Lease shall be used solely for the operation of an Auto-Lab franchise. Landlord agrees to notify Auto-Lab in the event that Franchisee begins to use real estate in any other manner and Landlord shall consider such use as an event of default.
- **B.** Applicable Law. This Agreement shall be construed according to the laws of the state in which the premises are located. If any provision, or portion of a provision, of this Agreement is or shall become in conflict with any applicable law, then the applicable law shall govern and such provision or portion of a provision shall be automatically deleted and shall not be effective to the extent that it is not in accordance with applicable law. However, the remaining terms and conditions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and no provision shall be deemed dependent upon any other provision unless otherwise expressed in this Agreement.
- C. <u>Entire Agreement</u>. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof. This Agreement supersedes any prior agreements, negotiations and discussions between the Parties. This Agreement cannot be altered or amended except by an agreement in writing signed by the duly authorized representatives of the Parties..
- **D.** New Real Estate Lease. It is hereby agreed that if the Real Estate Lease is terminated or expires without renewal, and the Franchisee and Landlord enter into a new lease arrangement, any such new real estate lease shall be deemed to be the Real Estate Lease for purposes of this Conditional Assignment of Lease thereby making it fully applicable to the new lease.
- **E.** Option to Purchase. In the event Franchisee purchases the real estate, Franchisee agrees to execute the Real Estate Option to Purchase in the form then prescribed by Auto-Lab.

- F. NO ASSUMPTION OF LIABILITY. BY EXECUTING THIS ASSIGNMENT, FRANCHISOR DOES NOT ASSUME ANY LIABILITY WITH RESPECT TO THE PREMISES OR ANY OBLIGATIONS AS TENANT UNDER THE REAL ESTATE LEASE UNLESS AND UNTIL FRANCHISOR EXPRESSLY ASSUMES SUCH LIABILITY AND/OR OBLIGATIONS IN WRITING IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THIS ASSIGNMENT.
- **G.** <u>Right to Assign</u>. Franchisor may assign this Assignment and its rights hereunder to any affiliate, subsidiary, parent, successor or assign of Franchisor and, if so assigned, Franchisor will provide Landlord with written notice of such assignment.
- H. <u>Successors and Assigns; No Waiver</u>. This Assignment runs with the land and the Real Estate Lease and is binding on the parties as well as any successor(s) or assign(s) of the parties. Franchisor's decision not to exercise its option to accept assignment of the Real Estate Lease in accordance with the terms of this Assignment on any one occasion shall not constitute a waiver or affect the validity of this Assignment or Franchisor's ability to exercise its option to accept assignment of the Real Estate Lease at any time thereafter.
- I. <u>Right to Record</u>. The parties agree that this Assignment may be recorded in the public records of the County where the Premises are located.
- J. <u>Disputes</u>. Any dispute between the parties regarding this Conditional Assignment of Lease, and any claim by either party that cannot be amicably settled, shall be determined solely and exclusively by arbitration under the then applicable Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association..
- **K.** Attorney Fees. Franchisee agrees that in the event it is necessary for Franchisor to file any action to enforce the terms and conditions of this Assignment, then Franchisor shall be entitled to recover from Franchisee all of Franchisor's reasonable attorney's fees and costs, including any appellate or bankruptcy proceedings associated therewith.
- L. <u>Headings</u>. The paragraph headings in this Assignment are included solely for convenience and shall not affect, or be used in connection with, the interpretation of this Assignment.
- M. <u>Severability.</u> In the event any Section or portion of any Section in this Assignment shall be determined to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason(s), such invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect the validity and enforceability of the remaining valid and enforceable Sections hereof, which shall be construed as if such invalid or unenforceable Section or Sections had not been inserted.
- N. <u>Counterparts</u>. This Assignment may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be an original, but all of which together shall constitute one (1) and the same instrument. This Assignment may be executed on signature pages exchanged by electronic mail (including pdf or any electronic signature complying with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000, e.g., www.docusign.com) or other transmission method and any counterpart so delivered shall be deemed to have been duly and validly delivered and be valid and

effective for all purposes. Copies of executed counterparts transmitted by such electronic transmission service shall be considered original executed counterparts for purposes of this Assignment.

| This Conditional Assignment o | f Lease is executed this day of, 20 |
|------------------------------------|--|
| In the presence of: | AUTO-LAB FRANCHISING, LLC |
| | By: |
| | FRANCHISEE |
| | By: Its: |
| LAN | NDLORD'S CONSENT |
| The undersigned Landlord he | ereby consents and agrees to the foregoing Conditional |
| Assignment of Lease between | Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC ("Auto-Lab") and |
| | ("Franchisee"). |
| Dated: | |
| | LANDLORD |
| | By: Its: |
| STATE OF | _)) ss |
| COUNTY OF | _) |
| Subscribed and sworn to by the and | above named on this day of, 20 |
| | , Notary PublicCounty, |
| | My Commission Expires: |

EXHIBIT F

REAL ESTATE OPTION TO PURCHASE

THIS AGREEMENT is entered into between Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC of 40400 Ann

| Arbor Road, Suite 101, Place located at | ymouth, Michigan 48170 (hereinafter referred to as "Auto-Lab") and (hereinafter referred to as "Franchisee"). |
|--|--|
| Franchisee acquired the rig automobile diagnostic and terms are defined in the Fra | hisee and Auto-Lab have entered into a Franchise Agreement by which ht to establish and operate an "Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Centers" repair facility using the Trademarks and Auto-Lab's System as those enchise Agreement, which Agreement is dated the day of, ed to as the "Franchise Agreement"); |

WHEREAS, the Franchise Agreement requires that Auto-Lab approve the location for the Franchise Store to be established pursuant to the above referenced Franchise Agreement, that approval being conditioned upon the execution of this Real Estate Option to Purchase in the event Franchisee owns or controls the real estate;

WHEREAS, Franchisee seeks Auto-Lab's approval for particular real estate.

NOW THEREFORE, it is hereby agreed as follows:

- 1. Option. Franchisee hereby grants to Auto-Lab the option to purchase the real estate described in Exhibit "A" (and hereinafter referred to as the "Real Estate") upon the expiration without renewal or termination of the Franchise Agreement. Any transfer, renewal, extension, or amendment of the Franchise Agreement shall not affect this Option Agreement unless expressly provided. The terms of the Option rights are as follows:
- A. Exercise of Option. Within 15 days following the termination or expiration without renewal of the Franchise Agreement as provided for in the Franchise Agreement, Auto-Lab may notify Franchisee in writing of its intention to exercise this option to purchase the Real Estate, and which notice shall constitute an agreement to purchase the Real Estate conditioned upon Auto-Lab obtaining any necessary financing and the real estate being inspected for environmental law compliance. The closing of the sale shall occur as soon as all documentation and other matters have been completed, including obtaining of any necessary financing and environmental inspections, but in any event not later than 120 days after the date upon which the fair market value of the Real Estate is established, as provided in Paragraph B below, unless the parties hereto agree to a later closing date.
- B. Fair Market Value. The parties will attempt to agree upon a fair price for the purchase of the Real Estate, but upon failing to do so within 30 days from the date of the exercise of this option by Auto-Lab, Auto-Lab shall select and pay for the services of a qualified appraiser to establish the fair market value of the Real Estate, and a copy of that appraisal shall be provided to Franchisee. Within 10 days after Franchisee receives the written appraisal, Franchisee shall advise Auto-Lab, in writing, as to whether Franchisee accepts the appraisal. If the appraisal is acceptable to both Auto-Lab and Franchisee, then the amount stated therein shall be the purchase price. If Franchisee rejects the value stated in the appraisal, then Franchisee must notify Auto-Lab

of its rejection within the 10-day period (failing to so notify shall be deemed to be an acceptance) and thereafter Franchisee shall select and pay for the services of a qualified appraiser to appraise the value of the property within 15 days thereafter. Franchisee shall provide Auto-Lab with a copy of the appraisal so obtained, within 30 days after its rejection of the appraisal obtained by Auto-Lab. If Auto-Lab accepts the value stated therein, then the amount stated therein shall be the purchase price. If Auto-Lab rejects the value stated in this appraisal, then two appraisers shall select a third appraiser within the 15 days thereafter, whose determination of fair market value as to the property shall be final and binding on the parties. The cost of the third appraiser shall be paid equally by both Auto-Lab and the Franchisee.

C. **Possession.** Upon receipt of Auto-Lab's notice that it is exercising the option to purchase, Franchisee shall immediately vacate the premises and transfer possession of them to Auto-Lab. From the date of possession to the date of closing, Auto-Lab shall pay on or before Friday of each week a per diem rate equal to .002 of the assessed value on the property, with the final adjustment to be made at closing equal to .002 of the purchase price for the real estate. All utilities and taxes shall be prorated as of the date of possession. Taxes shall be deemed to cover the calendar year in which the taxes became a lien. Taxes that become a lien in years prior to the year of closing shall be paid by Franchisee without proration. Taxes that become a lien in the year of closing shall be prorated so that the Franchisee shall be charged with taxes from the first of the year to closing date and Auto-Lab shall be charged with taxes for the balance of the year. If any bill for taxes proratable under this provision has not yet been issued, the corresponding tax bill for the last previous year shall be substituted therefore and used in proration. Franchisee shall provide an owner's policy of title insurance without exceptions covering the real estate at Franchisee's expense, or at Auto-Lab's option, a complete abstract showing marketable title, together with a 10-year tax history, tax lien search, and financing statements search, all certified to the date of the transfer of possession to Auto-Lab, the cost of the abstract to be paid by Franchisee. Franchisee shall maintain insurance on the real estate to the date of closing, with Auto-Lab becoming responsible for insuring the property beginning with the date of closing.

2. Miscellaneous.

- **A.** Applicable Law. This Agreement shall be construed according to the laws of the state in which the real estate is located.
- **B.** <u>Integration</u>. This Agreement, together with the Franchise Agreement, and any addendums that are attached hereto and are executed on the date hereof which are hereby incorporated herein, contain all of the terms and conditions agreed upon by the parties. No promises or representations have been made by Auto-Lab other than herein set forth. No modifications of the terms of this Agreement shall be valid unless made in writing and executed by both Auto-Lab and the Franchisee.
- C. <u>Arbitration</u>. Any dispute between the parties, and any claim by either party that cannot be amicably settled, shall be determined solely and exclusively by arbitration as provided for in the Franchise Agreement.

| This Agreemen | t is executed thi | s day of | 20 |
|------------------|-------------------|----------|-----|
| THIS ASSOCIACION | i is executed thi | s uavui | ۷0. |

| Signed in the pr | esence of: | AUTO-LAB FRANCHISING, LLC |
|----------------------------------|--|---|
| | | By: |
| | | Its: |
| | | FRANCHISEE |
| | | By: |
| | | Its: |
| STATE OF |) | |
| COUNTY OF _ |) | |
| The fore | going instrument wa | s acknowledged before me this day of, a corporation, to me known to be the of |
| 20 by that Corporation | | a corporation, to me known to be the of |
| | | , Notary Public |
| | | My Commission Expires:County, |
| When recorded, Plymouth, Mich | | b Franchising, LLC at 40400 Ann Arbor Road, Suite 101, |
| Drafted by: | Michael J. Co Fahey Schultz 4151 Okemos Okemos MI | z Burzych Rhodes PLC s Road |

EXHIBIT G

AUTO-LAB FRANCHISING, LLC SOFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMENT

THIS SOFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMENT (the "Agreement") is made as of the effective date identified below (the "Effective Date"), by and between Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, with its principal place of business at 40400 Ann Arbor Road, Suite 101, Plymouth, Michigan 48170 ("AUTO-LAB"), and the franchise identified below (the "Franchisee"):

| EFFECTIVE DATE: |
|---|
| FRANCHISEE NAME: |
| FRANCHISEE ADDRESS: |
| FRANCHISEE CONTACT PARTY: |
| CONTACT TELEPHONE: |
| CONTACT CELL PHONE: |
| CONTACT FAX NUMBER: |
| CONTACT E-MAIL: |
| nal licenses purchased by Franchisee are subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement unless mutually agreed se in writing by the parties. |
| HISEE HAS READ AND AGREES TO BE LEGALLY BOUND BY ALL OF THE FOLLOWING TERMS AND TIONS, ALL OF WHICH ARE INCORPORATED FULLY INTO THIS AGREEMENT. |

AUTO-LAB FRANCHISING, LLC

FRANCHISEE

| Ву: | Ву: |
|--------|--------|
| Name: | Name: |
| Title: | Title: |
| Date: | Date: |

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

A. Grant and Scope of License

- 1. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Auto-Lab hereby grants Franchisee a non-exclusive, non-transferable license for the term of the Franchise Agreement executed between the parties of even date ("License") to (i) run the software product(s) identified in Schedule A, as well as any updates, upgrades, bug fixes and patches thereto provided by Auto-Lab (collectively, the "Products"), and (ii) use the related documentation (the "Documentation") in connection with Franchisee's authorized use of the Products. (The Products and the Documentation are collectively referred to in this Agreement as the "Licensed Products.") As used in this Agreement, "run" means to copy, install, use, access, display, run, and otherwise interact with the Products in their intended manner.
- 2. The Licensed Products may be used by Authorized Users only, and are provided for Franchisee's internal business

purposes only to be used in conjunction with Franchisee's operation of the Franchise Store licensed by Auto-Lab. Use of the Licensed Products by Franchisee is further limited to the number of Authorized Users, specified processing machines, or such other capacity limitations as Auto-Lab may designate from time to time. The Licensed Products may not be used for the benefit of any third parties not authorized herein. For purposes of this Agreement "Authorized Users" means the employees of Franchisee authorized by Franchisee to use the Licensed Products for which Franchisee has notified Auto-Lab in writing.

- 3. Franchisee may make a reasonable number of copies of the Licensed Products, but only to the extent necessary to exercise the rights granted in this Agreement and for bona fide back-up and archival purposes only. All copies must be true and complete copies, and all such copies are subject to all terms, conditions and obligations of this Agreement.
- 4. Franchisee shall not sell, rent, lease, lend, sublicense, distribute or otherwise transfer or provide access to the Licensed Products (or any part thereof) to any person, firm or entity except as expressly authorized herein. Franchisee shall not disclose the results of any benchmark or other performance tests relating to the Licensed Products to any third party without Auto-Lab's prior written consent.
- 5. The Licensed Products are provided in object code form only. Franchisee shall not (and shall not permit any other party to) translate, decompile, or create or attempt to create, by reverse engineering or otherwise, the source code from the object code supplied hereunder, except to the minimum extent expressly permitted by applicable law despite this limitation. The Licensed Products may not be merged, adapted or modified in any way, and no derivative work may be created therefrom. Portions of the Licensed Products may not be used independently of the Licensed Products.
- 6. Franchisee shall not avoid, circumvent or disable any security device, procedure, protocol, or mechanism that Auto-Lab may include, require or establish with respect to the Licensed Products.
- 7. Franchisee shall not delete, alter, cover or distort any copyright, trademark or other proprietary rights notice placed by Auto-Lab on or in the Licensed Products, and shall ensure that all such notices are reproduced on all copies of the Licensed Products.
- 8. Franchisee acknowledges and agrees that this is a license agreement and not an agreement for sale. As such, Auto-Lab assigns no copyrights. As between the parties, all rights, title and interest in and to the Licensed Products, including all updates, upgrades, bug fixes, modifications, enhancements and new versions of the Licensed Products, and all worldwide Intellectual Property Rights that are embodied in, related to or represented by the Licensed Products are, and at all times will be, the sole and exclusive property of Auto-Lab or its licensors, as the case may be. The term "Intellectual Property Rights" means, collectively, rights under patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret laws, and any other intellectual property or proprietary rights recognized in any country or jurisdiction worldwide, including, without limitation, moral rights and similar rights. In the event that, for any reason, the Franchisee is deemed to own Intellectual Property Rights in the Licensed Products, then Franchisee does hereby irrevocably assign to Auto-Lab all rights, title and interest in such Intellectual Property Rights and agrees to execute all documents necessary to cause ownership of such Intellectual Property Rights to vest in Auto-Lab, including but not limited to such documents as Auto-Lab reasonably requests to enable Auto-Lab to obtain appropriate registrations of the Intellectual Property Rights.
- 9. All rights not expressly granted in this Agreement are reserved to Auto-Lab.

10. On Auto-Lab's written request, but not more frequently than annually, Franchisee will furnish Auto-Lab with a signed statement verifying that the Licensed Products are being used in full compliance with the provisions of this Agreement.

B. Fees

- Franchisee shall pay to Auto-Lab a software licensing fee in the amount of Three Hundred Dollars (\$300.00) per month for the use of the Licensed Products, which amount may be increased from time to time by Auto-Lab in Auto-Lab's discretion, provided, however, that no software licensing fee increase shall become effective until written notice of the increase is provided to Franchisee by Auto-Lab. Notice of a software licensing fee increase may be provided by means of updates to the Operations Manual. The monthly fee must be paid by pre-authorized electronic funds transfer on the first day of each month. Franchisee shall promptly execute and deliver to Auto-Lab appropriate pre-authorized check forms (or such other instruments or drafts that Auto-Lab's bank requires) payable against Franchisee's account, so that Auto-Lab may electronically collect (draft on Franchisee's account by electronic withdrawal) the software license fee and other charges due under this Agreement. Any unpaid software license fee or other amounts past due will bear interest at the rate of 18% per annum or the maximum rate permitted by law, whichever is less. Franchisee shall pay Auto-Lab for any and all costs Auto-Lab insures in collecting any unpaid and past due software license fee. Auto-Lab also reserves the rights to increase the fee to account for enhancements to the Licensed Products.
- 2. Franchisee shall purchase all updates, upgrades, bug fixes and patches (collectively "Upgrades") from Auto-Lab within 30 days of the introduction of such Upgrades and implement such Upgrades immediate thereafter.
- 3. Franchisee agrees to pay all current and future sales, use, transfer value-added (VAT) and other taxes and duties, whether state, federal, national or international, however designated, including value added taxes and similar taxes, which are levied or imposed because of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (collectively, "*Taxes*"). Franchisee agrees to promptly reimburse Auto-Lab for any Taxes paid by it.

C. Confidentiality

- Franchisee acknowledges and agrees that the Licensed Products contain confidential information and proprietary trade secrets of Auto-Lab which have been developed or acquired by Auto-Lab through the expenditure of substantial time and money (collectively, the "Auto-Lab Confidential Information"). Auto-Lab Confidential Information shall also include any and all customer information and data input into the Licensed Products. Franchisee shall hold the Auto-Lab Confidential Information in strict confidence, and shall not (nor permit any party to) use, sell, lease, transfer, publish, disclose or otherwise make available any portion of the Auto-Lab Confidential Information to others, except as expressly authorized in this Agreement or as necessary to perform this Agreement. Franchisee shall use reasonable efforts to assist Auto-Lab in identifying and preventing any unauthorized use, copying or disclosure of the Auto-Lab Confidential Information.
- 2. The restrictions on disclosure set forth in Section C(1), above, shall not apply when, and to the extent that, such

information: (i) is, at the time of its disclosure, or thereafter becomes part of the public domain through a source other than the receiving party; (ii) is made available to the general public by a third party who is lawfully in possession of such information, not as a result of any act or failure to act on the part of the receiving party or a breach of a confidentiality obligation to the disclosing party; (iii) was previously known to the receiving party free of any obligation to keep it confidential; (iv) is subsequently disclosed to the receiving party free of any obligation to keep it confidential; (v) is independently developed by the receiving party without regard to any Auto-Lab Confidential Information; or (vi) is disclosed pursuant to the lawful requirements of a court, governmental agency or authority, or by operation of law.

D. <u>Term and Termination</u>

- 1. The term (the "Term") of this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and continue therefrom for the term of the Franchise Agreement between the parties or unless terminated in accordance with the terms of the Franchise Agreement between the parties of even date.
- 2. Immediately upon any termination of this Agreement, the Franchisee shall: (i) cease all use of the Licensed Products; (ii) return to Auto-Lab all copies of the Licensed Products and any other Auto-Lab Confidential Information and proprietary materials of Auto-Lab in its possession; and (iii) certify in writing Franchisee's compliance with (i) and (ii), above.

E. Warranties and Disclaimer; Limitation of Liability; Verification

- 1. AUTO-LAB EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS ALL WARRANTIES, WHETHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, TITLE AND NONINFRINGEMENT IN RELATION TO THE LICENSED PRODUCTS.
- IN NO EVENT SHALL EITHER PARTY BE LIABLE FOR ANY INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, PUNITIVE, RELIANCE, OR COVER DAMAGES, INCLUDING LOSS OF PROFITS, REVENUE, DATA, OR USE INCURRED BY EITHER PARTY OR ANY THIRD PARTY, EVEN IF THAT PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. IN ANY EVENT, AUTO-LAB'S TOTAL LIABILITY ARISING FROM OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT FOR ANY REASON SHALL BE LIMITED TO DIRECT DAMAGES UP TO THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF FEES PAID HEREUNDER. THE FOREGOING LIMITATIONS APPLY TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION IN THE AGGREGATE, INCLUDING BREACH OF CONTRACT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, STRICT LIABILITY, NEGLIGENCE AND OTHER TORTS. IN NO EVENT WILL EITHER PARTY BE LIABLE FOR LOSS OF PROFITS, DATA OR BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY, ARISING FROM OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT.
- 3. Franchisee shall keep records relating to the Licensed Products and their use. These records must be sufficient to allow Auto-Lab to verify compliance with

Franchisee's obligations under this Agreement. Auto-Lab has the right to verify Franchisee's compliance, at Auto-Lab's expense, during the Term of this Agreement and for a period of one (1) year thereafter. To do so, Auto-Lab may engage an independent accountant from a nationally recognized public accounting firm. Verification will take place upon not less than three (3) business days' notice, during normal business hours and in a manner that does not interfere unreasonably with normal business operations. As an alternative, Auto-Lab may require Franchisee to complete a self-audit questionnaire on behalf of Franchisee in a form Auto-Lab provides. If verification or selfaudit reveals unlicensed use of Products, Franchisee must promptly order sufficient licenses to permit all software usage disclosed. If unlicensed use is found, Franchisee must also reimburse Auto-Lab for the costs incurred in verification. Auto-Lab will use any information obtained in connection with compliance verification only to enforce Auto-Lab's rights and to determine whether Franchisee is properly licensed for the Products Franchisee is running and that Franchisee is otherwise in compliance with the terms of this Agreement.

F. General

- 1. The failure of either party to require performance of any part of this Agreement shall not be deemed a waiver of any present or future right.
- 2. Modifications of this Agreement shall be binding only if in writing and signed by authorized representatives of both parties. This Agreement contains the parties' entire agreement and understanding with respect to the matters covered hereby, and it supersedes all prior oral and written agreements and understandings with respect to such matters.
- 3. If any provision of this Agreement is held invalid, illegal or unenforceable, all other provisions contained in this Agreement will remain in effect. If any provision of this Agreement is held to be excessively broad as to duration, geographical scope, activity or subject, it is to be construed by limiting and reducing it so as to be enforceable under and consistent with applicable law.
- 4. Franchisee may not assign this Agreement (or the License) except as provided in the Franchise Agreement between the parties of even date.
- 5. Neither party shall be in default or otherwise liable for any delay in or failure of its performance under this Agreement where such delay or failure arises by reason of any event, such as an act of God, or any government or any governmental body, acts of the common enemy, the elements, strikes or labor disputes, or other similar or dissimilar causes force majeure beyond the reasonable control of such party. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this provision shall not excuse any delay or failure to make any payment required to be made under this Agreement.
- 6. All notices, including notices of address changes, required to be sent hereunder shall be in writing and shall be given as required by the terms of the Franchise Agreement between the parties of even date.

If to Auto-Lab:

Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC 40400 Ann Arbor Road, Suite 101 Plymouth, Michigan 48170 ATTN: Stephen R. Wilson

| If to Franc | hisee: | | |
|-------------|--------|------|--|
| | | | |
| | ATTN: | | |

- 7. This Agreement may be (i) executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but which together shall constitute one and the same document; and (ii) executed by facsimile signature by any party hereto and such signature shall be deemed binding for all purposes hereof, without delivery of an original signature being thereafter required.
- This Agreement is expressly made subject to any 8. export laws, regulations, orders or other restrictions imposed by the United States or by any other government entity on the Licensed Products or of information relating to the foregoing. Notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary, Franchisee shall not import, export or re-export the Licensed Products or any information pertaining thereto, directly or indirectly, to any country to which such import, export or re-export is restricted or prohibited, or as to which such government or any agency thereof requires an export license or other governmental approval at the time of import, export or re-export without first obtaining such license or approval. Franchisee further agrees that the Licensed Products will not be shipped, transferred or exported into any country or used in any manner prohibited by the United States export administration act or any other export laws, restrictions or regulation
- 9. Sections A, C, and E shall survive the termination of this Agreement for any reason.
- 10. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the substantive laws as agreed upon by the parties in the Franchise Agreement of even date and the exclusive venue for all claims arising hereunder shall be governed by the terms of the Franchise Agreement between the parties of even date.

| In witness whereor: |
|---------------------------|
| AUTO LAB FRANCHISING, LLC |
| Ву: |
| Its: |
| |
| Witness |
| FRANCHISEE |
| By: |
| Its: |
| |
| Witness |

Schedule A

Licensed Software Products

Auto Lab Business Management System ("ALBMS").

EXHIBIT H

TELEPHONE NUMBER ASSIGNMENT

| THIS ASSIGNMENT is made and entered into by | y and between Auto-Lab Franchising, |
|---|-------------------------------------|
| LLC ("Auto-Lab") of 40400 Ann Arbor Road, Suite 10 | 01, Plymouth, Michigan 48170, and |
| located at | |
| (hereinafter referred to as "Franchisee"). | |
| WHEREAS, Franchisee has obtained a franchise fr "Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Centers" Franchise Store usin as those terms are used in a Franchise Agreement dated the (hereinafter referred to as the "Franchise Agreement"); | ng Auto-Lab's Trademarks and System |

WHEREAS, in consideration of Auto-Lab granting the franchise to Franchisee, Franchisee agreed in the Franchise Agreement to execute an assignment to Auto-Lab of its telephone number upon the termination or expiration without renewal of the Franchise Agreement, or transfer of the Franchise Agreement;

NOW THEREFORE, it is hereby agreed as follows:

1. Telephone Information.

Franchisee represents and warrants that the telephone number(s) set forth in the attached Exhibit "A," from time to time, shall constitute all of the telephone numbers to be used in its advertising and marketing of its "Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Centers" Franchise Store licensed by the above-referenced Franchise Agreement. It is hereby agreed that this assignment covers not only the telephone numbers set forth in Exhibit "A," but also any other telephone number used by Franchisee in its advertising or marketing of its "Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Centers" Franchise Store.

2. Assignment.

Franchisee hereby assigns to Auto-Lab all of its right, title and interest in and to the telephone numbers described above in Paragraph 1 effective upon the expiration without renewal or termination of the Franchise Agreement.

3. Consent.

Franchisee hereby consents and authorizes any and all telephone companies, telephone directory services, and other public or private business containing, using, or authorizing any of the telephone numbers described above in Paragraph 1 to immediately recognize this assignment upon receipt of written notice from Auto-Lab. Such companies and services shall construe this Assignment as Franchisee's immediate cancellation and surrender of the numbers in Exhibit A, thereby permitting the immediate re-assignment of the numbers by said companies and services to Auto-Lab. A copy of this Assignment, certified by an officer of Auto-Lab, is agreed to be as valid and binding as the original.

4. Notice.

Auto-Lab shall give notice of its acceptance of the assignment of the telephone numbers pursuant to this agreement by either delivering them personally or sending them by first class, certified or registered mail with postage fully paid and depositing them in a depository of the United States Postal Service. Notices shall be given to Franchisee and to all other telephone companies and other businesses who are to recognize the assignment. All notices to Franchisee shall be addressed to the address indicated in this Agreement, or to any subsequent address of which Auto-Lab is notified in writing. Any notice delivered by mail in the manner set forth above shall be deemed delivered and received 2 days after mailing.

5. <u>Cooperation</u>.

Franchisee shall cooperate with Auto-Lab, including but not limited to, executing any and all documents reasonably necessary to effectuate this Assignment, and to cause the telephone company or companies to recognize this Assignment. In the event of Franchisee's failure to sign any required documents within 2 business days of notice, Franchisee hereby appoints Auto-Lab as its lawful attorney in fact to sign on Franchisee's behalf any and all documents necessary to effectuate the assignment of the telephone numbers used in connection with Franchisee's franchise. This power, coupled with an interest, is given as security for the rights and privileges given to Franchisee under the Franchise Agreement by Auto-Lab.

6. Proration.

All telephone charges, including charges for classified advertising in the telephone directory, shall be prorated as of the time of Assignment, with Franchisee paying for all charges prior to the effectiveness of the assignment, and Auto-Lab paying for all charges incurred thereafter.

| IN | WITNESS | WHEREOF,, 20 | the parties | have enter | ed into th | his agreen | nent on the | e day o |
|------------|-----------|--------------|-------------|------------|------------|------------|-------------|---------|
| Αl | JTO-LAB I | FRANCHISII | NG, LLC | | | | | |
| By Its: | | | | | _ | | | |
| FR | RANCHISE | E | | | | | | |
| By Its: | | | | | | | | |

Exhibit A to Telephone Number Assignment Agreement Telephone Number:______



LIST OF STATE ADMINISTRATORS AND AGENTS FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS

| State Administrator | Agent for Service of Process in State |
|--|--|
| | |
| California (<u>filing required</u>) | <u>California</u> |
| Department of Financial Protection and Innovation | Department of Financial Protection and Innovation |
| One Sansome Street, Suite 600 | One Sansome Street, Suite 600 |
| San Francisco, California 94104 | San Francisco, California 94104 |
| Donostorout of Eigensial Dontostico and Languagian | Danastan at a f Financial Bastastica and Laurantica |
| Department of Financial Protection and Innovation 320 W. 4 th Street, Suite 750 | Department of Financial Protection and Innovation 320 W. 4th Street, Suite 750 |
| | |
| Los Angeles, California 90013 | Los Angeles, California 90013 |
| Department of Financial Protection and Innovation | Department of Financial Protection and Innovation |
| 2101 Arena Blvd. | 2101 Arena Blvd. |
| Sacramento, California 95834 | Sacramento, California 95834 |
| (866) 275-2677 | (866) 275-2677 |
| Hawaii (filing required) | <u>Hawaii</u> |
| Franchise & Securities Division | Commissioner of Securities of the State of Hawaii |
| State Department of Commerce | Department of Commerce and Consumer Affairs |
| P.O. Box 40 | Business Registration Division |
| Honolulu, HI 96813 | 335 Merchant Street, Room 203 |
| (808) 586-2722 | Honolulu, Hawaii 96813 |
| Illinois (filing required) | <u>Illinois</u> |
| Franchise Division | Illinois Attorney General |
| Office of Attorney General | 500 South Second Street |
| 500 South Second Street | Springfield, Illinois 62706 |
| Springfield, IL 62706 | |
| (217) 782-4465 | |
| Indiana (filing required) | <u>Indiana</u> |
| Franchise Division | Indiana Secretary of State |
| Office of Secretary of State | 201 State House |
| 302 W. Washington St., Rm. E111 | 200 West Washington Street |
| Indianapolis, IN 46204 | Indianapolis, Indiana 46204 |
| (317) 232-6681 | |
| Maryland (filing required) | Maryland Maryland |
| Franchise Office | Maryland Securities Commissioner |
| Division of Securities | 200 St. Paul Place, 20th Floor |
| 200 St. Paul Place - 20th Floor | Baltimore, Maryland 21202-2020 |
| Baltimore, MD 21202 | |
| (410) 576-6360 Michigan (only notice required) | Mishigan |
| Consumer Protection Division | Michigan Mishigan Department of Commerce |
| Franchise Section | Michigan Department of Commerce Corporations and Securities Bureau |
| PO Box 30213 | * |
| Lansing MI 48909 | 6546 Mercantile Way P.O. Box 30222 |
| Lansing IVII 40707 | Lansing, Michigan 48910 |
| Minnesota (filing required) | Minnesota |
| Franchise Division | Minnesota Commissioner of Commerce |
| Department of Commerce | 85 Seventh Place East, Suite 280 |
| 85 Seventh Place East, Suite 280 | St. Paul, Minnesota 55101 |
| St. Paul, Minnesota 55101 | |
| (651) 539-1600 | |
| New York (filing required) | New York |
| NYS Department of Law | New York Secretary of State |
| Investor Protection Bureau | New York Department of State |
| 28 Liberty St., 21st Floor | One Commerce Plaza |
| New York, NY 10005 | 99 Washington Avenue, 6th Floor |
| (212) 416-8222 | Albany, New York 12231 |

| State Administrator | Agent for Service of Process in State |
|---|--|
| North Dakota (filing required) | North Dakota |
| Franchise Division | Securities Department |
| Office of Securities Commission | 600 East Boulevard, Fifth Floor |
| 600 East Boulevard - 5th Floor | Bismarck, North Dakota 58505 |
| Bismarck, ND 58505 | |
| (701) 328-2910 | |
| Oregon (no filing) | Oregon |
| Corporate Securities Section | Director |
| Dept. of Insurance & Finance | Department of Insurance and Finance |
| Labor & Industries Bldg. | 21 Labor and Industries Building |
| Salem, OR 97310 | Salem, Oregon 97310 |
| (503) 378-4387 | |
| Rhode Island (filing required) | Rhode Island |
| Department of Business Regulation | Director of Department of Business Regulation |
| Securities Division | 1511 Pontiac Avenue, Bldg. 69-1 |
| 1511 Pontiac Avenue, Bldg. 69-1 | Cranston, RI 02920 |
| Cranston, RI 02920 | |
| (401) 462-9527 | |
| South Dakota (filing required) | South Dakota |
| Division of Insurance Securities Regulation | South Dakota Division of Securities |
| 124 S. Euclid, Suite 104 | 445 E. Capitol Avenue |
| Pierre, SD 57501 | Pierre, South Dakota 57501 |
| (605) 773-3563 | |
| Virginia (filing required) | <u>Virginia</u> |
| Franchise Office | Clerk of the State Corporation Commission |
| State Corporation Commission | 1300 East Main Street, 1st Floor |
| 1300 E. Main St., 9th Floor | Richmond, Virginia 23219 |
| Richmond, VA 23219 | |
| (804) 371-9276 | |
| Washington (filing required) | Washington |
| The Department of Financial Institutions | Director of Department of Financial Institutions |
| Securities Division | General Administration Building |
| P.O. Box 9033 | Securities Division - 3 rd Floor West |
| Olympia, WA 98507-9033 | 210 – 11 th Street, SW |
| Voice: (360) 902-8760 | Olympia, Washington 98504 |
| Fax: (360) 586-5068 | |
| Wisconsin (filing required) | Wisconsin CE: 11 die 1 |
| Franchise Office | Department of Financial Institutions |
| Wisconsin Securities Commission | Division of Securities 4 th Floor |
| P.O. Box 1768 | 345 W. Washington Avenue |
| Madison, WI 53701 | Madison, Wisconsin 53703 |
| (608) 266-3364 | |

EXHIBIT J

Store Operations Manual

Table of Contents

| 1. | Overview | page 3 |
|----------------------|--|---------|
| 2. | Daily Operations | page 4 |
| , | Opening the Store | |
| , | Customer Satisfaction | |
| c) | Initial Customer Contact and Data Collection | |
| , | Quoting a Job / Opening a Ticket | |
| , | Diagnostic and Service Procedures | |
| f) | Closing out a Ticket | |
| ٠, | Customer Conflict Resolution Closing the Store | |
| 11) | Closing the Store | |
| 3. | Ongoing Compliance Procedures and Training | page 12 |
| a) | Required Reporting to Franchisor | |
| b) | Suggested Filing and Record Keeping Procedures | |
| c) | Periodic Store Reviews with Franchisor | |
| d) | Ongoing Training and Support from Franchisor | |
| 4. | Other Management Responsibilities | page 20 |
| | | |
| a) | Ongoing Vendor Management | |
| , | Ongoing Vendor Management Managing the Digital Menu Board | |
| b) | | |
| b) c) | Managing the Digital Menu Board | |
| b) c) d) | Managing the Digital Menu Board Warranty & Inter-Shop Policy | |
| b) c) d) | Managing the Digital Menu Board Warranty & Inter-Shop Policy Commercial Fleet Accounts | |
| b) c) d) e) f) | Managing the Digital Menu Board Warranty & Inter-Shop Policy Commercial Fleet Accounts Store Hours of Operation Employee Attire OSHA and Safety Best Practices | |
| b) c) d) e) f) g) h) | Managing the Digital Menu Board Warranty & Inter-Shop Policy Commercial Fleet Accounts Store Hours of Operation Employee Attire | |

Site Selection & Store Preparation

Table of Contents

| 1. | The S | Site Selection Process | page 3 |
|----|------------|---|---------|
| | a. | Searching for a Site | |
| | b. | Minimum Site Requirements | |
| | C. | Other Site Considerations | |
| | d. | Site Approval | |
| | e. | Contracts Related to an Approved Site | |
| 2. | Store | Preparation | page 12 |
| | | Required Licensing, Registrations, and Permits | page := |
| | | Use of Approved Vendors | |
| | | Insurance and Banking Services | |
| | | Signage and Color Specifications | |
| | e. | Customer Reception Area | |
| | f. | Telephone and Internet System | |
| | g. | Service Equipment Selection, Fit Up, and Installation | |
| | h. | Vendor Engagement | |
| | i. | Fast Start Kit | |
| | j. | Technical Data Base | |
| | k. | QuickBooks Set Up | |
| | I. | Merchant Banking Services / Credit Card Processor | |
| | m. | Initial Inventory | |
| 3. | <u>Hum</u> | an Resources | page 30 |
| | a. | Employee Handbook | |
| | b. | Organizational Structure and Job Descriptions | |
| | C. | Employee Recruitment and Hiring | |
| | d. | Compensation and Payroll Processing | |
| | e. | Training | |

Marketing and Advertising

Table of Contents

| 1. | Overview | page 3 |
|----|---|---------|
| 2. | Goals and Objectives | page 5 |
| 3. | Brand Image and Messaging | page 7 |
| 4. | The Auto-Lab Advertising Tool Kit | page 10 |
| | a. Campaigns | |
| | b. Advertising Tiers | |
| | i. At Your Location | |
| | ii. In Your Community ("Own Your Neighborhood") | |
| | iii. Regional | |
| | iv. Social Media and Website | |
| | c. Other Ideas and Factors to Consider | |
| 5. | Pre-Opening Phase | page 25 |
| 6. | Grand Opening Event | page 26 |
| 7. | Rolling 12 Month Plan and Budget | page 28 |
| | a. Creating the Plan | |
| | b. Measuring Effectiveness through Source of Lead Too | I |
| 8. | Advertising Cooperative | page 31 |

Table of Contents

| INTRODUCTION AND DISCLAIMER | |
|--|----|
| Phase 1: Pilot Store Training and Start-Up | 6 |
| Phase 2: Area Developer Training | 7 |
| Phase 3: Franchise Solicitation & Area Development | 8 |
| | |
| 1.0 Understanding the Federal Trade Commission Regulatory Framework | 11 |
| REGISTRATION / LICENSING | 12 |
| COMPLIANCE WITH FTC RULE ON FRANCHISING | |
| The 14-Day Rule | |
| The 7-Day Rule | 17 |
| Parties to Whom an FDD Must be Delivered | |
| Proof of Compliance | 17 |
| COMPLIANCE WITH STATE FRANCHISE AND BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY LAWS | |
| In General | |
| State Specific Forms | |
| Franchise Seller Disclosure Forms and Broker Registrations | |
| Advertising and Websites | |
| MISCELLANOUS ISSUES | |
| Financial Performance Representations | |
| Education, Implementation, and Compliance | 32 |
| 2.0 Understanding the 23 Items of the Franchise Disclosure Document | 25 |
| ITEM 1: THE FRANCHISOR AND ANY PARENTS, PREDECESSORS, AND AFFILIATES | |
| ITEM 2: BUSINESS EXPERIENCE | |
| ITEM 3: LITIGATION | |
| ITEM 4: BANKRUPTCY | |
| ITEM 5: INITIAL FEES | |
| ITEM 6: OTHER FEES | |
| ITEM 7: ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT | |
| ITEM 8: RESTRICTIONS ON SOURCES OF PRODUCTS AND SERVICES | |
| ITEM 9: FRANCHISEE'S OBLIGATIONS | |
| ITEM 10: FINANCING | |
| ITEM 11: FRANCHISOR'S ASSISTANCE, ADVERTISING, COMPUTER SYSTEMS, & TRAINI | |
| ITEM 12: TERRITORY | |
| ITEM 13: TRADEMARKS | |
| ITEM 14: PATENTS, COPYRIGHTS, AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION | |
| ITEM 15: OBLIGATION TO PARTICIPATE IN THE OPERATION OF THE FRANCHISE BUSIN | |
| ITEM 16: RESTRICTIONS ON WHAT THE FRANCHISEE MAY SELL | |
| ITEM 17: RENEWAL, TERMINATION, TRANSFER, AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION | 63 |
| ITEM 18: PUBLIC FIGURES | |
| ITEM 19: FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPRESENTATIONS | |
| ITEM 20: OUTLETS AND FRANCHISEE INFORMATION | |
| ITEM 21: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS | |
| ITEM 22: CONTRACTS | |
| ITEM 23: RECEIPTS | |
| | |
| 3.0 Franchise Solicitation and Area Development | 89 |
| FRANCHISEE RECRUITING PROCESS | |
| Stan 1: Initial Contact Congration | വാ |

| Step 2: Application | |
|---|-----|
| Step 3: Pre-Franchising Resource Reference Guide | 96 |
| Step 4: FDD Issuance and Receipt | 96 |
| Step 5: Validation Call | 96 |
| Step 6: Discovery Day | 97 |
| LEAD MANAGEMENT & REPORTING | |
| PROSPECTIVE FRANCHISEE VETTING AND APPROVAL PROCESS | |
| FRANCHISE AGREEMENT EXECUTION PROCEDURE | |
| INDEPENDENT BUSINESS CONVERSION | |
| SALE OF AN EXISTING AUTO-LAB FRANCHISE | 105 |
| | |
| 4.0 Ongoing Franchise Support | |
| AREA DEVELOPER STAFFING | |
| SITE SELECTION ASSISTANCE | |
| FRANCHISEE TRAINING | |
| END CUSTOMER MARKETING AND ADVERTISING | |
| FRANCHISE STORE VISITS & QUARTERLY REVIEWS | 117 |
| | |
| 5.0 Reporting and Compliance | 120 |
| REPORTING | 121 |
| ROYALTY AND FEE REMITTANCE | |
| OTHER AREA DEVELOPER OBLIGATIONS | 121 |

Table of Contents

| Introduction | 4 |
|--|----|
| Starting Up the Management System | 5 |
| Front Desk | 7 |
| Creating a New Ticket | 12 |
| Customer Information Screen | 13 |
| Vehicle Information Screen | 15 |
| Cash Tickets | 16 |
| Ticket Summary Screen | 17 |
| Adding a Work Group | 20 |
| Master List | 21 |
| Diagnostic Sheets | 22 |
| Parts and Labor Screen | 25 |
| Assigning a Technician | 31 |
| Approved Jobs (Estimates) | 33 |
| Discounts and Quotes | 35 |
| Warranty and No Charge Work | 37 |
| Closing Out a Ticket | 39 |
| Ticket Adjustments | 41 |
| Deposits | 42 |
| Received on Account (ROA) | 44 |
| Totals Icon | 46 |
| Notes Tab | 47 |
| Customer Specific Price Levels and Discounts | 48 |

| History Screen | 49 |
|--------------------------------|----|
| Scheduling Work | 52 |
| Scheduling Online Appointments | 55 |
| Inventory Icon | 57 |
| Vendors | 63 |
| Purchase Order Screen | 64 |
| Deliveries | 69 |
| Accounting - End of Day | 77 |
| Sales History | 81 |
| Deleted Reports | 82 |
| Adding Technicians | 83 |
| Core Charges | 84 |
| Fleet Accounts | 87 |
| No Charge - Labor | 90 |
| Job Setup | 92 |
| Texting Customers | 98 |

EXHIBIT K

Auto-Lab Franchised Locations

| Location | Franchisee | Contact | Address | Phone Number |
|--------------|-------------------------------------|----------------------------|---|-----------------|
| MICHIGAN | | | | |
| Battle Creek | Curtis Motors, LLC | Curt Ainsworth | 145 W. Columbia Ave. Battle Creek, MI 49015 | (269) 965-3969 |
| Belleville | Belleville Auto Investments, LLC | Mark Sullivan | 10625 Belleville Road Belleville, MI 48111 | (734) 697-2424 |
| Brighton | JAM Automotive, LLC | Marlena Poff | 9846 E. Grand River Ave. Brighton, MI 48116 | (810) 229-5522 |
| Canton North | WW Auto Service, LLC | Warren Radgens | 5811 N. Canton Center Road Canton, MI 48187 | (734) 454-9930 |
| Fenton | Empower Central Michigan, Inc. | Bradford Brokaw | 16500 Silver Parkway Fenton, MI 48430 | (810) 750-9000 |
| Gaylord | 2 AM Enterprises, LLC | Andrew Mousseau | 108 W. Commerce Blvd. Gaylord MI 49735 | (989) 705-1566 |
| Howell | ANTJ, LLC | Andy Dobek Travis Dwyer | 3120 E. Grand River Ave. Howell, MI 48843 | (517) 545-7744 |
| Jenison | 13 Marketing Group, Inc. | Aaron Kenyon | 279 Baldwin St. Jenison, MI 49428 | (616) 667-0150 |
| Lansing | 13 Marketing Group, Inc. | Aaron Kenyon | 5551 S. Pennsylvania Lansing, MI 48911 | (517) 397-1314 |
| Livonia | R&B Auto Service, LLC | Jim Paffhaussen | 36251 Five Mile Road Livonia, MI 48154 | (734) 432-6000 |
| Mt. Pleasant | 13 Marketing Group, Inc. | Aaron Kenyon | 402 N. Mission Mt. Pleasant, MI 48858 | (989) 772-1720 |
| Plymouth | Fine Tune of Plymouth, Inc. | Bret Row Mark Sullivan | 530 W. Ann Arbor Road Plymouth, MI 48170 | (734) 454-4300 |
| Southgate | Douglass Investments, Inc. | Jason Douglass | 13045 Northline Road Southgate, MI 48195 | (734) 281-3813 |
| Troy | M&R Automotive, LLD | Mark Stull | 2790 W. Maple Troy, MI 48084 | (248) 643-7690 |
| Waterford | Simon Automotive, LLC | Fawzi Simon | 180 S. Telegraph Rd. Waterford, MI 48328 | (248) 255-4550 |
| Woodhaven | Car-Lab, LLC | George Grzechowiak | 23979 Allen Rd. Woodhaven, MI 48183 | (734) 692-2273 |
| INDIANA | | | | |
| Avon | NDK, Inc. | David Kimack | 10750 US Highway 36 Avon, IN 46123 | (317) 667-0211 |
| Indianapolis | Kimack Automotive, Inc. | David Kimack | 7014 W. Washington St. Indianapolis, IN 46241 | (317)-860-8098 |
| TEXAS | | | | |
| Pearland | QA Stallion Texas, LLC | Quratul Dogar | 2527 S. Main Street Pearland, TX 77581 | (832) 328-5555 |

FORMER AUTO-LAB COMPLETE CAR CARE CENTERS® FRANCHISEES

| Location | Franchisee | Contact | Address | Phone Number |
|-------------|----------------------|---------------|-----------------------------|-----------------|
| ILLINOIS | | | | |
| Rock Island | Harland Auto Repair, | Aaron Harland | 1901 4 th Avenue | (563) 260-4578 |
| | LLC | | Rock Island, IL 61201 | |
| | | | | |

Other than disclosed in the table above, there are no former Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Centers® franchisees required to be disclosed in this Exhibit.

AUTO-LAB EXPRESS® FRANCHISED LOCATIONS

| Location | Franchisee | Contact | Address | Phone Number |
|-------------|-------------------|---------------|-----------------------|----------------|
| ILLINOIS | | | | |
| Park Forest | WLF Holdings, LLC | Larry Fullmer | 2551 Western Ave. | (708)-330-4540 |
| | | | Park Forest, IL 60466 | |

AUTO-LAB EXPRESS® FORMER FRANCHISEES

There are no former Auto-Lab Express® franchisees required to be disclosed in this Exhibit.

EXHIBIT L

STATE SPECIFIC ADDENDA TO THE AUTO-LAB FRANCHISING, LLC UNIFORM FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT

FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

- 1. THE CALIFORNIA FRANCHISE INVESTMENT LAW REQUIRES THAT A COPY OF ALL PROPOSED AGREEMENTS RELATING TO THE SALE OF THE FRANCHISE BE DELIVERED TOGETHER WITH THE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT.
- 2. Section 31125 of the California Corporations Code requires us to give you a Disclosure Document, in a form containing the information that the commissioner may by rule or order require, before a solicitation of a proposed material modification of an existing franchise.

You must sign a general release if you renew or transfer your franchise or master franchise. California Corporations Code §31512 voids a waiver of your rights under the Franchise Investment Law (California Corporations Code §\$31000 through 31516). Business and Professions Code §20010 voids a waiver of your rights under the Franchise Relations Act (Business and Professions Code §\$20000 through 20043).

Neither the franchisor, any person or franchise broker in ITEM 2 of the Disclosure Document is subject to any currently-effective order of any national securities association or national securities exchange, as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 USC 78a et. seq, suspending or expelling these persons from membership in the association or exchange.

- 3. ITEM 17 of the Disclosure Document is amended to add the following:
 - The California Business and Professions Code Sections 20000 through 20043 provide rights to the franchisee concerning termination or non-renewal of a franchise. If the Franchise Agreement contains a provision that is inconsistent with the law, the law will control.
 - The Franchise Agreement provides for termination upon bankruptcy. This provision may not be enforceable under federal bankruptcy law (11 USC Sec. 101 et. seq).
 - The Franchise Agreement and Area Development Agreement contain a covenant not to compete that extends beyond the term of the agreement. This provision might not be enforceable under California law.
 - The Franchise Agreement and Area Development Agreement require litigation to be conducted in a court located outside of the State of California. This provision might not be enforceable for any cause of action arising under California law.
 - The Franchise Agreement and Area Development Agreement require application of the laws of a state other than the State of California. This provision might not be enforceable under California law.
 - The Franchise Agreement requires binding arbitration. The arbitration will occur at the forum indicated in ITEM 17 with the costs being borne by the

non-prevailing party. Prospective franchisees are encouraged to consult legal counsel to determine the applicability of California and federal laws (such as Business and Professions Code Section 20040.5, Code of Civil Procedure Section 1281, and the Federal Arbitration Act) to any provisions of the Franchise Agreement restricting venue to a forum outside the State of California.

- The franchise agreement contains a liquidated damages clause. Under California Civil Code Section 1671, certain liquidated damages clauses are unenforceable.
- The following URL address is for the franchisor's website:

www.autolabusa.com

FRANCHISOR'S WEBSITE HAS NOT BEEN REVIEWED OR APPROVED BY THE CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL PROTECTION AND INNOVATION. ANY COMPLAINTS CONCERNING THE CONTENT OF THIS WEBSITE MAY BE DIRECTED TO THE CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL PROTECTION AND INNOVATION AT www.dfpi.ca.gov

4. Prospective franchisees are encouraged to consult private legal counsel to determine the applicability of California and federal laws (such as Business and Professions Code Section 20040.5, Code of Civil Procedure Section 1281, and the Federal Arbitration Act) to any provisions of a franchise agreement restricting venue to a forum outside the State of California.

FOR THE STATE OF CONNECTICUT

- 1. ITEM 3 is amended to read as follows:
 - Neither the Franchisor nor any person identified in ITEMS 1 or 2 above has any administrative, criminal or material civil action (or a significant number of civil actions irrespective of materiality) pending against him alleging a violation of any franchise law, fraud, embezzlement, fraudulent conversion, restraint of trade, unfair or deceptive practices, business opportunity law, securities law, misappropriation of property or comparable allegations.
 - Neither the Franchisor nor any other person identified in ITEMS 1 or 2 above has during the ten (10) year period immediately preceding the date of this Disclosure Document, been convicted of a felony or pleaded *nolo contendere* to a felony charge or been held liable in any civil action by final judgment, or been the subject of any material complaint or other legal proceeding where a felony, civil action, complaint or other legal proceeding involved violation of any franchise law, fraud, embezzlement, fraudulent conversion, restraint of trade, unfair or deceptive practices, business opportunity law, securities law, misappropriation of property or comparable allegations or which was brought by a present or former purchaser-investor or which involves or involved the business opportunity relationship.
 - Neither the Franchisor nor any person identified in ITEMS 1 or 2 above is subject to any currently effective injunctive or restrictive order or decree relating to the franchise, or under any federal, state or Canadian franchise, securities, business opportunity, antitrust, trade regulation or trade practice law as a result of concluded or pending action or proceeding brought by a public agency, or is a party to a proceeding currently pending in which an order is sought, relating to or affecting business opportunity activities or the seller-purchaser-investor relationship, or involving fraud, including but not limited to, a violation of any business opportunity law, franchise law, securities law or unfair or deceptive practices law, embezzlement, fraudulent conversion, misappropriation of property or restraint of trade.
 - Neither Company nor any person identified in ITEM 2 above is subject to any currently-effective order of any national securities association or national securities exchange (as defined in the Securities & Exchange Act of 1934) suspending or expelling these persons from membership in the association or exchange.

FOR THE STATE OF HAWAII

- 1. The following list reflects the status of our franchise registrations in the states that have franchise registration and/or disclosure laws:
 - This registration is currently effective in Illinois, Indiana, Michigan, and Wisconsin.
 - This proposed registration is not on file with the States of California, Connecticut, Hawaii, Maryland, Minnesota, New York, North Dakota, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Virginia, or Washington.
 - There are no states that have refused, by order or otherwise, to register these franchises.
 - There are no states that have revoked or suspended the right to offer these franchises.
- 2. The Franchise Agreement and Area Development Agreement have been amended as follows:
 - The Hawaii Franchise Investment Law provides rights to the franchisee concerning non-renewal, termination and transfer of the Franchise Agreement. If the Franchise Agreement, and more specifically, Sections 3.2 and 14 and 17 contain a provision that is inconsistent with the Hawaii Franchise Investment Law, the Hawaii Franchise Investment Law will control.
 - Sections 3.2.4a and 11.1(3) of the Franchise Agreement and Area Development Agreement require franchisee to sign a general release as a condition of renewal or transfer of the franchise. This release shall exclude claims arising under the Hawaii Franchise Investment Law.
 - The Franchise Agreement and Area Development Agreement contain provisions that terminate the Agreements upon the bankruptcy of the franchisee and may not be enforceable under federal bankruptcy law (11 USC Section 101, et. seq).
 - 3. The Receipt Pages are amended to add the following:
 - THIS FRANCHISE WILL BE/HAVE BEEN FILED UNDER THE FRANCHISE INVESTMENT LAW OF THE STATE OF HAWAII. FILING DOES NOT CONSTITUTE APPROVAL, RECOMMENDATION OR ENDORSEMENT BY THE DIRECTOR OF COMMERCE AND CONSUMER AFFAIRS OR A FINDING BY THE DIRECTOR OF COMMERCE AND CONSUMER AFFAIRS THAT THE INFORMATION PROVIDED HEREIN IS TRUE, COMPLETE AND NOT MISLEADING.

- THE FRANCHISE INVESTMENT LAW MAKES IT UNLAWFUL TO OFFER OR SELL ANY FRANCHISE IN THIS STATE WITHOUT FIRST PROVIDING TO THE PROSPECTIVE FRANCHISEE, OR SUBFRANCHISOR, AT LEAST SEVEN DAYS PRIOR TO THE EXECUTION BY THE PROSPECTIVE FRANCHISEE, OF ANY BINDING FRANCHISE OR OTHER AGREEMENT, OR AT LEAST SEVEN DAYS PRIOR TO THE PAYMENT OF ANY CONSIDERATION BY THE FRANCHISEE, OR SUBFRANCHISOR, WHICHEVER OCCURS FIRST, A COPY OF THE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT, TOGETHER WITH A COPY OF ALL PROPOSED AGREEMENTS RELATING TO THE SALE OF THE FRANCHISE.
- THIS DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT CONTAINS A SUMMARY ONLY OF CERTAIN MATERIAL PROVISIONS OF THE FRANCHISE AGREEMENT AND THE CONTRACT OR AGREEMENT SHOULD BE REFERRED TO FOR A STATEMENT OF ALL RIGHTS, CONDITIONS, RESTRICTIONS AND OBLIGATIONS OF BOTH THE FRANCHISOR AND THE FRANCHISEE.

FOR THE STATE OF ILLINOIS

- Illinois law governs the Franchise Agreement.
- In conformance with Section 4 of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act, any provision in a franchise agreement that designates jurisdiction and venue in a form outside of the State of Illinois is void. However, a franchise agreement may provide for arbitration to take place outside of Illinois.
- Your rights upon Termination and Non-Renewal of an agreement are set forth in sections 19 and 20 of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act.
- In conformance with section 41 of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act, any condition, stipulation or provision purporting to bind any person acquiring any franchise to waive compliance with the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act or any other law of Illinois is void.
- No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgement signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of the franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.
- Financial Condition. The Franchisor's financial condition as reflected in its financial statements (see Item 21) calls into question the Franchisor's financial ability to provide services and support to you.

Your initial fees are deferred until Franchisor has satisfied its pre-opening obligations to franchisee and the franchisee has commenced business operations. The Illinois Attorney General's Office imposed this deferral requirement due to Franchisor's financial condition.

By reading this disclosure document, you are not agreeing to, acknowledging, or making any representations whatsoever to the franchisor and its affiliates.

ITEM 17 of the Disclosure Document is amended to add the following:

- The conditions under which a franchise can be terminated and your rights upon non-renewal, as well as the application by which you must bring any claims, may be affected by Sections 705/19 and 20 of the Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act of 1987, 815 ILCS 705/19 and 705/20.
- The Illinois Franchise Disclosure Act provides that any provision in the Franchise Agreement or Area Development Agreement which designates jurisdiction or venue in a forum outside of Illinois is void with respect to any cause of action which otherwise is enforceable in Illinois.

FOR THE STATE OF INDIANA

1. ITEM 2 of the Disclosure Document is amended to add the following:

Indiana Area Developer: NDK, Inc.

NDK, Inc. has been our Area Developer in the state of Indiana, since January 2020. NDK, Inc. has operated an Auto-Lab Complete Car Care Center unit franchise in Avon, Indiana since April 2011. Our Indiana Area Representative is responsible for some sales functions in its Area Developer Area, as well as training, inspections, and support to all of the unit franchisees in the Area Developer Area. Our Indiana Area Developer has its principal place of business in Avon, Indiana.

President of NDK, Inc.: David Kimack

Mr. Kimack has served as the President of NDK, Inc. from April 2011 to Present.

- 2. ITEM 3 of the Disclosure Document is amended to add the following:
 - No litigation is required to be disclosed in this Item related to our Indiana Area Developer.
- 3. ITEM 4 of the Disclosure Document is amended to add the following:
 - No bankruptcy is required to be disclosed in this Item related to our Indiana Area Developer.
- 4. ITEM 8 of the Disclosure Document is amended to add the following:
 - Under Indiana Code Section 23-2-2.7-1(4), the franchisor will not obtain money, goods, services, or any other benefit from any other person with whom the franchisee does business, on account of, or in relation to, the transaction between the franchisee and the other person, other than for compensation for services rendered by the franchisor, unless the benefit is promptly accounted for, and transmitted by the franchisee.
- 5. ITEMS 6 and 9 of the Disclosure Document are amended to add the following:
 - The franchisee will not be required to indemnify franchisor for any liability imposed upon franchisor as a result of franchisee's reliance upon or use of procedures or products that were required by franchisor, if the procedures or products were utilized by franchisee in the manner required by franchisor.
- 6. ITEM 11 of the Disclosure Document is amended to add the following:

- Mr. Kimack will provide site selection assistance services, management training, staff training, inspection, and other assistance after opening to franchisees in the Area Developer Area, such as periodic inspections of your Store, franchisee meetings in the Area Developer Area, review and inspection, or testing of any unapproved item or supplier, and providing refresher training programs and seminars.
- 7. ITEM 17 of the Disclosure Document is amended to add the following:
 - Indiana Code 23-2-2.7-1(7) makes unlawful unilateral termination of a franchise unless there is a material violation of the Franchise Agreement or Area Development Agreement and termination is not in bad faith.
 - Indiana Code 23-2-2.7-1(5) prohibits a prospective general release of claims subject to the Indiana Deceptive Franchise Practices Law.
 - ITEM 17(r) is amended subject to Indiana Code 23-2-2.7-1(9) to provide that the post-term non-competition covenant shall have a geographical limitation of the territory granted to Franchisee.
 - ITEM 17(v) is amended to provide that Franchisees will be permitted to commence litigation in Indiana for any cause of action under Indiana Law.
 - ITEM 17(w) is amended to provide that in the event of a conflict of law, Indiana Law governs any cause of action that arises under the Indiana Disclosure Law or the Indiana Deceptive Franchise Practices Act.

FOR THE STATE OF MARYLAND

- 1. ITEM 17 of the Disclosure Document is amended to add the following:
 - Under the Maryland Franchise Registrations and Disclosure Law, Md Code Ann Bus Reg §14-201 *et. seq*, no general release shall be required as a condition of renewal, termination and/or transfer that is intended to exclude claims under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law.
 - Any litigation between Franchisee and Franchisor may be instituted in any court of competent jurisdiction, including a court in the State of Maryland for claims arising under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law.
 - Any claims arising under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law must be brought within 3 years after the grant of the franchise.
 - In the event of a conflict of laws if required by the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law, Maryland law shall prevail.
 - The Franchise Agreement provides for termination upon bankruptcy. This provision may not be enforceable under federal bankruptcy law (11 USC Section 101, et. seq).
- 2. ITEM 23 is amended to add the following:
 - The State of Maryland requires the delivery of the Disclosure Document to be at the earlier of the first personal meeting or 10 business days before the execution of the franchise or other agreement or the payment of any consideration that relates to the franchise relationship.

FOR THE STATE OF MICHIGAN

- 1. THE STATE OF MICHIGAN PROHIBITS CERTAIN UNFAIR PROVISIONS THAT ARE SOMETIMES IN FRANCHISE DOCUMENTS. IF ANY OF THE FOLLOWING PROVISIONS ARE IN THESE FRANCHISE DOCUMENTS, THE PROVISIONS ARE VOID AND CANNOT BE ENFORCED AGAINST YOU.
 - A prohibition of your right to join an association of Franchisees.
 - A requirement that you assent to a release, assignment, novation, waiver or estoppel that deprives you of rights and protections provided in this act. This shall not preclude you, after entering into a Franchise Agreement, from settling any and all claims.
 - A provision that permits us to terminate a franchise prior to the expiration of this term except for good cause. Good cause shall include your failure to comply with any lawful provision of the Franchise Agreement and to cure the failure after being given written notice of the failure and a reasonable opportunity, which in no event need be more than 30 days, to cure the failure.
 - A provision that permits us to refuse to renew a franchise without fairly compensating you by repurchase or other means for the fair market value at the time of expiration of your inventory, supplies, equipment, fixtures and furnishings. Personalized materials that have no value to us and inventory, supplies, equipment, fixtures and furnishings not reasonably required in the conduct of the Franchised Store are not subject to compensation. This subsection applies only if: (a) the term of the franchise is less than 5 years, and (b) you are prohibited by the franchise agreement or other agreement from continuing to conduct substantially the same business under another trademark, service mark, trade name, logotype, advertising or other commercial symbol in the same area subsequent to the expiration of the franchise or you do not receive at least 6 months advance notice of our intent not to renew the franchise.
 - A provision that permits us to refuse to renew a franchise on terms generally available to other Franchisees of the same class or type under similar circumstances. This section does not require a renewal provision.
 - A provision requiring that litigation be conducted outside this state. This shall not preclude you from entering into an agreement, at the time of litigation, to conduct litigation at a location outside this state.
 - A provision that permits us to refuse to permit a transfer of ownership of a franchise, except for good cause. The subdivision does not prevent us from exercising a right of first refusal to purchase the franchise. Good cause shall include, but is not limited to:

- The failure of the proposed transferee to meet our then-current reasonable qualifications or standards.
- The fact that the proposed transferee is our or Subfranchisor's competitor.
- The unwillingness of the proposed transferee to agree in writing to comply with all lawful obligations.
- Your or proposed transferee's failure to pay us any sums or to cure any default in the Franchise Agreement existing at the time of the proposed transfer.
- A provision that requires you to resell to us items that are not uniquely identified with us. This subdivision does not prohibit a provision that grants us a right of first refusal to purchase the assets of a franchise on the same terms and conditions as a bona fide third party willing and able to purchase those assets, nor does this subdivision prohibit a provision that grants us the right to acquire the assets of a franchise for the market or appraised value and has failed to cure the breach in the manner provided in ITEM 17 (g).
- A provision that permits us to directly or indirectly convey, assign or otherwise transfer our obligations to fulfill contractual obligations to you unless a provision has been made for providing the required contractual services.
- 2. If our most recent financial statements are unaudited and show a net worth of less than \$100,000.00, you may request that we arrange for the escrow of initial investment and other funds you paid until our obligations, if any, to provide real estate, improvements, equipment, inventory, training or other items included in the franchise offering are fulfilled. At our option, a surety bond may be provided in place of escrow.
- 3. THE FACT THAT THERE IS A NOTICE OF THIS OFFERING ON FILE WITH THE ATTORNEY GENERAL DOES NOT CONSTITUTE APPROVAL, RECOMMENDATION OR ENFORCEMENT BY THE ATTORNEY GENERAL.
 - 4. Any questions regarding this notice should be directed to:

State of Michigan Consumer Protection Division Attention: Franchise Bureau 525 West Ottawa Street G. Mennen Williams Building, 6th Floor Lansing, MI 48933 (517) 335-7567

FOR THE STATE OF MINNESOTA

- 1. ITEM 13 of the Disclosure Document is amended as follows:
 - As required by the Minnesota Franchise Act, Minn Stat Sec 80C.12(g), we will reimburse you for any costs incurred by you in the defense of your right to use the Marks, so long as you were using the Marks in the manner authorized by us, and so long as we are timely notified of the claim and given the right to manage the defense of the claim including the right to compromise, settle or otherwise resolve the claim, and to determine whether to appeal a final determination of the claim.
- 2. ITEM 17 of the Disclosure Document is amended as follows:
 - With respect to franchises governed by Minnesota law, we will comply with Minn Stat Sec 80C.14, Subds 3, 4 and 5, which require, except in certain specified cases, that you be given 90 days notice of termination (with 60 days to cure) and 180 days notice of non-renewal of the Agreement.
 - ITEM 17 shall not provide for a prospective general release of claims against us that may be subject to the Minnesota Franchise Law. Minn Rule 2860.4400D prohibits a franchisor from requiring a franchisee to assent to a general release.
 - Minn Stat §80C.21 and Minn Rule 2860.4400J prohibit us from requiring litigation to be conducted outside Minnesota. In addition, nothing in the Disclosure Document, Franchise Agreement, or Area Development Agreement can abrogate or reduce any of your rights as provided for in Minnesota Statutes, Chapter 80C, or your rights to any procedure, forum or remedies provided for by the laws of the jurisdiction.

FOR THE STATE OF NEW YORK

1. The following information is added to the cover page of the Franchise Disclosure Document:

INFORMATION COMPARING FRANCHISORS IS AVAILABLE. CALLTHE STATE ADMINISTRATORS LISTED IN EXHIBIT A OR YOUR PUBLIC LIBRARY FOR SOURCES OF INFORMATION. REGISTRATION OF THIS FRANCHISE BY NEW YORK STATE DOES NOT MEAN THAT NEW YORK STATE RECOMMENDS IT OR HAS VERIFIED THE INFORMATION IN THIS FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT. IF YOU LEARN THAT ANYTHING IN THE FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT IS UNTRUE, CONTACT THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION AND NEW YORK STATE DEPARTMENT OF LAW, BUREAU OF INVESTOR PROTECTION AND SECURITIES, 120 BROADWAY, 23RD FLOOR, NEW YORK, NEW YORK 10271. THE FRANCHISOR MAY, IF IT CHOOSES, NEGOTIATE WITH YOU ABOUT ITEMS COVERED IN THE FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT. HOWEVER, THE FRANCHISOR CANNOT USE THE NEGOTIATING PROCESS TO PREVAIL UPON A PROSPECTIVE FRANCHISEE TO ACCEPT TERMS WHICH ARE LESS FAVORABLE THAN THOSE SET FORTH IN THIS FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT.

2. The following is added at the end of Item 3:

Except as provided above, with regard to the franchisor, its predecessor, a person identified in Item 2, or an affiliate offering franchises under the franchisor's principal trademark:

- A. No such party has an administrative, criminal or civil action pending against that person alleging: a felony, a violation of a franchise, antitrust, or securities law, fraud, embezzlement, fraudulent conversion, misappropriation of property, unfair or deceptive practices, or comparable civil or misdemeanor allegations.
- B. No such party has pending actions, other than routine litigation incidental to the business, which are significant in the context of the number of franchisees and the size, nature or financial condition of the franchise system or its business operations.
- C. No such party has been convicted of a felony or pleaded nolo contendere to a felony charge or, within the 10-year period immediately preceding the application for registration, has been convicted of or pleaded nolo contendere to a misdemeanor charge or has been the subject of a civil action alleging: violation of a franchise, antifraud, or securities law; fraud; embezzlement; fraudulent conversion or misappropriation of property; or unfair or deceptive practices or comparable allegations.
- D. No such party is subject to a currently effective injunctive or restrictive order or decree relating to the franchise, or under a Federal, State, or Canadian franchise, securities, antitrust, trade regulation or trade practice law, resulting from a concluded or pending action or proceeding brought by a public agency; or is subject to any currently effective order of any national

securities association or national securities exchange, as defined in the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, suspending or expelling such person from membership in such association or exchange; or is subject to a currently effective injunctive or restrictive order relating to any other business activity as a result of an action brought by a public agency or department, including, without limitation, actions affecting a license as a real estate broker or sales agent.

3. The following is added to the end of Item 4:

Neither the franchisor, its affiliate, its predecessor, officers, or general partner during the 10-year period immediately before the date of the offering circular: (a) filed as debtor (or had filed against it) a petition to start an action under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code; (b) obtained a discharge of its debts under the bankruptcy code; or (c) was a principal officer of a company or a general partner in a partnership that either filed as a debtor (or had filed against it) a petition to start an action under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or that obtained a discharge of its debts under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code during or within 1 year after that officer or general partner of the franchisor held this position in the company or partnership.

4. The following is added to the end of Item 5:

The initial franchise fee constitutes part of our general operating funds and will be used as such in our discretion.

5. The following is added to the end of the "Summary" sections of Item 17(c), titled "Requirements for franchisee to renew or extend," and Item 17(m), entitled "Conditions for franchisor approval of transfer":

However, to the extent required by applicable law, all rights you enjoy and any causes of action arising in your favor from the provisions of Article 33 of the General Business Law of the State of New York and the regulations issued thereunder shall remain in force; it being the intent of this proviso that the non-waiver provisions of General Business Law Sections 687.4 and 687.5 be satisfied.

6. The following language replaces the "Summary" section of Item 17(d), titled "Termination by franchisee":

You may terminate the agreement on any grounds available by law.

7. The following is added to the end of the "Summary" section of Item 17(j), titled "Assignment of contract by franchisor":

However, no assignment will be made except to an assignee who in good faith and judgment of the franchisor, is willing and financially able to assume the franchisor's obligations under the Franchise Agreement.

8. The following is added to the end of the "Summary" sections of Item 17(v), titled "Choice of forum", and Item 17(w), titled "Choice of law":

The foregoing choice of law should not be considered a waiver of any right conferred upon the franchisor or upon the franchisee by Article 33 of the General Business Law of the State of New York.

FOR THE STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA

- 1. ITEM 17 of the Disclosure Document is amended to add the following:
 - No general release shall be required as a condition of renewal, termination and/or transfer that is intended to exclude claims arising under North Dakota Law.
 - In the case of any enforcement action, the prevailing party is entitled to recover all costs and expenses including attorneys' fees.
 - The Franchise Agreement and Area Development Agreement are amended to state that the statute of limitations under North Dakota Law will apply.
 - ITEMS 17(i) and 17(q) are amended to state that covenants not to compete upon termination or expiration of the Franchise Agreement or Area Development Agreement are generally unenforceable in the State of North Dakota except in limited instances as provided by law.
 - ITEM 17(v) is amended to state a provision requiring litigation to be conducted in a forum other than North Dakota is void with respect to claims under North Dakota Law.
 - ITEM 17(w) is amended to state in the event of a conflict of laws, North Dakota Law will control.

FOR THE STATE OF RHODE ISLAND

ITEM 17 of the Disclosure Document is amended to add the following:

- The Rhode Island Franchise Investment Act, RI Gen Law Ch 395 Sec 19-28.1-14 provides that a provision in a Franchise Agreement or Area Development Agreement restricting jurisdiction or venue to a forum outside this state or requiring the application of the laws of another state is void with respect to a claim otherwise enforceable under the Rhode Island Franchise Investment Act.
- Any general release as a condition of renewal, termination or transfer will be void with respect to claims under the Rhode Island Franchise Investment Act.

FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ITEM 17 of the Disclosure Document is amended to add the following:

- In the event of a conflict of laws, the provisions of the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, Chapter 19.100 RCW shall prevail.
- A release or waiver of rights in the franchise agreement or related agreements purporting to bind the franchisee to waive compliance with any provision under the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act or any rules or orders thereunder is void except when executed pursuant to a negotiated settlement after the agreement is in effect and where the parties are represented by independent counsel, in accordance with RCW 19.100.220(2). In addition, any such release or waiver executed in connection with a renewal or transfer of a franchise is likewise void except as provided for in RCW 19.100.220(2).
- Provisions contained in the franchise agreement or related agreements that unreasonably restrict or limit the statute of limitations period for claims under the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, or rights or remedies under the Act such as a right to a jury trial, may not be enforceable.
- In any arbitration or mediation involving a franchise purchased in Washington, the arbitration or mediation site will be either in the state of Washington, or in a place mutually agreed upon at the time of the arbitration or mediation, or as determined by the arbitrator or mediator at the time of arbitration or mediation. In addition, if litigation is not precluded by the franchise agreement, a franchisee may bring an action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with the sale of franchises, or a violation of the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, in Washington.
- Transfer fees are collectable if they reflect our reasonable estimated or actual costs in effecting a transfer.
- The franchisee may terminate the franchise agreement under any grounds permitted under state law.
- Provisions in franchise agreements or related agreements that permit the franchisor to repurchase the franchisee's business for any reason during the term of the franchise agreement without the franchisee's consent are unlawful pursuant to RCW 19.100.180(2)(j), unless the franchise is terminated for good cause.
- Any provision in the franchise agreement or related agreements requiring the franchisee to indemnify, reimburse, defend, or hold harmless the franchisor or other parties is hereby modified such that the franchisee has

no obligation to indemnify, reimburse, defend, or hold harmless the franchisor or any other indemnified party for losses or liabilities to the extent that they are caused by the indemnified party's negligence, willful misconduct, strict liability, or fraud.

- If the franchise agreement or related agreements require a franchisee to reimburse the franchisor for court costs or expenses, including attorneys' fees, such provision applies only if the franchisor is the prevailing party in any judicial or arbitration proceeding.
- Pursuant to RCW 49.62.020, a noncompetition covenant is void and unenforceable against an employee, including an employee of a franchisee, unless the employee's earnings from the party seeking enforcement, when annualized, exceed \$100,000 per year (an amount that will be adjusted annually for inflation). In addition, a noncompetition covenant is void and unenforceable against an independent contractor of a franchisee under RCW 49.62.030 unless the independent contractor's earnings from the party seeking enforcement, when annualized, exceed \$250,000 per year (an amount that will be adjusted annually for inflation). As a result, any provision contained in the franchise agreement or elsewhere that conflicts with these limitations is void and unenforceable in Washington.
- RCW 49.62.060 prohibits a franchisor from restricting, restraining, or prohibiting a franchisee from (i) soliciting or hiring any employee of a franchisee of the same franchisor or (ii) soliciting or hiring any employee of the franchisor. As a result, any such provisions contained in the franchise agreement or elsewhere are void and unenforceable in Washington.
- No statement, questionnaire, or acknowledgment signed or agreed to by a franchisee in connection with the commencement of the franchise relationship shall have the effect of (i) waiving any claims under any applicable state franchise law, including fraud in the inducement, or (ii) disclaiming reliance on any statement made by any franchisor, franchise seller, or other person acting on behalf of the franchisor. This provision supersedes any other term of any document executed in connection with the franchise.
- The Franchise Agreement and Area Development Agreement require any litigation to be conducted in a state other than Washington; the requirement shall not limit any rights Franchisee may have under the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act to bring suit in the State of Washington.
- Under the Washington Franchise Investment Protection Act, a "franchise broker" is defined as a person that engages in the business of the offer or sale of franchises. A franchise broker represents the franchisor and is paid a fee for referring prospects to the franchisor and/or selling the franchise. If

a franchisee is working with a franchise broker, franchisees are advised to carefully evaluate any information provided by the franchise broker about a franchise.

FOR THE STATE OF WISCONSIN

ITEM 17 of the Disclosure Document is amended to add the following:

■ The Wisconsin Fair Dealership Law Title XIV-A Ch 135, Section 135.01-135.07 may affect the termination provision of the Franchise Agreement and Area Development Agreement.

EXHIBIT M

EXHIBIT M TO DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT

FRANCHISEE DISCLOSURE QUESTIONNAIRE

As you know, Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC and you are preparing to enter into a Franchise Agreement for the operation of an Auto-Lab Franchise Store. In this Franchisee Disclosure Questionnaire, Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC will be referred to as "we" or "us." The purpose of this Questionnaire is to determine whether any statements or promises were made to you that we did not authorize and that may be untrue, inaccurate or misleading. Please review each of the following questions carefully and provide honest and complete responses to each question.

| 1. and each exhibi | Have you received and personally reviewed Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC's Franchise Agreement t, addendum and schedule attached to it? Yes No |
|-----------------------|--|
| 2. and schedule at | |
| | Yes No |
| if necessary.) | If "No", what parts of the Franchise Agreement do you not understand? (Attach additional pages, |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| 3. | Have you received and personally reviewed our Disclosure Document we provided to you? Yes No |
| 4. | Do you understand all of the information contained in the Disclosure Document? Yes No |
| if necessary.) | If "No", what parts of the Disclosure Document do you not understand? (Attach additional pages, |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |

| 5. | Have you discussed the benefits and risks of operating the Franchised Store with an attorney, |
|---------------------|---|
| accountant or oth | ner professional advisor and do you understand those risks? |
| | Yes No |
| | |
| 6. | Do you understand that the success or failure of your business will depend in large part upon your |
| | es, competition from other businesses, interest rates, inflation, labor and supply costs, lease terms and |
| | and business factors? |
| other economic a | |
| | Yes No |
| 7. | Has any employee or other person speaking on our behalf made any statement or promise concerning |
| | |
| the revenues, pro | offits or operating costs of the Franchised Store that we or our franchisees operate? |
| | Yes No |
| O | II |
| 8. | Has any employee or other person speaking on our behalf made any statement or promise concerning |
| a Franchised Sto | re that is contrary to, or different from, the information contained in the Disclosure Document? |
| | Yes No |
| 0 | |
| 9. | Has any employee or other person speaking on our behalf made any statement or promise concerning |
| the likelihood of | success that you should or might expect to achieve from operating a Franchised Store? |
| | Yes No |
| | |
| 10. | Has any employee or other person speaking on our behalf made any statement, promise or agreement |
| concerning the ac | dvertising, marketing, training, support service or assistance that we will furnish to you that is contrary |
| to, or different fr | rom, the information contained in the Disclosure Document? |
| | Yes No |
| | |
| 11. | If you have answered "Yes" to any of questions 7 through 10, please provide a full explanation of |
| | ne following blank lines. (Attach additional pages, if necessary, and refer to them below.) If you have |
| | o each of these questions, please leave the following lines blank. |
| answered No t | o each of these questions, please leave the following fines ofank. |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| 12. | Do you understand that in all dealings with you, our officers, directors, employees and agents act |
| only in a represe | ntative capacity and not in an individual capacity and these dealings are solely between you and us? |
| , 1 | Yes No |
| | |
| 13. | Did you receive the Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC Franchise Disclosure Document at least 14 calendar |
| days before this | day of, 20, the day on which this Franchise Agreement |
| was executed? | , 20, the day on which this I fallettise Agreement |
| was executeu? | Yes No |
| | 1 65 110 |

| 14. | | received the Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC Franchise |
|------------------|---|--|
| | cument, it was complete in all material respec | ts, including all exhibits and attachments referenced |
| therein? | V N | |
| | Yes No | |
| 15. | Do you acknowledge that you received a | completed copy of the Auto-Lab Franchising, LLC |
| | | t least 7 calendar days before this date, there being no |
| blanks or space | es not completed therein, except for the date and | signatures of the parties? |
| | Yes No | |
| 16. | Do you asknowledge that you are an indeper | dent contractor and responsible for running your own |
| | ore business and that we do not have any authorit | 1 |
| Tunemsea Stor | Yes No | y to fine of the your employees. |
| | 2 40 <u> </u> | |
| 17. | Do you expressly agree and will never conte | st otherwise, that our authority under this Agreement |
| - | | n certain functions for your Franchised Store does not |
| directly or indi | rectly vest in us the power to hire, fire, or control | l any such employee? |
| | Yes No | |
| 18. | Do you acknowledge and agree and will nev | er contend otherwise, that you alone will exercise day- |
| | | your Franchised Store and that under no circumstance |
| - | or be deemed to do so? | |
| | Yes No | |
| | | |
| 19. | Do you further acknowledge and agree a | nd will never contend otherwise, that the various |
| - | | edures of the System which you are required to comply |
| | | ards Manuals or otherwise, do not directly or indirectly |
| | | ct or element of the day-to-day operations of your |
| | | e standards you must adhere to when exercising your |
| brand? | day-to-day operations of your Franchised Store | e, but rather are to protect the Auto-Lab System and |
| orana: | Yes No | |
| | 103 110 | |
| You u | understand that your answers are important to us | and that we will rely on them. |
| | | |
| | • | ou are representing that you have responded truthfully |
| to the above qu | lestions. | |
| | | |
| | | Name of Franchisee/Applicant |
| | | 11 |
| | | Date:, 20 |
| | | |
| | | Signatura |
| | | Signature |
| | | |
| | | Name and Title of Person Signing |

EXHIBIT N

STATE EFFECTIVE DATES

The following states have franchise laws that require that the Franchise Disclosure Document be registered or filed with the states, or be exempt from registration: California, Hawaii, Illinois, Indiana, Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, New York, North Dakota, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Virginia, Washington, and Wisconsin.

This document is effective and may be used in the following states, where the document is filed, registered, or exempt from registration, as of the Effective Date stated below:

| State | Effective Date or Status |
|--------------|---------------------------------|
| California | |
| Hawaii | |
| Illinois | April 28, 2024 |
| Indiana | July 1, 2024 |
| Maryland | , |
| Michigan | December 9, 2024 |
| Minnesota | , |
| New York | |
| North Dakota | |
| Rhode Island | |
| South Dakota | |
| Virginia | |
| Washington | |
| Wisconsin | November 22, 2024 |

Other states may require registration, filing, or exemption of a franchise under other laws, such as those that regulate the offer and sale of business opportunities or other seller-assisted marketing plans.

EXHIBIT O

RECEIPT

This disclosure document summarizes certain provisions of the Franchise Agreement and other information in plain language. Read this disclosure document and all agreements carefully.

If we offer you a franchise, we must provide this disclosure document to you 14 calendar-days before you sign a binding agreement with, or make a payment to, us or an affiliate in connection with the proposed franchise sale.

Iowa, Maryland, New York, Oklahoma and Rhode Island require that we give you this disclosure document at the earlier of the first personal meeting or 10 business days you sign a binding agreement or pay any consideration that relates to the franchise relationship. **Michigan and Oregon** require that we give you this disclosure document at least 10 business days before you sign a binding agreement or pay any consideration, whichever occurs first.

If we do not deliver this disclosure document on time or if it contains a false or misleading statement, or a material omission, a violation of federal law and state law may have occurred and should be reported to the Federal Trade Commission, Washington, D.C, 20580 and the applicable state agency.

The name, principal business address and telephone number of each franchise seller offering the franchise [you should write-in the names of any employees, agents or brokers of the franchisor if you have had significant contact with the person and the person is not otherwise listed]:

| Stephen R. Wilson | David Kimack | Mark Sullivan |
|---------------------------------|-----------------------|---------------------------------|
| 40400 Ann Arbor Road, Suite 101 | 2428 Burnham Walk | 40400 Ann Arbor Road, Suite 101 |
| Plymouth, MI | Carmel, Indiana 46032 | Plymouth, MI |
| 48170 (248) 994-0206 | (317) 773-8615 | (248) 994-0206 |

I received a Disclosure Document with an issuance date of April 30, 2025, which included the Exhibits listed below. For the effective date of this Disclosure Document in states requiring registration of the franchise, see the State Effective Dates on Exhibit N to the Disclosure Document.

| | Notice under Michigan Franchise Investment | Н | Telephone Number Assignment |
|---|--|---|---|
| | Law | | |
| Α | Financial Statements | I | List of State Administrators and Agents for |
| | | | Service of Process |
| В | Franchise Agreement | J | Brand Standards Manual Table of Contents |
| C | Confidentiality and Non-Disclosure Agreement | K | List of Franchisees |
| | and Covenant Not to Compete | | |
| D | Principal Owner's Guaranty and Assumption of | L | State Specific Addenda |
| | Obligations | | |
| Е | Conditional Assignment of Lease Agreement | M | Franchise Acknowledgment |
| F | Real Estate Option to Purchase | N | State Effective Dates |
| G | Software License Agreement | О | Receipts |

This receipt may also be signed by signature exchanged by electronic mail (including pdf or any electronic signature complying with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000, e.g., www.docusign.com) or other transmission method and this receipt so delivered shall be deemed to have been duly and validly delivered and be valid and effective for all purposes. This receipt transmitted by such electronic transmission service shall be considered original executed counterparts for all purposes. Please complete any applicable franchise seller information above and then sign and date this Receipt and mail it or fax it to Stephen R. Wilson at 6001 N. Adams Road, Suite 255, Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304, fax number (248) 994-0255.

| Dated: | | |
|--------|--------------|--|
| | [sign] | |
| | | |
| | [print name] | |

RECEIPT

This disclosure document summarizes certain provisions of the Franchise Agreement and other information in plain language. Read this disclosure document and all agreements carefully.

If we offer you a franchise, we must provide this disclosure document to you 14 calendar-days before you sign a binding agreement with, or make a payment to, us or an affiliate in connection with the proposed franchise sale.

Iowa, Maryland, New York, Oklahoma and Rhode Island require that we give you this disclosure document at the earlier of the first personal meeting or 10 business days you sign a binding agreement or pay any consideration that relates to the franchise relationship. **Michigan and Oregon** require that we give you this disclosure document at least 10 business days before you sign a binding agreement or pay any consideration, whichever occurs first.

If we do not deliver this disclosure document on time or if it contains a false or misleading statement, or a material omission, a violation of federal law and state law may have occurred and should be reported to the Federal Trade Commission, Washington, D.C, 20580 and the applicable state agency.

The name, principal business address and telephone number of each franchise seller offering the franchise [you should write-in the names of any employees, agents or brokers of the franchisor if you have had significant contact with the person and the person is not otherwise listed]:

| Stephen R. Wilson | David Kimack | Mark Sullivan |
|---------------------------------|-----------------------|---------------------------------|
| 40400 Ann Arbor Road, Suite 101 | 2428 Burnham Walk | 40400 Ann Arbor Road, Suite 101 |
| Plymouth, MI | Carmel, Indiana 46032 | Plymouth, MI |
| (248) 994-0206 | (317) 773-8615 | (248) 994-0206 |

I received a Disclosure Document with an issuance date of April 30, 2025, which included the Exhibits listed below. For the effective date of this Disclosure Document in states requiring registration of the franchise, see the State Effective Dates on Exhibit N to the Disclosure Document.

| | Notice under Michigan Franchise Investment | Н | Telephone Number Assignment |
|---|--|---|---|
| | Law | | |
| Α | Financial Statements | I | List of State Administrators and Agents for |
| | | | Service of Process |
| В | Franchise Agreement | J | Brand Standards Manual Table of Contents |
| С | Confidentiality and Non-Disclosure Agreement | K | List of Franchisees |
| | and Covenant Not to Compete | | |
| D | Principal Owner's Guaranty and Assumption of | L | State Specific Addenda |
| | Obligations | | - |
| Е | Conditional Assignment of Lease Agreement | M | Franchise Acknowledgment |
| F | Real Estate Option to Purchase | N | State Effective Dates |
| G | Software License Agreement | О | Receipts |

This receipt may also be signed by signature exchanged by electronic mail (including pdf or any electronic signature complying with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000, e.g., www.docusign.com) or other transmission method and this receipt so delivered shall be deemed to have been duly and validly delivered and be valid and effective for all purposes. This receipt transmitted by such electronic transmission service shall be considered original executed counterparts for all purposes. Please complete any applicable franchise seller information above and then sign and date this Receipt and mail it or fax it to Stephen R. Wilson at 6001 N. Adams Road, Suite 255, Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304, fax number (248) 994-0255.

| Dated: | | |
|--------|--------------|--|
| | [sign] | |
| | | |
| | [print name] | |
| | [print name] | |